
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact Dan 
Kalley on 01733 296334 as soon as possible.

AB
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MONDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2017
1.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall
Contact – Daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 296334

AGENDA
Page No

1. Appointment of Vice-Chairman

2. Apologies for Absence

3. Declarations of Interest

4. Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 June 2017 3 - 8

5. Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) 2017-19 Plan Approval 9 - 150

6. Update on the Hinchingbrooke Healthcare NHS Trust and Peterborough 
and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Merger

151 - 160

7. Peterborough Annual Public Health Report 2017 161 - 196

8. Peterborough Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 197 - 200

9. New Governance Arrangements and Sustainable Transformation 
Programme

201 - 212

10. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Core Dataset 2017 213 - 268

11. Local Transformation Plan 269 - 272

12. Joint Development Session Proposal 273 - 276

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

13. Quarterly Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance update 277 - 390

Public Document Pack



14. Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Programme 391 - 392

To note the dates and agree future agenda items for the Board.  To include 
frequency of reporting from other Boards, where appropriate, including Local 
Safeguarding Boards, Children’s and Adults Commissioning Boards, LCG 
Commissioning Board.  Also to consider how we will monitor progress 
against the Health and Wellbeing strategy. 

Board Members:

Cllr J Holdich (Chairman), Cllr D Lamb, Cllr W Fitzgerald, Cllr R Ferris, G Smith, H Daniels, C 
Mitchell, Dr Laliwala, Dr Howsam, Vacant (Vice Chairman), W Ogle-Welbourn, Dr Robin, A 

Chapman and A Pike

Co-opted Members:  Russell Wate and Claire Higgins

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Dan Kalley on telephone on 01733 
296334 or by email – daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the
public. A protocol on this facility is available at:

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use
%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest 
escape route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral. The duty Beadle 
will assume overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is 
unavailable, this responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use


AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD IN THE 

BOURGES / VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL ON 12 JUNE 2017

Members 
Present:

Councillor Holdich, Leader and Cabinet Member for Education, Skills,
University, and Communication (Chairman)
Wendi Ogle-Welbourn, Corporate Director, People and Communities
Councillor Ferris
Councillor Lamb, Cabinet Member for Public Health
Adrian Chapman, Service Director Adult Services and Communities
Dr Liz Robin, Director for Public Health
Catherine Mitchell,  Director of Community Services and Integration 
Joanne Proctor, Head of Service, Adult and Childrens Safeguarding  Boards
Safeguarding Adults Board Co-opted Member
Gordon Smith,  Healthwatch
Hilary Daniels, South Lincolnshire CCG
Dr Gary Howsam, Clinical Commissioning Group

Also Present: Dr Angelique Mavrodaris, Consultant in Public Health, Older People Service Lead
Mustafa Malik, Chief Executive Officer, Greater Peterborough Network Ltd
Gemma McGeachie, System Strategy, Planning & Development Director, 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough STP
Aidan Fallon, Head of Communication & Engagement Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough STP
Caroline Townsend, Better Care Fund Lead

Officers 
Present:

Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Councillor Fitzgerald, Russell Wate, Claire Higgins, Dr 
Mistry, Dr Laliwala and Andrew Pike.  Joanne Proctor was in attendance as substitute for 
Russell Wate.

The Chairman welcomed two new members of the Board:  Hilary Daniels representing 
South Lincolnshire CCG and Gordon Smith representing Healthwatch.

2. Declarations of Interest 

Item.5. Increased 7 Day GP Access

Declarations of interest were received from Dr Gary Howsam who advised that he was a 
partner in a practice that was part of the Greater Peterborough Network Limited (GPN).

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2017 were approved as a true and accurate 
record.

3



4. Older Peoples Primary Prevention – Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)

The report was introduced by the Consultant in Public Health, Older Peoples Service Lead 
and the purpose of the report was to introduce the Peterborough JSNA on Primary 
Prevention for Older People to the Board for consideration of the findings of the JSNA.  The 
Consultant provided some background context to the JSNA.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 There was no mention in the report as to how older people were being engaged with 
regard to their housing needs.  Concern was raised with regard to elderly people who 
wished to stay in their own home but had found that the surroundings around them had 
changed leaving them feeling socially isolated and in fear of going out and unlikely to 
embark on physical activity.  

 Members of the Board commented that the document was comprehensive, an easy 
read and brought the issues to life.

 The report identified areas with regard to system working and that it needed to be 
utilised within the Sustainable Transformation Programme (STP).

 Transport links and how people access services particularly in rural areas was missing 
from the report. It was also important to find a way to identify people at the right time 
before they deteriorated.  The JSNA contained a lot of robust information and it was 
important to ensure the information was taken and used by the right teams. 

 The role for the voluntary sector could play a key part in delivering some of the actions 
within the JSNA and the City College could assist with this.

 A large piece of work would need to be done to assign the various activities to the right 
people to deliver the actions identified in the JSNA, this would need to be done carefully 
so that people did not feel overwhelmed.

 The Greater Peterborough Network could identify people that were in need of 
assistance and signpost them to where they could get help.

The Consultant in Public Health responded to comments as follows:

 Housing.  At the stakeholder event it was noted that housing was an issue and the 
same sort of housing had been built and delivered for many years and did not take into 
consideration options for older people.  It was now important to work together with 
partners to identify what worked well for older people and translate it into practice and 
start making changes.  The Corporate Director of People and Communities commented 
that this issue could be taken forward with the Mayor of the Combined Authority to 
discuss as part of the Devolution Deal.

 Physical Activity.  What worked really well was when people did activities together as 
they were more motivated.  Work will therefore need to be done with partners to bring 
together the right people in the right forums to engage and enable these sorts of 
activities to happen.  The Service Director Adult Services and Communities offered to 
take the lead on this area and contact the City College who would be able to offer assist 
with taking this forward. 

 Linking up with wider networks.  The STP had been mentioned as a way of promoting 
the JSNA system wide.  The Consultant sought assistance from the Board in identifying 
who the partners/organisation would be.   The Director of Community Services and 
Integration offered to contact the STP Lead Officer to identify partners and 
organisations that could assist with using the JSNA document across the STP and also 
link into Primary Care.

 Social Isolation and Rural Transport links.  Rural transport links had been identified as a 
major issue and ideas would be welcomed on how this could be taken forward.  Social 
isolation was less where communities were stronger and ideas on how this could be 
strengthened would be welcome. The Board made the following suggestions such as 

4



taking the JSNA to the Councils Corporate Management team which represented all 
service areas and therefore would be cross cutting in considering possible solutions, 
also presenting it to the Housing Vulnerable Group and to the Older Peoples Board 
which included the Pharmacy Lead to ensure pharmacies took a greater lead.

 The Director of Public Health advised that in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire JSNA’s  
had the greatest effect when enough detailed work has been done to make a difference 
and the information was then fed through into policies and strategies of  different 
organisations.

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to approve the Older Peoples 
Primary Prevention Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and noted the findings and 
the areas which were highlighted for further work.

2. The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to advise and advocate on how this 
work can be developed so that the JSNA is not only widely disseminated but also 
implemented and utilised most effectively and the following actions were agreed:

ACTIONS

1. The Corporate Director of People and Communities to speak to the Combined Authority 
Mayor regarding options for housing for older people and how this might be taken 
forward through the Devolution Deal.  The Consultant in Public Health to provide the 
Corporate Director with details of findings with regard to this issue from the JSNA to 
assist discussion.

2. The Service Director Adult Services and Communities to contact City College to discuss 
ways of engaging older people in joint activities to increase their physical activity.

3. The Director of Community Services and Integration to contact the STP Lead to identify 
partners and organisations that could assist with using the JSNA document across the 
STP and link into Primary Care.

4. Officers to present the JSNA to the Councils Corporate Management Team, Older 
Peoples Board and Housing Vulnerable Group to look at ways of dealing with older 
people and social isolation.

5. Increased 7 Day GP Access
The report was introduced by the Chief Executive Officer, Greater Peterborough Network 
Limited and provided the Board with information on the seven day extended primary care 
service as well as further background information regarding the Greater Peterborough 
Network.  

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 The Greater Peterborough Network provided a good service however there were major 
workforce issues within primary care in Peterborough not just for GP’s but also nursing 
staff and therefore the services provided were from an ever decreasing pool of people 
and sustainability would need to be considered.

 Residents who were registered at GP practices across the city within Greater 
Peterborough could access the service.  Those wishing to access the service at the 
weekends would call 111 and an appointment would be booked.

 The service could be promoted through the Community Connectors.
 Out of hours immunisation services may assist with increasing the number of people 

that take up the service.  The Board were informed that this was not being offered at the 
moment but potentially could be offered in the future.

5



 A more holistic service working with partners such as the Citizens Advice Bureau going 
forward was being considered.

 Clarification was sought as to whether the service had meant that demand was being 
managed differently and if footfall to the emergency department had decreased or had it 
created more demand.  The Board were informed that the service had not been running 
long enough to provide the evidence to support if this had changed.  It was difficult to 
stop people attending the emergency department when it was open 24hours.  
Arrangements were being put in place for primary care services to be at the hospital so 
that non-emergency cases were dealt with by primary care staff on site at the hospital 
using a different workforce.

 It was known that patients did not always get to see their doctor when they would like to 
and also patients who were most needy and vulnerable and need to see their GP for 
longer were not always given the time they needed due to the pressures on primary 
care.  Solutions were being sought to address this and offer more facetime with 
patients.

 Concern was raised regarding the impact on GP services and whether the service 
allowed GP practices to work more efficiently and that the service might be adding 
pressures to an already overstretched workforce.  The Board were informed that the 
majority of clinicians were from the local workforce and the majority of the hours were 
delivered from local clinicians which did mean added pressure.  The Network was 
working with primary care to look at how services could be delivered differently and how 
the wider workforce could be used to deliver services and integrate with other services 
such as district nurses and local authority social care.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the Greater Peterborough Network’s service in offering Primary Care 
extended access, seven days a week, to all residents of Greater Peterborough. 

2. Note that patients can access seven day Primary Care services both in the 
weekday evenings and all day at weekends and bank holidays. 

3. Note that Greater Peterborough Network’s Hub now hosts Solutions for Health 
Peterborough offering advice and coaching on diet, smoking cessation, alcohol 
reduction and weight management, providing patients with holistic care. 

4. Note that the Greater Peterborough Network is in discussions with a range of 
partners about hosting evening and weekend appointments at the Hub for matters 
such as debt and legal advice

5. Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 
Update Report

The report was introduced by the System Strategy, Planning & Development Director and 
the Head of Communication and Engagement.  The report provided the Board with an 
update on progress relating to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough STP.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 The Sustainable Transformation Plan was a five year plan.
 STP reports were mainly process driven and there needed to be more detail on 

outcomes and achievements.
 One of the main achievements so far had been that partners were now working together 

and making collective decisions.
 Clarification was provided around Area Executive Partnerships (AEP).  The AEP for 

Peterborough would remain the same but there would be a re configuration of partners 
within the Cambridgeshire AEP and this may mean some changes to the Terms of 
Reference which may affect the Terms of Reference  of the Peterborough Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  Notification of any changes would be brought to the Board.

6



 The main problems that needed to be overcome to ensure the STP was successful was 
around a change in the systems, behaviours and cultures and ensuring that thinking 
was around what was good for patients rather than the organisations.  Other key areas 
for success were around operational delivery of urgent emergency care and hospital out 
of care systems.  The ability to attract, train and return the right workforce was also a 
critical issue.

 Board members wanted clarification on what had changed for patients and wanted to 
see in future reports outcomes and actions that had been delivered.

 Public expectations of the health service was one of the biggest challenges, there was 
also a huge challenge around health aspirations.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to comment upon and note the report and 
recommended that future reports include more detail on outcomes and achievements.

6. Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Charter – Focus Group Update

The report was introduced by the Director of Community Services and Integration.  The 
report provided the Board with an overview of the work that had been undertaken by the 
MND Focus Group since Daniel Emery presented the MND Charter to the Board at its 
meeting on 23 March 2017.  

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 There were currently 28 people in the Peterborough system who had been diagnosed 
with Motor Neurone Disease some of which were younger adults.  There was therefore 
a multitude of needs for a cross section of ages.  Housing services were now involved 
and were assessing the needs of people to understand how they can be best 
supported.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note that there had been an initial meeting 
of the Focus Group, held with Daniel Emery and all relevant stakeholders to address areas 
of improvement locally.

2.38pm. Gordon Smith left the meeting.

8. Annual Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report

The report was introduced by the Director of Public Health and provided the Board with an 
opportunity to review the key outcome metrics for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2016/19 to date.   Key outcomes regarding positive and negative trends were highlighted to 
the Board.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 It was noted that there was still a high hospital admission rate as a result of falls.  
Research has shown different reasons for this which was a combination of factors 
including medication, trip hazards and lack of muscle strength.  There had recently 
been funding put forward which would be used to put into a ‘falls programme’ which 
would look at all of the reasons and try and take a more holistic approach to reducing 
falls.

 Gym membership was still quite expensive for some people and particularly some 
young people.  The Healthy Peterborough Campaign was looking at working with 
Vivacity to try and put programmes of sport on in the summer for young people.

7



 The demographics of the city were constantly being monitored but it was not always 
easy to tease out the changes and therefore put interventions in place.

 Clarification was sought as to whether the data on self-harm in 10 to 24 year olds could 
be broken down to identify which schools they attended.  The Board were advised that 
this would be difficult as the data was provided by the hospital.  A Health Related 
Behaviour Survey would be sent out to schools in the next school year and this could be 
included.  The survey may also identify such things as bullying.  The Kooth Programme 
which had been introduced for children to chat on line if they feel they needed to talk to 
someone had been very successful.

 The Service Director Adult Services and Communities agreed to commission some 
analytical research around 10 to 24 year olds who self-harm.  The information would be 
anonymised. The Board were informed that the whole youth offer from the Council was 
currently being restructured to bring together all services under one service area to 
provide better support for adolescent young people. 

 A survey had recently been completed across the city for children in years 4 to 11. 
Some of the questions had focused on cyber bullying and asked if they had been cyber 
bullied.  The outcome of which was very positive in that children did not feel it was much 
of a problem.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note and comment on the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Annual Performance report.

ACTION

The Service Director Adult Services and Communities to commission some analytical 
research around 10 to 24 year olds who self-harm.  The information to be anonymised and 
include which school they attended and where they lived.

2.58pm. Councillor Lamb left the meeting.

9. Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) Update
 The report was introduced by the Better Care Fund Lead which provided the Board with an 
update on the BCF Programme and planning approach for the BCF 2017/18 submission.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:

 The BCF underpinned many programmes and it was therefore important to put in place 
a local matrix identifying where the money was being spent.  The Board were advised 
that there were four key nationally mandated metric areas which had to be reported on.  
Discussions had taken place with regard to putting in place key metric that would 
support the Sustainable Transformation Programme and looking at how the BCF would 
feed into this.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the update on the BCF Programme 
and planning approach for the BCF 2017/18 submission.
INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

9. Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Programme 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board would take place on 
Monday 11 September 2017.

                               CHAIRMAN    -     1.00 - 3.04pm

8



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 5

11 SEPTEMBER 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn, Executive Director People and Communities

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Wayne Fitzgerald

Contact Officer(s): Will Patten, Director of Transformation, 
Peterborough City Council

Tel.
07919 365883

ADULT SOCIAL CARE, BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) 2017-19 PLAN APPROVAL 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn Deadline date: N/A

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board  are requested to approve the BCF 2017/19 submission 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the request of the Executive 
Director People and Communities Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Councils.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the BCF 2017-19 submission. 

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.8.3.6

‘To identify areas where joined up or integrated commissioning, including the establishment of 
pooled budget arrangements would benefit improving health and wellbeing and reducing health 
inequalities.’

3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 As previously reported, Peterborough’s BCF has created a single pooled budget to support health 
and social care services (for all adults with social care needs) to work more closely together in 
the city. The BCF was announced in June 2013 and introduced in April 2015.  The £16.8 million 
is largely a reorganisation of funding currently used predominantly by Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Peterborough City Council (PCC) to 
provide health and social care services in the city. It includes funding for the Disabled Facilities 
Grant, which supports housing adaptations. Peterborough is  required to submit a new, jointly 
agreed BCF Plan, covering a two year period to NHS England on 11th September 2017.

9



4.2

4.3

MONITORING:
Due to the delays in the BCF Policy Framework and Planning Guidance and the subsequent
submission timelines, there are no BCF reporting requirements to NHS England for Q1.

A Section 75 end of year report has been drafted and is attached at Appendix 1 for information.

BCF PLANNING SUBMISSION 2017-19
The ‘Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework’ and BCF planning guidance has been 
published. There is a one stage submission process this year with the submission (approved by 
the Health and Wellbeing Board) due on the 11th September 2017. Draft DTOC metrics were 
submitted to NHS England on the 21st July, which included a breakdown of targets for health 
and social care related delays. The Q1 submission to the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) in relation to the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was also submitted on 
the 21st July.

The BCF plan builds on the following agreed principles:

● Greater alignment across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

● A single commissioning board (the ICB)

● Greater alignment with the STP and local authority transformation plans

● Using the BCF to ‘get the basics right’ and coordinate our approach, focusing on a smaller 
number of system-wide changes

There is a focus on building on the work undertaken to date, with the following areas identified 
as continued priorities:

Prevention and Early Intervention: including a county wide falls prevention programme, further 
work to ensure a comprehensive approach to equipment and assistive technology, and 
development of joint VCS commissioning opportunities.

Community Services (MDT Working): including wider roll out and embedding of case 
management, to include data sharing to support risk stratification and pro-active identification of 
service users. Development of integrated hospital discharge and admission pathways and 
enhancement of intermediate care and reablement provision.

Enablers: continued development of consistent, accurate and reliable information and advice to 
support the concept of ‘no wrong front door’.

High Impact Changes for Discharge: A new national BCF condition, requires the local system 
to implement the high impact change (HIC) model for managing transfers of care. The HIC areas 
are: early discharge planning; systems to monitor patient flow; MDT/multi-agency discharge 
teams; home first / discharge to assess; 7 day services; trusted assessor; focus on choice; and 
enhancing care in care homes. An initial system wide self-assessment has been completed 
against the high impact changes and existing system plans. 

The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) is a new introduction to BCF plans this financial year and 
is considered to be part of the ongoing BCF programme. The monies are paid direct to the Local 
Authority from the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and the following 
national conditions apply:

● Monies must be pooled into the Better Care Fund (BCF) Section 75 budget between 
Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). 

● Monies must only be used for the following purposes:

o Meeting Adult Social Care (ASC) needs,

10



o Reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more people to be 
discharged from hospital when ready; and 

o Ensuring the local social care provider market is supported.

In line with the national conditions, discussions are taking place with the CCG to reach agreement 
on the use of the IBCF funds. The areas being discussed for 2017/18 are outlined below, but 
these are subject to final agreement and approval. 

Initiative 2017/18 Amount
(£000)

Repayment to corporate against previous 
investment in transformation

£350

Investment in housing options for 
vulnerable people

£2,000

Commitment to joint fund with the STP 
Falls Prevention & Atrial Fibrillation

£150

Costed plan to support delivery of the 
3.5% national DTOC target

£1,000

Local Government Financial Settlement 
monies – protection of Adult Social Care

£354

TOTAL £3,924

The Local Authority is working with health partners to develop and agree a costed plan to support 
delivery of the 3.5% national DTOC target. This builds on the gaps identified as part of the High 
Impact Changes self-assessments and workshops were held late July to agree the system 
priorities. Initial short term priorities are being considered in relation to discharge to assess, 
continuing healthcare pathways, choice policy and trusted assessor models. Investment 
requirements were also reviewed to support winter planning initiatives.

A more detailed overview of the BCF 2017-19 Plan can be found at Appendix 2.

The full Better Care Fund 2017-19 narrative submission is at Appendix 3 and the finance/metrics 
spreadsheet submission is at Appendix 4. Associated appendices referred to in the detailed plans 
can be found at Appendix 5.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 As previously reported, in the developing and drafting of the BCF Plan there were detailed 
discussions and workshops with partners, including discussion at the A&E Delivery Board and 
appropriate STP governance boards. The Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated 
Commissioning Board, which has system wide health and care representation, has overseen the 
development of the plan In line with national requirements, local system partners have approved 
and are signatories to the 2017-19 BCF Plan. Joint working across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough continues and regular monitoring activities have been solidified to ensure clear and 
standardised reporting mechanisms. 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 Not applicable. The contents of this report provide an update for the Board to note.

11



7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The report is for the Board to approve the BCF 2017-19 submission.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 Not applicable.

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 Delivery assurance through the Board will enable the Council and the CCG to continue to meet 
NHS England’s conditions for receiving BCF monies.

The BCF funding is in line with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

Legal Implications
9.2 There are no legal implications related to this report.The legal framework for the BCF derives 

from section 223GA NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are no equalities implications related to this report.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985

10.1 i) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q4 15-16 Peterborough (final)
ii) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q1 16-17 Peterborough (final)
iii) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q2 16-17 Peterborough (final)
iv) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q3 16-17 Peterborough (final)

11. APPENDICES

11.1 i) BCF Section 75 Annual Report 2016/17
ii) BCF 2017-19 Plan Overview
iii) BCF 2017-19 Submission: Narrative
iv) BCF 2017-19 Submission: Finance/Metric Spreadsheet
v) BCF 2017-19 Submission: Appendices

12



Appendix 1

Peterborough 
Better Care Fund

Section 75 Agreement Annual Report 2016-17

Introduction
During the financial year of 2016/17, a Section 75 pooled budget was established in relation to the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The sum of £12,612,587 was invested into the 
pooled fund to deliver the outcomes of the BCF. This financial contribution was redirected from 
existing budgets within PCC and the CCG and did not comprise a new pot of money. In 2017, 
Peterborough will be required to submit a new, jointly agreed BCF Plan, covering a two year period 
(April 2017 to March 2019). This report provides an update on the 2016/17 financial position, 
progress on delivery and lessons learnt for future planning.

Background
Peterborough is approaching the end of its second financial year of the BCF. The vision for 
Peterborough’s BCF plan has remained the same over its first two years: 

Over the next five years in Peterborough we want to move to a system in which health , housing 
support and social care help people to help themselves, and the majority of people’s needs are met 
through family and community support where appropriate. This support will focus on returning 
people to independence as far as possible with more intensive and longer term support available to 
those that need it. 

This shift is ambitious. It means moving money away from acute health services, typically provided in 
hospital, and from ongoing social care support. This cannot be achieved immediately – such services 
are usually funded on a demand-led basis and provided as they are needed in order to avoid people 
being left untreated or unsupported when they have had a crisis. Therefore reducing spending is only 
possible if fewer people have crises: something which experience suggests has never happened 
before. However, this is required if services are to be sustainable in the medium and long term. 

This desire to shift activity across the system has informed the budget-setting, performance 
management and transformation activity contained within the BCF. The vision is system-wide and 
has remained relevant; similar aims are expressed through the NHS Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan and the Council’s Transformation approach to social care.

The ’10 aspects of an integrated system’ principles, which were developed jointly with 
Cambridgeshire, continued to form the basis of local plans for health, housing support  and social 
care integration. These principles incorporate:

● A series of community based programmes and support that help people to age healthily
● A recognised set of triggers of vulnerability which generate a planned response across the 

system
● A universal network helping citizens to find high quality information and advice
● An aligned set of outcomes
● An integrated front door with an agreed principle of ‘no wrong front door’
● Shared assessment process, information sharing between health, social care and other 

partners
● A shared tool that describes levels of vulnerability

13



Appendix 1

● A locality based Integrated Neighbourhood Team approach working with Primary Care 
● Co-located staff
● Joint commissioning and aligned financial incentives

In addition, the following five transformation themes were identified within the plan, to be 
progressed jointly with Cambridgeshire:

1. Data Sharing
2. 7 Day Services
3. Person Centred Systems
4. Information, Communication and Advice
5. Healthy Ageing and Prevention

Financial Position
Nearly all of the funding included within the BCF budget was already being used in Peterborough to 
support local health and social care services. Local areas were required to move specific budgets into 
the Better Care Fund, including: 

● Funding that was already providing community health services
● ‘Section 256’ funding that was already transferred from the NHS to social care to support 

social care services which benefitted the health and Care  system
● Funding for delivery of new social care duties under the Care Act 2014
● Funding received by the NHS for funding local re-ablement provision
● Capital funding used by District Councils for provision of Disabled Facilities Grant 
● The Adult Social Care Capital Grant used for capital requirements in Adult Social Care.  

This has limited Peterborough’s ability to use BCF funding flexibly and has limited the proportion of 
the budget that could be freed up in the short term to support transformation. 

The Section 75 agreement outlined the breakdown of budgeted financial allocations for the BCF in 
2016/17and at the end of the financial year the budget was balanced. The breakdown of actual 
financial spend is attached at Appendix 1.

There was a performance fund element to the BCF allocation that was held back by the CCG, only to 
be released into the pooled fund on delivery of a successful 2.1% net reduction in non-elective 
admissions. At the time of writing, performance was only available up to and including Quarter 3, 
which indicates that non-elective admissions are not on track to meet target. If the target is not met, 
then this funding will be directed to cover acute costs as a result of the increased activity. 

Progress in 2016/17
The vision expressed in our submission has been the guiding principle for the work undertaken over 
the last financial year and local progress is reflective of the strong commitment to integration from 
senior leaders across the local system. The transformation projects have progressed at varying 
speeds and the below offers a brief summary of the key progress to date and future plans for each of 
the five transformation work-streams:

Data Sharing

14



Appendix 1

Data sharing has been identified as a crucial enabler to the provision of integrated care and 
underpins our whole model of person centred care. A multi-agency data sharing project was 
established in 2015, with the following aims: 

1. To enable decision makers within health and wellbeing pathways to be well informed.
2. To complement and facilitate delivery of the preventative / admission avoidance agenda 

including, but not limited to, the risk stratification process, the person-centred system and 
the joint assessment process.  

3. To improve people’s experience of and confidence in the health and wellbeing system; 
patients will not have to ‘tell their story’ to a number of agencies involved in delivery of 
services to them; the relevant information will be accessible to all agencies across the 
system as required.

4. To improve strategic commissioning, planning and delivery.

In the first year, the project focused on expanding a data sharing solution being developed by 
UnitingCare into social care; development of this system ceased with the ending of the contract. 
Therefore the focus of the work shifted in 2016/17 to support the development of Neighbourhood 
Teams, via enabling data sharing in the ‘trailblazer’ sites; ensuring that professionals can access each 
other’s systems as appropriate; promoting early sharing of information about people whose needs 
are increasing; and developing an approach to information governance that supports the above 
priorities. During 2016/17, the project has provided advice and guidance to the Trailblazers; and has 
brought together Information Governance leads to reach agreement across agencies on how data 
can be shared appropriately. It also supported development of a ‘proof of concept’ system that 
allowed sharing of data between organisations to support the case management process. It has 
however been challenging to bring this work into ‘business as usual’; whilst all organisations are 
willing to work together, there has not always been sufficient capacity in the system to progress this 
work, which relies on reaching complex and detailed agreements between a number of partners. 

An acute patient pathway live monitoring system (SHREWD) was launched in the autumn and 
incorporates key hospital, community health, mental health and social care activity metrics for the 
acute pathway.

Local Authorities were actively involved in the development of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Local Digital Roadmap (LDR) during 2016/17.  The data sharing BCF workstream 
programmes have been incorporated into the LDR.  From 2017-18 it has been resolved to 
incorporate this work into the ‘Digital’ workstream of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, 
recognising the need for system-wide ownership of these issues. 

In addition, Peterborough City Council is progressing procurement of a new adult social care system, 
which will incorporate open APIs, supporting the longer term objectives of this work-stream.  The 
decision has been made to align the system to that used in Cambridgeshire to facilitate information 
sharing and interoperability for health and care records across the STP footprint.

7 Day Services
Some areas of investment intended through the BCF in 2016/17 in relation to 7 Day Services did not 
progress to plan. Governance of this work-stream was originally overseen by the Systems Resilience 
Group. However, this became  the  Operational Group    in December 2016 and reports to the  A&E 
Delivery Board, which has a very focused remit on admissions/Dtoc  targets. Further, there is an 
inter-relation with work being established under the NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
programme, which has operated to separate governance and delivery arrangements to the BCF. It is 

15



Appendix 1

recognised that this has created the potential for a lack of joined up delivery across transformation 
initiatives. One of the lessons learned for future planning is the need to better align BCF  activity 
with the STP.

Despite these challenges, progress has been made against some of the key areas of 7 day services; 
e.g. improvements to the rapid community response service (JET), continued investment in the 
reablement pathway to address increased demand and the ongoing commissioning of the Red Cross 
‘Home from Hospital’ service to support discharge to assess. The SHREWD patient flow system was 
implemented in Peterborough City Hospital, with daily social care metrics uploaded to enable 
system wide oversight of key blockages.

PCC is undertaking a redesign of ‘Home Services’ which encompasses the integration of Care and 
Repair, assistive technology, reablement and therapy teams. This will strengthen and enable closer 
alignment of the intermediate care tier. Further work is planned for 2017/18 to embed this new 
model of delivery. The local system is also committed to implementing the High Impact Changes for 
Discharge, which is a national requirement for 2017/18.

Person Centred Systems
In 2015/16, the most significant investment in transformation through the BCF was in the CCG’s 
Older Peoples and Adults Community Services (OPACS) contract, awarded to UnitingCare 
Partnership. The five year contract was ended early on 3 December 2015, with the contract no 
longer financially viable. The immediate focus following cessation of the contract was on securing a 
safe transition of all service contracts to the CCG; and service continuity for patients and assurance 
for staff. 

In 2016/17, despite the ending of the contract, Neighbourhood Teams in Peterborough have 
continued to develop with Better Care Fund investment. As well as support for ongoing community 
health services across Peterborough, four ‘Trailblazer’ pilot sites were supported that have been 
refining the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) proactive case management model. These sites have seen 
joint work in MDTs across health, social care,Primary Care  and the voluntary sector, and 
development of an approach to case management for vulnerable people. Lessons from the 
Trailblazer teams are now being rolled out to other neighbourhood teams across Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough. Further work is being undertaken to develop patient pathways and training plans 
for the consistent use of the Rockwood Frailty Tool across the system.

Information, Communication and Advice
Work to develop a new Digital Front Door for the council and an enhancement of the Adult Social 
Care First Point of Contact services is underway, with the first phases of implementation planned for 
September 2017. Workshops have been held with health partners to develop a model for an 
integrated MDT Urgent and Emergency Care hub and further work to refine and agree this 
continues. 

The Information and Communication project has also focused on development of a ‘local 
information platform’ or LIP. During this year the project has had three key outputs: 

1) A piece of research, analysing customers of older people’s services provided by 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Peterborough City Council, to understand their 
communication and information needs and preferences.  This research has been completed 
and personas developed.

2) A set of data standards that allow the collation of data from multiple databases into one 
place.  This is complete and the data standards have been agreed.

16



Appendix 1

3) A system that demonstrates an automatic way of passing data from local authority and 
voluntary sector databases about services to a central point, and then on to MiDOS and the 
NHS 111 service to be used with customers (the Local Information Platform). This has been 
developed and is being tested by MiDOS.

Further work is planned in 2017/18 to enhance the platform, enabling connectivity with the range of 
front doors across the system. The goal is that information given to the public can be consistent, 
wherever people seek advice – and that it only needs to be updated once, so that ‘if a customer calls 
NHS 111, the practitioner on the other end of the phone searches MiDOS [the local NHS database], 
and finds information about local authority or voluntary sector services that is of good enough 
quality to ensure that customers can get the support they need; and is consistent with what that 
customer would find if they looked online themselves.’  

PCC has also undertaken a review of Directory of Services and is planning a consolidation of the DOS 
structure and development of further content in 2017/18.

Healthy Ageing and Prevention
The Healthy Ageing and Prevention Project has been exploring how best to establish and implement 
preventative approaches that prevent or delay the need for more intensive health (specifically 
admissions and re-admissions to hospital) and social care services, or proactively promote the 
independence of people with long-term conditions and older people and engagement with the 
community. A clear set of early triggers were identified in 2015/16 and the areas of focus have been; 
falls prevention, social isolation, malnutrition, dementia and continence/UTIs. 

During 2016/17, a falls prevention pilot project was implemented, jointly with Cambridgeshire, in St 
Ives, with a view to wider rolling out of learning to Peterborough after the 12 month pilot 
evaluation. The aim of the pilot was to reduce falls and fall-related injuries in the community 
through improving the identification, multifactorial assessment, uptake and compliance of evidence 
based interventions in people aged 65+ who have reported a fall or are at risk of falling. 
Fundamental to achieving this aim is the delivery of falls prevention training and support to staff in 
Neighbourhood Teams, Primary Care  and other community organisations to enable them to screen, 
assess and refer those at risk or those reporting a fall to multifactorial, evidence based support. An 
evaluation report will be published in April 2017. A business case has been developed for 
standardised falls prevention provision across the county, which it is anticipated will generate 
significant savings for the whole system.

A strong focus on community development is being taken forward through Peterborough City 
Council’s Community Serve project. The project is underway to build community resilience and 
improve health and wellbeing. ‘Meet and eat’ social dining sessions are running regularly across all 
three pilot areas (Can-Do area, Westwood & Ravensthorpe and the Ortons). Community hubs have 
been established and area coordinators are in place. A volunteer time-bank pilot is being explored. 
Further work is planned in 2017/18 to expand provision to include health and wellbeing advice, skills 
development and community access.

Other areas of financial investment in 2015/16

Care Act monies
PCC is now legally compliant with the requirements of the Care Act and 2016/17 investment funded 
additional costs due to the increased responsibilities of PCC as a result of the Care Act changes, e.g. 

17



Appendix 1

Carer’s assessments. Further investment in 2017-19 is identified to continue to support the costs of 
these additional responsibilities.

Ex. Section 256 monies
In 2016/17 money was invested in providing independent sector placements and care packages for 
service users with eligible needs. 2016/17 funding has been budgeted to continue to support this.

Protection of Adult Social Care
This investment has been allocated to core service budgets to ensure that the level of provision of 
Adult Social Care is protected. This has allowed us to continue to maintain the existing thresholds, as 
well as ensuring that we can meet demand and respond to demographic pressures and increasing 
levels of need.

Integrated Adults Community Services Contract
In 2016/17, despite the ending of the UnitingCare contract, Neighbourhood Teams in Peterborough 
have continued to develop with Better Care Fund investment and a commitment has remained to 
continue to deliver the integrated community service model.

Carer’s Prescription 
Investment was made in the Carer’s Prescription in 2016/17, which has facilitated support to Carer’s. 
This investment has facilitated the GP Family Carers Prescription service, supporting GP 
commissioning by offering GPs and surgeries a proactive way to support carers. 

Disabled Facilities Grant
Capital allocation was invested in this area to support minor and major adaptations for eligible 
adults and children via the Care and Repair service to enable people to stay in their homes. More 
innovative models of utilising the DFG were also implemented, including preventative small grants to 
aid hospital discharges.

Progress against BCF performance metrics
Performance metrics included within the BCF are largely set at a national level and relate to national 
policy goals for health and social care. The national metrics in Peterborough’s Plan are: 

● A reduction in non-elective admissions to acute hospital
● A reduction in admissions to long-term residential and nursing care homes
● An increase in the effectiveness of re-ablement services
● A reduction in Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) from hospital

In addition, each area is asked to choose a local metric, and to choose their own measure of patient 
experience. In Peterborough, these measures are: 

● Injuries due to falls in 65+ year olds
● Maintained patient satisfaction with local NHS services.

Residential admissions: The residential admissions 2016/17 target reflected the need to maintain 
the significant reduction achieved in 2015/16. Performance in 2016/17  exceeded the threshold 

18



Appendix 1

target. Residential admissions for older people continued to be low in number due to the range of 
alternatives on offer.   We had 125 admissions against a threshold target of 128. The table below 
shows a breakdown of year to date forecast activity for 2016/17 against planned year to date target 
and 2015/16 baseline.

Reablement: Reablement performance showed a slight decline in performance from 2015/16 at. The 
target for 2016/17 was 82.8% of patients still at home 91 days after hospital discharge. Performance 
was strong in Q1 and Q2, but a dip in performance was experienced in Q3 and Q4. This was 
impacted by reduced performance due to capacity issues in the care market and winter pressures. 
Higher numbers were discharged to reablement servcies from hospital during the year and the 
service was expanded to meet a higher range of need.  This also impacted slightly on the 91 day 
outcomes - which stands at 77%.  The table below shows a breakdown of activity for 2016/17 against 
the planned target and 2015/16 baseline.

Non-elective admissions: The target 2.1% net reduction in non-elective admissions was not met in 
2016/17. Increases in non-elective admissions were seen in Q1 and Q2, as a result of many 
increasing pressures on the system, including a rapidly growing population. Q3 and Q4 experienced a 
reduction in non-elective admissions, but progress at year end (0.05% reduction) underperformed 
against the planned year to date target of a 2.1% reduction. The table below shows a breakdown of 
activity for 2016/17 against the planned target and 2015/16 baseline.

19



Appendix 1

Delayed Transfers of Care: Despite a slight downward trend in DTOCs in 2016/17 Q1 and Q2, a steep 
increase was experienced in Q3. The roll out of Discharge to Assess in Q4 had a positive impact 
towards the latter part of the year, however final year performance underperformed against target. 
Overall, DTOCs were still higher than levels seen in 2015/16. 2016/17 performance (7,456 occupied 
bed days) significantly underperformed against plan for 2016/17 (3,366 occupied bed days). A strong 
focus on discharge planning and DTOCs is a condition of national guidance for 2017/18 and will be 
incorporated in local system plans.  The table below shows a breakdown of activity for 2016/17 
against the planned target and 2015/16 baseline. 

Injuries due to falls: During the course of 2016/17 there has been a consistent downward trend in 
injuries due to falls. The planned threshold target for 2016/17 (515) was ambitious based on 
previous year’s performance. Despite a 2016/17 significant decrease of 21.6% against 2015/16 
basline (563), the full year target was not fully met. The table below shows a breakdown of activity 
for 2016/17 against the planned target and 2015/16 baseline.

20



Appendix 1

Friends and Family test: We exceeded the target for this metric, running consistently over the set 
target of 93%. Performance for 2016/17 at end of year was 97%.

Performance summary
Whilst performance against some indicators has been positive, performance against non-elective 
admissions and delayed transfers of care have notably continued to worsen. The below table 
summarises performance against metrics on a green (met target), amber (improved performance 
but didn’t meet target) red (no improvement) basis:

Metric 2016/17 Actual 
Performance

2016/17 Planned 
Threshold Target

Non-elective admissions to hospital 0.05% net reduction 
(19,229)

2.1% net reduction 
(18,834)

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) from hospital 7,174 3.5% occupied bed days 
(3,366)

Admissions to long-term residential and nursing homes 125 128

Effectiveness of re-ablement services 77% 82.8%

Injuries due to falls in 65+ year olds 563 515

Maintained patient satisfaction with NHS services (Friends 
and Family Test)

97% 93%

However, it is important to note that success in these indicators is reliant on a significantly wider 
range of factors than activity contained within the BCF Plan. Whilst BCF-funded activity will have 
successfully had an impact on preventing non-elective admissions and reducing DTOCs, this has not 
been sufficient to mitigate all underlying demand and increased pressures across the system. This 
highlights the challenge of maintaining the BCF as a separate programme of activity in delivering 
reductions in these indicators.

Additional priorities for 2017-19
Plans for 2017-19 build on current progress and the lessons learnt to date. They recognise the 
changing landscape locally and the need to move forward in a dynamic way. Below outlines some of 
the key learning points and plans for progressing into next year.

National comparisons
In February 2017, the National Audit Office published a summary of progress in health and social 
care integration, which allows for some limited national comparisons of progress in delivery of 
Better Care Fund aims. Most notably, achievement against performance indicators in Peterborough 
matches the national picture. National results have seen a reduction in permanent admissions of 
older people to residential/nursing homes; and an increase in proportion of older people at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital. However, delayed transfers of care and non-elective admissions 
have continued to increase significantly between 2014 and 2016. It was found that financial 

21



Appendix 1

directors in the majority of areas did not believe it was possible to deliver on both financial and 
performance targets assigned to their local areas.
The report notes that progress in integration has been slow in many areas, particularly due to 
financial constraints and continuing short term financial pressures. 

Nationally, the NAO found that the BCF process has created significant bureaucracy around 
integration; and that barriers remain in place through legislation and accountability frameworks that 
discourage greater integration. Despite these findings, 76% of local areas agreed that 
implementation of a pooled budget had led to more joined up health and social care provision; and 
91% felt that the BCF had improved joint working. 

The report concludes that the BCF has significant potential to join up health and social care services, 
but that better national guidance is needed on standards of integration and associated indicators to 
measure the effectiveness of local integration. 

Local issues and lessons learned
In addition to the summary above, there are two further challenges that have been faced in 
developing a Better Care Fund plan in Peterborough – a lack of alignment of planning timescales; 
and a lack of alignment of boundaries.

Lack of alignment: timescales: Planning for the first year of BCF took place over an extended period 
of over 12 months; however during that time the guidance, financial allocations and requirements 
changed significantly. In the following years, time available for BCF planning has been considerably 
compressed. For 2016/17, the guidance was published in February 2016; the plan for the 2016/17 
financial year was not then approved until late August. At the time of writing in March 2017, 
guidance for the financial year beginning 1 April 2017 has not yet been published. This has led to 
organisations agreeing their budgets before financial allocations have been published, based on 
assumptions about funding to be included in the BCF. This creates a barrier to effective alignment 
and planning of the pooled budget. The compressed timescales also significantly impedes wider 
engagement with  a range of partners on the content of the BCF plan.

Lack of alignment: boundaries: Whilst the BCF covers the Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board 
area, different organisations represented on the Board cover different areas. The CCG area covers 
local authority areas of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, alongside small elements of 
Hertfordshire and Northamptonshire. The STP footprint covers Cambridgeshire and Peterborough; 
whilst many NHS providers cover a wider area again, serving patients from parts of Norfolk, 
Lincolnshire, Essex, Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire. Whilst there has been some linking of BCF plans 
across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, slight differences in approach have led to delays at times 
and created the potential for confusion. It also creates the need for multiple reports to be generated 
covering different geographical areas. This disconnect is emphasised now that the NHS STP has been 
established as the main vehicle for NHS Transformation in the area. It is proposed that greater 
alignment is needed to ensure that partners can work together effectively on their approach to 
transformation. 

Lessons learned for 2017 – 19
The following recommendations have been made for BCF planning in 2017-19:

Greater alignment of BCF activity with the STP and local authority transformation plans: In its first 
two years, the BCF has maintained a separate project structure for many of its transformation 
projects. Given the fact that many BCF performance targets are dependent on activity across the STP 

22



Appendix 1

Delivery Boards, further alignment is necessary. From 2017, the BCF will shift to commissioning 
activity either from the STP or local authority transformation programmes as appropriate, to reduce 
duplication and ensure that all partners can be engaged with the correct pieces of work. The BCF 
plan will describe activity to be commissioned, and responsibility for implementation would be 
passed to the most appropriate group. It will include specific targets in relation to performance 
indicators for BCF commissioned activity as well as clarity on the primary governance.

Greater alignment of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough BCF Plans: BCF transformation activity has 
always been aligned to some extent between Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. As most health and 
social care service transformation activity is now system wide in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, 
it has been agreed that there should be further alignment of the two plans, with a single set of 
activity and common budget categories across the two areas wherever possible. Separate BCF 
budgets will still be maintained in line with statutory requirements, and each Health and Wellbeing 
Board will still be responsible for agreeing plans.

A single commissioning Board for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough: Previously there were two 
separate boards in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough overseeing BCF activity – the Cambridgeshire 
BCF Delivery Board and Greater Peterborough Area Executive Partnership Commissioning Board. To 
support more effective joint commissioning these are being replaced by a single board across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This will support a more joined up approach to planning and 
allow a more coordinated approach between the two areas and enable streamlined reporting into 
the two Health and Wellbeing Boards.

23



Appendix 1

24



Peterborough & 

Cambridgeshire BCF 

Approach 2017-19

August 2017

25

aaq424
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2

aaq424_1
Typewritten Text



What is the Better Care Fund?
“The Better Care Fund is a single pooled budget to support health and social care services to work 
more closely together in local areas…”.

NHS Planning Guidance, December 2013

BCF 2016/17 Overview

The sum of £12,613k was invested into the pooled 
fund to deliver the outcomes of the BCF. 

During the financial year of 2016/17, a Section 75 pooled budget was established in relation to the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). This was not new money in the system, but 
redistributed sums from health and social care.

View from Peterborough View from Cambridgeshire

The sum of £48,465k was invested into the pooled 
fund to deliver the outcomes of the BCF. 

This financial contribution was redirected from existing Local Authorities and CCG budgets.

In 2017, Peterborough and Cambridgeshire will be required to submit new, jointly agreed BCF 

Plans, covering a two year period (April 2017 to March 2019).

26



BCF 2016-17 Local Spend: Peterborough

27



BCF 2016-17 Local Spend: Cambs

28



BCF Progress 2016/17
A brief summary of the key progress to date of the five transformation work-streams:

-County wide 

falls pathway 

developed

-Falls pilot 

undertaken and 

evaluated

-County-wide 

Dementia 

Strategy in 

development

-Joint Wellbeing 

Commissioning 

Principles 

developed and 

agreed

-System wide 

data standards 

developed

-Customer 

analysis research 

undertaken

-PCVS mapped 

and collated 

VCS and 

community 

services data 

-Technical 

development of 

proof of concept 

search platform 

to feed data into 

MiDOS is in 

development

-Improvements 

to the rapid 

community 

response service 

(JET)

-Investment in 

the reablement 

pathway to 

address 

increased 

demand

-SHREWD patient 

flow system 

implemented in 

PCH

-7DS mapping 

and gap analysis 

undertaken

Healthy Ageing 
& Prevention

Information, 
Comms & 
Advice

7 day services Data sharing
Person centred 
systems

-Local Digital 

Roadmap 

developed

-Information 

governance 

approach 

agreed

-proof of 

concept data 

sharing tool ro 

support case 

management 

was developed

-Support for 

ongoing 

community 

health services 

across 

Peterborough, -

‘Trailblazer’ pilot 

sites established 

that have been 

refining the MDT 

proactive case 

management 

model. Wider roll 

out plans 

commenced.

29



BCF Progress against performance 

metrics - Peterborough

30



BCF Progress against performance 

metrics - Cambridgeshire

Metric 2016/17 Actual Performance

2016/17 Planned Threshold 

Target

Non-elective admissions to hospital 15,625 15,665

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) from hospital 35,732 10,886

Admissions to long term residential and nursing homes (per 100,000) 345 486.6

Effectiveness of reablement services 61.20% 81.20%

Maintained satisfaction with NHS Services (Friends and Family Test) 97% 93%

Proportion of adults receiving long term social care (per 100,000) 1,562 1600

31



DTOCs Performance 2017-19

● DTOCs were the worst performing target for 2016/17, with targets underperforming by 200% in 

Peterborough and 300% in Cambridgeshire.

● There is a big focus on DTOC planning in the BCF 2017-19 plan and there is a system commitment 

to deliver the 3.5% national target by September 2017.

● To deliver we need to:

○ Implement the High Impact Changes across the system in line with national conditions

○ Ensure a robustly agreed and costed DTOC plan to deliver the 3.5% trajectory

○ Focus on the understanding and addressing the key reasons for delays (e.g. assessment 

related delays)

○ Implement effective Discharge to Assess models

○ Re-design the Continuing HealthCare Pathway to support Discharge to Assess 

○ Improve patient flow through the system and ensure appropriate community provision is in 

place

○ Plan effectively for winter

○ Utilise the Voluntary Sector more effectively for low level supported discharge

○ More effective MDT early discharge planning and organisational accountability for discharges 

across the system

○ Increased use of the Trusted Assessor model

○ Improved information and advice to patients regarding discharge processes and patient choice

32



High Impact Changes
The 8 High Impact Changes (HIC) are:

1) Early Discharge Planning -

a) In elective care, planning should begin before admission. 

b) In emergency/ unscheduled care, robust systems need to be in place to develop plans for 

management and discharge, and to allow an expected date of discharge to be set within

2) Systems to Monitor Patient Flow.  Robust Patient flow models for health and social care

3) Multi-disciplinary/Multi-Agency Discharge Teams, including the Voluntary and Community Sector

4) Home First/Discharge to Assess.  Providing short-term care and reablement in people’s homes or using 

‘stepdown’ beds to bridge the gap between hospital and home

5) Seven-Day Service.  Successful, joint 24/7 working

6) Trusted Assessor.  Using trusted assessors to carry out a holistic assessment of need

7) Focus on Choice.  Early engagement with patients, families and carers

8) Enhancing Health in Care Homes.   Offering people joined-up, co-ordinated health and care services

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have developed costed plans to address the implementation of the 8 HIC. 

Following system wide self-assessments and workshops, the following 3 areas have been agreed as immediate 

short term system priorities:

● Discharge to Assess

● CHC Hospital Discharge Process

● Trusted Assessor

33



Better Care Fund Planning - 2017-19

● 2 year plan – how we will achieve 

integration by 2020

○ Local vision with patient focus 

○ Alignment with STP & local plans

○ Compliance with national 

conditions 

○ A plan of action

○ Use of the iBCF to support DTOCs

○ Engagement with a range of 

partners, including housing

2017-19 – Guidance:
Narrative 

Plan

Vision for H&SC 
2020

Action plan with 
supporting 
evidence

Risk assessment 
& approach

Meeting the 
National 

Conditions

34



Better Care Fund 2017-19

1. Reduce non-elective admissions
2. Reduce permanent care home 

admissions
3. Increased effectiveness of reablement
4. Reduced delayed transfers of care

• Plans to be agreed jointly
• Maintain provision of social care
• Investment in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital 

services
• Managing transfers of care

National 
Conditions

Performance 

Metrics

The metrics apply to the BCF plan and the monies associated with its delivery.  
When we monitor against these metrics we need to consider how total BCF spend 
is helping to improve performance.

Improved BCF (iBCF) quarterly reporting

35



Integrated System Principles

A series of 

community based 

programmes and 

support that help 

people to age 

healthily

A shared 

tool that 

describes 

levels of 

vulnerability

Joint 

commissioning 

and aligned 

financial 

incentives

Shared 

assessment 

process, 

information 

sharing between 

health, social 

care and other 

partners

An integrated 

front door with 

an agreed 

principle of 

‘no wrong 

front door’

A recognised set 

of triggers of 

vulnerability 

which generate 

a planned 

response across 

the system

A universal 

network helping 

citizens to find 

high quality 

information and 

advice

An aligned 

set of 

outcomes

A locality based 

Integrated 

Neighbourhood 

Team approach 

working with 

Primary Care 

focus on prevention 
and early intervention, 

including more proactive 
use of equipment, assistive 

technology and DFG to 
support independence in 

the home

36



The Local Vision

Before people have significant ongoing needs;
• Ageing well
• Eyes & Ears - Indicators of vulnerability
• Clear and joint sources of information

• A real or virtual ‘single point of access’ for advice and support
• Holistic identification of need with a coordinated response

Support for people with significant ongoing needs
● Clear, coordinated pathways and handovers

● Neighbourhood teams and Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) working

● Case finding and case management

● Working with Care Homes

● Working with housing providers

● Enablers – support for delivery

● Joint outcomes

● Information and data sharing

● A common language

● Workforce development

● Property co-location

● Joint commissioning of the voluntary and community sector

37



BCF 2017-19: Alignment with Local 

Strategic Objectives

1. Cambridgeshire County Council: Transforming Lives, our approach to social work, emphasising 

the need to support people to stay fit & well

2. Peterborough City Council: Vision for Social Care - ensure that people in Peterborough can 

live in a strong and vibrant community that protects the vulnerable and most at risk

3. Fit for the Future - our STP, which emphasises three key messages: 

a. ‘At Home is Best’; 

b. ‘Safe and effective hospital care, when needed’ 

c. ‘We’re only sustainable together’

There is a strong overlap between BCF priorities and those of the STP and one of the core principles of 

the 2017-19 plan is to align the approach to governance and implementation as much as practical 

across the BCF and STP programmes to ensure an integrated and coordinated response to maximise 

opportunities and reduce duplication across the system (the BCF Plan for Delivery on Slide 14 

highlights the overlap with the STP delivery groups and where STP has been agreed as the primary 

governance).

38



BCF Plan for Delivery

Peterborough & Cambridgeshire 

Better Care Fund

Strategic 

Themes

Transformation 

Schemes

System 

Enablers

Prevention & Early 

Intervention

Community 

Services (MDT 

Working)

High Impact 

Changes for 

Discharge39



BCF 2017-19: Managing Transfers of Care
‘High Impact Change Model’ – to support systems reduce DToC:

40



Improved BCF (iBCF)
● New non-recurrent social care grant allocation

● To be used for:

○ Stabilising the social care market

○ Meeting adult social care needs

○ Reducing pressures on NHS

○ Meeting High Impact Change model

● Must be pooled into BCF

● Working with CCGs and providers

● Quarterly reporting to the Department of Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG)

Quarterly Reports:
• Project/initiatives progress update
• HIC progress (LA perspective)
• Other metrics

• Impact on:

o Number of care packages
o Hours of homecare provided
o Number of care home placements

41



Local Better Care Fund Financials 2017-19 -

Peterborough

42



Local Better Care Fund Financials 2017-19 -

Cambridgeshire

43



17/18  iBCF proposed funding split

44



BCF Governance 

The Health & Wellbeing Board is accountable for the BCF. They have delegated authority to the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB). 

The ICB will oversee the BCF plan and delivery and review opportunities for joint investment opportunities. The ICB has been aligned with 

the STP governance structure, which is depicted below. We are merging the Local Health and Wellbeing Partnerships with Area Executive 

Partnerships to create Living Well Partnerships to join up the two tier LA system.

45



2017-19 BCF Approval Process

• Agree project detail

• Agree associated 

operational planning 

assumptions & 

financial contributions

• Agree narrative high 

level plan and confirm 

it meets national 

conditions

Regional 
Assurance

- NHSE Regional Director of 
Commission Operations 

NHSE finance teams

- ADASS regional leads

• Assurance of plan 

quality -meeting 

national conditions 

and address risk

• Area performance, 

capacity and 

financial position 

against plan 

delivery

Recommendation 

for ‘Compliant’, 

‘On Track’, ‘Off 

Track’

Regional 
NHS England 

/ Local 
Government 
moderation

Plan Approval 

Decision 

(‘Approved’, 

‘Approved with 

Support’, ‘Not 

Approved’)

Health & 
Wellbeing Board

Integrated 
Commissioning 

Board

Other 

engagement –

providers, 

districts, 

housing

2017-19 BCF Plan

STP 

Governance

46



Appendix 3

Integration and Better Care Fund

Narrative Plan Template 2017/19

DRAFT – VERSION 5.7

Area
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Constituent Health and Wellbeing 
Boards

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough 
Health and Wellbeing Boards

Constituent CCGs Cambridgeshire & Peterborough 
Clinical Commissioning Group

47



Appendix 3

Contents
Introduction 3

Local vision and approach for health and social care integration 3

Background & Context to C&P 2017/19 BCF Plans 6

Greater Joint Governance & STP Linkages 6

Challenges 7

Progress to date 8

BCF Expenditure 8

BCF Metrics Performance 8

Progress in areas of major investment 10

Lessons learnt for 2017/19 12

Evidence base and local priorities to support plan for integration 13

Better Care Fund plan 2017-19 13

Focus area one: Prevention and early intervention 14

Focus Area Two: Community Services / MDT Working 17

Focus Area Three: High Impact Changes for managing transfers of care 18

Strategic Theme Area Four: Information and Communication (Enabler) 19

Project Delivery 19

Assessment of Risk and Risk Management 20

Financial Risk Management 22

National Conditions 22

National condition 1: jointly agreed plan 22

National condition 2: social care maintenance 22

National condition 3: NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services 23

National Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care 23

Overview of funding contributions 23

Carer’s Breaks 23

Maintenance of Adult Social Care 24

Reablement 24

Care Act Duties 24

Disabled Facilities Grant 24

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) 24

DTOC Plan 25

48

h#_1fob9te


Appendix 3

Programme Governance 26

Approval and Sign Off 27

Introduction

This document forms part one of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s (C&P) Better Care 
Fund (BCF) Plans for 2017-19 - a joint narrative, highlighting the integrated approach to BCF 
plans across the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board areas. The 
purpose is to: 

● Outline our 2020 vision for integration
● Set out priorities for delivery of further integrated working 
● Establish the context
● Provide an overview of the changes and progress against 2016/17 BCF plans...
● Describe the budget setting approach
● Describe how we will meet each of the national BCF conditions. 

Local vision and approach for health and social care integration

Our vision across C&P remains consistent since 2015/16 – expressed in previous BCF 
plans: 

“Over the next five years in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough we want to move to a system 
in which health and social care help people to help themselves, and the majority of people’s 
needs are met through family and community support where appropriate. This support will 
focus on returning people to independence as far as possible with more intensive and longer 
term support available to those that need it.

This shift is ambitious. It means moving money away from acute health services, typically 
provided in hospital, and from ongoing social care support. This cannot be achieved 
immediately – such services are usually funded on a demand-led basis and provided as they 
are needed in order to avoid people being left untreated or unsupported when they have had 
a crisis. Therefore reducing spending is only possible if fewer people have crises. However, 
this is required if services are to be sustainable in the medium and long term.”

This vision remains relevant in 2017/ 19 translating into our key transformation plans and 
strategies:

49



Appendix 3

● Transforming Lives1, Cambridgeshire’s approach to social work, which emphasises 
the need to support people to stay well – and the importance of providing support 
that is focused on returning them as far as possible to independence.

● Peterborough’s vision for Social Care2, to ensure that people in Peterborough can 
live in a strong and vibrant community that works in partnership with the council to 
protect the most vulnerable people and communities; maximise the health and 
wellbeing opportunities for individuals; provide the right level of information and 
support to individuals so they can make informed choices on the services they need; 
redesign services with community organisations to be more responsive and better 
meet the needs of individuals.

● Fit for the Future3, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s Sustainability & 
Transformation Plan (STP) which emphasises three key messages: ‘At Home is 
Best’; ‘Safe and effective hospital care, when needed’; and ‘We’re only sustainable 
together’.

In Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, the NHS, general practice, and local government have 
come together to develop a five-year Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) to 
improve the health and care of our local population and bring the system back into financial 
balance. To enable us to deliver the best care we can, we have agreed a unifying ambition 
for health and care in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This is to develop the beneficial 
behaviours of an ‘Accountable Care System’ (ACS) by acting as one system, jointly 
accountable for improving our population’s health and wellbeing, outcomes, and experience, 
within a defined financial envelope. Through engagement with staff, patients, carers, and 
partners, we identified four priorities for change and developed a 10-point plan to deliver 
these priorities: 

Priorities for Change 10-Point Plan

At home is best 1.People powered health and wellbeing
2.Neighbourhood care hubs

Safe and effective hospital care, when 
needed

3.Responsive urgent and expert emergency 
care
4.Systematic and standardised care
5.Continued world-famous research and 
services

We’re only sustainable together 6.Partnership working supported delivery

Supported delivery 7.A culture of learning as a system
8.Workforce: growing our own
9.Using our land and buildings better

1 https://ccc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/working-together-
children-families-and-adults/Transforming%20Lives%20strategy.pdf?inline=true 
2 https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/strategic-
priorities/ 
3 http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/documents/cambridgeshire-peterborough-sustainability-transformation-
plan-october-2016/ 

50

https://ccc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/working-together-children-families-and-adults/Transforming%20Lives%20strategy.pdf?inline=true
https://ccc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/working-together-children-families-and-adults/Transforming%20Lives%20strategy.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/strategic-priorities/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/strategic-priorities/
http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/documents/cambridgeshire-peterborough-sustainability-transformation-plan-october-2016/
http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/documents/cambridgeshire-peterborough-sustainability-transformation-plan-october-2016/


Appendix 3

10.Using technology to modernise health

Some of our solutions are common across the NHS. Other aspects are specific to our local 
system as follows:  

● Improving outcomes for older people: We are building on the Older People’s and 
Adult Community Services (OPACS) outcomes and   we  are implementing  
components of the   care model which harnesses the benefits of  social capital, 
integrated neighbourhood teams, and a community-based rapid response to 
deteriorating patients/ service users in the community.

● Care networks: Our approach is to move knowledge and not patients wherever 
possible and appropriate. 

● Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) delivering together: Through collective 
leadership at system level, we will implement the changes required.  

● Exploiting the benefits of new developments: We are inputting into the 
development of new homes to optimise the health of our new residents and 
employees. 

In last year’s plans we set out how we wanted the ‘system’ that supports older people, 
people with long term conditions including disabilities, carers and families to work in future.  
We also set out a plan for delivery – across the NHS, Social Care, District Councils, 
Housing, Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) and independent sector organisations 
providing services for people.

These priorities have formed the basis for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s Better Care 
Fund Plans for 2016/17 onwards; and have informed the work planned for the ‘Primary Care 
and Integrated Neighbourhoods’ work-stream of the NHS Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan. They remain the drivers for integrated working across the system in Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough. The ‘BCF Plan’ section of this document describes the specific areas of 
work we will progress through the Better Care Fund budgets in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough from 2017-19.

Broadly speaking, these changes can be divided into:

● support for people who do not have, or have not yet developed, significant ongoing 
health needs; and 

● support for those people that have significant ongoing needs and receive support 
from a range of organisations. 

To achieve our ultimate aim of a shift away from long term social care, or care that is 
provided in the acute setting, to preventative services that are focused on keeping people 
well, we are focusing our response across both cohorts.

Further information on our joint vision can be found at Appendix 1.

51



Appendix 3

Background & Context to C&P 2017/19 BCF Plans

The vision outlined above has been the guiding principle for the work undertaken in previous 
years and local progress is reflective of the strong commitment to integration from senior 
leaders across the local system. 

During the last 12 months, there have been a number of external changes which have 
impacted on the approach to BCF in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, including the 
creation of a Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan; establishment of new governance arrangements across the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough health and care system; greater joint working between Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough local authorities and the development of local devolution plans4. These offer 
an opportunity to review the current approach to BCF across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, to ensure it is better aligned with other initiatives, whilst still meeting its core 
aims. 

Plans for 2017-19 build on current progress and the lessons learnt to date. They recognise 
the changing landscape locally and the need to move forward in a dynamic way. The 
number of agencies involved in different elements of the above programmes, and the lack of 
alignment across geographic and organisational boundaries would, left unchecked, create a 
delivery risk for our BCF Plans. We want the BCF to drive closer alignment across our 
system to support better outcomes for patients and citizens.  Below outlines some of the key 
learning points and plans for progressing into next year, which have been incorporated into 
our approach for 2017-19. 

Greater Joint Governance & STP Linkages
2017/19 is the third year of BCF plans. Over time the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
BCF Plans have developed from two separate plans and governance systems into one joint 
narrative plan, as set out here.

Three years ago the BCF maintained a separate project structure to the rest of the system 
for many of its transformation projects. There were also separate BCF commissioning 
boards within C&P for each of the BCF plans. There is now greater joint working between 
C&P local authorities and local devolution plans are being developed5. A joint ‘Integrated 
Commissioning Board’ (ICB) now replaces the two separate Boards. This is designed to 
support better integration, closer co-ordination, and streamlined reporting into the two C&P 
Health and Wellbeing Boards. This will help to strengthen our BCF Delivery Plans. 
The C&P STP was established through 2016/17 and as such new STP structures have been 
created. The key decision making forum for the STP is the Health Care Executive (HCE) 

4 https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/devolution/ 
5 https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/devolution/ 

52

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/devolution/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/council-strategies/devolution/


Appendix 3

comprising all health and Local Authority CEOs. The HCE has committed to a Memorandum 
of Understanding6 which sets out the jointly agreed approach to effective system 
transformational change. In addition, an agreed approach through the STP to measuring 
whole system outcomes, of which the BCF forms a part, is now being developed. This will 
enable closer alignment with the objectives and deliverables of the Health Care Executive, 
as well as local devolution plans.

The ICB is now working closely with the STP and as such has already agreed to joint fund 
STP Business Cases during 2017/18. Plan implementation has equally become increasingly 
integrated, resulting in stronger and more efficient delivery. 

During 2016/17 we have strengthened the Vision and Approach to Social Care Integration as 
outlined in the Local Vision and Approach section and Appendix 1. This has now been 
successfully adopted within the STP as part of the ‘Primary Care and Integrated 
Neighbourhoods’ (PCIN) Workstream. Although PCIN is the main STP link with BCF, we 
also established stronger links with the STP’s Urgent Emergency Care (UEC) Workstream, 
vital for successful integrated working to reduce demand on urgent and emergency care 
services and to reduce delayed transfers of care (DTOCs). 

Challenges
Our key challenges, which have informed the evidence base for our 2017/19 BCF plans, are 
as follows: 

● Financial: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough collectively is one of the most 
‘challenged health economies’; this means that if we change nothing, then by 2021 
local health services would need an extra £504 million7, with local social care 
services facing similar challenges. 

● Population Growth: Both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have a rapidly growing 
and changing population.  There will be large increases in the number of older 
people, children and people from different backgrounds living in the county in the 
next 10 years and beyond. For further demographic information, see Appendix 2.

● Over-reliance on emergency health and long term social care: People are living 
longer with a greater number of co-morbidities or disabilities, resulting in increased 
demand on our health and care services, in common with the rest of the country. This 
creates particular challenges for planning and managing health and social care 
services. Too many people are treated in our acute hospitals and numbers of people 
admitted to hospital as an emergency has been growing by around 2% each year.  
Our acute hospitals are under severe operational pressure. Supporting people 
earlier, in their own homes, in order to prevent emergencies will achieve better 

6 http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Cambridgeshire-and-
Peterborough-STP-Memorandum-of-Understanding-October-2016.pdf
7 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
(http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-
Sustainability-and-Transformation-Plan-October-2016.pdf) 

53

http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-STP-Memorandum-of-Understanding-October-2016.pdf
http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-STP-Memorandum-of-Understanding-October-2016.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-Sustainability-and-Transformation-Plan-October-2016.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-Sustainability-and-Transformation-Plan-October-2016.pdf


Appendix 3

outcomes. 

● Lack of alignment: The number of agencies involved in different elements of the 
above programmes, and the lack of alignment across geographic and organisational 
boundaries would, left unchecked, create a delivery risk for our BCF Plans.

● Delayed  transfers of care: in this area C&P has been an outlier. As well as system  
capacity issues with the support of the  Emergency Care Intensive Support Team a 
number if process issues have been identified across the system which are causing 
blocks  and delays in patient flow across the system. 

Progress to date

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have now reached the end of the second financial year of 
the Better Care Fund and the below outlines key progress made in 2016/17.

BCF Expenditure 
The majority of funding included within the BCF budget was used in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough to support local health and social care services; including community based 
health services, protection of adult social care and funding VCS activities.  

The approach taken to financial allocations in the BCF, in both Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough has minimised financial risks to partners, whilst also continuing to protect 
existing social care and health services. This decision to limit risk to existing services has 
meant that lower amounts for transformation were released than in some health and 
wellbeing board areas, but was felt to be the most appropriate approach for the local area.
This approach has ensured that we continue to maintain existing statutory community health 
and social care services. Without this support community capacity would be diminished and 
outcomes would worsen, with more people ending up in more expensive or longer term 
health and social care services. A smaller pot of money was made available to support 
transformation projects and progress during 2016/17 on these is outlined below.

Broadly speaking, BCF budgets were spent as planned in both Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, with a small underspend in Cambridgeshire; in Peterborough budgets were 
balanced at year end. Further information on the 2016/17 BCF budgets can be found in 
Appendix 3.

BCF Metrics Performance
Whilst performance against some indicators has been positive, performance against non-
elective admissions and delayed transfers of care have notably failed to meet targets. The 
2016/17 actual year performance and 2017-19 targets are detailed in the ‘BCF Planning 
Template’ spreadsheet. This is in the context of significant increased activity across the 
system; and in particular increased attendances of 85 plus year olds at hospital. Whilst BCF-
funded activities, particularly the community based neighbourhood teams, undoubtedly 

54



Appendix 3

impacted on preventing non-elective admissions and reducing DTOCs, this was clearly 
insufficient to mitigate against the increasing system demand. The CCG engaged the 
support of the Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) to look at the root causes 
and develop DTOC plans – which are aligned where appropriate with  the 2017/19 DTOC 
and 8 High Impact Change (8HIC) plans. 

Reablement performance also showed a slight decline in performance from 2015/16 as a 
result of capacity issues in the care market and winter pressures, as well as increased 
higher level need hospital discharges into reablement. 

Successful delivery against the BCF metrics is reliant on a significantly wider range of 
factors than activity contained solely within the BCF Plan. 
The specific performance metrics for 2016/17 are included at Appendix 4.   

BCF metrics for 2017/19 have been set, with the detail outlined in the attached planning 
spreadsheet. Below provides a high level overview of the approach to setting targets for 
2017/19, factoring in previous year performance and forecast local challenges.

● Non Elective Admissions: BCF trajectories are aligned to the CCG operational plan 
trajectory to ensure alignment. The CCG non-elective activity plan for 2017/18 
represents a system wide target of 75,940, with the STP growth assumption of 3.4% 
applied to give a Do Nothing plan of 83,583 non-elective admissions.  In addition to 
BCF planned activity, there are a number of QIPP projects in place that aim to 
reduce the number of non-elective admissions during 2017/18, including:

QIPP Project Non Elective Admissions avoided
● Ambulatory Care            -2,476
●  Joint Emergency Team     -2,303
● Mental Health                  -1,785
● Other small projects     -1,529
● Total QIPP reductions          -8,093   

● DTOCs: DTOC targets have been aligned with system plans to deliver the 3.5% 
national target by November 2017. This represents a challenging target, but the 
system is confident regarding delivery, with a robust DTOC plan established which is 
fully aligned with winter planning initiatives and the 8 High Impact Changes Plans. 
Further information on the DTOC plan can be found in the DTOC section.

● Residential Admissions: Residential admissions have continued to be at a 
relatively low rate during 2017/18, successfully delivering against target for another 
year. However, based on demographic and self-funder pressures the local authorities 
were predicting a significant increase in residential admissions in 2017-19. The BCF 
plans and iBCF investment will mitigate these pressures through investment in 
prevention and early intervention, reducing the predicted trajectory to a smaller 
increase on 2016/17 activity.

● Effectiveness of reablement: Reablement targets for 2017-19 have been set to 

55



Appendix 3

offer a small, but challenging, improvement on 2016/17 performance and the 
baseline target. This will be supported by increased investment in reablement 
capacity and a strong focus on early intervention to support discharge to assess 
pathways. 

Progress in areas of major investment
The following transformation work has been supported by the BCF over the past two years:

● Strengthened Community services Capacity: The majority of health funding from 
the CCG’s minimum allocation was used to contribute towards NHS commissioned 
out of hospital services. A new system of community based health services has now 
been established through the development of Neighbourhood Teams (NTs). These 
provide an integrated multi-disciplinary approach to person-centred care across 
health and social care. Care is personalised and coordinated around people, 
promoting community resilience, self-management and choice. The integrated 
approach delivers flexible, tailored care based upon the integration of multi-
disciplinary staff across NTs, supported via proactive case management and care 
coordination of people with complex needs. The alignment of Social Care with NTs, 
alongside integration with the VCS and Primary Care, will support proactive case 
management and care coordination of people with complex needs, with ‘Trailblazer’ 
pilot sites established throughout 2016/17 to refine the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) 
proactive case management model. These sites have seen joint work in MDTs 
across health, social care and the voluntary sector, and development of an approach 
to case management for vulnerable people across the County. Lessons from the 
Trailblazer teams are now being rolled out to other neighbourhood teams across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This continues to embed across the system and 
requires further development to encompass case finding and case management. 
This will assist in identifying and managing people at risk of hospital admission, thus 
helping to mitigate against all the health and care demands. STP funding is also 
being used to support the roll out of case management.

● Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG), Integrated Community Equipment Services 
and Assistive Technology: In Cambridgeshire, DFG funding is passed via the BCF 
to the District Councils, who have statutory responsibility for DFG. Peterborough is a 
unitary authority. In 2016/17, the District Councils, County Council, Peterborough City 
Council and the CCG collaborated on the DFG Review, a multi-agency partnership 
approach in order to:

● review the performance of the three home improvement agencies (HIAs);
● consider the need for earlier intervention; and 
● scrutinise both capital and revenue funding in light of the uplift in the DFG.

Outcomes include a phased redirection of revenue funding into early help and 
housing options advice; support for the HIAs to introduce a fast track system for 
smaller grants to improve efficiency; and the adoption of a Joint Adaptations 
Agreement across all partners committing to more flexible spend of the DFG 
Allocation in order to meet Better Care Fund outcomes. The  System Partners are 

56



Appendix 3

also exploring alternative funding options for 2018/19

The Integrated Community Equipment Service and Assistive Technology plays an 
important role in diverting demand away from long-term care and support. As more 
projects and interventions are funded that focus on keeping people at home, this has 
had implications for community equipment budgets. BCF partners have collaborated 
to find more sustainable solutions for Community Equipment funding, ensuring that 
where savings are achieved elsewhere in the system, the cost of community 
equipment is factored in appropriately.

We have also sought to expand the impact of assistive technology in Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough – making further steps to embed equipment as a core part of care 
pathways and a key element of the support we offer at every stage of a service 
users’ journey.  

● Data Sharing: During 2016/17, the project has provided advice and guidance to the 
Trailblazers; and has brought together Information Governance leads to reach 
agreement across agencies on how data can be shared appropriately. It also 
supported development of a ‘proof of concept’ system that allowed sharing of data 
between organisations to support the case management process. There have been 
challenges in bringing this work into ‘business as usual’, as work in this area relies on 
reaching complex and detailed agreements between a number of partners. From 
2017-18 it has been agreed to incorporate this work into the ‘Digital’ work-stream of 
the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, recognising the need for system-wide 
ownership of these issues.

● Information, Communication and Advice: The Information and Communication 
project has focused on development of a ‘local information platform’ or LIP. During 
this year the project has had three key outputs:

● A piece of research, analysing customers of older people’s services provided by 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Peterborough City Council, to understand 
their communication and information needs and preferences.  

● A set of data standards that allow the collation of data from multiple databases 
into one place.  

● A system that demonstrates an automatic way of passing data from local 
authority and voluntary sector databases about services to a central point, and 
then on to the NHS 111 service to be used with customers (the Local Information 
Platform). 

The goal is that information given to the public can be consistent, wherever people 
seek advice – and that it only needs to be updated once. At the time of writing the 
research and data standards are complete, and work is nearing completion which will 
make the Local Information Platform available as a proof of concept.

● Healthy Ageing and Prevention: During 2016/17, a falls prevention pilot project in 
St Ives was implemented, to ensure implementation of NICE guidelines for falls and 

57



Appendix 3

integrating falls prevention within Neighbourhood Teams. The aim of the pilot was to 
reduce falls and fall-related injuries in the community through improving the 
identification, multifactorial assessment, uptake and compliance of evidence based 
interventions in people aged 65+ who have reported a fall or are at risk of falling. 
Fundamental to achieving this aim was the delivery of falls prevention training and 
support to staff in Neighbourhood Teams, GP practices and other community 
organisations to enable them to screen, assess and refer those at risk or those 
reporting a fall to multifactorial, evidence based support. An evaluation report was 
published in April 2017 and a joint STP and BCF funded business case has been 
developed for standardised falls prevention provision across the county, which it is 
anticipated will generate significant savings for the whole system and has now 
moved  into the implementation stage..

● Joint Commissioning: Work to develop an integrated approach to joint 
commissioning has been a focus in 2016/17, with an agreed set of Joint 
Commissioning Principles to guide joint commissioning of wellbeing services through 
the VCS and through strengthening community resilience. These were shared with 
around 100 key stakeholders at a Wellbeing Commissioning Summit in October 2016 
and these now form an agreed basis for wellbeing services joint commissioning 
between the Local Authorities and CCG, which will be developed through 2017/19.

There is an emerging evidence base that Social Prescribing systems have the 
potential to divert people with non-clinical needs away from GPs, A&Es and hospital 
in-patient beds to more appropriate community based sources of support. During 
16/17 different models of social prescribing were explored and this has informed our 
thinking on the development of Social Prescribing in 2017/19. We have two separate 
Wellbeing Networks across C&P. The purpose of each is to help navigate people 
towards appropriate community based support / services through a single point of 
access. Progress towards establishing a single CCG wide Wellbeing Network was 
made during the year and work on both areas will be further progressed through the 
2017/19 BCF plans. 

A summary of the 2016-17 BCF transformation theme progress can be found at Appendix 
5. The full detail of BCF plan progress can be found in C&P BCF Plans’ respective annual 
reports. Peterborough’s report can be found in Appendix 6 and Cambridgeshire’s report can 
be found here.

Lessons learnt for 2017/19
There were three key lessons learnt which have been incorporated into 2017-19 plans to 
support stronger BCF Delivery and integration:

● build on the alignment between BCF, STP and the rest of the system and maximise 
opportunities to achieve the sustainable transformation necessary across the whole 
system which will involve the Devolution Plan

● greater alignment of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough BCF Plans, including 
establishment of a joint commissioning board to oversee delivery of the BCF

● provide a more integrated focus on reducing DTOCs, through joint implementation of 

58

https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/be-well/cambridgeshire-health-and-wellbeing-board/


Appendix 3

the 8 HIC Model.

Evidence base and local priorities to support plan for integration

The evidence base and priorities have been informed by:

● Current context – Governance & challenges – See Background and Context Section.
● BCF progress over previous years – See Progress to Date Section
● Lessons learned from previous BCF Plans – See Progress to Date Section

Evidence base for issues to be addressed in the 2017/19 BCF plan  

● Continued growth of over 65 year old population who have more co-morbidities 

● Continued rising demand on acute health and social care services 

● Insufficient primary and community based health and social care capacity to 
provide adequate alternatives to hospital and long term social care

● Sub optimal system-wide systems and processes leading to delayed transfers 
of care (DTOCs)

● Under-utilisation / inefficient  use of VCS & weak community resilience

● Financial Challenges

BCF Plans for 2017-19 are based on the local context, challenges, progress to date and 
lessons learned which all inform the evidence base for 2017/19. Our aim is that the BCF will 
drive closer alignment and integration where appropriate across our system to support better 
outcomes for patients and citizens.  

Better Care Fund plan 2017-19

Our ultimate aim is to shift away from long term social care, or care that is provided in the 
acute hospital setting, and towards preventive services that focus on keeping people well. 
Our plans therefore focus on the following four strategic theme areas: 

● Prevention & early intervention
● Community services (MDT working)
● High Impact Changes to reduce DTOCs and support  patient flow through pathways
● Information & communication

59



Appendix 3

This section describes each of the overarching strategic theme areas and sets out the 
underpinning BCF plans. Further detail on individual plans is at Appendix 7.

Figure 1: C&P 2017/19 BCF Plans Strategic Themes

Focus area one: Prevention and early intervention
This area focuses on establishing and implementing approaches that prevent or delay the 
need for more intensive health (specifically admissions and re-admissions to hospital) and 
social care services, or, proactively promote the independence of people with long-term 
conditions and older people and their engagement with the community. 
This area includes specific and planned evidence based public health programmes with an 
emphasis on falls, social isolation, malnutrition, dementia and end of life care. It also 
includes interventions to enhance independence for people with increasing levels of need.
 
The 2017/19 BCF Plans will build on the huge amount of work already undertaken in this 
area.as follows:

● Ageing Well
● Falls Prevention
● Atrial Fibrillation
● Joint approaches to Voluntary Sector Commissioning & social prescribing
● Assistive Technology, Equipment, Environmental Controls and DFG

60



Appendix 3

● Ageing Well: Age increases the risk of many health disorders and these can have 
significant impacts on an older person’s independence and ability to function day-to-
day. Different sources of data (mortality, admissions, GP diagnoses, medications) 
provide an insight into the diseases that are important in older age. As people age, 
they are more likely to experience multimorbidity – the presence of multiple long-term 
conditions at the same time. Older age is also characterised by the emergence of 
several complex health states that tend to occur only later in life, such as falls, 
cognitive decline and dementia, incontinence, malnutrition and social isolation. 
Because most of the disease burden in older age is due to non-communicable 
diseases, risk factors for these conditions are important targets for health promotion 
– including physical activity, nutrition, alcohol, smoking and continued education.
strategies to reduce the burden of disability and mortality in older age by enabling 
healthy behaviours can therefore start early in life and should continue across the life 
course. Strategies to reduce their impact continue to be effective in older age, 
particularly for reducing hypertension, improving nutrition and stopping smoking.
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s first BCF plans established the Healthy Ageing 
and Prevention programme. Recognising the importance of this agenda not just to 
the BCF agenda but to the wider STP as a whole, it has been incorporated into the 
STP as a new ‘Ageing Well Strategy Board’. We will continue to engage with the 
programme through the BCF and consider new areas of activity to support an 
approach to Healthy Ageing.

● Falls prevention: Falls are the commonest cause of accidental injury in older people 
and the commonest cause of accidental death in the population aged 75 and over in 
the UK. A significant number of falls result in death or severe or moderate injury, at 
an estimated cost of £15 million per annum for immediate healthcare treatment 
alone.8 This is a significant underestimation of the overall burden from falls once the 
costs of rehabilitation and social care are taken into account, as up to 90% of older 
patients who fracture their neck of femur fail to recover their previous level of mobility 
or independence.9 In addition to these financial costs, there are additional costs that 
are more difficult to quantify. The intangible human costs of falling includes distress, 
pain, injury, loss of confidence and loss of independence, as well as the anxiety 
caused to patients, relatives, carers, and hospital staff.10

The aim of this project is thus to implement a comprehensive, standardised, and 
integrated falls prevention pathway across the CCG area of Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough. See Appendix 7 for project detail. 

● Atrial Fibrillation: Evidence shows us that Atrial Fibrillation (AF) is one of the risk 
factors for stroke. The yearly risk of stroke for a person with AF ranges from 1% to 
15%. This risk is cumulative over time. AF-related strokes are preventable and for 
every 25 patients treated with anticoagulants, one AF-related stroke is prevented 
each year. Currently in Greater Peterborough and Wisbech:

8 NPSA 2007 Slips, trips and falls in hospitals www.npsa.nhs.uk. 
9 Murray GR, Cameron ID, Cumming RG. The consequences of falls in acute and subacute hospitals in Australia 
that result in proximal femoral fracture. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2007; 55(4): 577-82.
10 Patient Safety First Campaign 2010. Reducing Harm from Falls.

61

http://www.npsa.nhs.uk/


Appendix 3

● 25% of high-risk AF patients do not receive anticoagulation therapy (826 
patients).

● 38% of AF patients remain undiagnosed.

These areas account for the largest proportion of untreated and undiagnosed AF 
across the CCG. Our AF pilot therefore targets 3 GP Practices in Greater 
Peterborough and Wisbech by working with GPs (using a quality improvement 
approach) to:

● Improve the management of patients diagnosed with AF not currently 
receiving Oral Anticoagulants (OACs).

● Identify and treat asymptomatic cases of AF.

Through treatment both health and social outcomes will improve for patients as well 
as reducing costs to the health and social care system through avoided hospital 
admissions and care costs relating to strokes as well as reducing DTOCs as stroke 
patients typically  have complex ongoing needs. This project has joint STP and BCF 
funding. See Appendix 7 for project detail. 

● Community Equipment,  Disabled Facilities Grants and Assistive Technology
● Community Equipment: The Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES) 

provides short- and long-term loans of equipment, ranging from simple walking aids, 
through to larger and more complex items, such as pressure relieving mattresses 
and hoists. Equipment may also be designed to help carers with the safer delivery of 
care. The service can also include installation, servicing and maintenance, 
depending on the type of equipment specified. For people with complex needs, a 
multi system approach may be required from DFG, ICES and AT teams to assess 
people for a package of support to optimise their outcomes.

This equipment plays an important role in diverting demand away from long-term 
care and support. As more projects and interventions are funded that focus on 
keeping people at home, this has implications for community equipment budgets. 
These costs have not always been factored into business cases. The first impact of 
increasing demand for community equipment is now being felt, with overspends in 
budgets in both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough during 2016/17. 

BCF partners will therefore collaborate to find a more sustainable solution for ICES 
funding during 2017/19 and will also ensuring that the cost of community equipment 
is factored into future business cases that focus on transferring care from the acute 
to community settings.

● Assistive Technology (AT): Through the BCF we will seek to expand the impact of 
AT in C&P – moving to the point where it is a core part of care pathways and a key 
element of the support we offer at every stage of a service users’ journey.  We will 
build upon and expand the existing joint health and social care funding in this area 
and have identified a number of specific opportunities to use AT.

● DFG: In 2017/18, the District Council partners have committed to developing a Joint 

62



Appendix 3

Grants Policy over the coming year in order to deliver a consistent approach to 
appropriate conversations (re suitability of an adaptation or alternative options) and 
adaptations for residents across the county. We are working with the Elderly 
Accommodation Council to develop a bespoke Cambridgeshire Housing Options for 
Older People tool and are also considering services that can provide support for 
people to move.

 
The results of this work will provide significantly better outcomes for people in need 
of housing support across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.
See Appendix 7 for further detail. 

● Joint approaches to Voluntary Sector Commissioning: Building on the Joint 
Commissioning Principles established during 2016/17, in 2017/19 existing 
arrangements will be reviewed and opportunities to jointly recommission will be 
identified.

Across the CCG, there are pockets of social prescribing within GP Practices / District 
Council areas. Further, many elements of a ‘social prescribing system’ are already 
commissioned through the VCS contracts – e.g. the Cambridgeshire Community 
Navigators contract. Under the BCF, the approach planned is to explore how a more 
‘bottom up’ organic approach to social prescribing can be supported by the whole 
system, which incorporates the aspiration of the GP and Mental Health Forward 
View’s.. Further, as the wellbeing commissioning principles are adopted and joint 
commissioning of VCS services proceeds, there will be further opportunities to 
strengthen the necessary community infrastructure to support social prescribing.

The two separate C&P Wellbeing Networks will merge into one in September 2017 
which will strengthen the co-ordination of and support for wellbeing services and VCS 
activity across C&P. In this way more support will be provided vulnerable adults 
before they require the support of statutory services. 

Focus Area Two: Community Services / MDT Working
Case management within the Neighbourhood Teams is key to reducing increasing demand 
on the acute and statutory care services. This area is supported by BCF funding as per above 
and in 2017/18 the STP supported a business case to develop case management in order to 
identify and support more people who are frail than current services allow. This builds on the 
work already undertaken to establish an extended MDT case management approach in four 
trailblazer sites across C&P. The ongoing focus will be to refine, embed and expand the 
approach across the whole system. Key elements include the following:

● Stratified patient list: to identify the top 5-15% of people most at risk of hospital 
admission

● Joint care and support plans: to support the further development of multi-
disciplinary working, a new assessment of need is being developed, which will cut 
across health and social care (GP services, district nurse services, physiotherapist 

63



Appendix 3

services, occupational therapy, social care), including acute and community-based 
care, and make the process of assessing service users with multiple needs more 
joined up and efficient. This area is also being supported by NAVCA, the Coalition for 
Collaborative Care and Patient Voices who are working with local partners to support 
the development of co-produced plans in conjunction with patients, users, carers to 
ensure individuals identify their own health and care goals and agree plans to meet 
those needs.

● Integrated system pathway to admission and discharge: This will focus on an 
integrated pathway from early identification of need, through intermediate care 
provision to long term care support and supported early discharge. 

● Patient based information sharing: The focus will be on supporting the practical 
elements of data sharing to support effective MDT working on a day-to-day basis.

This area has received dual investment from the STP and BCF funding during 2017/18. 
Further project detail can be found in Appendix 7. 

Focus Area Three: High Impact Changes for managing transfers of care 
The Integration and Better Care Fund (iBCF) planning requirements require BCF plans to 
have a DTOC metric set consistent with the targets set by the CCG to meet the 3.5% DTOC 
target by 2 November 2017. The target is to include planned reductions for NHS and social 
care DTOCs. Each of the C&P Health & Wellbeing Boards submitted their agreed DTOC 
metrics to the NHSE on 21 July 2017 for Quarters 2-4 of 2017/18. 

Health and social care partners are mandated to jointly assess the current status against 
each of the 8 HIC and determine a joint implementation plan as part of the BCF Plan in order 
to improve the management of transfers of care. 

8 High Impact Change (8HIC) Plan
The following joint process was put in place across C&P in order to agree the joint baseline 
assessment and plan development with involvement from the following boards:

● Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB)
● North West Anglia Foundation Trust (NWAFT) A&E Delivery Board (incorporating 

Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Trust (PSHFT) and Hinchingbrooke 
Hospitals NHS Trust (HHT))

● Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Trust (CUHFT) A&E Delivery Board
● Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Delivery Group (part of the STP structure). 

The HIC plans build upon existing system DTOC plans to avoid duplication and ensure 
cohesion. The completed 8HIC self-assessments can be found at Appendix 8.

Further to the completion of the individual hospital system self-assessment plans a C&P 
wide whole system workshop was held to ensure consistency of application of assessment 
criteria against the 8HICs and to agree the top three HIC priorities across the whole system 
that would have the maximum impact on DTOCs in the short term to support achievement of 
the 3.5% DTOC target by November 2017. 

64



Appendix 3

The 8 HIC assessments and DTOC plans were then costed, which fed into the iBCF costed 
plan development process.  The costed DTOC Plan is attached at Appendix 9.

The agreed immediate system priorities for implementation of the 8HIC Model are:

● Discharge to Assess
● Continuing Health Care Hospital Discharge Process
● Trusted Assessor

In order to support these initiatives, the following enablers were also agreed as priorities:

● Implementation of the Choice Policy
● Enhancements to SHREWD and patient flow monitoring systems

Further information on project plans can be found at Appendix 7.

Strategic Theme Area Four: Information and Communication (Enabler)
The short term vision is to support the immediate need of dependent projects (e.g. MiDOS, 
111/Out of Hours, PCC and CCC Front Door redesigns, the C&P wide Wellbeing Network 
and Social Prescribing) through maximising the quality and consistency of information 
currently held across Directories of Services. This comprises of:

● Personas (insight research of the ‘shared’ customer): research and understand the 
needs of customers via the use of ‘customer journeys’ / personas. This will inform the 
development of a customer focused solution.

● Information Standards: gain a better understanding of the current DOS landscape, 
including mapping of information and ownership. The development of a consistent 
approach to updating and maintaining information held on DOS in collaboration with 
local system partners.

● Development of the platform service: development of a technical solution that is able 
to curate, search, share and improve information that is held in DOS and pass this 
information to a variety of website front ends.

The medium term vision of the project is to widen the scope of information that can be 
provided, through the development of a platform service to dovetail with existing search tools 
(e.g. MiDOS). This could, for example, include information on local events or self-
management focused health information. This comprises of:

● Further development of the platform service and roll out across the whole 
partnership: development of a technical solution that is able to curate, search, share 
and improve information that is held in Directories.

● Front End: support the development of partner websites and front door tools to 
enable access to the platform service.

● Embedding approach to ensure ongoing management of information and advice in 
line with best practice approaches.

Further project detail can be found at Appendix 7.

65



Appendix 3

Project Delivery 

A flexible and agile approach, enabling collaborative planning to be undertaken should 
problems be encountered and the delivery of agreed outcomes be at risk. The following table 
summarises how our proposed method and approach will deliver the BCF plans:

Requirement: How our method/approach will deliver:

Establish a clear 
articulated and 
prioritised plan to 
steer the BCF 
streams development 
alongside doing the 
early stages

Our right to left approach to planning will ensure that the plan is 
prioritised and will deliver expected outcomes in the right order.

We will produce “plans on a page” for each work stream to provide 
clear articulation to key stakeholders.

Our proposed approach includes early stage “doing” activity in 
addition to mobilising and planning.

Produce  
comprehensive 
documentation of 
processes and create 
programme and 
project 
documentation

We will work to ensure comprehensively documented processes, 
applying our structured process development and management. 

We will deploy an experienced PMO team equipped with a 
comprehensive set of configurable documentation templates and 
PMO processes.

Establish governance 
structure and clear 
lines of reporting

We will work to socialise and establish the emerging governance 
structure for implementing the BCF streams. 

The governance structure and reporting lines will be informed by 
the stakeholder engagement activity, which is a key aspect of 
our approach in all stages.

Establish 
implementation 
plans, which will 
enable key work 
streams of activity 
that will be crucial to 
the success of the 
BCF streams.

Our approach to planning will ensure that all the necessary 
enabler-focussed outputs are planned within work streams to 
deliver the required outcomes. 

We will incorporate an approach to change management and 
enable the plans to be adjusted based on learning from any 
pilots.

We will ensure that in designing the detailed plans all relevant 
factors are addressed including for example an assessment of 
change readiness; appetite for risks and probability of failures.

The implementation plans will be supported by: a targeted 
communication plan; detailed work breakdown structures; Gantt 
charts with tasks/milestones/dependencies; resource plans and 
skill requirements; risk mitigation strategy.

Further detail on project plans can be found at Appendix 7.

Assessment of Risk and Risk Management

66



Appendix 3

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have adopted a proactive approach to risk and issue 
management, based on best practice methodologies. The risk and issue management 
pathway includes a sequence of activities to identify, assess, prioritise and mitigate the risks 
and issues. This incorporates robust engagement with local stakeholders. The below 
diagram highlights the processes that will be applied to support effective identification and 
analysis of programme risks and issues.

CCG Approach to Risk Management: The CCG’s Assurance Framework and risk register 
(CAF) sets out the high level organisational risks that could potentially impact upon the CCG 
and its ability to deliver its responsibilities. The CAF brings together all of the evidence 
required to support the Annual Governance Statement. It clearly identifies the risks of failing 
to meet the CCG’s Strategic Aims and also its agreed Values. The 2017-2018 CAF is also 
linked to the relevant domains within the DH Annual CCG authorisation process. The CAF 
clearly identifies the Strategic Risks to the organisation. It identifies the controls in place to 
mitigate the risks, the assurances on these controls and the action plans that have been 
established to address any gaps. The CAF is a living document which will be updated 
regularly by the Corporate Governance Team and reported to the CCG Governing Body and 
relevant sub-committees for monitoring purposes. A copy of the current CAF is attached at 
Appendix 10.

STP Approach to Risk Management: The risk management process for the STP is 
overseen by the System Delivery Unit, an independent programme management office 
which has been set up to have oversight of STP delivery. The STP uses the NHS National 
Patient Safety Agency’s Model Risk Matrix to evaluate and score its programme risks. In 
short this involves identifying and scoring the potential consequence(s) of a risk and 
assessing and scoring the likelihood of that risk occurring. Risk registers are maintained for 
all projects and there is a robust escalation process which aligns with the STP governance 
arrangements. Further information on the STP risk management approach can be found in 
Appendix 11.

Councils’ Approach to Risk Management: All departments within Peterborough City 
Council and Cambridgeshire County Council hold departmental risk registers which report 

67



Appendix 3

into a monthly Corporate Risk Group. All risks are reviewed at this meeting, which is chaired 
by the Corporate Risk Manager. Identified risks are transferred to the Corporate Risk 
Register which is fed into the executive Corporate Management Team for review on a 
quarterly basis. In addition, the local authority project management teams support project 
risks and issues, which are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Identified risks are escalated to 
the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Commissioning Board, who review those identified as 
high risk. Any risks transferred to the Commissioning Board risk register also report into the 
quarterly Corporate Management Team.

Approach to establishing BCF Risks and management: A detailed BCF risk log, which is 
managed by the Integrated Commissioning Board, can be found attached at Appendix 12.

Financial Risk Management 
A Risk Share Fund has been established for both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough for 
2017/19. For the avoidance of doubt, the Risk Share Fund is incorporated within the CCG’s 
minimum BCF allocation, i.e. it is not in addition to the CCG minimum contribution to the 
BCF.

The CCG will protect the Risk Share Fund within the CCG budget and it will only be released 
into the BCF pooled budget at the end of the financial year based on evidence that there has 
been the full reduction in non-elective admissions over the full year equal to or above the 
target agreed as part of the 2017-19 plan.
In the event that non-elective admissions target is not achieved, the Risk Share Fund will be 
used by the CCG to contribute towards the reimbursement of  acute hospital providers for 
the excess non-elective admissions incurred.

Reporting on risk share spend will be to the Integrated Commissioning Board quarterly and 
in turn through to NHS England through the quarterly reporting mechanism.
A section 75 agreement is in place between both Councils and the CCG, with provision for 
the risk sharing agreement being reviewed in line with these arrangements.

National Conditions

The following section outlines how we have addressed the national conditions.

National condition 1: jointly agreed plan 
The plan has been developed in conjunction with all health and Local Authority partners and 
the VCS. All key partners are signatories to the plan. Detailed discussions and engagement 
with system partners were undertaken over a period of months at the following meetings, 
which have representation across councils, districts, public health, the CCG, NHS providers 
and voluntary sector:

● Health and Wellbeing Boards for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire
● Integrated Commissioning Board

68



Appendix 3

● CCG Clinical Executive Committee
● Health and care Executive incorporating LA and all health organisations CEOs
● STP Investment Committee for approval of joint BCF/STP business cases
● Three Area Executive Partnership Boards
● Two A&E Delivery Boards

National condition 2: social care maintenance
Protection of social care provision is integral to the delivery of an effective integrated care 
model and this is reflected in the inclusion of social care provision within the BCF plan 
schemes. There are no proposals to reduce social care services within the plan and a real 
term BCF financial uplift has been included to support adult social care. There are no 
proposals to reduce social care services within the plan.

We and our partners have recognised that meeting the demand for social care services is 
not sustainable in the current financial climate, and the continued increase in population 
brings further pressures. While the BCF will enable us to improve many of our processes 
and develop new ways of providing services, the increase in demographic and financial 
demands being placed on the social care system will require a complete change to how 
social care is provided in order to ensure sustainability in the medium to long term. The BCF 
funding allocated to protecting social care will therefore provide a bridging mechanism in the 
transition from current to future working practices.

Our overall approach to protecting social care services is through developing a more 
integrated working arrangement with health, housing and community based sectors 
predicated on improved information, advice and guidance and effective earlier preventative 
and intervention measures. 

National condition 3: NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services
The majority of health funding from the CCG’s minimum allocation for 2017/19 is set against 
NHS commissioned out of hospital services to fund the new system of community based 
health services – the fourteen Neighbourhood Teams. These provide an integrated multi-
disciplinary approach to person-centred care across health and social care. The approach is 
being further developed in 2017/19 through use of a risk stratification methodology to identify 
the top 5-15% or people at risk of hospital admission and to proactively case manage and 
co-ordinate care for those people who have very complex needs. 

The alignment of Social Care with NTs, alongside integration with the VCS and Primary 
Care, will support proactive case management and care coordination of people with complex 
needs. See BCF Plan section above for further detail.

National Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care
The approach to implementing the high impact changes across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough is outlined above in the Project Delivery section.

69



Appendix 3

Overview of funding contributions

We confirm that the funding contributions for the BCF have been agreed and confirmed – 
including agreement on identification of funds for Care Act duties, re-ablement and carers 
breaks from the CCG Minimum Allocation.  These are confirmed in the excel Planning 
Template and an overview of funding is contained at Appendix 13.

Carer’s Breaks
The BCF will continue to fund carers support in 2017/19. Work includes commissioning 
Carers Trust and support from the Alzheimer’s Society. Carers Trust provide a Family 
Carers’ Prescription. This will give the carer access to a specialist worker at Carers Trust, 
who will discuss options and provide information to access the appropriate support. A Family 
Carers’ Prescription will also help design a short break that works for the carer and they will 
also provide support for this break to happen. The worker will help the carer decide what 
type of break is suitable. The Prescription can be offered via the carer’s GP Practice who will 
record the family carer so that they can support the carer appropriately in the future. 

Maintenance of Adult Social Care
The CCG minimum allocation includes a 1.79% uplift based on the 16/17 August BCF Plan 
baseline for the protection of adult social care in 2017/18 and a 1.9% uplift in 2018/19. 
Further information on the maintenance of adult social care can be found in the National 
Conditions Section.

Reablement
Continued additional investment is planned for reablement across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough to support increasing demand and the effective implementation of Discharge 
to Assess pathways. Investment in reablement supports at home is best and early 
intervention/prevention approaches to preventing individuals’ needs escalating to long term 
care options.

Care Act Duties
The delivery of an integrated health and  social care  system supported through  the Better 
Care  Fund will enable the social care  and health community to be better  placed to deliver 
requirements of the Care  Act through  the provision of a more efficient and  better 
coordinated system of provision. A major objective is to simplify access to and navigation 
through the Health and Social Care system, ensuring that citizens and carers are able to 
access the right support at the right time including community based preventative provision. 
The BCF Plan contains specific funding to support delivering minimum eligibility standards 
and better support for carers.

Disabled Facilities Grant
In Cambridgeshire the DFG monies are passed to the District Councils. In Peterborough, As 
a unitary authority, responsibility for the DFG sits with Peterborough City Council. DFG funds 
will support home adaptations and support to better support people to remain in their homes 
for longer. Engagement and integration of housing is a crucial element in supporting the 

70



Appendix 3

outcomes of the BCF and housing colleagues have been actively involved in the 
development of the 2017/19 plans. 

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF)
The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) is a new introduction to BCF plans this financial year 
and plans have been developed to comply with the following national conditions: 

● Monies must be pooled into the Better Care Fund (BCF) Section 75 budget 
● Monies must only be used for the following purposes:

● Meeting Adult Social Care (ASC) needs,
● Reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more people to be 

discharged from hospital when ready; and
● Ensuring the local social care provider market is supported.

The following areas of funding have been agreed for 2017-19:
 

Initiative Description

Investment in care and support, including 
housing, for Vulnerable People

Provision of suitable long term care and 
support, including housing, to support 
individuals to maintain greater 
independence within their own homes. This 
will manage and prevent escalation of need 
to more complex long term packages of 
care, including care home placements. 
Further information on this can be found at 
Appendix 14.

Social Care Capacity and Investment Address demand pressures through 
investment in prevention and early 
intervention transformation initiatives. This 
includes investment in the redesign and 
integration of enhanced reablement, 
therapy and housing adaptation services, 
as well as improvements in adult social 
care access points.

Prevention Initiatives An investment in public health targeted 
prevention initiatives, including falls 
prevention, social isolation and atrial 
fibrillation. Focusing on early prevention in 
key trigger areas for older people will 
prevent or reduce the escalation of health 
and care needs for these individuals.

Delivery of 3.5% DTOC target, including 
implementation of the 8 High Impact 
Changes

Targeted implementation of identified 
priority high impact changes to support a 
reduction in DTOCs and reduce financial 
pressures to health and social care as 

71



Appendix 3

result of managing discharges more 
effectively.

 
DTOC Plan
The Local Authorities have worked with health partners to develop and agree a costed plan 
to support delivery of the 3.5% national DTOC target by November 2017. This builds on the 
gaps identified as part of the High Impact Changes self-assessments and workshops were 
held to agree the system priorities, as outlined in the 8 High Impact Change Section. 
Investment requirements were also considered to inform local plans. The CCG and Local 
Authorities will flex the investment over the period of the plan by reviewing performance 
through the ICB and then adjusting the investment into schemes to meet the BCF metrics.

Recognising that patient flow has a significant impact on the effectiveness of emergency 
care, we have a robust approach to DTOCs which operates at three levels:

● Our strategic approach to DTOCs is being coordinated through the STP Urgent and 
Emergency Care Delivery Group. The DTOC plan is a consistent plan across the 
CCG footprint and takes into account cross-border pressures on the local system.

● Our A&E Delivery Groups have agreed plans in place for reducing DTOCs, which are 
aligned to other existing system plans, e.g. winter planning.

●  Each acute system has operational arrangements to respond to short-term 
increasing pressures, which allow for quick escalation; improving use of capacity and 
procuring additional capacity where necessary; and establishes regular conference 
calls at times of significant pressure to ensure that the system is doing everything 
possible to alleviate the situation. 

A detailed costed system DTOC Plan is attached at Appendix 9.

Programme Governance

The existing governance oversight for the BCF sits with the respective Health and Wellbeing 
Boards for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, who have delegated responsibility down to 
the joint Integrated Commissioning Board.

The BCF governance has been reviewed to ensure alignment with the newly established 
STP governance structure. This is to ensure a consistent approach across the system. In its 
first two years, the BCF has maintained a separate PMO structure. This has seen project 
boards established for a number of pieces of work, and officers dedicated to BCF and 
integration work employed in each local authority and the CCG. In some areas, this structure 
has helped to move things on effectively. However, in a number of areas, this structure has 
led to insufficient integration with other programmes of work, and a risk of duplication. In 
general the projects that have developed most effectively have been those where one or two 
organisations have been commissioned to develop and deliver a piece of work.

72



Appendix 3

It is important that we ensure alignment as much as possible with the STP and devolution 
plans, whilst recognising the need to ensure the protection of social care, drive local delivery 
and ensure oversight of progress. Where appropriate, we would propose that the STP is 
effectively commissioned by the BCF to deliver specific work packages; this would enable a 
whole-system approach whilst retaining clear oversight.

In some instances, there are areas of work that remain priorities for the local authorities and 
do not naturally fall within the STP work streams. In these instances it would be more 
appropriate for these projects to be managed at a local authority level, feeding into the Joint 
Integrated Commissioning Board for governance oversight and reporting on delivery 
progress into the local Area Executive Partnerships where appropriate. 

The local structures are about to further align to merge the Local Health Partnerships at 
District level with the AEPBs to join up the District Delivery and Public Health on a place 
based arrangement. This will create four Living Well Partnerships instead of the current 5 
Local Health Partnerships and the three AEPs. 

The Diagram in Appendix 15 outlines the revised BCF governance structure for 2017/18 
onwards.

The Diagram in Appendix 16 outlines the STP governance structure, which shows the 
relationship with the Integrated Commissioning Board.

In order to ensure effective establishment and delivery of the BCF moving forwards, the 
following has been established:

● A single county-wide Integrated Commissioning Board across Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire has been established, which supersedes the existing 
Cambridgeshire BCF Delivery Board and Greater Peterborough Executive 
Partnership Commissioning Board.

● Projects commissioned from the STP will feed into the STP Governance 
structure, with reporting to the BCF for monitoring purposes.

● Governance arrangements for Local Authority led programmes of work will be 
managed by local project boards, feeding into the Joint Integrated 
Commissioning Board for system governance oversight. Reporting lines are 
established to the Living Well Partnerships for monitoring of delivery progress 
where appropriate. 

 
Approval and Sign Off
 

Signature:  

Signed on behalf of: Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board

73



Appendix 3

By: Councillor John Holdich

Position: Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board  

Date:

 

Signature:  

Signed on behalf of: Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board

By: Councillor Peter Topping

Position: Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board

Date:

Signature:

Signed on behalf of: Peterborough City Council & 
Cambridgeshire County Council

By: Gillian Beasley

Position: Chief Executive

74



Appendix 3

Date:

 

Signature:  

Signed on behalf of: NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Clinical Commissioning Group

By: Jonathan Dunk

Position: Acting Chief Operating Officer

Date:

 
 

Signature:  
 

Signed on behalf of: North West Anglia NHS Foundation 
Trust

By: Stephen Graves

Position: Chief Executive

Date:

 

Signature:  
 

Signed on behalf of: Cambridgeshire University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust

75



Appendix 3

By: Roland Sinker

Position: Chief Executive

Date:

 

Signature:

Signed on behalf of: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS 
Foundation Trust (CPFT)

By: Tracy Dowling

Position: Chief Executive

Date:

 

Signature:

Signed on behalf of: Primary Care Representation

By: Gary Howsam

Position: Clinical Chair, Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Date:

76



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017

Better Care Fund 2017-19 Planning Template

Sheet: Guidance

Overview
This template is to be read and used in conjunction with the BCF Policy Framework document and the BCF Planning Requirements document 
which provides the background and further details on the planning requirements for 2017-2019.

The purpose of this template is to collect the BCF planning information for each HWB which includes confirmation of National Conditions, 
specific funding requirements, scheme level financial information and planning metrics for the period 2017-2019.

This template should also be aligned to the BCF narrative plan documents for the BCF schemes being planned for 2017-2019 by the HWB. 
Note on entering information into this template

1. Throughout the template, cells which are open for input have a yellow background and those that are pre-populated have a blue background, 
as below:
Yellow: Data needs inputting in the cell
Blue: Pre-populated cell
2. All cells in this template requiring a numerical input are restricted to values between 0 and 1,000,000,000
3. This template captures data for two years 2017-19

Data needs inputting in the cell
Pre-populated cell

Note on viewing the sheets optimally
To more optimally view each of the sheets and in particular the drop down lists clearly on screen, please change the zoom level between 90% - 
100%. Most drop downs are also available to view as lists within the relevant sheet or in the guidance tab for readability if required.

The details of each sheet within the template are outlined below.

77

aaq424_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4

aaq424_3
Typewritten Text



Checklist (click to go to tab)
1. This sheet helps identify the data fields that have not been completed. All fields that appear as incomplete should be complete before 
submission for plan-assurance.
2. It is sectioned out by sheet name and contains the description of the information required, cell reference (hyperlinked) for the question and 
the 'checker' column which updates automatically as questions within each sheet are completed.
3. The checker column will appear “Red” and contain the word “No” if the information has not been completed. Clicking on the corresponding 
“Cell Reference” column will link to the incomplete cell for completion. Once completed the checker column will change to “Green” and contain 
the word “Yes”

4. The 'sheet completed' cell will update when all 'checker' values for the sheet are green containing the word 'Yes'.
5. Once the checker column contains all cells marked 'Yes' the 'Incomplete Template' cell (below the title) will change to 'Complete Template'.
6. Please ensure that all boxes on the checklist tab are green before submission.
Summary (click to go to tab)
1. This sheet summarises the key planning information provided on the template to be used for review and plan-assurance.
2. Print guidance: By default this sheet has been set up to print across 4 pages, landscape mode and A4.
1. Cover (click to go to tab)
1. The cover sheet provides essential information on the area for which the template is being completed, contacts and sign off.
2. Please enter the following information on this sheet:
 - Several area assurance contact roles have been pre-populated for you to fill in, please enter the name of that contact and their email address 
for use in resolving any queries regarding the return;
 - Please add any further area contacts that you would wish to be included in official correspondence. Please include their job title, and their 
email address.

3. Question completion tracks the number of questions that have been completed; when all the questions in each section of the template have 
been completed the cell will turn green. Only when all 5 cells are green should the template be sent to england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net

2. HWB Funding Sources (click to go to tab)
1. This sheet should be used to specify all funding contributions to the Health and Wellbeing Board's Better Care Fund plan and pooled budget 
for 2017-19. It will be pre-populated with the minimum CCG contributions to the BCF, the DFG allocations and the iBCF allocations. These 
cannot be changed. The sheet also requests a number of confirmations in regard to the funding that is made available through the BCF for 
specific purposes.

78



2. This sheet captures the various funding sources that contribute to the total BCF pool for the Local Area. The DFG, iBCF and CCG minimum 
funding streams are pre-populated and do not need re-entering.
Please enter the following information on this sheet:
 - Additional contributions from Local Authorities or CCGs: as applicable are to be entered on this tab on the appropriate sections highlighted in 
“yellow”.
 - Additional Local Authority contributions: Please detail any additional Local Authority funding contributions by selecting the relevant authorities 
within the HWB and then entering the values of the contributions. Please use the comment boxes alongside to add any specific detail around 
this additional contribution.
- Additional CCG contributions: Please detail any additional CCG funding contributions by selecting the relevant CCGs. Please note, only 
contributions assigned to a CCG will be included in the 'Total Additional CCG Contribution' figure.
- Funding contributions narrative: Please enter any comments in the “Funding Contributions Narrative” field to offer any information that could 
be useful to further clarify or elaborate on the funding sources allocations entered including any assumptions that may have been made.
- Specific funding requirements: This section requests confirmation on the specific funding requirements for 2017-19. Please refer to the BCF 
Policy Framework and BCF Planning Requirements documents for further details. These are mandatory conditions and will need to be 
confirmed through the planning assurance process. Please select “Yes” where the funding requirement can be confirmed as having been met, 
or “No” to indicate that the requirement is unconfirmed. Where “No” is selected as the status, please provide further detail in the comments box 
alongside to indicate the actions being taken or considered towards confirming the requirement.

3. HWB Expenditure Plan (click to go to tab)
This sheet should be used to set out the schemes that constitute the BCF plan for the HWB including the planned expenditure and the 
attributes to describe the scheme. This information is then aggregated and utilised to analyse the BCF plans nationally and sets the basis for 
future reporting and to demonstrate how the national policy framework is being achieved.
The table is set out to capture a range of information about how schemes are being funded and the types of services they are providing. There 
may be scenarios when several lines need to be completed in order to fully describe a single scheme. In this case please use a consistent 
scheme ID for each line to ensure integrity of aggregating and analysing schemes. 

On this tab please enter the following information: 
1. Scheme ID:
- This field only permits numbers. Please enter a number to represent the Scheme ID for the scheme being entered. Please enter the same 
Scheme ID in this column for any schemes that are described across multiple lines.

2. Scheme Name: 
- This is a free field. Please use the scheme name consistently if the scheme is described across multiple lines in line with the scheme ID 
described above.

79



3. Scheme Type and Sub Type: 
- Please select the Scheme Type from the drop down list that best represents the type of scheme being planned. A description of each scheme 
is available at the end of the table (follow the link to the description section at the top of the main expenditure table). 
- Where the Scheme Types has further options to choose from, the Sub Type column alongside will be editable and turn "yellow". Please select 
the Sub Type from the drop down list that best describes the scheme being planned.
- Please note that the drop down list has a scroll bar to scroll through the list and all the options may not appear in one view.
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field description for the scheme type 
in the column alongside.

4. Area of Spend:
- Please select the area of spend from the drop down list by considering the area of the health and social system which is most supported by 
investing in the scheme. 
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field description for the scheme type 
in the column alongside.

5. Commissioner:
- Identify the commissioning entity for the scheme based on who commissions the scheme to the provider. If there is a single commissioner 
please select the option from the drop down list. 
- If the scheme is commissioned jointly, please select ‘Joint’. Please estimate the proportion of the scheme being commissioned by the local 
authority and CCG/NHS and enter the respective percentages on the two columns alongside.

6. Provider:
- Please select the ‘Provider’ commissioned to provide the scheme from the drop down list.
- If the scheme is being provided by multiple providers, please split the scheme across multiple lines.

7. Source of Funding:
- Based on the funding sources for the BCF pool for the HWB, please select the source of funding for the scheme from the drop down list. 
- If the scheme is funding across multiple sources of funding, please split the scheme across multiple lines.

8. Scheme Duration:
- Please select the timeframe for which the scheme is planned for from the drop down list: whether 2017-18, 2018-19 or Both Years.
9. Expenditure (£) 2017-19:
- Please enter the planned spend for the scheme (Based on the duration of the scheme, please enter this information for 2017-18, 2018-19 or 
both)

This is the only detailed information on BCF schemes being collected centrally for 2017-19 but it is expected that detailed plans and 
narrative plans will continue to be developed locally and this information will be consistent across them. 
4. HWB Metrics (click to go to tab)

80



This sheet should be used to set out the Health and Wellbeing Board's performance plans for each of the Better Care Fund metrics in 2017-19. 
The BCF requires plans to be set for 4 nationally defined metrics.
This should build on planned and actual performance on these metrics in 2016-17. 

1. Non-Elective Admissions (NEA) metric planning:
• The NEA plan totals are pre-populated with activity data from CCG Operating Plan submissions for all contributing CCGs, which has then 
been mapped to the HWB footprint to provide a default HWB level NEA activity plan for 2017-19. This is to align with the wider CCG Ops 
planning for this metric
• If the BCF schemes are aiming for additional NEA reductions which are not already built into the CCG Operating Plan numbers for NEAs, 
please select “Yes” to the question “Are you planning on additional quarterly reductions”. This will make the cells in the table below editable. 
Please enter the additional quarterly planned NEA reductions for 2017-19 in these cells. 
• Where an additional reduction in NEA activity is planned for through the BCF schemes, an option is provided to set out an associated NEA 
performance related contingency reserve arrangement (this is described in the Planning Requirements document). When opting to include this 
arrangement, please select “Yes” on the NEA cost question. This will enable any adjustments to be made to the NEA cost assumptions (just 
below) which are used to calculate the contingency reserve fund. Please add a reason for any adjustments made to the cost of NEA 
• Further information on planning further reductions in Non-Elective Activity and associated contingency reserve arrangements is set out within 
the BCF Planning Requirements document.

2. Residential Admissions (RES) planning: 
• This section requires inputting the information for the numerator of the measure.
• Please enter the planned number of council-supported older people (aged 65 and over) whose long-term support needs will be met by a 
change of setting to residential and nursing care during the year (excluding transfers between residential and nursing care) for the Residential 
Admissions numerator measure.
• The prepopulated denominator of the measure is the size of the older people population in the area (aged 65 and over) taken from ONS 2014 
based subnational population projections.
• The annual rate is then calculated and populated based on the entered information.
• Please add a commentary in the column alongside to provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.

81



3. Reablement (REA) planning: 
• This section requires inputting the information for the numerator and denominator of the measure.
• Please enter the planned denominator figure, which is the planned number of older people discharged from hospital to their own home for 
rehabilitation (or from hospital to a residential or nursing care home or extra care housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will 
move on/back to their own home).
• Please then enter the planned numerator figure, which is the planned number of older people discharged from hospital to their own home for 
rehabilitation (from within the denominator) that will still be at home 91 days after discharge.
• The annual proportion (%) Reablement measure will then be calculated and populated based on this information.
• Please add a commentary in the column alongside to provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.

4. Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) planning: 
• Please refer to the BCF Planning Requirements 17/19 when completing this section.
• This section captures the planned Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) metric for 2017/19
• Please input the delayed days figure for each quarter.
• The total delayed days and the quarterly rate is then calculated based on this entered information
• The denominator figure in row 95 is pre-populated (population - aged 18+, 2014 based SNPP). This figure is utilised to calculate the quarterly 
rate.
• Please add a commentary in the column alongside to provide any supporting or explanatory information in relation to how this metric has been 
planned.

5. National Conditions (click to go to tab)
This sheet requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the national conditions detailed in the Better Care Fund Planning 
Guidance are on track to be met through the delivery of your plan in 2017-19. Please refer to the BCF Policy Framework and BCF Planning 
Requirements docments for 2017-19 where the BCF national conditions are set out in full. Please answer as at the time of completion. 
On this tab please enter the following information:

1. Confirmation status for 2017/18 and 2018/19:
For each national condition please use the 2017/18 column to select ‘Yes' or ‘No’ to indicate whether there is a clear plan set out to meet the 
condition for 2017/18 and again for 2018/19. Selecting ‘Yes’ confirms meeting the National Condition for the Health and Well Being board as 
per the BCF Policy Framework and Planning Requirements for 17/19

2. Where the confirmation selected is ‘No’, please use the comments box alongside to indicate when it is expected that the condition will be met 
/ agreed if it is not being currently. Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition, when it 
is expected that the condition will be met and any other supporting information.

CCG - HWB Mapping (click to go to tab)

82



The final tab provides details of the CCG to HWB mapping used to calculate contributions to Health and Wellbeing Board level non-elective 
activity plans.

83



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Better Care Fund 2017-19 Planning Template

Sheet: Checklist

<< Link to the Guidance tab

*Incomplete Template*

1. Cover
Cell 

Reference Checker
Health and Well Being Board C10 Yes
Completed by: C13 Yes
E-mail: C15 Yes
Contact number: C17 Yes
Who has signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Well Being Board: C19 Yes
Area Assurance Contact Details C22 : G31 Yes

Sheet Completed: Yes

2. HWB Funding Sources
Cell 

Reference Checker
Are any additional LA Contributions being made on 2017/18? If yes please detail below C35 Yes
Are any additional LA Contributions being made on 2018/19? If yes please detail below D35 Yes
Local authority additional contribution: B38 : B40 Yes
Gross Contribution (2017/18) C41 No
Gross Contribution (2018/19) D41 No
Comments (if required) F38 N/A
Are any additional CCG Contributions being made on 2017/18? If yes please detail below; C62 Yes
Are any additional CCG Contributions being made on 2018/19? If yes please detail below; D62 Yes
Additional CCG Contribution: B65 Yes

84



Gross Contribution (2017/18) C65 Yes
Gross Contribution (2018/19) D65 Yes
Comments (if required) F65 N/A
Funding Sources Narrative B83 N/A
1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant and are arrangements in place for the transfer of DFG funds 
to the local housing authority? (2017/18) C91 Yes
2. i) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that the full amount of Disabled Facilities Grant will be passed to 
local housing authorities? (2017/18) C93 Yes
2. ii) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that relevant district councils have agreed how Disabled 
Facilities Grant will be spent in line with ambitions in the BCF to support integrated approaches to health, social care and 
housing? (2017/18) C94 Yes
3. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the implementation of the new Care Act duties has been 
identified? (2017/18) C95 Yes
4. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific support from within the BCF pool? 
(2017/18) C96 Yes
5. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG contribution to the fund is being used? (2017/18) C97 Yes
6. Is the iBCF grant included in the pooled BCF fund? (2017/18) C98 Yes
1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant and are arrangements in place for the transfer of DFG funds 
to the local housing authority? (2018/19) D91 Yes
2. i) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that the full amount of Disabled Facilities Grant will be passed to 
local housing authorities? (2018/19) D93 Yes
2. ii) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that relevant district councils have agreed how Disabled 
Facilities Grant will be spent in line with ambitions in the BCF to support integrated approaches to health, social care and 
housing? (2018/19) D94 Yes
3. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the implementation of the new Care Act duties has been 
identified? (2018/19) D95 Yes
4. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific support from within the BCF pool? 
(2018/19) D96 Yes
5. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG contribution to the fund is being used? (2018/19) D97 Yes
6. Is the iBCF grant included in the pooled BCF fund? (2018/19) D98 Yes
1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant and are arrangements in place for the transfer of DFG funds 
to the local housing authority? Comments E91 Yes
2. i) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that the full amount of Disabled Facilities Grant will be passed to 
local housing authorities? Comments E93 Yes
2. ii) In areas with two tiers of local government, can you confirm that relevant district councils have agreed how Disabled 
Facilities Grant will be spent in line with ambitions in the BCF to support integrated approaches to health, social care and 
housing? Comments E94 Yes

85



3. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the implementation of the new Care Act duties has been 
identified? Comments E95 Yes
4. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific support from within the BCF pool? 
Comments E96 Yes
5. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG contribution to the fund is being used? Comments E97 Yes
6. Is the iBCF grant included in the pooled BCF fund? Comments E98 Yes

Sheet Completed: No

3. HWB Expenditure Plan
Cell 

Reference Checker
Scheme ID B18 : B267 Yes
Scheme Name C18 : C267 Yes
Scheme Type (see table below for descriptions) D18 : D267 Yes
Sub Types E18 : E267 Yes
Please specify if 'Scheme Type' or 'Sub Type' is 'other' F18 : F267 Yes
Area of Spend G18 : G267 Yes
Please specify if 'Area of Spend' is 'other' H18 : H267 Yes
Commissioner I18 : I267 Yes
if Joint Commissioner % NHS J18 : J267 Yes
if Joint Commissioner % LA K18 : K267 Yes
Provider L18 : L267 Yes
Source of Funding M18 : M267 Yes
Scheme Duration N18 : N267 Yes
2017/18 Expenditure (£000's) O18 : O267 Yes
2018/19 Expenditure (£000's) P18 : P267 Yes
New or Existing Scheme Q18 : Q267 Yes

Sheet Completed: Yes

4. HWB Metrics

86



Cell 
Reference Checker

4.1 - Are you planning on any additional quarterly reductions? E18 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q1 (2017/18) F20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q2 (2017/18) G20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q3 (2017/18) H20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q4 (2017/18) I20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q1 (2018/19) J20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q2 (2018/19) K20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q3 (2018/19) L20 Yes
4.1 - HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure - Q4 (2018/19) M20 Yes
4.1 - Are you putting in place a local contingency fund agreement on NEA? E24 Yes
4.1 - Cost of NEA (2017/18) E30 Yes
4.1 - Cost of NEA (2018/19) E31 Yes
4.1 - Comments (2017/18) (if required) F30 N/A
4.1 - Comments (2018/19) (if required) F31 N/A
4.2 - Residential Admissions : Numerator : Planned 17/18 H48 Yes
4.2 - Residential Admissions : Numerator : Planned 18/19 I48 Yes
4.2 - Comments (if required) J47 N/A
4.3 - Reablement : Numerator : Planned 17/18 H57 Yes
4.3 - Reablement : Denominator : Planned 17/18 H58 Yes
4.3 - Reablement : Numerator : Planned 18/19 I57 Yes
4.3 - Reablement : Denominator : Planned 18/19 I58 Yes
4.3 - Comments (if required) J56 N/A
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q1 17/18 I65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q2 17/18 J65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q3 17/18 K65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q4 17/18 L65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q1 18/19 M65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q2 18/19 N65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q3 18/19 O65 Yes
4.4 - Delayed Transfers of Care : Planned Q4 18/19 P65 Yes
4.4 - Comments (if required) Q64 N/A

Sheet Completed: Yes

87



5. National Conditions
Cell 

Reference Checker
1) Plans to be jointly agreed (2017/18) C14 Yes
2) NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation (2017/18) C15 Yes
3) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services (2017/18) C16 Yes
4) Managing transfers of care C17 Yes
1) Plans to be jointly agreed (2018/19) D14 Yes
2) NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation (2018/19) D15 Yes
3) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services (2018/19) D16 Yes
4) Managing transfers of care D17 Yes
1) Plans to be jointly agreed, Comments E14 Yes
2) NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation, Comments E15 Yes
3) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services, Comments E16 Yes
4) Managing transfers of care E17 Yes

Sheet Completed: Yes

88



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Summary of Health and Well-Being Board 2017-19 Planning Template

Selected Health and Well 
Being Board:

Peterborough

Data Submission Period:
2017-19

Summary

<< Link to the Guidance tab

2. HWB Funding Sources

2017/18 Gross 
Contribution

2018/19 Gross 
Contribution Specific Funding Requirements for 2017-19 2017/18 

Response
2018/19 

Response

Total Local Authority 
Contribution exc iBCF £1,675,081 £1,826,575

1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant and are 
arrangements in place for the transfer of DFG funds to the local housing authority? Yes Yes

Total iBCF Contribution £3,876,686 £5,245,865

2. In areas with two tiers of local government:
i) Are there plans to pass down the full amount of Disabled Facilities Grant from 
the county to each of the district authorities? No No

Total Minimum CCG 
Contribution £11,287,227 £11,501,684

ii) If a portion of the DFG funding has been retained by the county, have the 
relevant district councils agreed to this approach? If applicable, please detail in the 
comments box how the retained portion of DFG will be spent to support integrated 
approaches to health, social care and housing.

Total Additional CCG 
Contribution £0 £0

3. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the 
implementation of the new Care Act duties has been identified? Yes Yes

Total BCF pooled budget £16,838,994 £18,574,125
4. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-
specific support from within the BCF pool? Yes Yes

5. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG 
contribution to the fund is being used? Yes Yes

6. Is the iBCF grant included in the pooled BCF fund? Yes Yes

3. HWB Expenditure Plan

Summary of NHS Commissioned Out 
of Hospital Services Spend from 
MINIMUM BCF Pool (**)

Summary of BCF 
Expenditure (*)

2017/18 
Expenditure

2018/19 
Expenditure

2017/18 
Expenditure

2018/19 
Expenditure

Acute £0 £0 Mental Health £0 £0
Mental Health £0 £0 Community Health £4,123,554 £4,211,952
Community Health £4,273,554 £4,361,952 Continuing Care £0 £0
Continuing Care £0 £0 Primary Care £100,000 £100,000
Primary Care £100,000 £100,000 Social Care £0 £0
Social Care £9,036,440 £11,583,173 Other £429,000 £429,000

89



Other £3,429,000 £2,529,000 Total £4,652,554 £4,740,952
Total £16,838,994 £18,574,125 NHS Commissioned OOH Ringfence £3,207,510 £3,268,452

Additional NEA Reduction linked 
Contingency Fund 2017/18 Fund 2018/19 Fund 

Summary of BCF 
Expenditure from Minimum 
CCG Contribution (***)

2017/18 
Expenditure

2018/19 
Expenditure

NEA metric linked contingency fund 
held from the ringfenced local 
allocation for NHS OOH spend

£308,234 £353,751

Acute £0 £0
Mental Health £0 £0
Community Health £4,123,554 £4,211,952 BCF Expenditure on Social Care from 

Minimum CCG ContributionContinuing Care £0 £0 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Primary Care £100,000 £100,000

Minimum Mandated Expenditure on 
Social Care from the CCG minimum

£6,634,672 £6,760,731
Social Care £6,634,673 £6,760,732   →
Other £429,000 £429,000 Planned Social Care expenditure 

from the CCG minimum
£6,518,000 £6,634,673 £6,760,732

Total £11,287,227 £11,501,684
Annual % Uplift Planned 1.8% 1.9%

Minimum mandated uplift % (Based on inflation) 1.79% 1.90%

4. HWB Metrics

4.1 HWB NEA Activity Plan

Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Total 17/18 Total 18/19

Total HWB Planned Non-
Elective Admissions 4,405 4,504 4,808 4,607 4,404 4,502 4,806 4,604 18,325 18,317
HWB Quarterly Additional 
Reduction Figure -140 118 179 41 -21 25 206 16 197 226
HWB NEA Plan (after 
reduction) 4,545 4,387 4,630 4,566 4,425 4,477 4,600 4,588 18,128 18,091
Additional NEA reduction 
delivered through the BCF -£219,303 £184,401 £279,654 £63,481 -£33,241 £39,256 £322,371 £25,365 £308,234 £353,751

4.2 Residential Admissions

Planned 17/18 Planned 18/19

Long-term support needs of older people (aged 65 and 
over) met by admission to residential and nursing care 
homes, per 100,000 population

Annual rate
532 623

4.3 Reablement

Planned 17/18 Planned 18/19

90



Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services

Annual %
83.2% 82.9%

4.4 Delayed Transfers of Care

Delayed Transfers of Care 
(delayed days) from 
hospital per 100,000 
population (aged 18+)

Quarterly 
rate

Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19

1,287 975 579 534 540 552 546 530

5. National Conditions

National Conditions For 
The BCF 2017-19

Does your BCF plan for 
2017/18 set out a clear plan 

to meet this condition?

Does your BCF plan for 2018/19 
set out a clear plan to meet this 

condition?

1) Plans to be jointly 
agreed Yes Yes

2) NHS contribution to 
adult social care is 
maintained in line with 
inflation

Yes Yes

3) Agreement to invest in 
NHS commissioned out of 
hospital services

Yes Yes

4) Managing transfers of 
care Yes Yes

Footnotes

* Summary of BCF Expenditure is the sum of the self-reported HWB amounts allocated to the 7 different 'areas of spend' that have been provided by HWBs in their plans (from the 4. HWB 
Expenditure Plan tab), where:
Area of Spend = Acute, Mental Health, Community Health, Continuing Care, Primary Care, Social Care & Other

** Summary of NHS Commissioned out of hospital services spend from MINIMUM BCF Pool is the sum of the amounts allocated to the 6 individual out of hospital 'areas of spend' that have 
been provided in tab 4. HWB Expenditure Plan, where;
Area of Spend = Mental Health, Community Health, Continuing Care, Primary Care, Social Care & Other (everything other than Acute)
Commissioner = CCG, NHS England or Joint (if joint we use the NHS% of the value)
Source of Funding = CCG Minimum Contribution

***Summary of BCF Expenditure from Minimum CCG contribution is the sum of the self-reported HWB amounts allocated to the 7 different 'areas of spend' form the minimum CCG contribution 
that have been provided by HWBs in their plans (from the 4. HWB Expenditure Plan tab), where:
Area of Spend = Acute, Mental Health, Community Health, Continuing Care, Primary Care, Social Care & Other
Source of Funding = CCG Minimum Contribution

91



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017

Better Care Fund 2017-19 Planning Template

Sheet: 1. Cover Sheet

<< Link to the Guidance tab

You are reminded that much of the data in this template, to which you have privileged access, is management information only and is 
not in the public domain. It is not to be shared more widely than is necessary to complete the return.

Any accidental or wrongful release should be reported immediately and may lead to an inquiry. Wrongful release includes indications 
of the content, including such descriptions as "favourable" or "unfavourable".

Please prevent inappropriate use by treating this information as restricted, refrain from passing information on to others and use it 
only for the purposes for which it is provided.

Health and Well Being Board Peterborough

Completed by: Caroline Townsend

E-Mail: caroline.townsend@peterborough.gov.uk

Contact Number: 07920 160512

Who signed off the report on behalf 
of the Health and Well Being Board:

Councillor John Holdich

Role: Title and Name: E-mail:

Area Assurance Contact Details* Health and Wellbeing Board 
Chair

Chair of Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Councillor John Holdich

john.holdich@peterborough.gov.
uk

Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer (Lead)

Acting Chief Officer, Jonathan 
Dunk jonathan.dunk@nhs.net

Additional Clinical 
Commissioning Group(s) 
Accountable Officers

N/A N/A

Local Authority Chief Executive Chief Executive Officer, Gillian 
Beasley

gillian.beasley@peterborough.
gov.uk

Local Authority Director of Adult 
Social Services (or equivalent)

Director of Adut Social Care, 
Charlotte Black

charlotte.black@cambridgeshire.
gov.uk

Better Care Fund Lead Official Director of Commissioning, Will 
Patten will.patten@peterborough.gov.uk

LA Section 151 officer Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources, Marion Kelly

john.harrison@peterborough.
gov.uk

Please add further area contacts that you 
would wish to be included in official 

correspondence -->

 LA Corporate Director of People 
and Communities

Corporate Director of People and 
Communiities, Wendi Ogle-

Welbourn

wendi.ogle-
welbourn@peterborough.gov.uk

*Only those identified will be addressed in official correspondence

Question Completion - when all questions have been answered and the validation boxes below have turned green you should send the template to 
england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net saving the file as 'Name HWB' for example 'County Durham HWB'

*Incomplete Template*

No. of questions answered
1. Cover 6
2. HWB Funding Sources 29
3. HWB Expenditure Plan 16
4. HWB Metrics 31
5. National Conditions 12

Please go to the Checklist for further details on incomplete questions - Link here

92



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Sheet: 2. Health and Well-Being Board Funding Sources

Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Peterborough

Data Submission Period:
2017-19

2. HWB Funding Sources

<< Link to the Guidance tab

Local Authority Contributions exc iBCF

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
 2017/18 Gross 

Contribution
2018/19 Gross 

Contribution
0 Peterborough £1,675,081 £1,826,575
1

Lower Tier DFG Breakdown (for applicable two tier authorities)

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12

Total Minimum LA Contribution exc iBCF £1,675,081 £1,826,575

93



Are any additional LA Contributions being 
made in 2017/18 or 2018/19? If yes please 
detail below

No No

0 Local Authority Additional Contribution 
 2017/18 Gross 

Contribution
2018/19 Gross 

Contribution Comments - please use this box clarify any specific uses or sources of funding
1 <Please Select Local Authority> N/A
2
3

Total Local Authority Contribution £1,675,081 £1,826,575

iBCF Contribution
 2017/18 Gross 

Contribution
2018/19 Gross 

Contribution
0 Peterborough £3,876,686 £5,245,865
0

Total iBCF Contribution £3,876,686 £5,245,865

CCG Minimum Contribution
 2017/18 Gross 

Contribution
2018/19 Gross 

Contribution
0 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG £11,287,227 £11,501,684
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Total Minimum CCG Contribution £11,287,227 £11,501,684

Are any additional CCG Contributions being 
made in 2017/18 or 2018/19? If yes please 
detail below

No No

94



Additional CCG Contribution
 2017/18 Gross 

Contribution
2018/19 Gross 

Contribution Comments - please use this box clarify any specific uses or sources of funding
0 <Please Select CCG> N/A
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Total Additional CCG Contribution £0 £0

2017/18 2018/19 
Total BCF pooled budget £16,838,994 £18,574,125

Funding Contributions Narrative
The funding contributions to the BCF meet the national minimum allocation requirements. No additional voluntary contributions have been made into the pooled budget 
over and above this.

Specific funding requirements for 2017-19
2017/18 

Response
2018/19 

Response
If the selected response for either year is 'No', please detail in the comments box 

issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition.
1. Is there agreement about the use of the 
Disabled Facilities Grant and are 
arrangements in place for the transfer of DFG 
funds to the local housing authority?

Yes Yes

2. In areas with two tiers of local government:
i) Are there plans to pass down the full amount 
of Disabled Facilities Grant from the county to 
each of the district authorities?

No No

95



ii) If a portion of the DFG funding has been 
retained by the county, have the relevant 
district councils agreed to this approach? If 
applicable, please detail in the comments box 
how the retained portion of DFG will be spent 
to support integrated approaches to health, 
social care and housing.

<Please Select> <Please Select>

3. Is there agreement that at least the local 
proportion of the £138m for the implementation 
of the new Care Act duties has been 
identified?

Yes Yes

4. Is there agreement on the amount of 
funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific 
support from within the BCF pool?

Yes Yes

5. Is there agreement on how funding for 
reablement included within the CCG 
contribution to the fund is being used?

Yes Yes

6. Is the iBCF grant included in the pooled 
BCF fund? Yes Yes

96



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Sheet: 3. Health and Well-Being Board Expenditure Plan

Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Peterborough Link to Summary sheet

Running Balances 2017/18 2018/19
Data Submission Period: BCF Pooled Total balance £0 £0

2017-19 Local Authority Contribution balance exc iBCF £0 £0
CCG Minimum Contribution balance £0 £0

3. HWB Expenditure Plan Additional CCG Contribution balance £0 £0
iBCF £0 £0

<< Link to Guidance tab Running Totals 2017/18 2018/19
Planned Social Care spend from the CCG minimum £6,634,673 £6,760,732

Ringfenced NHS Commissioned OOH spend £4,652,554 £4,740,952

Expenditure
Scheme Descriptions Link >>

Sc
he
me 
ID

Scheme Name Scheme Type 
(see table below 
for descriptions)

Sub Types Please specify 
if 'Scheme 

Type' is 'other'

Area of 
Spend

Please specify 
if 'Area of 
Spend' is 

'other'

Commissio
ner

% NHS (if 
Joint 

Commission
er)

% LA (if 
Joint 

Commission
er)

Provider Source of 
Funding

Scheme 
Duration

2017/18 
Expenditur

e (£)

2018/19 
Expenditur

e (£)

New/ 
Existin

g 
Schem

e

0
Section 256 (Independent Sector Placements) 16. Other 4. Care home Care placements: community/accomodation basedSocial 

Care
Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£3,522,000 £3,522,000 Existin
g

1
Protection of Adult Social Care 16. Other Support core service budgetsSocial 

Care
Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£1,705,673 £1,831,732 Existin
g

2

7 Day Services / Reduction of DTOCs (reablement and bed 
based market)

11. Intermediate 
care services

4. 
Reablement/Re
habilitation 
services

Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£250,000 £250,000 Existin
g

3
Person Centred Services 1. Assistive 

Technologies 1. Telecare Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£100,000 £100,000 Existin
g

4
Ageing Healthily and Prevention

13. Primary 
prevention / Early 
Intervention

4. Other Quality and Market DevelopmentSocial 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£550,000 £550,000 Existin
g

5
Care Act 3. Carers services

2. 
Implementation 
of Care Act

Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£407,000 £407,000 Existin
g

6
Carer's Support 3. Carers services 3. Respite 

services
Primary 
Care CCG

Charity / 
Voluntary 
Sector

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£75,000 £75,000 Existin
g

7
Wellbeing Network

13. Primary 
prevention / Early 
Intervention

4. Other VCS advice and supportPrimary 
Care CCG

Charity / 
Voluntary 
Sector

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£25,000 £25,000 Existin
g

8
Carers Support 3. Carers services 3. Respite 

services
Community 
Health

Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Charity / 
Voluntary 
Sector

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£75,000 £75,000 Existin
g

9
Wellbeing Network

13. Primary 
prevention / Early 
Intervention

4. Other VCS advice and supportSocial 
Care

Local 
Authority

Charity / 
Voluntary 
Sector

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£25,000 £25,000 Existin
g

97



10
Disabled Facilities Grant 4. DFG - 

Adaptations
Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£1,675,081 £1,826,575 Existin
g

11
Integrated Adults Community Health Services 16. Other Community HealthCommunit

y Health CCG
NHS 
Communit
y Provider

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£4,123,554 £4,211,952 Existin
g

12
Risk Share / Performance Fund 16. Other Risk Share Other Risk Share CCG CCG

CCG 
Minimum 
Contributio
n

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£429,000 £429,000 Existin
g

13
Social Care Capacity and Investment 11. Intermediate 

care services

4. 
Reablement/Re
habilitation 
services

Social 
Care

Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

Improved 
Better 
Care Fund

2017/18 
Only £350,000 New

14
Investment into housing options for vulnerable people 16. Other Housing Other Health and 

Social Care
Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

Improved 
Better 
Care Fund

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£2,000,000 £1,100,000 New

15
Prevention Initiatives: Falls Prevention & Atrial Fibrillation

13. Primary 
prevention / Early 
Intervention

3. Other - 
Physical 
health/wellbeing

Communit
y Health

Local 
Authority

NHS 
Communit
y Provider

Improved 
Better 
Care Fund

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£150,000 £150,000 New

16
DTOC Plan 16. Other DTOC Plan Other Health and 

Social Care
Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

Improved 
Better 
Care Fund

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£1,000,000 £1,000,000 New

17
Adult Social Care Cost Pressures 16. Other Social Care Cost PressuresSocial 

Care
Local 
Authority

Local 
Authority

Improved 
Better 
Care Fund

Both 
2017/18 
and 
2018/19

£376,686 £2,995,866 New

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

98



243

244

245

246

247

248

249

Link back to the top of the sheet >>
Scheme Type Description Sub type
1. Assistive Technologies Using technology in care processes to supportive self-management, maintenance of independence and more efficient 

and effective delivery of care. (eg. Telecare, Wellness services, Digital participation services).
1. Telecare
2. Wellness services
3. Digital participation services 
4. Other

2. Care navigation / coordination A service to help people find their way to appropriate services and support and thus also support self-management. Also, 
the assistance offered to people in navigating through the complex health and social care systems (across primary care, 
community and voluntary services and social care) to overcome barriers in accessing the most appropriate care and 
support. This is often as part of a multi-agency team which can be on line or use face to face care navigators for frail 
elderly, or dementia navigators etc. . This includes approaches like Single Point of Access (SPoA) and linking people to 
community assets.

1. Care coordination
2. Single Point of Access 
3. Other

3. Carers services Supporting people to sustain their role as carers and reduce the likelihood of crisis. Advice, advocacy, information, 
assessment, emotional and physical support, training, access to services to support wellbeing and improve 
independence. This also includes the implementation of the Care Act as a sub-type.

1. Carer advice and support
2. Implementation of Care Act
3. Respite services
4. Other

4. DFG - Adaptations The DFG is a means-tested capital grant to help meet the costs of adapting a property; supporting people to stay 
independent in their own homes.

5. DFG - Other Housing This covers expenditure on housing and housing-related services other than adaptations; eg: supported housing units.
6. Domiciliary care at home A range of services that aim to help people live in their own homes through the provision of domiciliary care including 

personal care, domestic tasks, shopping, home maintenance and social activities.  Home care can link with other 
services in the community, such as supported housing, community health services and voluntary sector services.

1. Dom care packages
2. Dom care workforce development 
3. Other

99



7. Enablers for integration Schemes that build and develop the enabling foundations of health and social care integration encompassing a wide 
range of potential areas including technology, workforce, market development (Voluntary Sector Business Development: 
Funding the business development and preparedness of local voluntary sector into provider Alliances/ Collaboratives) 
and programme management related schemes. Joint commisisioning infrastructure includes any personnel or teams that 
enable joint commissioning. 

1. Data Integration 
2. System IT Interoperability
3. Programme management
4. Research and evaluation
5. Workforce development
6. Community asset mapping
7. New governance arrangements
8. Voluntary Sector Business Development 
9. Employment services 
10. Joint commissioning infrastructure
11. Other

8. Healthcare services to Care Homes Improve the availability and quality of primary and community health services delivered to care home residents. Support 
the Care Home workers to improve the delivery of non-essential healthcare skills. This includes provider led interventions 
in care homes and commissioning activities eg. joint commissioning/quality assurance for residential and nursing homes.

1. Other - Mental health / wellbeing
2. Other - Physical health / wellbeing
3. Other

9. High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfer of Care The 8 changes or approaches identified as having a high impact on supporting timely and effective discharge through 
joint working across the social and health system.

1.  Early Discharge Planning
2. Systems to Monitor Patient Flow
3. Multi-Disciplinary/Multi-Agency Discharge 
Teams
4. Home First/Discharge to Access
5. Seven-Day Services
6. Trusted Assessors
7. Focus on Choice
8. Enhancing Health in Care Homes
9. Other

10. Integrated care planning A co-ordinated, person centred and  proactive case management approach to conduct joint assessments of care needs 
and develop integrated care plans typically carried out by professionals as part of a multi-disciplinary, multi-agency 
teams. For Multi-Disciplinary Discharge Teams and the HICM for managing discharges, please select HICM as scheme 
type and the relevant sub-type. Where the planned unit of care delivery and funding is in the form of Integrated care 
packages and needs to be expressed in such a manner, please select the appropriate sub-type alongside.

1. Care planning
2. Integrated care packages 
3. Review teams (reviewing 
placements/packages)
4. Other

11. Intermediate care services Short-term intervention to preserve the independence of people who might otherwise face unnecessarily prolonged 
hospital stays or avoidable admission to hospital or residential care. The care is person-centred and delivered by a 
combination of professional groups. Services could  include Step up/down, Reablement (restorative of self-care), Rapid 
response or crisis response including that for falls.

1. Step down
2. Step up
3. Rapid/Crisis Response
4. Reablement/Rehabilitation services
5. Other

12. Personalised healthcare at home Schemes specifically designed to ensure that a person can continue to live at home through the provision of health 
related support at home. This could include promoting self-management/expert patient, establishment of ‘home ward’ for 
intensive period or to deliver support over the longer term and end of life care for people. Intermediate care services 
provide shorter term support and care interventions as opposed to the ongoing support provided in the Personalised 
Healthcare at Home scheme type.

1. Other - Mental health /wellbeing
2. Other - Physical health/wellbeing
3. Other

13. Primary prevention / Early Intervention Services or schemes where the population or identified high-risk groups are empowered and activated to live well in the 
holistic sense thereby helping prevent people from entering the care system in the first place. These are essentially 
upstream prevention initiatives to promote independence and well being.

1. Social Prescribing
2. Other - Mental health /wellbeing
3. Other - Physical health/wellbeing
4. Other

14. Residential placements Residential placements provide accommodation for people with learning or physical disabilities, mental health difficulties 
or with sight or hearing loss, who need more intensive or specialised support than can be provided at home.

1. Supported living 
2. Learning disability 
3. Extra care
4. Care home 
5. Nursing home
6. Other

100



15. Wellbeing centres Wellbeing centres provide a space to offer a range of support and activities that promote holistic wellbeing or to help 
people to access them elsewhere in the community or local area. They can typically be commissioned jointly and 
provided by the third sector.

16. Other Where the scheme is not adequately represented by the above scheme types, please outline the objectives and services 
planned for the scheme in a short description in the comments column.

101



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Sheet: 4. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund Metrics

Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Peterborough

Data Submission Period:
2017-19

4. HWB Metrics

<< Link to the Guidance tab

4.1 HWB NEA Activity Plan

Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Total 17/18 Total 18/19
HWB Non-Elective Admission Plan* Totals 4,405 4,504 4,808 4,607 4,404 4,502 4,806 4,604 18,325 18,317

Are you planning on any additional 
quarterly reductions?

Yes

If yes, please complete HWB Quarterly Additional 
Reduction Figures
HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction -140 118 179 41 -21 25 206 16 197 226
HWB NEA Plan (after reduction) 4,545 4,387 4,630 4,566 4,425 4,477 4,600 4,588 18,128 18,091
HWB Quarterly Plan Reduction % -3.18% 2.62% 3.72% 0.88% -0.48% 0.56% 4.29% 0.35% 1.07% 1.23%

Are you putting in place a local 
contingency fund agreement on NEA? Yes

2017/18 2018/19

BCF revenue funding from CCGs ring-
fenced for NHS out of hospital 
commissioned services/contingency 
fund **

£3,207,510 £3,268,452

Cost of NEA as used during 16/17*** £1,565 Please add the reason, for any adjustments to the cost of NEA for 17/18 or 18/19 in the cells below
Cost of NEA for 17/18 *** £1,565
Cost of NEA for 18/19 *** £1,565

Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Total 17/18
Additional NEA reduction delivered 
through BCF (2017/18) £308,234 -£219,303 £184,401 £279,654 £63,481 £308,234

Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Total 18/19
Additional NEA reduction delivered 
through BCF (2018/19) £353,751 -£33,241 £39,256 £322,371 £25,365 £353,751
HWB Plan Reduction % (2017/18) 1.07%
HWB Plan Reduction % (2018/19) 1.23%
The CCG Total Non-Elective Admission Plans are taken from the latest CCG NEA plan figures included in the Unify2 planning template, aggregated to quarterly level, extracted on 10/07/2017
* This is calculated as the % contribution of each CCG to the HWB level plan, based on the CCG-HWB mapping (see CCG - HWB Mapping tab)
** Within the sum subject to the condition on NHS out of hospital commissioned services/contingency fund, for any local area putting in place a contingency fund for 2017/18 or 2018/19 as part of its BCF 
planning, we would expect the value of the contingency fund to be equal to the cost of the non-elective activity that the BCF plan seeks to avoid. Source of data: xxxx insert allocation document
*** Please use the following document and amend the cost if necessary: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577083/Reference_Costs_2015-16.pdf 

4.2 Residential Admissions

15/16 Actual 16/17 Plan 17/18 Plan 18/19 Plan Comments

Long-term support needs of older 
people (age 65 and over) met by 
admission to residential and nursing 
care homes, per 100,000 population

Annual rate 394.4 451.6 532.0 622.6 Residential admissions within Peterborough have been maintained at a low level over the 
past two years. Based on demographic and self-funder pressures Peterborough could  a 
29% increase in residential admissions during 2017/18 and 2018/19. Plans aim to 
mitigate these pressures through investment in prevention and early intervention, 
reducing the predicted increase to 20% per annum.

Numerator 110 128 154 184

Denominator 27,887 28,345 28,949 29,551

102



Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and over) met by admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population (aged 65+) population projections are based on a calendar year 
using the 2014 based Sub-National Population Projections for Local Authorities in England;
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandz1
Population figures for Cornwall and Isles of Scilly and Bournemouth and Poole has been combined to form Cornwall & Scilly and Bournemouth & Poole respectively to create a Residential Admissions rate 
for these two Health and Well-Being Boards.

4.3 Reablement

15/16 Actual 16/17 Plan 17/18 Plan 18/19 Plan Comments

Proportion of older people (65 and 
over) who were still at home 91 days 
after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services

Annual % 83.3% 82.8% 83.2% 82.9%
The target is set for improved performance on 15/16 and increased activity expected as a 
result of service demand pressures.Numerator 70 500 99 116

Denominator 84 604 119 140

4.4 Delayed Transfers of Care

16-17 Actuals 17-18 plans 18-19 plans
Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q3 16/17 Q4 16/17 Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Comments

Delayed Transfers 
of Care (delayed 
days) from hospital 
per 100,000 
population (aged 
18+)

Quarterly rate
1377.5 1090.0 1448.8 1139.6 1287.0 975.3 578.6 534.0 540.0 552.0 546.0 529.6

The DTOC targets align with the prviously submitted 
tranjectory to NHSE and the system commitment to deliver 
the 3.5% national target by 2nd November 2017.

Numerator (total)
2,027 1,604 2,132 1,693 1,912 1,449 860 801 810 828 819 801

Denominator
147,154 147,154 147,154 148,565 148,565 148,565 148,565 149,988 149,988 149,988 149,988 151,252

Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population (aged 18+) population projections are based on a calendar year using the 2014 based Sub-National Population Projections for Local 
Authorities in England;
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandz1
Population figures for Cornwall and Isles of Scilly and Bournemouth and Poole has been combined to form Cornwall & Scilly and Bournemouth & Poole respectively to create a DTOC rate for these two Health and Well-
Being Boards.

103



Planning Template for BCF: due on 11/09/2017
Sheet: 5. National Conditions

Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Peterborough

Data Submission Period:
2017-19

5. National Conditions

<< Link to the Guidance tab

National Conditions 
For The Better Care 

Fund 2017-19

Does your BCF 
plan for 2017/18 

set out a clear plan 
to meet this 
condition?

Does your BCF 
plan for 2018/19 

set out a clear plan 
to meet this 
condition?

If the selected response for either year is 'No', please detail in the comments box issues and/or 
actions that are being taken to meet the condition.

1) Plans to be jointly 
agreed Yes Yes

2) NHS contribution to 
adult social care is 
maintained in line with 
inflation

Yes Yes

3) Agreement to invest 
in NHS commissioned 
out of hospital services

Yes Yes

104



4) Managing transfers 
of care Yes Yes

105



CCG to Health and Well-Being Board Mapping for 2017-19

HWB Code LA Name CCG Code CCG Name
% CCG in 
HWB

% HWB in 
CCG

E09000002 Barking and Dagenham 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 90.2% 87.9%
E09000002 Barking and Dagenham 08F NHS Havering CCG 7.0% 8.5%
E09000002 Barking and Dagenham 08M NHS Newham CCG 0.3% 0.5%
E09000002 Barking and Dagenham 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 2.2% 3.0%
E09000002 Barking and Dagenham 08W NHS Waltham Forest CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E09000003 Barnet 07M NHS Barnet CCG 91.0% 92.5%
E09000003 Barnet 07P NHS Brent CCG 1.9% 1.7%
E09000003 Barnet 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.9% 0.6%
E09000003 Barnet 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000003 Barnet 07X NHS Enfield CCG 2.9% 2.4%
E09000003 Barnet 08D NHS Haringey CCG 2.1% 1.6%
E09000003 Barnet 08E NHS Harrow CCG 1.2% 0.8%
E09000003 Barnet 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E09000003 Barnet 08H NHS Islington CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000003 Barnet 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E08000016 Barnsley 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 94.5% 98.2%
E08000016 Barnsley 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 0.3% 0.4%
E08000016 Barnsley 03A NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E08000016 Barnsley 03L NHS Rotherham CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E08000016 Barnsley 03N NHS Sheffield CCG 0.2% 0.4%
E08000016 Barnsley 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 0.4% 0.6%
E06000022 Bath and North East Somerset 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 93.7% 98.3%
E06000022 Bath and North East Somerset 11H NHS Bristol CCG 0.3% 0.8%
E06000022 Bath and North East Somerset 11X NHS Somerset CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E06000022 Bath and North East Somerset 12A NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000022 Bath and North East Somerset 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.1% 0.3%
E06000055 Bedford 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 37.5% 97.4%
E06000055 Bedford 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.4% 1.9%
E06000055 Bedford 04G NHS Nene CCG 0.2% 0.6%

106



E09000004 Bexley 07N NHS Bexley CCG 93.5% 89.4%
E09000004 Bexley 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E09000004 Bexley 09J NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 1.4% 1.5%
E09000004 Bexley 08A NHS Greenwich CCG 7.6% 8.8%
E09000004 Bexley 08L NHS Lewisham CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E08000025 Birmingham 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 91.9% 53.3%
E08000025 Birmingham 04X NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG 96.8% 24.3%
E08000025 Birmingham 05C NHS Dudley CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E08000025 Birmingham 05J NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG 3.0% 0.4%
E08000025 Birmingham 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 40.4% 18.8%
E08000025 Birmingham 05P NHS Solihull CCG 15.2% 3.0%
E08000025 Birmingham 05Y NHS Walsall CCG 0.5% 0.1%
E06000008 Blackburn with Darwen 00Q NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG 89.0% 95.8%
E06000008 Blackburn with Darwen 00T NHS Bolton CCG 1.2% 2.3%
E06000008 Blackburn with Darwen 00V NHS Bury CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000008 Blackburn with Darwen 01A NHS East Lancashire CCG 0.7% 1.6%
E06000009 Blackpool 00R NHS Blackpool CCG 86.7% 97.5%
E06000009 Blackpool 02M NHS Fylde & Wyre CCG 2.5% 2.5%
E08000001 Bolton 00T NHS Bolton CCG 97.3% 97.6%
E08000001 Bolton 00V NHS Bury CCG 1.4% 0.9%
E08000001 Bolton 00X NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E08000001 Bolton 01G NHS Salford CCG 0.6% 0.5%
E08000001 Bolton 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 0.8% 0.9%
E06000028 & E06000029 Bournemouth & Poole 11J NHS Dorset CCG 45.9% 100.0%
E06000036 Bracknell Forest 10G NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 82.1% 94.6%
E06000036 Bracknell Forest 99M NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG 0.6% 1.1%
E06000036 Bracknell Forest 10C NHS Surrey Heath CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E06000036 Bracknell Forest 11C NHS Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 1.8% 2.3%
E06000036 Bracknell Forest 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 1.4% 1.9%
E08000032 Bradford 02N NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG 67.4% 18.6%
E08000032 Bradford 02W NHS Bradford City CCG 99.4% 22.2%
E08000032 Bradford 02R NHS Bradford Districts CCG 97.9% 57.9%
E08000032 Bradford 02T NHS Calderdale CCG 0.2% 0.0%

107



E08000032 Bradford 02V NHS Leeds North CCG 0.6% 0.2%
E08000032 Bradford 03C NHS Leeds West CCG 1.7% 1.1%
E08000032 Bradford 03J NHS North Kirklees CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E09000005 Brent 07M NHS Barnet CCG 2.2% 2.4%
E09000005 Brent 07P NHS Brent CCG 89.9% 86.5%
E09000005 Brent 07R NHS Camden CCG 4.0% 2.9%
E09000005 Brent 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 1.2% 0.7%
E09000005 Brent 07W NHS Ealing CCG 0.5% 0.6%
E09000005 Brent 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E09000005 Brent 08E NHS Harrow CCG 5.8% 4.0%
E09000005 Brent 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 4.5% 2.8%
E06000043 Brighton and Hove 09D NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 97.8% 99.7%
E06000043 Brighton and Hove 09G NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E06000043 Brighton and Hove 99K NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E06000023 Bristol, City of 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000023 Bristol, City of 11H NHS Bristol CCG 94.4% 97.9%
E06000023 Bristol, City of 12A NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 3.7% 2.1%
E09000006 Bromley 07N NHS Bexley CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000006 Bromley 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 94.7% 95.1%
E09000006 Bromley 07V NHS Croydon CCG 1.1% 1.3%
E09000006 Bromley 08A NHS Greenwich CCG 1.5% 1.2%
E09000006 Bromley 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000006 Bromley 08L NHS Lewisham CCG 2.0% 1.8%
E09000006 Bromley 99J NHS West Kent CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 10Y NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 91.3% 35.3%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 0.6% 0.5%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 96.0% 59.7%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 1.2% 1.4%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 0.8% 0.4%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 04F NHS Milton Keynes CCG 1.3% 0.7%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 04G NHS Nene CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.6% 0.7%
E10000002 Buckinghamshire 10T NHS Slough CCG 2.8% 0.8%

108



E10000002 Buckinghamshire 11C NHS Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 1.3% 0.4%
E08000002 Bury 00T NHS Bolton CCG 0.8% 1.2%
E08000002 Bury 00V NHS Bury CCG 94.1% 94.3%
E08000002 Bury 01A NHS East Lancashire CCG 0.0% 0.2%
E08000002 Bury 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 0.4% 0.5%
E08000002 Bury 14L NHS Manchester CCG 0.7% 2.1%
E08000002 Bury 01G NHS Salford CCG 1.4% 1.9%
E08000033 Calderdale 02R NHS Bradford Districts CCG 0.4% 0.7%
E08000033 Calderdale 02T NHS Calderdale CCG 98.5% 98.9%
E08000033 Calderdale 03A NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E08000033 Calderdale 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 1.1% 0.7%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 72.0% 96.7%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 06K NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 0.8% 0.7%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 0.4% 0.0%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 07H NHS West Essex CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 07J NHS West Norfolk CCG 1.5% 0.4%
E10000003 Cambridgeshire 07K NHS West Suffolk CCG 4.0% 1.4%
E09000007 Camden 07M NHS Barnet CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E09000007 Camden 07P NHS Brent CCG 1.3% 1.9%
E09000007 Camden 07R NHS Camden CCG 84.0% 89.2%
E09000007 Camden 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 5.8% 4.8%
E09000007 Camden 08D NHS Haringey CCG 0.5% 0.6%
E09000007 Camden 08H NHS Islington CCG 3.3% 3.1%
E09000007 Camden 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E06000056 Central Bedfordshire 10Y NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 2.0% 1.5%
E06000056 Central Bedfordshire 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 56.8% 95.2%
E06000056 Central Bedfordshire 06K NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E06000056 Central Bedfordshire 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 0.4% 0.8%
E06000056 Central Bedfordshire 06P NHS Luton CCG 2.3% 1.9%
E06000049 Cheshire East 01C NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 96.4% 50.4%
E06000049 Cheshire East 04J NHS North Derbyshire CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E06000049 Cheshire East 05G NHS North Staffordshire CCG 1.1% 0.6%

109



E06000049 Cheshire East 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000049 Cheshire East 01R NHS South Cheshire CCG 98.6% 45.5%
E06000049 Cheshire East 01W NHS Stockport CCG 1.6% 1.3%
E06000049 Cheshire East 02A NHS Trafford CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E06000049 Cheshire East 02D NHS Vale Royal CCG 0.7% 0.2%
E06000049 Cheshire East 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.7% 0.4%
E06000049 Cheshire East 02F NHS West Cheshire CCG 1.9% 1.2%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 01C NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 1.1% 0.7%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 01F NHS Halton CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 01R NHS South Cheshire CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 02D NHS Vale Royal CCG 99.3% 29.3%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 02F NHS West Cheshire CCG 96.9% 69.3%
E06000050 Cheshire West and Chester 12F NHS Wirral CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E09000001 City of London 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.2% 6.4%
E09000001 City of London 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.0% 1.8%
E09000001 City of London 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 1.8% 72.7%
E09000001 City of London 08H NHS Islington CCG 0.1% 3.0%
E09000001 City of London 08V NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 0.4% 15.9%
E09000001 City of London 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000052 Cornwall & Scilly 11N NHS Kernow CCG 99.7% 99.4%
E06000052 Cornwall & Scilly 99P NHS North, East, West Devon CCG 0.4% 0.6%
E06000047 County Durham 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 97.2% 52.6%
E06000047 County Durham 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000047 County Durham 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000047 County Durham 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 0.7% 0.7%
E06000047 County Durham 00J NHS North Durham CCG 96.6% 46.1%
E06000047 County Durham 00P NHS Sunderland CCG 1.2% 0.6%
E08000026 Coventry 05A NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG 74.4% 99.9%
E08000026 Coventry 05H NHS Warwickshire North CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E09000008 Croydon 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 1.6% 1.3%
E09000008 Croydon 07V NHS Croydon CCG 95.4% 93.3%
E09000008 Croydon 09L NHS East Surrey CCG 3.0% 1.3%

110



E09000008 Croydon 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 2.9% 2.8%
E09000008 Croydon 08R NHS Merton CCG 0.8% 0.4%
E09000008 Croydon 08T NHS Sutton CCG 0.8% 0.4%
E09000008 Croydon 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.5% 0.4%
E10000006 Cumbria 01H NHS Cumbria CCG 97.4% 100.0%
E10000006 Cumbria 01K NHS Morecambe Bay CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E06000005 Darlington 00C NHS Darlington CCG 98.2% 96.2%
E06000005 Darlington 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 1.2% 3.1%
E06000005 Darlington 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000005 Darlington 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E06000015 Derby 04R NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 50.0% 100.0%
E10000007 Derbyshire 02Q NHS Bassetlaw CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000007 Derbyshire 05D NHS East Staffordshire CCG 8.0% 1.4%
E10000007 Derbyshire 01C NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000007 Derbyshire 03X NHS Erewash CCG 92.4% 11.3%
E10000007 Derbyshire 03Y NHS Hardwick CCG 94.6% 12.3%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04E NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG 2.0% 0.5%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04J NHS North Derbyshire CCG 98.2% 35.9%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04L NHS Nottingham North and East CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04M NHS Nottingham West CCG 5.2% 0.6%
E10000007 Derbyshire 03N NHS Sheffield CCG 0.5% 0.4%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04R NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 48.2% 33.1%
E10000007 Derbyshire 01W NHS Stockport CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000007 Derbyshire 01Y NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 14.0% 4.3%
E10000007 Derbyshire 04V NHS West Leicestershire CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E10000008 Devon 11J NHS Dorset CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E10000008 Devon 11N NHS Kernow CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E10000008 Devon 99P NHS North, East, West Devon CCG 70.1% 80.6%
E10000008 Devon 11X NHS Somerset CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E10000008 Devon 99Q NHS South Devon and Torbay CCG 51.1% 18.5%
E08000017 Doncaster 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E08000017 Doncaster 02Q NHS Bassetlaw CCG 1.4% 0.5%
E08000017 Doncaster 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 96.7% 97.8%

111



E08000017 Doncaster 03L NHS Rotherham CCG 1.5% 1.2%
E08000017 Doncaster 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E10000009 Dorset 11J NHS Dorset CCG 52.5% 95.9%
E10000009 Dorset 11X NHS Somerset CCG 0.6% 0.7%
E10000009 Dorset 11A NHS West Hampshire CCG 2.0% 2.5%
E10000009 Dorset 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.8% 0.9%
E08000027 Dudley 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E08000027 Dudley 05C NHS Dudley CCG 93.2% 90.8%
E08000027 Dudley 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 3.9% 6.9%
E08000027 Dudley 06A NHS Wolverhampton CCG 1.8% 1.5%
E08000027 Dudley 06D NHS Wyre Forest CCG 0.7% 0.2%
E09000009 Ealing 07P NHS Brent CCG 1.7% 1.5%
E09000009 Ealing 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000009 Ealing 07W NHS Ealing CCG 86.8% 90.7%
E09000009 Ealing 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 5.8% 3.0%
E09000009 Ealing 08E NHS Harrow CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E09000009 Ealing 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 0.7% 0.5%
E09000009 Ealing 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 4.8% 3.6%
E09000009 Ealing 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.7% 0.4%
E06000011 East Riding of Yorkshire 02Y NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG 97.4% 85.0%
E06000011 East Riding of Yorkshire 03F NHS Hull CCG 9.5% 8.1%
E06000011 East Riding of Yorkshire 03M NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG 0.7% 0.2%
E06000011 East Riding of Yorkshire 03Q NHS Vale of York CCG 6.5% 6.6%
E10000011 East Sussex 09D NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 1.1% 0.6%
E10000011 East Sussex 09F NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 100.0% 34.7%
E10000011 East Sussex 09P NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 99.7% 33.3%
E10000011 East Sussex 99K NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 98.1% 29.6%
E10000011 East Sussex 09X NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 2.8% 1.2%
E10000011 East Sussex 99J NHS West Kent CCG 0.8% 0.7%
E09000010 Enfield 07M NHS Barnet CCG 1.1% 1.3%
E09000010 Enfield 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000010 Enfield 06K NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 0.3% 0.5%
E09000010 Enfield 07X NHS Enfield CCG 95.4% 90.8%

112



E09000010 Enfield 08D NHS Haringey CCG 7.7% 6.9%
E09000010 Enfield 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E09000010 Enfield 08H NHS Islington CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E10000012 Essex 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000012 Essex 99E NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG 99.8% 18.2%
E10000012 Essex 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000012 Essex 99F NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG 95.3% 11.6%
E10000012 Essex 06K NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 1.7% 0.7%
E10000012 Essex 08F NHS Havering CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000012 Essex 06L NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000012 Essex 06Q NHS Mid Essex CCG 100.0% 25.6%
E10000012 Essex 06T NHS North East Essex CCG 98.6% 22.6%
E10000012 Essex 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 3.0% 0.6%
E10000012 Essex 99G NHS Southend CCG 3.3% 0.4%
E10000012 Essex 07G NHS Thurrock CCG 1.4% 0.2%
E10000012 Essex 08W NHS Waltham Forest CCG 0.5% 0.1%
E10000012 Essex 07H NHS West Essex CCG 97.1% 19.7%
E10000012 Essex 07K NHS West Suffolk CCG 2.3% 0.4%
E08000037 Gateshead 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 38.9% 97.9%
E08000037 Gateshead 00J NHS North Durham CCG 0.9% 1.1%
E08000037 Gateshead 00L NHS Northumberland CCG 0.5% 0.8%
E08000037 Gateshead 00N NHS South Tyneside CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 97.6% 98.6%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 05F NHS Herefordshire CCG 0.5% 0.1%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 12A NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 05R NHS South Warwickshire CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 05T NHS South Worcestershire CCG 1.1% 0.5%
E10000013 Gloucestershire 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E09000011 Greenwich 07N NHS Bexley CCG 5.1% 4.2%
E09000011 Greenwich 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 1.1% 1.3%
E09000011 Greenwich 08A NHS Greenwich CCG 88.7% 89.7%
E09000011 Greenwich 08L NHS Lewisham CCG 4.2% 4.7%

113



E09000012 Hackney 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.8% 0.7%
E09000012 Hackney 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000012 Hackney 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 90.4% 94.4%
E09000012 Hackney 08D NHS Haringey CCG 0.6% 0.6%
E09000012 Hackney 08H NHS Islington CCG 4.4% 3.6%
E09000012 Hackney 08V NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 0.5% 0.5%
E06000006 Halton 01F NHS Halton CCG 98.2% 96.6%
E06000006 Halton 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000006 Halton 99A NHS Liverpool CCG 0.3% 1.1%
E06000006 Halton 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.6% 1.0%
E06000006 Halton 02F NHS West Cheshire CCG 0.6% 1.2%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 07P NHS Brent CCG 0.3% 0.5%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 2.4% 2.4%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 07W NHS Ealing CCG 0.6% 1.2%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 90.4% 87.7%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 0.5% 0.7%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E09000013 Hammersmith and Fulham 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 6.4% 7.2%
E10000014 Hampshire 10G NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 0.7% 0.0%
E10000014 Hampshire 09G NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000014 Hampshire 11J NHS Dorset CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E10000014 Hampshire 10K NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG 98.6% 14.5%
E10000014 Hampshire 09N NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG 2.9% 0.5%
E10000014 Hampshire 10M NHS Newbury and District CCG 5.9% 0.5%
E10000014 Hampshire 10N NHS North & West Reading CCG 0.9% 0.0%
E10000014 Hampshire 99M NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG 76.4% 12.4%
E10000014 Hampshire 10J NHS North Hampshire CCG 99.2% 16.0%
E10000014 Hampshire 10R NHS Portsmouth CCG 4.4% 0.7%
E10000014 Hampshire 10V NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 95.5% 14.6%
E10000014 Hampshire 10X NHS Southampton CCG 5.3% 1.1%
E10000014 Hampshire 10C NHS Surrey Heath CCG 0.8% 0.0%
E10000014 Hampshire 11A NHS West Hampshire CCG 97.7% 39.1%

114



E10000014 Hampshire 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 1.3% 0.4%
E10000014 Hampshire 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 0.6% 0.0%
E09000014 Haringey 07M NHS Barnet CCG 1.1% 1.5%
E09000014 Haringey 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.6% 0.5%
E09000014 Haringey 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E09000014 Haringey 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 3.0% 3.1%
E09000014 Haringey 07X NHS Enfield CCG 1.3% 1.4%
E09000014 Haringey 08D NHS Haringey CCG 87.8% 91.5%
E09000014 Haringey 08H NHS Islington CCG 2.4% 2.0%
E09000015 Harrow 07M NHS Barnet CCG 4.3% 6.3%
E09000015 Harrow 07P NHS Brent CCG 3.6% 4.8%
E09000015 Harrow 07W NHS Ealing CCG 1.2% 1.9%
E09000015 Harrow 08E NHS Harrow CCG 89.7% 84.4%
E09000015 Harrow 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E09000015 Harrow 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 1.8% 2.0%
E09000015 Harrow 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E06000001 Hartlepool 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E06000001 Hartlepool 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 32.5% 99.5%
E09000016 Havering 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 3.3% 2.8%
E09000016 Havering 08F NHS Havering CCG 91.7% 96.4%
E09000016 Havering 08M NHS Newham CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000016 Havering 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 0.6% 0.7%
E09000016 Havering 07G NHS Thurrock CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000019 Herefordshire, County of 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.3% 0.9%
E06000019 Herefordshire, County of 05F NHS Herefordshire CCG 98.1% 97.3%
E06000019 Herefordshire, County of 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 0.3% 0.5%
E06000019 Herefordshire, County of 05T NHS South Worcestershire CCG 0.8% 1.3%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 10Y NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 0.4% 0.0%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 07M NHS Barnet CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 2.1% 1.6%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 06K NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 96.9% 46.6%

115



E10000015 Hertfordshire 07X NHS Enfield CCG 0.4% 0.1%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 08E NHS Harrow CCG 0.6% 0.1%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 06N NHS Herts Valleys CCG 98.1% 50.8%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 2.3% 0.6%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 06P NHS Luton CCG 0.4% 0.0%
E10000015 Hertfordshire 07H NHS West Essex CCG 0.8% 0.2%
E09000017 Hillingdon 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000017 Hillingdon 07W NHS Ealing CCG 5.2% 6.9%
E09000017 Hillingdon 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E09000017 Hillingdon 08E NHS Harrow CCG 2.3% 1.9%
E09000017 Hillingdon 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 94.3% 89.9%
E09000017 Hillingdon 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 1.0% 0.9%
E09000018 Hounslow 07W NHS Ealing CCG 5.7% 7.8%
E09000018 Hounslow 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 1.0% 0.7%
E09000018 Hounslow 08G NHS Hillingdon CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E09000018 Hounslow 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 88.2% 86.8%
E09000018 Hounslow 09Y NHS North West Surrey CCG 0.3% 0.4%
E09000018 Hounslow 08P NHS Richmond CCG 5.6% 3.9%
E09000018 Hounslow 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E06000046 Isle of Wight 10L NHS Isle of Wight CCG 100.0% 100.0%
E09000019 Islington 07R NHS Camden CCG 4.6% 5.2%
E09000019 Islington 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.5% 0.4%
E09000019 Islington 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 3.3% 4.1%
E09000019 Islington 08D NHS Haringey CCG 1.3% 1.6%
E09000019 Islington 08H NHS Islington CCG 89.4% 88.7%
E09000020 Kensington and Chelsea 07P NHS Brent CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E09000020 Kensington and Chelsea 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.2% 0.4%
E09000020 Kensington and Chelsea 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 4.0% 5.2%
E09000020 Kensington and Chelsea 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 1.0% 1.2%
E09000020 Kensington and Chelsea 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 63.8% 93.1%
E10000016 Kent 09C NHS Ashford CCG 100.0% 8.3%
E10000016 Kent 07N NHS Bexley CCG 1.2% 0.2%
E10000016 Kent 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 0.9% 0.2%

116



E10000016 Kent 09E NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG 100.0% 14.2%
E10000016 Kent 09J NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 98.3% 16.5%
E10000016 Kent 09L NHS East Surrey CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000016 Kent 08A NHS Greenwich CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000016 Kent 09P NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000016 Kent 99K NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 0.6% 0.0%
E10000016 Kent 09W NHS Medway CCG 6.0% 1.1%
E10000016 Kent 10A NHS South Kent Coast CCG 100.0% 12.9%
E10000016 Kent 10D NHS Swale CCG 99.9% 7.1%
E10000016 Kent 10E NHS Thanet CCG 100.0% 9.2%
E10000016 Kent 99J NHS West Kent CCG 98.7% 30.3%
E06000010 Kingston upon Hull, City of 02Y NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG 1.3% 1.4%
E06000010 Kingston upon Hull, City of 03F NHS Hull CCG 90.5% 98.6%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 08J NHS Kingston CCG 87.1% 95.6%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 08R NHS Merton CCG 1.1% 1.3%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 08P NHS Richmond CCG 0.7% 0.8%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 99H NHS Surrey Downs CCG 0.9% 1.5%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 08T NHS Sutton CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000021 Kingston upon Thames 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E08000034 Kirklees 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E08000034 Kirklees 02R NHS Bradford Districts CCG 1.0% 0.7%
E08000034 Kirklees 02T NHS Calderdale CCG 1.3% 0.7%
E08000034 Kirklees 03A NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG 99.5% 54.7%
E08000034 Kirklees 03C NHS Leeds West CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E08000034 Kirklees 03J NHS North Kirklees CCG 98.9% 42.4%
E08000034 Kirklees 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 1.5% 1.2%
E08000011 Knowsley 01F NHS Halton CCG 1.0% 0.8%
E08000011 Knowsley 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 86.8% 88.2%
E08000011 Knowsley 99A NHS Liverpool CCG 2.5% 8.0%
E08000011 Knowsley 01T NHS South Sefton CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E08000011 Knowsley 01X NHS St Helens CCG 2.3% 2.8%
E09000022 Lambeth 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000022 Lambeth 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.8% 0.5%

117



E09000022 Lambeth 07V NHS Croydon CCG 0.7% 0.8%
E09000022 Lambeth 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 85.9% 92.6%
E09000022 Lambeth 08R NHS Merton CCG 1.1% 0.6%
E09000022 Lambeth 08Q NHS Southwark CCG 1.8% 1.6%
E09000022 Lambeth 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 3.6% 3.8%
E10000017 Lancashire 02N NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 00Q NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG 11.0% 1.5%
E10000017 Lancashire 00R NHS Blackpool CCG 13.3% 1.8%
E10000017 Lancashire 00T NHS Bolton CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 00V NHS Bury CCG 1.4% 0.2%
E10000017 Lancashire 00X NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG 99.8% 14.5%
E10000017 Lancashire 01H NHS Cumbria CCG 1.4% 0.6%
E10000017 Lancashire 01A NHS East Lancashire CCG 99.0% 30.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 02M NHS Fylde & Wyre CCG 97.5% 11.8%
E10000017 Lancashire 01E NHS Greater Preston CCG 100.0% 17.1%
E10000017 Lancashire 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 0.9% 0.2%
E10000017 Lancashire 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 01K NHS Morecambe Bay CCG 99.8% 12.9%
E10000017 Lancashire 01T NHS South Sefton CCG 0.5% 0.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 01V NHS Southport and Formby CCG 3.1% 0.3%
E10000017 Lancashire 01X NHS St Helens CCG 0.5% 0.0%
E10000017 Lancashire 02G NHS West Lancashire CCG 97.0% 8.8%
E10000017 Lancashire 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 0.8% 0.2%
E08000035 Leeds 02W NHS Bradford City CCG 0.6% 0.0%
E08000035 Leeds 02R NHS Bradford Districts CCG 0.7% 0.3%
E08000035 Leeds 02V NHS Leeds North CCG 96.4% 24.2%
E08000035 Leeds 03G NHS Leeds South and East CCG 98.4% 31.7%
E08000035 Leeds 03C NHS Leeds West CCG 97.9% 43.0%
E08000035 Leeds 03J NHS North Kirklees CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E08000035 Leeds 03Q NHS Vale of York CCG 0.6% 0.2%
E08000035 Leeds 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 1.4% 0.6%
E06000016 Leicester 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 2.3% 2.0%
E06000016 Leicester 04C NHS Leicester City CCG 92.5% 95.3%

118



E06000016 Leicester 04V NHS West Leicestershire CCG 2.7% 2.7%
E10000018 Leicestershire 03V NHS Corby CCG 0.6% 0.0%
E10000018 Leicestershire 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 85.4% 39.9%
E10000018 Leicestershire 04C NHS Leicester City CCG 7.5% 4.2%
E10000018 Leicestershire 04N NHS Rushcliffe CCG 5.4% 1.0%
E10000018 Leicestershire 04Q NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG 5.6% 1.1%
E10000018 Leicestershire 04R NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 0.7% 0.5%
E10000018 Leicestershire 05H NHS Warwickshire North CCG 1.6% 0.4%
E10000018 Leicestershire 04V NHS West Leicestershire CCG 96.2% 52.9%
E09000023 Lewisham 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 1.4% 1.5%
E09000023 Lewisham 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E09000023 Lewisham 08A NHS Greenwich CCG 2.1% 1.9%
E09000023 Lewisham 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E09000023 Lewisham 08L NHS Lewisham CCG 91.8% 92.4%
E09000023 Lewisham 08Q NHS Southwark CCG 3.8% 3.8%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 03T NHS Lincolnshire East CCG 99.2% 32.0%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 04D NHS Lincolnshire West CCG 98.5% 30.5%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 04H NHS Newark & Sherwood CCG 2.4% 0.4%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 03H NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG 2.7% 0.6%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 03K NHS North Lincolnshire CCG 2.6% 0.6%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 90.8% 19.6%
E10000019 Lincolnshire 04Q NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG 93.3% 16.2%
E08000012 Liverpool 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 8.5% 2.7%
E08000012 Liverpool 99A NHS Liverpool CCG 94.4% 96.3%
E08000012 Liverpool 01T NHS South Sefton CCG 3.3% 1.0%
E06000032 Luton 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 2.2% 4.4%
E06000032 Luton 06P NHS Luton CCG 97.3% 95.6%
E08000003 Manchester 00V NHS Bury CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E08000003 Manchester 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E08000003 Manchester 14L NHS Manchester CCG 90.9% 95.5%
E08000003 Manchester 00Y NHS Oldham CCG 0.9% 0.4%

119



E08000003 Manchester 01G NHS Salford CCG 2.5% 1.1%
E08000003 Manchester 01W NHS Stockport CCG 1.6% 0.8%
E08000003 Manchester 01Y NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 0.4% 0.2%
E08000003 Manchester 02A NHS Trafford CCG 4.1% 1.6%
E06000035 Medway 09J NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000035 Medway 09W NHS Medway CCG 94.0% 99.5%
E06000035 Medway 10D NHS Swale CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000035 Medway 99J NHS West Kent CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E09000024 Merton 07V NHS Croydon CCG 0.5% 0.9%
E09000024 Merton 08J NHS Kingston CCG 3.5% 3.0%
E09000024 Merton 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 1.0% 1.6%
E09000024 Merton 08R NHS Merton CCG 87.5% 81.1%
E09000024 Merton 08T NHS Sutton CCG 3.4% 2.7%
E09000024 Merton 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 6.6% 10.8%
E06000002 Middlesbrough 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000002 Middlesbrough 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E06000002 Middlesbrough 00M NHS South Tees CCG 52.2% 99.5%
E06000042 Milton Keynes 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 1.5% 2.5%
E06000042 Milton Keynes 04F NHS Milton Keynes CCG 95.5% 96.1%
E06000042 Milton Keynes 04G NHS Nene CCG 0.6% 1.3%
E08000021 Newcastle upon Tyne 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 58.6% 95.1%
E08000021 Newcastle upon Tyne 99C NHS North Tyneside CCG 6.0% 4.1%
E08000021 Newcastle upon Tyne 00L NHS Northumberland CCG 0.8% 0.8%
E09000025 Newham 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E09000025 Newham 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E09000025 Newham 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E09000025 Newham 08M NHS Newham CCG 96.6% 97.7%
E09000025 Newham 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E09000025 Newham 08V NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E09000025 Newham 08W NHS Waltham Forest CCG 1.7% 1.4%
E10000020 Norfolk 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.7% 0.7%
E10000020 Norfolk 06M NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG 47.7% 12.3%
E10000020 Norfolk 06L NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 0.2% 0.0%

120



E10000020 Norfolk 06V NHS North Norfolk CCG 100.0% 18.7%
E10000020 Norfolk 06W NHS Norwich CCG 100.0% 23.8%
E10000020 Norfolk 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000020 Norfolk 06Y NHS South Norfolk CCG 98.9% 25.4%
E10000020 Norfolk 07J NHS West Norfolk CCG 98.5% 18.5%
E10000020 Norfolk 07K NHS West Suffolk CCG 2.6% 0.7%
E06000012 North East Lincolnshire 03T NHS Lincolnshire East CCG 0.8% 1.2%
E06000012 North East Lincolnshire 03H NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG 95.9% 98.6%
E06000012 North East Lincolnshire 03K NHS North Lincolnshire CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 02Q NHS Bassetlaw CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 02Y NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 04D NHS Lincolnshire West CCG 1.1% 1.4%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 03H NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG 1.4% 1.4%
E06000013 North Lincolnshire 03K NHS North Lincolnshire CCG 97.2% 96.8%
E06000024 North Somerset 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 1.6% 1.5%
E06000024 North Somerset 11H NHS Bristol CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E06000024 North Somerset 11T NHS North Somerset CCG 99.1% 97.7%
E06000024 North Somerset 11X NHS Somerset CCG 0.0% 0.2%
E08000022 North Tyneside 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 1.0% 2.5%
E08000022 North Tyneside 99C NHS North Tyneside CCG 93.0% 96.3%
E08000022 North Tyneside 00L NHS Northumberland CCG 0.7% 1.1%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 02N NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG 32.4% 8.3%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 01H NHS Cumbria CCG 1.2% 1.0%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 00C NHS Darlington CCG 1.3% 0.2%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 01A NHS East Lancashire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 02Y NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG 1.4% 0.7%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 98.5% 22.9%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 03E NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG 99.9% 26.2%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 02V NHS Leeds North CCG 3.0% 1.0%

121



E10000023 North Yorkshire 03G NHS Leeds South and East CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 03M NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG 99.3% 19.2%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 03Q NHS Vale of York CCG 32.7% 18.7%
E10000023 North Yorkshire 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 2.0% 1.2%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 10Y NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 06F NHS Bedfordshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 1.6% 1.9%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 03V NHS Corby CCG 99.1% 9.7%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 05A NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 1.9% 0.8%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 04F NHS Milton Keynes CCG 3.2% 1.2%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 04G NHS Nene CCG 98.8% 84.9%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 1.2% 1.1%
E10000021 Northamptonshire 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 0.9% 0.2%
E06000057 Northumberland 01H NHS Cumbria CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000057 Northumberland 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 0.3% 0.4%
E06000057 Northumberland 00J NHS North Durham CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000057 Northumberland 99C NHS North Tyneside CCG 1.0% 0.7%
E06000057 Northumberland 00L NHS Northumberland CCG 98.0% 98.6%
E06000018 Nottingham 04K NHS Nottingham City CCG 89.7% 95.3%
E06000018 Nottingham 04L NHS Nottingham North and East CCG 4.7% 2.0%
E06000018 Nottingham 04M NHS Nottingham West CCG 4.3% 1.2%
E06000018 Nottingham 04N NHS Rushcliffe CCG 4.3% 1.5%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 02Q NHS Bassetlaw CCG 97.3% 13.5%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 1.6% 0.6%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 03X NHS Erewash CCG 7.6% 0.9%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 03Y NHS Hardwick CCG 5.0% 0.6%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04D NHS Lincolnshire West CCG 0.4% 0.1%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04E NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG 98.0% 22.5%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04H NHS Newark & Sherwood CCG 97.6% 15.6%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04K NHS Nottingham City CCG 10.3% 4.6%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04L NHS Nottingham North and East CCG 95.0% 17.3%

122



E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04M NHS Nottingham West CCG 90.5% 10.2%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04N NHS Rushcliffe CCG 90.4% 13.6%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04Q NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG 0.7% 0.1%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04R NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 0.6% 0.4%
E10000024 Nottinghamshire 04V NHS West Leicestershire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E08000004 Oldham 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 1.5% 1.4%
E08000004 Oldham 14L NHS Manchester CCG 0.8% 2.1%
E08000004 Oldham 00Y NHS Oldham CCG 94.6% 96.3%
E08000004 Oldham 01Y NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 10Y NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 6.1% 1.8%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 04G NHS Nene CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 10M NHS Newbury and District CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 10N NHS North & West Reading CCG 2.0% 0.3%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 97.3% 96.6%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 05R NHS South Warwickshire CCG 0.6% 0.2%
E10000025 Oxfordshire 12D NHS Swindon CCG 2.6% 0.8%
E06000031 Peterborough 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 22.8% 96.3%
E06000031 Peterborough 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 5.1% 3.7%
E06000026 Plymouth 99P NHS North, East, West Devon CCG 29.2% 100.0%
E06000044 Portsmouth 10K NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG 1.4% 1.3%
E06000044 Portsmouth 10R NHS Portsmouth CCG 95.6% 98.4%
E06000044 Portsmouth 10V NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E06000038 Reading 10N NHS North & West Reading CCG 61.6% 36.2%
E06000038 Reading 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.2% 0.6%
E06000038 Reading 10W NHS South Reading CCG 79.8% 60.6%
E06000038 Reading 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 3.1% 2.7%
E09000026 Redbridge 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 5.6% 3.8%
E09000026 Redbridge 08F NHS Havering CCG 0.8% 0.7%
E09000026 Redbridge 08M NHS Newham CCG 1.5% 1.8%
E09000026 Redbridge 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 92.6% 88.7%
E09000026 Redbridge 08W NHS Waltham Forest CCG 3.4% 3.2%

123



E09000026 Redbridge 07H NHS West Essex CCG 1.8% 1.7%
E06000003 Redcar and Cleveland 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 1.0% 1.0%
E06000003 Redcar and Cleveland 00M NHS South Tees CCG 47.4% 99.0%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 0.4% 0.4%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 4.9% 7.0%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 08J NHS Kingston CCG 1.5% 1.4%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 08P NHS Richmond CCG 91.7% 90.5%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 99H NHS Surrey Downs CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E09000027 Richmond upon Thames 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E08000005 Rochdale 00V NHS Bury CCG 0.6% 0.6%
E08000005 Rochdale 01A NHS East Lancashire CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E08000005 Rochdale 01D NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 96.5% 96.6%
E08000005 Rochdale 14L NHS Manchester CCG 0.6% 1.6%
E08000005 Rochdale 00Y NHS Oldham CCG 0.9% 1.0%
E08000018 Rotherham 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 3.4% 3.2%
E08000018 Rotherham 02Q NHS Bassetlaw CCG 1.0% 0.4%
E08000018 Rotherham 02X NHS Doncaster CCG 1.1% 1.3%
E08000018 Rotherham 03L NHS Rotherham CCG 97.9% 93.5%
E08000018 Rotherham 03N NHS Sheffield CCG 0.8% 1.6%
E06000017 Rutland 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.0% 0.4%
E06000017 Rutland 03V NHS Corby CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E06000017 Rutland 03W NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 9.8% 85.7%
E06000017 Rutland 99D NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 2.7% 11.9%
E06000017 Rutland 04Q NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG 0.4% 1.5%
E08000006 Salford 00T NHS Bolton CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E08000006 Salford 00V NHS Bury CCG 1.9% 1.4%
E08000006 Salford 14L NHS Manchester CCG 0.9% 2.2%
E08000006 Salford 01G NHS Salford CCG 94.0% 94.8%
E08000006 Salford 02A NHS Trafford CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E08000006 Salford 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 0.9% 1.1%
E08000028 Sandwell 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 3.0% 6.2%
E08000028 Sandwell 04X NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E08000028 Sandwell 05C NHS Dudley CCG 3.0% 2.7%

124



E08000028 Sandwell 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 54.0% 89.2%
E08000028 Sandwell 05Y NHS Walsall CCG 1.7% 1.3%
E08000028 Sandwell 06A NHS Wolverhampton CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E08000014 Sefton 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 1.8% 1.0%
E08000014 Sefton 99A NHS Liverpool CCG 2.9% 5.3%
E08000014 Sefton 01T NHS South Sefton CCG 96.1% 51.8%
E08000014 Sefton 01V NHS Southport and Formby CCG 96.9% 41.8%
E08000014 Sefton 02G NHS West Lancashire CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E08000019 Sheffield 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 0.8% 0.4%
E08000019 Sheffield 03Y NHS Hardwick CCG 0.4% 0.0%
E08000019 Sheffield 04J NHS North Derbyshire CCG 0.7% 0.3%
E08000019 Sheffield 03L NHS Rotherham CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E08000019 Sheffield 03N NHS Sheffield CCG 98.6% 99.2%
E06000051 Shropshire 05F NHS Herefordshire CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E06000051 Shropshire 05G NHS North Staffordshire CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E06000051 Shropshire 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 96.6% 95.4%
E06000051 Shropshire 01R NHS South Cheshire CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E06000051 Shropshire 05Q NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG 1.2% 0.9%
E06000051 Shropshire 05T NHS South Worcestershire CCG 1.0% 1.0%
E06000051 Shropshire 05X NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG 2.3% 1.4%
E06000051 Shropshire 02F NHS West Cheshire CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E06000051 Shropshire 06D NHS Wyre Forest CCG 0.8% 0.3%
E06000039 Slough 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 3.1% 6.5%
E06000039 Slough 09Y NHS North West Surrey CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000039 Slough 10T NHS Slough CCG 96.6% 93.1%
E06000039 Slough 11C NHS Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 0.4% 0.4%
E08000029 Solihull 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 1.9% 6.2%
E08000029 Solihull 04X NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG 0.4% 0.6%
E08000029 Solihull 05A NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E08000029 Solihull 05J NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E08000029 Solihull 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E08000029 Solihull 05P NHS Solihull CCG 83.6% 92.1%
E08000029 Solihull 05R NHS South Warwickshire CCG 0.3% 0.4%

125



E08000029 Solihull 05H NHS Warwickshire North CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000027 Somerset 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 3.1% 1.1%
E10000027 Somerset 11J NHS Dorset CCG 0.5% 0.7%
E10000027 Somerset 11T NHS North Somerset CCG 0.9% 0.3%
E10000027 Somerset 99P NHS North, East, West Devon CCG 0.3% 0.5%
E10000027 Somerset 11X NHS Somerset CCG 98.5% 97.3%
E10000027 Somerset 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000025 South Gloucestershire 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 0.6% 0.5%
E06000025 South Gloucestershire 11H NHS Bristol CCG 5.0% 8.9%
E06000025 South Gloucestershire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.8% 1.8%
E06000025 South Gloucestershire 12A NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 95.1% 88.7%
E06000025 South Gloucestershire 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E08000023 South Tyneside 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 0.0% 0.2%
E08000023 South Tyneside 00N NHS South Tyneside CCG 99.2% 99.2%
E08000023 South Tyneside 00P NHS Sunderland CCG 0.3% 0.6%
E06000045 Southampton 10X NHS Southampton CCG 94.7% 99.5%
E06000045 Southampton 11A NHS West Hampshire CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E06000033 Southend-on-Sea 99F NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG 4.7% 4.6%
E06000033 Southend-on-Sea 99G NHS Southend CCG 96.7% 95.4%
E09000028 Southwark 07R NHS Camden CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E09000028 Southwark 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 2.2% 1.4%
E09000028 Southwark 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 6.6% 7.7%
E09000028 Southwark 08L NHS Lewisham CCG 2.0% 1.8%
E09000028 Southwark 08Q NHS Southwark CCG 94.4% 88.7%
E09000028 Southwark 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E08000013 St. Helens 01F NHS Halton CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E08000013 St. Helens 01J NHS Knowsley CCG 2.6% 2.3%
E08000013 St. Helens 01X NHS St Helens CCG 91.1% 96.3%
E08000013 St. Helens 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E08000013 St. Helens 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 0.7% 1.2%
E10000028 Staffordshire 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 0.5% 0.4%
E10000028 Staffordshire 04Y NHS Cannock Chase CCG 99.3% 14.9%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05C NHS Dudley CCG 1.4% 0.5%

126



E10000028 Staffordshire 05D NHS East Staffordshire CCG 92.0% 14.6%
E10000028 Staffordshire 01C NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 0.6% 0.1%
E10000028 Staffordshire 04J NHS North Derbyshire CCG 0.7% 0.2%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05G NHS North Staffordshire CCG 95.1% 23.5%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 1.0% 0.4%
E10000028 Staffordshire 01R NHS South Cheshire CCG 0.5% 0.1%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05Q NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG 96.1% 23.7%
E10000028 Staffordshire 04R NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05V NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG 99.5% 16.6%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05W NHS Stoke on Trent CCG 8.9% 2.9%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05X NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG 1.0% 0.2%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05Y NHS Walsall CCG 1.6% 0.5%
E10000028 Staffordshire 05H NHS Warwickshire North CCG 1.2% 0.3%
E10000028 Staffordshire 06A NHS Wolverhampton CCG 2.7% 0.9%
E10000028 Staffordshire 06D NHS Wyre Forest CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E08000007 Stockport 01C NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 1.6% 1.1%
E08000007 Stockport 14L NHS Manchester CCG 1.1% 2.2%
E08000007 Stockport 01W NHS Stockport CCG 95.0% 96.5%
E08000007 Stockport 01Y NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E06000004 Stockton-on-Tees 00C NHS Darlington CCG 0.4% 0.2%
E06000004 Stockton-on-Tees 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 0.4% 0.5%
E06000004 Stockton-on-Tees 03D NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E06000004 Stockton-on-Tees 00K NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 66.9% 98.6%
E06000004 Stockton-on-Tees 00M NHS South Tees CCG 0.4% 0.6%
E06000021 Stoke-on-Trent 05G NHS North Staffordshire CCG 3.4% 2.7%
E06000021 Stoke-on-Trent 05V NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E06000021 Stoke-on-Trent 05W NHS Stoke on Trent CCG 91.1% 97.0%
E10000029 Suffolk 06H NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E10000029 Suffolk 06M NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG 52.3% 16.4%
E10000029 Suffolk 06L NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 99.6% 52.8%
E10000029 Suffolk 06T NHS North East Essex CCG 1.4% 0.6%
E10000029 Suffolk 06Y NHS South Norfolk CCG 1.1% 0.4%
E10000029 Suffolk 07H NHS West Essex CCG 0.1% 0.0%

127



E10000029 Suffolk 07K NHS West Suffolk CCG 91.1% 29.7%
E08000024 Sunderland 00D NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 0.9% 0.9%
E08000024 Sunderland 13T NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 0.5% 0.8%
E08000024 Sunderland 00J NHS North Durham CCG 2.2% 2.0%
E08000024 Sunderland 00N NHS South Tyneside CCG 0.4% 0.2%
E08000024 Sunderland 00P NHS Sunderland CCG 98.5% 96.1%
E10000030 Surrey 10G NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 1.7% 0.2%
E10000030 Surrey 07Q NHS Bromley CCG 0.4% 0.1%
E10000030 Surrey 09G NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000030 Surrey 09H NHS Crawley CCG 6.6% 0.7%
E10000030 Surrey 07V NHS Croydon CCG 1.2% 0.4%
E10000030 Surrey 09L NHS East Surrey CCG 96.6% 14.1%
E10000030 Surrey 09N NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG 94.0% 17.0%
E10000030 Surrey 09X NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 1.5% 0.3%
E10000030 Surrey 07Y NHS Hounslow CCG 0.6% 0.2%
E10000030 Surrey 08J NHS Kingston CCG 4.4% 0.7%
E10000030 Surrey 08R NHS Merton CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000030 Surrey 99M NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG 23.0% 4.2%
E10000030 Surrey 10J NHS North Hampshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000030 Surrey 09Y NHS North West Surrey CCG 99.4% 29.4%
E10000030 Surrey 08P NHS Richmond CCG 0.6% 0.1%
E10000030 Surrey 10V NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E10000030 Surrey 99H NHS Surrey Downs CCG 97.1% 23.8%
E10000030 Surrey 10C NHS Surrey Heath CCG 98.9% 7.6%
E10000030 Surrey 08T NHS Sutton CCG 1.2% 0.2%
E10000030 Surrey 99J NHS West Kent CCG 0.2% 0.0%
E10000030 Surrey 11C NHS Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 8.5% 1.1%
E09000029 Sutton 07V NHS Croydon CCG 1.0% 1.9%
E09000029 Sutton 08J NHS Kingston CCG 3.4% 3.3%
E09000029 Sutton 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E09000029 Sutton 08R NHS Merton CCG 6.4% 6.7%
E09000029 Sutton 99H NHS Surrey Downs CCG 1.4% 2.0%
E09000029 Sutton 08T NHS Sutton CCG 94.5% 85.6%

128



E09000029 Sutton 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E06000030 Swindon 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.0% 0.2%
E06000030 Swindon 12D NHS Swindon CCG 96.2% 98.3%
E06000030 Swindon 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.7% 1.4%
E08000008 Tameside 14L NHS Manchester CCG 2.3% 5.9%
E08000008 Tameside 00Y NHS Oldham CCG 3.6% 3.8%
E08000008 Tameside 01W NHS Stockport CCG 1.7% 2.2%
E08000008 Tameside 01Y NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 85.1% 88.1%
E06000020 Telford and Wrekin 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 1.7% 2.9%
E06000020 Telford and Wrekin 05X NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG 96.7% 97.1%
E06000034 Thurrock 07L NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E06000034 Thurrock 99E NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E06000034 Thurrock 08F NHS Havering CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E06000034 Thurrock 07G NHS Thurrock CCG 98.4% 99.2%
E06000027 Torbay 99Q NHS South Devon and Torbay CCG 48.9% 100.0%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 07R NHS Camden CCG 1.1% 0.9%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 0.9% 0.9%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 08H NHS Islington CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 08M NHS Newham CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E09000030 Tower Hamlets 08V NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 98.9% 97.5%
E08000009 Trafford 14L NHS Manchester CCG 2.7% 6.9%
E08000009 Trafford 01G NHS Salford CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E08000009 Trafford 02A NHS Trafford CCG 95.6% 92.8%
E08000009 Trafford 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E08000036 Wakefield 02P NHS Barnsley CCG 0.9% 0.6%
E08000036 Wakefield 03G NHS Leeds South and East CCG 1.0% 0.8%
E08000036 Wakefield 03C NHS Leeds West CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E08000036 Wakefield 03J NHS North Kirklees CCG 0.6% 0.3%
E08000036 Wakefield 03R NHS Wakefield CCG 94.5% 98.1%
E08000030 Walsall 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 1.8% 4.6%
E08000030 Walsall 04Y NHS Cannock Chase CCG 0.7% 0.3%
E08000030 Walsall 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 1.6% 3.2%

129



E08000030 Walsall 05Q NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E08000030 Walsall 05Y NHS Walsall CCG 92.7% 90.6%
E08000030 Walsall 06A NHS Wolverhampton CCG 1.4% 1.3%
E09000031 Waltham Forest 07T NHS City and Hackney CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E09000031 Waltham Forest 08M NHS Newham CCG 1.2% 1.6%
E09000031 Waltham Forest 08N NHS Redbridge CCG 1.4% 1.4%
E09000031 Waltham Forest 08W NHS Waltham Forest CCG 94.3% 96.6%
E09000032 Wandsworth 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 0.9% 0.5%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08J NHS Kingston CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 3.0% 3.2%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08R NHS Merton CCG 2.9% 1.7%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08P NHS Richmond CCG 1.3% 0.8%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08X NHS Wandsworth CCG 88.3% 93.1%
E09000032 Wandsworth 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 0.6% 0.4%
E06000007 Warrington 01F NHS Halton CCG 0.3% 0.2%
E06000007 Warrington 01G NHS Salford CCG 0.5% 0.6%
E06000007 Warrington 01X NHS St Helens CCG 2.3% 2.0%
E06000007 Warrington 02E NHS Warrington CCG 97.8% 96.9%
E06000007 Warrington 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 0.2% 0.3%
E10000031 Warwickshire 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05A NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG 25.2% 21.5%
E10000031 Warwickshire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000031 Warwickshire 04G NHS Nene CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E10000031 Warwickshire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.3% 0.3%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05J NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG 0.8% 0.2%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05P NHS Solihull CCG 0.6% 0.3%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05Q NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG 0.8% 0.3%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05R NHS South Warwickshire CCG 96.2% 45.5%
E10000031 Warwickshire 05H NHS Warwickshire North CCG 96.7% 30.9%
E10000031 Warwickshire 04V NHS West Leicestershire CCG 0.5% 0.3%
E06000037 West Berkshire 10M NHS Newbury and District CCG 93.2% 66.4%
E06000037 West Berkshire 10N NHS North & West Reading CCG 35.3% 23.5%

130



E06000037 West Berkshire 10J NHS North Hampshire CCG 0.7% 0.9%
E06000037 West Berkshire 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.2% 1.1%
E06000037 West Berkshire 10W NHS South Reading CCG 8.7% 7.5%
E06000037 West Berkshire 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 0.1% 0.4%
E06000037 West Berkshire 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E10000032 West Sussex 09D NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 1.2% 0.4%
E10000032 West Sussex 09G NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 99.5% 57.7%
E10000032 West Sussex 09H NHS Crawley CCG 93.4% 13.9%
E10000032 West Sussex 09L NHS East Surrey CCG 0.3% 0.0%
E10000032 West Sussex 09N NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG 3.1% 0.8%
E10000032 West Sussex 99K NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 1.0% 0.2%
E10000032 West Sussex 09X NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 95.7% 25.8%
E10000032 West Sussex 10V NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 4.1% 1.0%
E10000032 West Sussex 99H NHS Surrey Downs CCG 0.6% 0.2%
E09000033 Westminster 07P NHS Brent CCG 1.3% 1.9%
E09000033 Westminster 07R NHS Camden CCG 3.0% 3.4%
E09000033 Westminster 09A NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG 80.4% 71.2%
E09000033 Westminster 08C NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E09000033 Westminster 08K NHS Lambeth CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E09000033 Westminster 08Y NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG 23.4% 23.2%
E08000010 Wigan 00T NHS Bolton CCG 0.2% 0.2%
E08000010 Wigan 01G NHS Salford CCG 0.9% 0.7%
E08000010 Wigan 01X NHS St Helens CCG 3.8% 2.3%
E08000010 Wigan 02E NHS Warrington CCG 0.4% 0.2%
E08000010 Wigan 02G NHS West Lancashire CCG 2.7% 0.9%
E08000010 Wigan 02H NHS Wigan Borough CCG 96.7% 95.6%
E06000054 Wiltshire 11E NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 0.8% 0.3%
E06000054 Wiltshire 11J NHS Dorset CCG 0.3% 0.4%
E06000054 Wiltshire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.4% 0.5%
E06000054 Wiltshire 10M NHS Newbury and District CCG 0.8% 0.2%
E06000054 Wiltshire 11X NHS Somerset CCG 0.3% 0.4%
E06000054 Wiltshire 12A NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 0.9% 0.5%
E06000054 Wiltshire 12D NHS Swindon CCG 1.2% 0.6%

131



E06000054 Wiltshire 11A NHS West Hampshire CCG 0.1% 0.2%
E06000054 Wiltshire 99N NHS Wiltshire CCG 96.7% 96.8%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 10G NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 12.3% 10.8%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 10H NHS Chiltern CCG 0.6% 1.2%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 09Y NHS North West Surrey CCG 0.2% 0.5%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.0% 0.1%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 10T NHS Slough CCG 0.6% 0.6%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 10C NHS Surrey Heath CCG 0.1% 0.0%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 11C NHS Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 88.1% 85.5%
E06000040 Windsor and Maidenhead 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 1.3% 1.3%
E08000015 Wirral 02F NHS West Cheshire CCG 0.4% 0.3%
E08000015 Wirral 12F NHS Wirral CCG 99.7% 99.7%
E06000041 Wokingham 10G NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 3.2% 2.6%
E06000041 Wokingham 10N NHS North & West Reading CCG 0.2% 0.1%
E06000041 Wokingham 10Q NHS Oxfordshire CCG 0.1% 0.4%
E06000041 Wokingham 10W NHS South Reading CCG 11.5% 9.5%
E06000041 Wokingham 11D NHS Wokingham CCG 93.5% 87.4%
E08000031 Wolverhampton 05C NHS Dudley CCG 1.4% 1.6%
E08000031 Wolverhampton 05L NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 0.1% 0.3%
E08000031 Wolverhampton 05Q NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG 1.7% 1.4%
E08000031 Wolverhampton 05Y NHS Walsall CCG 3.5% 3.6%
E08000031 Wolverhampton 06A NHS Wolverhampton CCG 93.8% 93.2%
E10000034 Worcestershire 13P NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG 0.4% 0.5%
E10000034 Worcestershire 04X NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG 2.5% 1.3%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05C NHS Dudley CCG 0.8% 0.4%
E10000034 Worcestershire 11M NHS Gloucestershire CCG 0.5% 0.6%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05F NHS Herefordshire CCG 1.0% 0.3%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05J NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG 95.9% 27.9%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05N NHS Shropshire CCG 0.3% 0.1%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05P NHS Solihull CCG 0.5% 0.2%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05R NHS South Warwickshire CCG 2.3% 1.1%
E10000034 Worcestershire 05T NHS South Worcestershire CCG 97.1% 49.0%
E10000034 Worcestershire 06D NHS Wyre Forest CCG 98.4% 18.7%

132



E06000014 York 03E NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG 0.1% 0.1%
E06000014 York 03Q NHS Vale of York CCG 60.2% 99.9%

Produced by NHS England using data from National Health Applications and Infrastructure Services (NHAIS) as supplied by NHS Digital

133



T
his page is intentionally left blank

134



Appendix 5

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Better Care Fund Narrative Plan 2017-19

Appendices

Contents
Appendix 1 - Local Vision for Integration 2

Appendix 2 - Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Demographics 6

Appendix 3 - BCF Expenditure Plans 2016/17 9

Appendix 4 - BCF Progress against Performance Metrics 2016/17 10

Appendix 5 - BCF Progress against Transformation Themes 2016/17 11

Appendix 6 - Peterborough Better Care Fund Section 75 Annual Report 2016/17 12

Appendix 7 - Better Care Fund Project Plan Detail 12

Appendix 8 - 8 High Impact Changes Self-Assessments 12

Appendix 9 - Costed DTOC Plan 12

Appendix 10 - CAF Risk Register 12

Appendix 11 – STP Risk Management Approach 12

Appendix 12 - BCF Risk Register 13

Appendix 13 - Overview of 2017/19 Funding 13

Appendix 14 - BCF Governance Structure 13

Appendix 15 - STP Governance Structure 14

135



Appendix 5

Appendix 1 - Local Vision for Integration

Before people have significant ongoing needs

Ageing well

We are increasingly focused on establishing and implementing approaches that prevent or 
delay the need for more intensive health (specifically admissions and re-admissions to 
hospital) and social care services, or, proactively promote the independence of people with 
long-term conditions and older people and their engagement with the community. This 
includes specific and planned evidence based public health programmes with an emphasis 
on falls, social isolation, malnutrition, dementia and promoting continence.

Eyes and ears – indicators of vulnerability

We are working to support our staff across the system to act as ‘eyes and ears’ – spotting 
indicators that someone is becoming more vulnerable and referring them to appropriate 
support. This includes not just medical or social care staff but any public or voluntary sector 
staff that come into contact with the public. This might include support for staff to enable 
them to go beyond their main role to provide some low level interventions, where 
appropriate.

Clear and joint sources of information

People will be able to access a consistent library of health, social care and wider information 
from a number of places - including web sites, libraries, community hubs or their GP surgery. 
Information will be available in print, digitally or through trusted sources. Consistent and up-

136



Appendix 5

to-date digital information will be available, as each source will call on a shared information 
hub so that organisations offering support only have to update their information in one place 
– and it is available across all sources. From accessing this information it will be easy for 
people to find out how to make contact if they need further support.

A real or virtual ‘single point of access’ for advice and support

Identification of these triggers, or a member of the public making contact, will result in a 
referral to a co-located or virtual single point of access where advice can be sought. Those 
who take the call can check existing levels of involvement with our agencies across different 
information systems via appropriate look-up access to records.  There will be joint single 
point of access based on the assumption that ‘there is no wrong door’.  This will be based on 
the different referral points for health, social care and the Voluntary and Community Sector 
(VCS) operating as one virtual front door.

Holistic identification of need with a coordinated response

Two types of ‘assessment’ tool will be available to support staff to identify levels of need and 
easily communicate that to people in other disciplines. First is a tool that can be used quickly 
in any setting as a basis for a shared language across sectors when identifying what the 
level of need is, with a view to deciding what action would be most appropriate. The 
Rockwood Frailty tool will be used to assess an individual’s level of physical frailty. We will 
investigate whether it would be useful to supplement this with another simple tool that can 
quickly summarise levels of social and community need.

As well as that simple tool, a more in-depth holistic needs assessment process will be 
available that could be used to assess the full range of needs (physical, mental, social); and 
identify what support could prevent further escalation.  A virtual ‘team around the older 
person’ would be established with all involved in this team  (e.g. GP, District Nurse, Social 
Care practitioner Housing provider, home care agency, local voluntary organisation, 
neighbour) being able to work to a shared care plan based on shared information.  A lead 
person or professional would be identified for as long as was needed as a key point of 
contact, to coordinate support and to simplify a complex system for people requiring support. 

Support for people with significant ongoing needs

Clear, coordinated pathways and hand overs

Services for people with significant ongoing needs will be well coordinated. Our health and 
social care teams will work in a different way with more of a focus on outcomes than 
process. We will work together in order to ensure the whole pathway of care is delivered as 
an integrated set of providers, and therefore handovers will be seamless.  For example a call 
may come into the Joint Emergency Team (JET), yet the best response would be a social 
care response/ social care may already be involved.  A handover would take place, with the 
patient getting the timely response most appropriate to meet their needs and prevent 
escalation. Our staff will be co-located wherever possible, and if not will work as a virtual 
team to ensure there is a seamless joined up and coordinated response.

Neighbourhood teams and Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) working

Neighbourhood teams will be embedded and operating effectively. Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) have restructured and established a number of 
integrated mental and physical health Neighbourhood Teams, each of which has a 
Neighbourhood Team Manager.  An ‘extended’ Neighbourhood Team will be established 
which includes a range of other organisations that will work with the Neighbourhood Team to 

137



Appendix 5

ensure integrated working.  The benefits of MDT working will be built upon with an 
assumption that this is a way of working that won’t always rely on a set meeting; more a 
team around the person mode where the relevant professionals come together.

Case finding and case management

A clear understanding of the whole system pathway and robust case finding and case 
management techniques will help us to anticipate future need and also to wrap integrated 
services around the patient, preventing them from going into crisis and therefore hospital. 
Joint Care and Support Plans will be developed on a multi-disciplinary basis.  In each 
Neighbourhood Team area, work would be undertaken to ensure that there is a shared 
understanding about the profile of that population and where additional support and 
intervention is most likely to have benefit.

Working with Care Homes

Although our focus is on supporting people to live independently we recognise that 
residential care is the most appropriate choice for people that need it. We will continue to 
support care homes to ensure that their residents continue to receive high quality support 
that is focused on preventing their needs from escalating. We will continue to invest in 
training for care homes. We will expand older people’s Crisis Resolution and Home 
Treatment with new resources to support people with dementia and complex needs in care 
homes.

Working with housing providers

Supporting people to live independently requires that they have access to homes that are 
appropriate to their needs. We will work together with housing agencies to co-ordinate 
health, housing and social care to ensure that people with long-term conditions have access 
to accommodation that they want to live in, that enables them to remain independent within 
their community wherever possible. We will work to explore a range of opportunities linked to 
use of the Disabled Facilities Grant; and support for equipment and adaptations that enable 
people to remain at home for longer. People will also have early access to advice on the 
housing options available to them, to ensure that they can make choices and plan for their 
future.

Enablers – support for delivery

These arrangements will be supported by the following more general ‘enablers’. These are 
activities that will have an impact on success across the whole system, including things such 
as better use of technology, better use of our assets, having a well-skilled workforce, and 
better relationships with communities and the voluntary sector. We will focus on:

Joint outcomes

The Outcomes Framework was developed as part of the Older People and Adult Community 
Services (OPACS) procurement process, with input from a wide range of stakeholders and a 
review of scientific evidence. The Framework contains a number of agreed outcomes for 
measuring quality of care. Each outcome and metric was tested against a range of criteria to 
ensure that they would add value; and be feasible to implement. The framework is already 
being used in reporting on delivery of integrated services locally; and we will maintain the 
benefits of an integrated, outcomes-based model. We will look to include relevant outcomes 
framework measures in 2017-19 NHS contracts (and other contracts where relevant), joint 
programmes of work across the health and social care system including the Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan (STP) and BCF plans.

138



Appendix 5

Information and data sharing

Provision of the best quality and most appropriate services to adults in need of help and 
support can only be delivered if agencies have access to the correct information about 
service users’ individual circumstances. We will work to ensure that practitioners have the 
data that they need to make the best possible decisions about people’s care; to develop 
preventative strategies, and to ensure that patients do not have to tell their story to all of the 
different agencies involved in delivery of their care and support. We will work to ensure that 
professionals in one organisation can access information that is held by others – with 
appropriate consent in place.

A common language

We will establish a common language, using the methods described previously, that will give 
us the assurance we are able to work effectively and efficiently as a whole system, this will 
ensure that our well defined pathways can be navigated by any provider or user of the 
system. 

Workforce development

Greater integration means new ways of thinking, behaving and working across the whole 
system; and everyone working in all of our organisations will need to think differently about 
their role, with a clear expectation about how practice by all professionals will change to 
support a multi-disciplinary approach. Staff will need to develop new skills and work across 
traditional boundaries. Common approaches to training and development, as well as a 
common language across services, will be needed to achieve the full benefits of integration.

Property co-location

Where possible, we want staff from across the system to be co-located or able to share 
working space in a variety of settings.  As partner organisations move towards more mobile 
working and reduced office space, there will need to be a better join up in relation to 
planning use of estates to achieve vertical or functional integration. In addition it will be 
important to make use of existing assets such as libraries and other community buildings to 
act as a point of information and advice.  We will use technology to help us work more 
closely where we cannot be co-located and for such services as the Single Point of Access 
(SPA) this will be essential.

Joint commissioning of the voluntary and community sector

Service transformation approaches across both health and social care are increasingly 
focused on early help and linking people into services commissioned through the voluntary 
sector. Co-ordinating support for people who do not yet meet the threshold for statutory 
services or formal interventions will be key to reducing admissions. Many of these services 
and interventions are provided by Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) organisations. 
VCS provision is therefore becoming increasingly valuable and all commissioners are 
looking to work more closely with the VCS. Joint commissioning could allow greater 
coordination of such services, which have benefits across the health and wellbeing system.

139



Appendix 5

Appendix 2 - Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Demographics

Cambridgeshire Demographics

Cambridgeshire was the fastest growing county authority between 2001 and 2011 and is 
expected to continue to grow. The estimated population in 2014 was 639,800 with 17.7% of 
the population (113,500 people) aged 65 and over, which is the same as the England 
average1. The population is more ethnically diverse in Cambridge, with just 66% white: 
British compared with 87-90% elsewhere. The population of Cambridgeshire is forecast to 
grow by 23% between 2016 and 2036, an additional 147,700 people; the areas forecast to 
see the biggest growth are South Cambridgeshire (34%) and East Cambridgeshire (29%). 
Cambridgeshire’s population is also ageing: the population aged 65+ in Cambridgeshire is 
expected to increase by 64% between 2016 and 2036, an additional 76,300 people; the area 
forecast to see the biggest increase in people aged 65+ is Huntingdonshire (67%).

Cambridgeshire is a relatively affluent county, but significant pockets of deprivation exist 
across the area, most notably in Fenland, north Huntingdon and north of Cambridge City. 
Life expectancy for both males and females is significantly higher in Cambridgeshire when 
compared to England. However, life expectancy is 6.8 years lower for men and 5.0 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Cambridgeshire than in the least deprived 
areas. 

For the adult population, 9.8% of people reported two or more longstanding illnesses which 
equates to over 39,000 people in Cambridgeshire.  0 people report two or more LTCs, with 
limitation and with mental ill health. 45% of people aged 65 and over with two or more LTCs 
experience limitation. Over 51% of those with multiple (three or more) LTCs experience 
limitation. 

By 2026 the number of people aged over 90 years is forecast to more than double, with the 
number of people in their 80s rising by more than 50%. Over this time it is expected that the 
number of older people with depression will increase by 12% and the number with dementia 
will increase by 64%. Increases of this size over a short period will put severe strain on 
existing services

Peterborough Demographics

Peterborough is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK, with predicted population growth 
of 34.9% between the 21 years spanning 2010-2031. The city is ethnically diverse, with 
29.1% of residents not self-identifying as White English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British. 
The next most common ethnicities declared in the 2011 census were Asian/Asian British: 
Pakistani or British Pakistani (6.6%), White Polish (3.1%) and Asian/Asian British: Indian or 
British Indian (2.5%).

Based on 2014 population estimates the population of Peterborough is estimated to be 
190,461, with 17.6% of the population over 65 years of age2.

Peterborough was listed by the 2016 Centres for Cities report ‘Cities Outlook 2016’ as the 
third-fastest growing city in the UK (behind Slough and Milton Keynes) and this presents 

1 http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-
wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
2 http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-
wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html 

140

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html


Appendix 5

unique opportunities and challenges for us as a Unitary Authority, particularly considering 
the number of people over the age of 65 within the city is expected to grow substantially over 
the next few years. The over 65 population in Peterborough is predicted to grow to 31,000 by 
2020, just under half will be over 75, which is an 11% increase since 2015.  Between 2016 
and 2036 the 85+ population is forecasted to double. Such high growth presents both the 
obvious risks associated with increasing service demand but also the opportunity to ensure 
the health of our residents improves through the design and commissioning of appropriate 
services, particularly preventative services, to enable people to stay healthier for longer.

The overall level of economic deprivation is higher for Peterborough Unitary Authority (UA) 
than for that of England overall, with a higher percentage (37.5%) of residents than England 
overall (20.2%) within the most deprived economic quintile. The current priorities of our 
Health & Wellbeing Board (insert footnote to health and wellbeing strategy) remain focused 
on narrowing inequalities and providing the best levels of opportunities in life and care when 
needed to residents ranging from children and young people to our older residents. 

A feature of adult health in Peterborough is a relatively high rate of premature death and 
disability, with life expectancy and healthy life expectancy being below national averages. 
Premature deaths from cardiovascular disease including in particular coronary heart 
disease, and from respiratory disease are higher than average – and these high rates of 
cardiovascular disease are focussed in electoral wards with the highest levels of socio-
economic deprivation. Rates of premature death from cancer and liver disease are similar to 
the national average. Standardised hospital admission rates follow the pattern of premature 
mortality, with high admission rates for cardiovascular disease (and for all causes) from the 
more deprived wards.

There are lifestyle and health behaviour issues with longer term implications for public health 
– adult smoking rates are similar to the national average at 18.6%, however smoking 
attributable hospital admissions and smoking attributable mortality rates are both higher than 
the national average, emergency hospital admissions for COPD are higher than the national 
average, hospital admissions specific to alcohol use are higher than average, and about two 
thirds of adults are overweight or obese (similar to the national average). It is known that 
smoking, excess alcohol and obesity all cause long term medical conditions which require 
treatment and that high prevalence of these behaviours will result in additional demand on 
health and social care services.

Suicide rates in Peterborough are currently similar to the national average, but admissions to 
hospital for mental health causes are higher than average. The predicted increase in the 
number of older people in the population means that the numbers of people with dementia in 
Peterborough, as well as older people suffering from depression is forecast to increase 
significantly over the next ten years, which will increase demand on health and social care 
services. Prevalence estimates were obtained from the Dementia UK Report (Alzheimer’s 
Society, 2007) and applied to the official ONS population estimates, predict the number of 
people with dementia (including early onset) living in Peterborough, is predicted to increase 
from 2,011 in 2015 to 2,274 in 2020 and 2,655 in 2025 – an increase of 32% over the next 
ten years.

Further reading

Peterborough Better Care Fund Plan 2016/17, Case for Change
Cambridgeshire Better Care Fund 2016/17, Case for Change
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

141

http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Cambridgeshire-and-Peterborough-Sustainability-and-Transformation-Plan-October-2016.pdf


Appendix 5

Peterborough JSNA Core Dataset 2016 refresh
Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 
Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012-17
Peterborough Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 
Peterborough Mental Health and Mental Illness of Adults of Working Age JSNA 
Peterborough Cardiovascular Disease JSNA
Cambridgeshire JSNA Summary Report 2016
Peterborough Adult Social Care Market Position Statement 2016
Peterborough Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2017
Cambridgeshire Migrant and Refugee JSNA 

142

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughJSNA-CoreDataset-2016.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/hwb
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/DiverseEthnicCommunitiesJSNA-2016.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/MentalHealthAndMentalIllnessOfAdultsOfWorkingAgeJSNA-March2016.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/CardiovascularDiseaseJSNA-November2015.pdf?inline=true
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/file/3047/download
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/adult-social-care/MarketPositionStatement.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/OPPPJSNAFinal-2017.pdf?inline=true
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/migrant-and-refugee-2016


Appendix 5

Appendix 3 - BCF Expenditure Plans 2016/17

Cambridgeshire

Peterborough:

143



Appendix 5

Appendix 4 - BCF Progress against Performance Metrics 2016/17

144



Appendix 5

Appendix 5 - BCF Progress against Transformation Themes 2016/17

145



Appendix 5

Appendix 6 - Peterborough Better Care Fund Section 75 Annual 
Report 2016/17

Click here to view Appendix 6

Appendix 7 - Better Care Fund Project Plan Detail

Click here to view Appendix 7

Appendix 8 - 8 High Impact Changes Self-Assessments

Click here to view Appendix 8

Appendix 9 - Costed DTOC Plan

Click here to view Appendix 9

Appendix 10 - CAF Risk Register

Click here to view Appendix 10

Appendix 11 – STP Risk Management Approach

Click here to view Appendix 11

Appendix 12 - BCF Risk Register

Click here to view Appendix 12

Appendix 13 - Overview of 2017/19 Funding

Click here to view Appendix 13

146

https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/document/d/17hFNgpP5tC9Mt5bYs2Rs7npylRQiiwgrkwzGMZXq0Gs/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/spreadsheets/d/1mjxbHZZuhqHbbZ51fs43zGzZqX8l10uext9gNCt9pUM/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/spreadsheets/d/163oWPUy9IGijQrylOLQquhNhSZOVCoe8F1eiNdrGs-M/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/spreadsheets/d/1LjklryXr9N_LbTiF30SpvOv0IUDyyBeeoqnqoCjfJ-Y/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/spreadsheets/d/1ll9vZAUuzSW2sLmORxNffzhS_R3fpWnkl2jYtXOw0us/edit?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/file/d/0B2t7oVB8OMxEcTZVU18zYTJqUW8/view?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/spreadsheets/d/1hKucFRJewCJVXm0vVBQAlrmdGTzFpk6MbjklTpiiah0/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/document/d/1ci-B-hzxUFxs91rUZYH2EERHLUSVmdsDdFO2WbIanZQ/edit?usp=sharing


Appendix 5

Appendix 14 – Support and Housing for Vulnerable People Business 
Cases

Click here to view Appendix 14

Appendix 15 - BCF Governance Structure

Appendix 16 - STP Governance Structure

Click here to view Appendix 16

147

https://docs.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/document/d/10pulZrv8CBteunYK3RtHwGV8pLagJoi88ZTzxyhN3a4/edit?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/a/peterborough.gov.uk/file/d/0B2t7oVB8OMxEZUxjSk96YXlxeEk/view?usp=sharing


Appendix 5

 

148



Appendix 5

  

149



This page is intentionally left blank

150



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 6

11 SEPTEMBER 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
Contact Officer(s): Stephen Graves, Chief Executive Officer Tel. 01733 677933

UPDATE ON THE HINCHINGBROOKE HEALTH CARE NHS TRUST AND 
PETERBOROUGH AND STAMFORD HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
MERGER 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. Note the progress with the formation of North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
2. Note those services identified during the merger as fragile and needing support
3. Support the resolution of these services for the local population

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board following their request for an update on the merger.
  

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to brief the Board on
(a) the outcome of the merger and current responsibilities;
(b) key issues identified in the approved business case for the merger in terms of services and 

supporting requirements;
(c) current key operational issues.

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.8.3.3

To keep under review the delivery of the designated public health functions and their contribution 
to improving health and wellbeing and tackling health inequalities.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

151



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Merger Outcome

As the Health and Wellbeing Board will be aware following consultation on the business case to 
merge Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, formal approval was granted and North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust 
was formed on the 1 April 2017.

Due to Hinchingbrooke’s status as an NHS Trust, the merger took the form of an acquisition and 
all staff from Hinchingbrooke were transferred to the new organisation to join those from 
Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals.

The Board of Directors including two of the four non-executive directors from Hinchingbrooke 
Health Care NHS Trust has been formed with monthly public meetings in place.  These rotate 
across the trust’s thee main sites (Hinchingbrooke, Peterborough and Stamford).

Elections to the Council of Governors were held prior to the merger and has membership to 
represent the areas of Huntingdon, Peterborough and Stamford as well as the three sites above.

Corporate service structures were consulted on with affected staff prior to the merger, with these 
structures in place on 1 April 2017.  There are plans to achieve £9m savings from the back office 
functions of which £4m have been achieved to date against a plan of £9m.  Whilst 81 posts have 
been removed, only 14 redundancies have occurred to date.

Consultation and final structures for the clinical services were delayed to ensure that these could 
be safely managed within appropriate timescales rather than happen on the actual merger date.  
Three new clinical divisions came into operation on 3 July 2017 replacing the 2 divisions at 
Hinchingbrooke and the 4 clinical directorates at Peterborough and Stamford.  Appointments 
were made to the Divisional Director, Divisional General Manager and Divisional Head of Nursing 
for each division – Emergency & Medicine; Surgery; Family and Integrated Support Services.  
The consultation for the structures supporting these key appointments commenced on 15 August 
2017. This affects approximately 30 posts although it is worth noting there are more posts 
available than staff members currently part of the consultation as a result of some vacant 
positions being held open..

The importance of strong clinical leadership has also been recognised with Dr Suzanne Hamilton 
appointed as Deputy Medical Director and Mr Mike Lumb appointed to the role of Chief Clinical 
Information Officer – which will help to ensure our IT developments support our clinicians in 
performing their roles in treating patients. In addition, two associate medical directors have been 
appointed – one to oversee clinical effectiveness and the other to focus on Human Factors, which 
is a ground breaking role that will study patient safety and quality improvements. Dr Rege 
(Medical Director) has also asked a number of consultants to expand their existing roles to take 
on responsibility, part-time, as leads for trauma, organ donation, education and medical 
appraisals. Finally, Professor Rupert Bourne, a consultant ophthalmologist at Hinchingbrooke 
Hospital, has been appointed to the new role of Research and Development Director.

These structures are shown in the attached annex 1.

The Trust runs an Implementation Board with representation from NHS Improvement and the 
local CCG to ensure that delivery against the following workstreams continues:
 clinical integration
 organisation integration
 estates
 ICT
 finance

These are addressed below.

152



4.2 Clinical integration

Services are being maintained on the sites as they were prior to the merger; however work is 
being undertaken to ensure that the clinical teams across the Trust work to the same pathways 
and adopt best practice.  In addition clinical leadership arrangements are being enhanced so that 
there will be a single cross-site clinical leadership structure. This will be implemented over the 
autumn. Specific attention is being given to the six priority services that were identified in the Full 
Business Case:

- stroke
- emergency department
- diagnostic imaging
- cardiology
- respiratory medicine
- clinical haematology

Stroke: Agreement has been reached through the STP which confirms Peterborough City 
Hospital’s status as a hyperacute stroke unit. The Trust is now working through options to 
enhance Hinchingbrooke’s stroke rehabilitation services to ensure that they are consistent across 
the Trust catchment and link well with the community early supported discharge service to be 
introduced for stroke patients.

Emergency Department:  Specific operational support is being provided to Hinchingbrooke 
Hospital to ensure improvement in delivery – this is also being reviewed with NHS Improvement 
and the local A&E Delivery Board. In particular, the Trust has introduced the role of Advanced 
Care Practitioners at Hinchingbrooke to support the A&E department since their advanced clinical 
skills have proven to be effective at Peterborough City Hospital. As well as providing local 
services for  well-functioning ED at Hinchingbrooke, this also relieves the pressure on the PCH 
ED.

Diagnostic Imaging: The merger of the two organisations means that plans have been agreed 
for the phased introduction of the same PACS (Picture Archive and Communication System) for  
images across the Trust. This will be rolled out to Peterborough and Stamford in the autumn of 
2017 and to Hinchingbrooke in 2018 – the timescale has been aligned to correspond with the 
replacement of the Patient Administration System at each hospital site. The clinical departments 
have moved under a single management arrangement.

Cardiology:   Services provided to the local population are not the full range of local cardiology 
sub-specialities due to the proximity of Papworth Hospital. However this impacts on the ability to 
recruit cardiologists to provide support to the range of our fragile patients who need specific 
cardiology input as well as non-provision of standard DGH interventional procedures such as 
PCIs.  The move of Papworth to the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS FT site means that 
patients will have to travel even further for treatment and the need to ensure sustainable services 
for the population of Peterborough and South Lincolnshire is becoming more urgent.

Respiratory Medicine: We will review pathways with primary care and the community provider 
to provide more sustainable services for patients in the Peterborough areas with long term 
respiratory conditions e.g. COPD. This will be developed in line with the system-wide 
Sustainability and Transformation Programme strategy. 

Clinical Haematology:   The issue of coverage was resolved by the adoption of a shared rota 
across both sites prior to the final approval of the merger.  An additional consultant appointment 
has been made, which was made possible by creating the opportunity to work for a single, larger, 
organisation.

There is still work to be done to recruit fully to these challenged areas but there is encouraging 
early progress, not just in these areas but in other specialties, such as anaesthesia and critical 
care.

153



4.3 Organisation Integration

As noted above the development of our workforce to support our services and patients is key.  

There is a specific medical recruitment board that has been set up on a short term basis to 
improve and enhance recruitment processes to ensure that staff are attracted to apply and are 
appointed.  In addition a specific focus is being placed on staff grade posts which fall outside the 
standard consultant career path. 

Nurse recruitment and retention is also a key element with focus on attracting nurses as they are 
on their pathway to graduation as well as consideration of overseas recruitment and the 
development of nursing associate posts.

In addition there have been management changes at the Hinchingbrooke site.  However, the 
importance of consistent and accountable leadership on a daily basis is recognised and Site 
Manager Nikki Leighton-Davies has moved from her role as general manager at Peterborough 
City Hospital to manage the daily activity on the Hinchingbrooke site. In addition, the executive 
team base themselves at Hinchingbrooke at least twice a week. 

As well as recruitment, the Trust also needs to ensure that staff are retained and developed.  As 
part of this work the Trust has recently developed and launched a new set of values based on 
work previously undertaken across all three sites which links to a new behavioural framework.  It 
is important that all staff are seen to act consistently, equitably and to high standards with 
patients, the public and each other.  It has been shown by research that staff who are able to 
work well in teams will also work effectively with patients and improve care.  This provision of a 
set of common values is part of the Trust’s overall organisational development plan.

4.4 Estates

It is important to manage the estate infrastructure well, and there have been developments on all 
three sites.

The planned Strategic Estates Partnership at Hinchingbrooke has been paused.  The first stage 
was to sell the staff car park at the front of the site for housing and replace the car parking 
elsewhere.  However a bespoke review on behalf of our regulator NHS Improvement and the 
Trust noted that this was not value for money and the whole site needs to be considered in the 
context of future health and care services prior to proceeding with any initial developments.  

In the meantime we have improved the way we use our current estate by redeploying merged 
teams within corporate services to be based at either at Hinchingbrooke or Peterborough City 
Hospitals.

Whilst not part of the merger, the Stamford Hospital site redevelopment has been completed with 
new clinic, phlebotomy and pain management services together with the new MRI facility.

4.5 ICT

A significant part of the merger is to ensure that all staff have access to common systems across 
the Trust.  This will mean that a clinician working at Hinchingbrooke would be able to see details 
of patients that they had seen on the other sites in the same format and to common standards.  
Initial phases of this work are:
 the adoption of a single email system -  nhs.net - across the Trust
 implementation of a new patient administration system
 adoption at Peterborough of the Symphony system used in the emergency department at 

Hinchingbrooke
 adoption at Hinchingbrooke of the Theatreman system used at Peterborough
 implementation of a single (PACS) radiology system across both sites.

154



This is supported by a 10GB data line, now in place between Peterborough City and 
Hinchingbrooke Hospitals, which is facilitating the secure sharing of information between sites.

This extensive programme of change will take two years to complete.

In time single electronic document management for health records is expected.

4.6 Finance

Whilst these changes are being implemented the Trust also needs to ensure that it continues to 
deliver its financial duties within its control total.  Negotiations with NHS improvement have 
secured some adjustments to the combined control totals of the two predecessor organisations 
to take into account an increasing deficit at Hinchingbrooke, the delay of any benefits from the 
Strategic Estates Partnership and the need to fund the above programmes of work.

However the Trust remains committed to securing the £9m saving benefit of the merger, as well 
as securing the planned £17m cost improvement requirement.

4.7 Other Service Changes

Whilst not related to the merger the Trust has agreed a number of service changes to support the 
provision of services in agreement with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG.  These are 
included for completeness:
 from 1 August 2017 the Trust took responsibility for the management of the pathology 

laboratory at Hinchingbrooke which has previously been part of tPP (the Pathology 
Partnership run by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS FT).  This has included the TUPE 
transfer of 36 staff to the Trust.

 from 4 September the Trust is taking responsibility for the service delivery of dermatology 
service at the City Care Centre, outpatient services at Doddington Hospital, the Princess of 
Wales Hospital in Ely and the radiology services at north Cambridgeshire Hospital in Wisbech.  
These services were previously provided by Cambridgeshire Community Services and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough FT.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 This report provides progress post-merger.  A full consultation was undertaken with the public 
and staff prior to approval.

5.2 In terms of future service changes, if there is the potential to move these between sites this would 
only be undertaken after consultation and is statutorily led by the CCG.  However, service 
improvements would proceed without consultation to ensure that local patients gain increased 
benefit, as has been the case with Haematology.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 This report has been provided for information

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 This report has been provided for information

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 N/A

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

155



9.1 N/A

Legal Implications

9.2 N/A

Equalities Implications

9.3 The Board is asked to note that the full business case was subject to equality impact assessment 
and quality impact assessment processes to ensure that there were no adverse impacts on 
patients or services.

System Transformation Plan Implications

9.4 The Board should note that it is expected that service changes will be managed in line with the 
STP plans to ensure that this aligns with the strategy for health services across Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough.  For the Trust this is complicated by patients being treated from South 
Lincolnshire who are part of the Lincolnshire STP.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 Merger of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust – Full Business Case. - https://www.nwangliaft.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-publications/ 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Annex 1 – structures  

The Executive Team

156

https://www.nwangliaft.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-publications/


The Non-Executive Team

The Council of Governors
Public governors elected in three constituencies:

6 Governors representing Greater Peterborough
Annette Beeton;  Dr Robert Wordsworth; Trish Mason; Michael Simmonds; Nicola Hampshaw;
Michael Greenhalgh

6 Governors representing Huntingdonshire 
Dr Nik Johnson; Dr Jill Challener; Amanda Buckenham; David Marshall; Alan Crouch; Sandy 
Ferrelly

5 Governors representing South Lincolnshire
Christopher Chew; David Bryars; Sue Prior; Duncan Lawson; David Cooke

Staff governors elected by colleagues to represent staff groups at each of our hospitals:
3 Staff Governors at Peterborough City Hospital
Moira Johnston; John Ellington; Asif Mahmood

3 Staff Governors at Hinchingbrooke Hospital
Dr Tarang Majmudar; Lorraine Tosh; Kim Graves

1 Staff Governor at Stamford Hospital
Dr Jennine Ratcliffe

157



Structure for operational divisions

 

158



Annex 2 -  Values/Personal Responsibility Framework

159



160



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 7

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Director of Public Health 
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Diane Lamb

Contact Officer(s): Dr Liz Robin Tel. 01733 
207175

PETERBOROUGH ANNUAL PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 2017

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Public Health 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:
 

1. Discusses and comments on the information outlined in the Annual Public Health Report 
2. Considers any recommendations the Health and Wellbeing Board may want to make to address 

issues outlined in the Report. 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board following a request from the Director 
of Public Health.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this paper is to present the Annual Public Health Report 2017 to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to provide information to the Board about statistics and trends on the health of 
the Peterborough population. 

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.3.4

To consider the recommendations of the Director of Public Health in their Annual Public Health 
Report.

2.3 This report links to the Children  in Care Pledge ‘to help encourage you to be healthy’ 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

161



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Health and Social Care Act (2012) includes a requirement for Directors of Public Health to 
prepare an independent Annual Public Health Report (APHR) on the health of local people. For 
the past two years the focus of the APHR has been to provide very clear and straightforward 
information in pictogram format to explain the major health and wellbeing issues in 
Peterborough to a wide audience.  

This year’s Annual Public Health Report is more technical in nature – but still designed to be 
read and understood by a non-specialist audience. The report is in three sections:
– The first section focuses on the social and environmental factors affecting our health and 

wellbeing, often called the ‘determinants of health’. It includes maps of Peterborough which 
show how both the determinants of health and some key health outcomes vary across the 
area.

– The second section takes a brief look at the main lifestyle behaviours which impact on 
individual health and wellbeing, and how Peterborough compares with similar local 
authority areas. 

– The third section looks at trends in health outcomes and health service use in 
Peterborough – many of which are improving but some of which are cause for concern.  

In summary there are many positive aspects to this Annual Public Health Report 2017.  
Peterborough shows an improving trend for some key health outcomes including infant deaths, 
suicides, and premature deaths from cardiovascular disease, and while life expectancy is still 
worse than the national average it is in the mid-range for local authorities with similar social and 
economic characteristics.
 
But the purpose of the Report is also to identify issues which may have a negative impact on 
local health and wellbeing, and trends in of particular concern. Issues of concern highlighted by 
the data in this report include:

● A higher proportion of neighbourhoods in the lowest 10% nationally for the IMD 
(2015) Education and Training domain. Whilst this is likely to reflect a complex range 
of factors, there is no doubt that poorer educational outcomes are closely associated 
with poorer health outcomes later in life.   

● Rising rates of recorded hospital admission for self harm among young people, 
which is both a national and a local trend and needs further investigation, although 
significant work is already taking place to address and improve services to support 
children and young people’s emotional wellbeing.  

● A higher proportion of adults in Peterborough with an unhealthy weight than both the 
national average and similar local authorities, and a higher than average rate of 
people admitted to hospital with alcohol related health problems. 

● Differences between neighbourhoods within Peterborough in the social and 
economic determinants which affect health. These differences are associated with 
higher hospital admission rates and a higher risk of preventable deaths before age 
75, and more work is needed to most effectively target preventive interventions.  

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The Annual Public Health Report is an independent report, with a focus on providing information 
about the main health issues and trends in Peterborough. Therefore it is not subject to 
consultation. 

162



6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The anticipated outcome of this Report is that the information on key health issues and trends 
provided in the Report will influence relevant decisions made by the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
it’s constituent organisations, and other organisations and community groups with an interest in 
health and wellbeing. 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The Annual Public Health Report gives context for the wider work of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, by providing information on the health issues in Peterborough which local NHS and 
Council services are working to address. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The Director of Public Health has a statutory duty to produce an Annual Public  Health Report, 
therefore it is not a viable option not to produce this Report.  

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 As an independent report on the health of the population there are no immediate resource 
implications from this report. However taking forward any recommendations based on the findings 
of the Report could require reallocation of resources.

Legal Implications

9.2 Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012) the Director of Public Health has a statutory duty to 
produce an annual report on the health of the population and the City Council has a duty to 
publish it

Equalities Implications

9.3 There is information provided in the APHR about health inequalities in Peterborough. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 The sources of information used to prepare the APHR are included in the document itself and 
key websites are referenced. 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Peterborough Annual Public Health Report 2017

163



This page is intentionally left blank

164



www.peterborough.gov.uk

Peterborough
Annual Public Health Report 2017

165



Contents

Introduction ........................................................................................................ 3

Content of the report ........................................................................................ 3

Section 1 
1.0 Mapping the determinants of health and health outcomes .................4

1.1 Education and health ....................................................................................5

1.2 School readiness ............................................................................................6

1.3 GCSE attainment ...........................................................................................7

1.4 Employment and income .............................................................................8

1.5 Housing and health ..................................................................................... 10

1.6  The Index of Multiple Deprivation (2015) ................................................11

1.7 Mapping health outcomes ..........................................................................13

1.8 Emergency hospital admissions ............................................................... 15

1.9 Premature mortality ................................................................................... 16

Section 2  
2.0 Key lifestyle and health behaviours: 

 How do we compare with other areas similar to Peterborough? .............17

2.1 Life expectancy ........................................................................................... 19

Section 3 
3.0 Trend in health outcomes over time .................................................20

3.1 Children and young people’s health ....................................................... 20

3.2  Mental health ...............................................................................................23

3.3 Use of health services ............................................................................... 25

3.4 Mortality ........................................................................................................27

Summary of Key Findings ..............................................................................29

2 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 166



Introduction

Content of the report 

The purpose of this Annual Public Health Report is to 

provide a clear picture of the main health issues and trends 

in Peterborough. 

Sitting behind this report is a wealth of web-based statistics and  

information, which can be accessed through the websites for Public Health 

England’s Outcomes Framework www.phoutcomes.info and Local Health 

www.localhealth.org.uk. 

I would like to thank the local Public Health Intelligence Team for their work 

in extracting and interpreting the key health data for Peterborough, and for 

carrying out some detailed local analyses and mapping.

Dr Liz Robin 

Director of Public Health  

liz.robin@peterborough.gov.uk

This report is in three sections – the first section focusses on the social and environmental factors affecting 

our health and wellbeing, often called the ‘determinants of health’. It includes maps of Peterborough which 

show how both the determinants of health and some key health outcomes vary across the area. 

The second section takes a brief look at the main lifestyle behaviours which impact on individual health and 

wellbeing, and how Peterborough compares with similar local authority areas. 

The third section looks at trends in health outcomes and health service use in Peterborough – many of which 

are improving but some of which are cause for concern. 

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 3167



SECTION 1

Source: Dahlgren and Whitehead 1991 

Figure 1:  
The main 
determinants  
of health

1.0 Mapping the determinants of health and health outcomes

The ‘rainbow’ 

diagram describes 

some of the factors 

which affect our 

health and wellbeing, 

which are called the 

‘determinants’ of 

health.

Map 1: Peterborough Unitary Authority Electoral Ward Boundaries, 2016 - Present

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

4 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 168



1.1 Education and health 

Health is not the same in all parts of Peterborough – there are differences in the 
factors which affect health across the Peterborough area, and there are also 
differences in health outcomes. 

This report will use several maps of Peterborough to show in more detail where the differences are, based  on 

neighbourhoods of about 1,500 people called ‘Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs)’ and neighbourhoods of about 

7,200 people called ‘Middle Super Output Areas (MSOA)’. 

The map on the facing page shows the whole area covered by Peterborough City Council, with the new (2016) 

electoral wards. It may help to refer back to it when you are looking at the health related maps later in this report. 

We know that levels of education are closely related to health. The graph below shows that nationally, for adults 

up to the age of 75, people with no educational qualifications are more than twice as likely to have an illness 

which limits their daily life than people with degree level or similar qualifications.

Figure 2: Standardised limiting illness rates in 2001 at ages 16/74, by education level recorded in 2001

Percent ill

3rd level 5+O’s GCSE Other Qual No Qualifications2+A

30

20

10

0

Note: Vertical bars (I) represent
confidence intervals

Source: Office for National Statistics Longitudinal Study 18

Males

Females

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 5169



1.2 School readiness
The first step to good educational attainment is for children to be ready to start school, so that they are 

prepared for learning and can enjoy lessons. The ‘school readiness’ of pupils is measured in primary schools at 

the end of Reception year.

In Peterborough there are differences in the ‘school readiness’ of children at the end of Reception as shown in the 

map below. It plots outcomes in neighbourhoods of about 1,500 people. Darker areas show where there is a lower 

proportion of children who are ready for school. Fewer children are ready for school in some of more central urban 

areas of Peterborough, but also in some of the rural areas to the North East of the City.

The following electoral wards include LSOAs in the lowest quintile for pupils achieving a good level of development: Eye Thorney and 
Newborough; East, Dogsthorpe, Central, North, Ravensthorpe, Bretton, Fletton and Stanground, Stanground South, Orton Longueville, Orton 
Waterville and Hampton Vale 

Map 2: Percentage of pupils achieving a ‘good level of development’ at end of Early Years 
Foundation Stage in Peterborough by LSOA (2014/15) with 2016 Electoral Ward Boundaries

 79.1% to 100% (23)

 68% to 79% (22)

 61.4% to 67.9% (22)

 52.1% to 61.3% (22)

 29.6% to 52% (23)

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

6 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 170



1.3 GCSE attainment 
The map below shows the proportion of children 

achieving five or more GCSEs at grade A*-C, which is a 

commonly used measure of educational attainment in 

school year 11 (around age 16). 

For this age group, the lower rates of attainment are 

more clearly clustered in some of the urban communities 

in Peterborough, with children in rural areas generally 

doing well.

The following electoral wards include LSOAs in the lowest quintile for pupils achieving at least 5 GCSEs grade A-C: Gunthorpe, Paston and 
Walton, Dogsthorpe, North, Central, East, Bretton, Ravensthorpe, Fletton and Stanground, Fletton and Woodston, Orton Longueville.

Map 3: Percentage of pupils achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs in Peterborough (2015/16) by LSOA with 
2016 Electoral Ward Boundaries

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

 68.2% to 100% (20)

 68% to 79% (22)

 41.2% to 54.1% (21)

 32% to 41.1% (25)

 5.8% to 31.9% (23)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 7171



1.4 Employment and income
We know that employment and income also have a strong influence on health. National research by the Institute 

of Health Equity showed that while there was a difference of around 10 years in overall life expectancy between 

neighbourhoods with the lowest and the highest incomes, the difference in ‘disability free life expectancy’ was 

closer to 20 years. 

This indicates that people who live in neighbourhoods with low average levels of income are likely to experience 

significant illness and disability at an earlier stage in their lives.

When we map neighbourhood income deprivation across Peterborough, it is clear that there are differences in 

between communities, which we would also expect to be associated with differences in health.

Age

85

80

75

70

65

60

55

50

45

Note: Vertical bars (I) represent
confidence intervals

Source: Office for National Statistics
5

Neighbourhood Income Deprivation
(Population Percentiles)

Most deprived Least deprived

Life expectancy            DFLE

Pension age increase 2026-2046

00  05  10  15  20  25  30  35  40  45  50  55  60  65  70  75  80  85  90  95  100

Figure 3: Life expectancy and disability-free life expectancy (DFLE) at birth, persons by 
neighbourhood income level, England 1999-2003 

Age

85

80

75

70

65

60

55

50

45

Note: Vertical bars (I) represent
confidence intervals

Source: Office for National Statistics
5

Neighbourhood Income Deprivation
(Population Percentiles)

Most deprived Least deprived

Life expectancy            DFLE

Pension age increase 2026-2046

00  05  10  15  20  25  30  35  40  45  50  55  60  65  70  75  80  85  90  95  100

8 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 172



The following electoral wards include LSOAs in the highest quintile for income deprivation: Gunthorpe, Paston and Walton, Dogsthorpe, East, 
Central, North, Bretton, Ravensthorpe, West, Orton Longueville, Orton Waterville.

Map 4: Peterborough LSOAs by Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 Income Sub-Domain Score

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

1.4 Employment and income

 3.9  to 8.5  (23)

 8.6  to 13.8  (22)

 13.9  to 20.1  (22)

 20.2  to 27.9  (22)

 28  to 40.8  (23)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 9173



1.5 Housing and health 
Good housing is also important for health, as the 

framework for understanding housing and health 

produced by Public Health England shows.

Recently there has been a rise in homelessness in 

Peterborough with higher than average numbers of 

households being classed as homeless and in priority 

need. This in turn places pressure on the resources 

required to find temporary accommodation for priority 

households, and to provide support for them to reduce 

the negative health impact of insecure housing.

Homes for people of working age

 Source: Local Government Association

Figure 4: Homeless and in priority need – crude rate per 1,000 households

Area Homeless and in Priority Need - Crude Rate per 1,000 Households

2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4

Peterborough 2.1 2.4 2.4

Mean (average) value  
for All English Single-Tier 
Local Authorities

0.8 0.7 0.7

• A healthy home: warm, safe, free from hazards

• A suitable home: suitable to household size, specific needs 
of household members eg, disabled people, and to changing 
needs eg, as they grow up, or age

• A stable, secure home to call your own: without risk of, or 
actual homelessness or other threat eg, domestic abuse

• Healthy communities and neighbourhoods

A framework for understanding

Unhealthy homes increase  
the risk of…

• respiratory illness

• cardiovascular problems

• mental health problems

Overcrowded homes increase  
the risk of…

• mental health problems

• respiratory illness

• tuberculosis

• tobacco harm

Precarious housing and 
homelessness increases the risk of…

• Physical and mental health 
problems

• Alcohol and drug misuse

• Suicide

• Tobacco harm

• Tuberculosis
Underlying health issues can in turn raise the risk of being  

homeless or living in precarious housing

10 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 174



1.6  The Index of multiple deprivation (2015) 
The maps we have presented so far show how the determinants of health vary across Peterborough, but not how 

they compare to the national picture. One way to measure social, economic and environmental factors which affect 

outcomes in communities is known as the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) which was last updated in 2015. 

The IMD (2015) calculates a score for each neighbourhood of about 1500 people (LSOA) across England for a mix of 

factors – and summarises these into ‘domains’ as follows:

IMD (2015) Domains 

• Income

• Employment

• Education, Skills and Training

• Health deprivation and Disability

• Crime

• Barriers to Housing and Services

• Living Environment

More detail of what is included in 

each of these domains is provided in 

Appendix A.

The following electoral wards include LSOAs in the highest quintile for IMD (2015) deprivation score: Gunsthorpe, Paston and Walton, 
Dogsthorpe, East, Central, North, Bretton, Ravensthorpe, West, Orton Longueville and Orton Waterville 

Map 5: Peterborough LSOAs by Index of Multiple Deprivation Score (2015) with 2016 – Present 
Electoral Ward Boundaries

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

 5.4 to 11.5 (23)

 11.5 to 21.7 (24)

 21.7 to 32.6 (22) 

 32.6 to 42.5 (21) 

 42.5 to 58.5 (22)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 11175



1.6  The Index of multiple deprivation (2015) 
Another way of showing the information given on the map above is called a ‘DNA chart’. It brings together the IMD 

(2015) scores for all the neighbourhoods in Peterborough and ranks them against national scores. 

Darker blue bands on the chart are for neighbourhoods with worse outcomes compared to national rates, and 

yellow/red bands reflect neighbourhoods with better outcomes. The national DNA chart would have ten bands of 

equal size (10% each) for each IMD domain. The local DNA chart shows how Peterborough is different from the 

national picture.

For living environment, Peterborough compares well – with a higher proportion of neighbourhoods in the top five 

bands than the national picture. The most challenging domain compared to the national picture is education, 

skills and training, with a high proportion of neighbourhoods in the lowest scoring (dark blue) band. 

The picture for the health domain is quite similar to that for income, employment and education domains and for 

barriers to housing. It is of note that there are no neighbourhoods in Peterborough in the top 20% in England (red 

and orange bands) for the health domain, although there are some areas in these highest ranks for education, 

income and employment. 

This reflects that health and wellbeing is a universal concern across Peterborough, although demand and the need 

for preventive measures will be higher in some communities than others.

Figure 5:  Peterborough City Council:  2015 national deciles for IMD subdomains

Living Environment

Barriers to Housing

Crime

Health

Education

Employment

Income

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Most
deprived

Least
deprived1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

% of LSOAs within decile

Source: Peterborough Public Health Intelligence/Index of Multiple Deprivation, Department for Communities & Local Government (DCLG)

12 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 176



1.7 Mapping health outcomes 
The following outcomes using local health data for Peterborough have been mapped by electoral ward and Middle 

Super Output Area (MSOA) rather than by smaller neighbourhoods (LSOAs). 

This means that the picture is less detailed, and neighbourhoods with poorer outcomes which cross over ward 

boundaries may not be identified. While these maps below show outcomes for electoral wards or MSOAs, one 

recommendation of this report is that further work should be carried to map health outcomes at neighbourhood 

(LSOA) level to help us to target resources. 

Healthy life expectancy

The following maps show Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) for males and female in Peterborough by MSOA.  Healthy 

Life Expectancy measures the average number of years a child born today would expect to live in ‘good health’ based 

on current rates of death and self-reported good health.  

The following electoral wards include MSOAs in the lowest quintile for Healthy Life Expectancy for males: East, Central, Ravensthorpe, North, 
Dogsthorpe, Orton Waterville, Orton Longueville and Gunthorpe.

Map 6: Healthy Life Expectancy at birth for males across Peterborough by MSOA, 2009-13

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

 55.7 to 57.9 (5)

 58 to 59.9 (4)

 63.5 to 64.9 (4) 

 63.4 to 65 (4) 

 65 to 70.6 (5)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 13177



1.7 Mapping health outcomes 

The following electoral wards include MSOAs in the lowest quintile for Healthy Life Expectancy for females: East, Central, Park, Ravensthorpe, 
North, Dogsthorpe, Orton Waterville, Orton Longueville, Gunthorpe and Bretton.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

Map 7: Healthy Life Expectancy at birth for females across Peterborough by MSOA, 2009-13

The maps generally reflect the pattern 

of the wider determinants of health 

across Peterborough, with lower levels 

of healthy life expectancy in urban areas 

with higher levels of deprivation and 

higher healthy life expectancy in rural 

areas.  

The overall difference in healthy life 

expectancy between the most deprived 

and least deprived neighbourhoods in 

Peterborough during the period 2009-

2013 was 14.6 years for men and 13.3 

years for women.

 66 to 71.7 (5)

 63.5 to 65.9 (5)

 60 to 63.4 (4) 

 58.5 to 59.9 (4) 

 57.5 to 58.4 (4)

14 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 178



1.8 Emergency hospital admissions 
The map below shows that, at a given age, 

the risk of being admitted to hospital as an 

emergency is highest among residents of 

Dogsthorpe, Bretton and Central electoral 

wards, and lowest for residents of Barnack, 

Wittering, Glinton and Castor, West, and 

Hargate and Hempsted wards. 

This generally reflects the pattern of the 

wider determinants of health and the 

pattern of healthy life expectancy across 

Peterborough – with areas of higher socio-

economic deprivation also having higher 

rates of hospital admission.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

Map 8: Directly Age standardised emergency hospital admission rate for Peterborough electoral 
wards 2015/16  

 65.9 to 98.5 (5)

 98.6 to 108.1 (5) 

 108.2 to 122.2 (5) 

 122.3 to 130.9 (4) 

 131.0 to 139.1 (3)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 15179



1.9 Premature mortality

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205 

Map 9: Preventable mortality in under 75s, Peterborough electoral wards 2016-present, directly 
age-standardised rate per 100,000, 2013-15

The following map shows that the risk of preventable death under the age of 75 also reflects the pattern of the wider 

determinants of health across Peterborough, with higher risks in urban areas with higher levels of deprivation and 

lower risks in rural areas. 

 167.5 to 224 (5)

 150 to 167.4 (4) 

 135 to 149.9 (4) 

 123.4 to 134.9 (4) 

 95 to 123.3 (5)

16 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 180



2.0 Key lifestyle and health behaviours

How do we compare with other areas similar to Peterborough? 

The first section of this report looked at differences in health between neighbourhoods in Peterborough in some 

detail, and compared them with the national picture.  But it is also useful to compare Peterborough with local 

authorities that have similar social and economic environments. 

The charts below show how Peterborough compares with similar local authority areas for some of the key lifestyle 

factors which are known to affect health and the risk of developing longer term health problems – smoking, 

unhealthy weight and alcohol. As well as comparing similar local authorities, the charts are also colour coded with 

local authorities which are significantly better than the England average coded green. Those similar to the England 

average coded amber and those significantly worse than the national average coded red.

The comparisons indicate that: 

• Peterborough’s smoking rate is similar to the 
national average and in the mid-range for similar 
local authority areas. 

• Peterborough’s rate of alcohol related hospital 
admissions is worse than the national average and in 
the mid to high range for similar local authority areas

• Peterborough’s rate of adults with an unhealthy 
weight is higher than the national average and is 
high compared to similar local authority areas – 
this is likely to increase people’s risk of developing 
health problems such as diabetes in later life.

SECTION 2

Figure 6: Smoking prevalence in adults, Peterborough & Nearest Socio-Economic  
Neighbours, percentage, 2016 

Area Value 95%  
Lower CI

95%  
Upper CI

England 15.5 15.3 15.7

Stockton-on-Tees 12.4 10.2 14.5

Milton Keynes 14.5 12.4 16.6

Swindon 14.9 12.8 17.0

Bedford 15.1 11.1 19.0

Telford and Wrekin 15.6 13.4 17.8

Coventry 16.3 14.2 18.3

Luton 16.3 14.3 18.3

Peterborough 17.6 15.3 19.9

Derby 17.8 15.5 20.2

Bolton 17.9 15.6 20.2

Calderdale 18.7 16.3 21.0

Oldham 18.8 16.5 21.1

Medway 19.0 16.6 21.3

Bury 19.1 16.7 21.4

Rochdale 19.4 17.2 21.5

Thurrock 20.8 18.4 23.3

Compared with benchmark Better Similar Worse  Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 17181



2.0 Key lifestyle and health behaviours

Figure 7: Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions – narrow definition (persons), directly 
age-standardised rate per 100,000, Peterborough & nearest socio-economic neighbours, 2015/16

Area Value 95%  
Lower CI

95%  
Upper CI

England 646.6 644.4 648.8
Medway 545.7 517.1 575.5
Thurrock 555.8 517.1 596.6
Bedford 578.6 541.4 617.6
Bury 587.3 552.2 624.0
Milton Keynes 599.1 566.8 632.8
Rochdale 618.3 584.0 654.1
Calderdale 624.4 590.4 659.9
Oldham 652.3 617.8 688.2
Luton 697.0 657.6 738.0
Peterborough 707.6 668.2 748.6
Bolton 708.7 676.9 741.6
Swindon 721.3 684.3 759.8
Telford and Wrekin 724.8 683.2 768.1
Coventry 767.7 735.7 800.6
Derby 844.0 806.5 882.7
Stockton-on-Tees 853.1 811.5 896.2

Compared with benchmark Better Similar Worse  Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Figure 8: Proportion of the adult population with excess weight, percentage, Peterborough & 
nearest socio-economic neighbours, 2013/15

Area Value 95%  
Lower CI

95%  
Upper CI

England 64.8 64.7 64.9
Calderdale 64.5 62.0 67.1
Luton 64.6 62.0 67.2
Coventry 64.6 62.1 67.2
Bolton 65.1 62.5 67.6
Bury 65.3 64.0 66.6
Medway 65.6 63.1 68.1
Bedford 66.0 63.5 68.5
Derby 66.0 63.5 68.5
Milton Keynes 66.7 64.2 69.2
Oldham 66.8 64.3 69.3
Rochdale 69.7 67.3 72.1
Thurrock 70.3 67.8 72.7
Swindon 70.8 68.3 73.2
Peterborough 70.8 68.3 73.2
Telford and Wrekin 71.1 68.7 73.5
Stockton-on-Tees 72.1 69.7 74.5

Compared with benchmark Better Similar Worse  Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

18 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 182



2.1 Life expectancy
The charts below shows that while life expectancy in Peterborough is significantly lower than the national average, it 

is in the mid-range for similar local authority areas.

Figure 9: Life expectancy at birth (male), Peterborough & nearest socio-economic neighbours, 2013/15

Area Value 95%  
Upper CI

95%  
Upper CI

England 79.5 79.4 79.5
Bedford 79.9 79.3 80.4
Swindon 79.6 79.1 80.0
Milton Keynes 79.1 78.6 79.5
Thurrock 78.9 78.4 79.5
Luton 78.8 78.2 79.3
Peterborough 78.6 78.1 79.1
Calderdale 78.6 78.1 79.0
Medway 78.4 78.0 78.9
Coventry 78.4 78.0 78.8
Telford and Wrekin 78.4 77.8 78.9
Stockton-on-Tees 78.1 77.6 78.6
Bolton 78.1 77.7 78.5
Derby 78.0 77.6 78.5
Bury 78.0 77.5 78.5
Oldham 77.2 76.7 77.7
Rochdale 77.2 76.7 77.7

Compared with benchmark Better Similar Worse  Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Figure 10: Life expectancy at birth (female), Peterborough & nearest socio-economic neighbours, 2013/15

Area Value 95%  
Upper CI

95%  
Upper CI

England 83.1 83.1 83.1
Bedford 83.5 83.1 84.0
Swindon 82.9 82.4 83.3
Milton Keynes 82.8 82.4 83.3
Thurrock 82.7 82.2 83.1
Luton 82.6 82.1 83.1
Peterborough 82.4 81.9 82.9
Calderdale 82.3 81.9 82.7
Medway 82.3 81.8 82.8
Coventry 82.1 81.7 82.6
Telford and Wrekin 82.0 81.5 82.5
Stockton-on-Tees 82.0 81.6 82.4
Bolton 81.7 81.3 82.2
Derby 81.6 81.1 82.0
Bury 81.6 81.2 81.9
Oldham 80.7 80.3 81.2
Rochdale 80.7 80.2 81.1

Compared with benchmark Better Similar Worse  Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 19183



Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Figure 11: Infant Mortality, Peterborough trend 2001-03 / 2013-15, crude rate per 1,000

When we look at the health and wellbeing of Peterborough residents it is important to see which health 

outcomes are improving and which may be getting worse – as this helps to prioritise the health issues we need 

to address locally. 

Because ways of collecting information change we have better information on trends for some health outcomes 

than others – the selection of outcomes given below include those where we have at least four years of information. 

Infant mortality  
The chart below shows that the infant mortality rate for children under the age of one year has fallen over the 12 

years since 2001/3, and is similar to the England average.

3.1 Children and young people’s health 

SECTION 3

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% LowerCI 95% Upper CI

2001 - 03 7.0 5.4 5.1 9.4
2002 - 04 5.6 5.2 4.0 7.7
2003 - 05 6.1 5.1 4.4 8.2
2004 - 06 5.5 5.0 3.9 7.4
2005 - 07 5.9 4.9 4.3 7.8
2006 - 08 5.3 4.8 3.8 7.1
2007 - 09 4.4 4.7 3.1 6.0
2008 - 10 4.3 4.6 3.0 5.9
2009 - 11 4.2 4.4 3.0 5.8
2010 - 12 4.2 4.3 3.0 5.7
2011 - 13 4.4 4.1 3.2 5.9
2012 - 14 4.2 4.0 3.0 5.7
2013 - 15 3.7 3.9 2.6 5.1 Source: Office for National Statistics

Infant mortality

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Section 3: Trend in health outcomes over time 

20 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 184



3.1 Children and young people’s health

Figure 12: National childhood measurement programme – reception age overweight including 
obese, percentage, Peterborough, 2006/07-2015/16

Figure 13: National Childhood Measurement Programme – Year 6 Age Overweight including Obese, 
Peterborough, Percentage, 2006/07-2015/16

Childhood obesity  
Children’s height and weight have been measured in schools in England since 2006/7, due to national concerns 

about the rising trend in childhood obesity. In Peterborough, the proportion of children with an unhealthy weight 

has generally remained stable and similar to the national average, over a seven year period. 

There is still more work to be done to reduce the increase in the number of children with an unhealthy weight 

between reception (4-5 year olds) and year 6 (10-11 year olds).

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% 
LowerCI

95%  
Upper CI

2006 - 07 22.9
2007 - 08 30.5 22.6 28.5 32.5
2008 - 09 23.2 22.8 21.4 25.0
2009 - 10 23.6 23.1 21.9 25.4
2010 - 11 22.0 22.6 20.4 23.8
2011 - 12 23.4 22.6 21.7 25.1
2012 - 13 23.5 22.2 21.9 25.1
2013 - 14 24.5 22.5 23.0 26.1
2014 - 15 21.3 21.9 19.8 22.8
2015 - 16 22.8 22.1 21.3 24.4

Source: NHS Digital, National Child Measurement Programme

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% 
LowerCI

95%  
Upper CI

2006 - 07 31.7
2007 - 08 35.8 32.6 33.4 38.3
2008 - 09 34.2 32.6 32.1 36.4
2009 - 10 33.8 33.4 31.8 36.0
2010 - 11 32.8 33.4 30.7 34.9
2011 - 12 34.1 33.9 32.0 36.2
2012 - 13 34.4 33.3 32.3 36.4
2013 - 14 30.5 33.5 28.6 32.4
2014 - 15 32.2 33.2 30.1 34.3
2015 - 16 34.2 34.2 32.3 36.2

Source: NHS Digital, National Child Measurement Programme

Reception age overweight including obese

Year 6 age overweight including obese

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 21185



Figure 14: Under 18 conceptions, crude rate per 1,000, 1998-2015

Teenage pregnancy 

Another area of concern for Peterborough has been the rate of teenage pregnancy. 

The chart below shows that the rate of teenage pregnancy in Peterborough has halved over seventeen years, but is 

still above the most recent national average.

Under age conceptions

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% LowerCI 95% Upper CI

1998 57.7 46.6 49.7 66.6

1999 51.0 44.8 43.4 59.6

2000 47.4 43.6 40.1 55.7

2001 53.3 42.5 45.5 62.0

2002 54.8 42.8 47.1 63.5

2003 46.8 42.1 39.7 54.7

2004 51.7 41.6 44.3 59.9

2005 54.2 41.4 46.7 62.7

2006 55.1 40.6 47.6 63.6

2007 45.9 41.4 39.0 53.8

2008 48.9 39.7 41.8 56.9

2009 51.3 37.1 43.9 59.5

2010 46.6 34.2 39.7 54.3

2011 36.0 30.7 30.0 42.8

2012 36.0 27.7 30.0 42.8

2013 33.4 24.3 27.7 40.0

2014 30.2 22.8 24.6 36.7

2015 28.3 20.8 22.9 34.6 Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

3.1 Children and young people’s health

22 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 186



3.2  Mental health 
Self-harm  
One trend of both local and national concern is young people’s mental health, and what are thought to be 
increasing rates of self-harm. 

The graph shows that rates of hospital admission for self-harm amongst young people in Peterborough are 
significantly higher than the national average and both the national and local trends are increasing. 

Public Health England does advise caution when interpreting trends on hospital admissions for self-harm, as 

increases can mean better recording of data – but the pattern is of enough concern for it to be investigated further.

Figure 15: Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm, 10-24 year olds, Peterborough, directly 
age-standardised rate per 100,000, 2011/12 – 2015/16

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% LowerCI 95% Upper CI

2011 - 12 485.2 347.4 415.4 563.4

2012 - 13 620.5 346.3 540.3 709.2

2013 - 14 678.6 415.8 594.1 771.8

2014 - 15 611.2 398.8 530.9 700.2

2015 - 16 798.7 430.5 706.7 899.3 Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Hospital Admissions as a result of self-harm

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 23187



Suicide  
Nationally the commonest cause of death among men aged under 50 and women aged under 35 is suicide, 
although the overall number of deaths from suicide is much less than deaths from cancer or heart disease which 
usually occur in middle to old age. 

The graph below shows a positive trend for Peterborough, in that the suicide rate in has fallen in recent years 
through to 2015 and is similar to the national average. 

Figure 16: Suicide rate (persons), directly age-standardised rate per 100,000, Peterborough,  
2001/03 – 2013/15

2
0

0
1-0

3

2
0

0
2

-0
4

2
0

0
3

-0
5

2
0

0
4

-0
6

2
0

0
5

-0
7

2
0

0
6

-0
8

2
0

0
7-0

9

2
0

0
9

-11

2
0

10
-12

2
0

11-13

2
0

12
-14

2
0

13
-15

2
0

0
8

-10

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% Lower CI 95% Upper CI

2001 - 03 14.9 10.3 11.3 19.2

2002 - 04 14.8 10.2 11.1 19.2

2003 - 05 11.3 10.1 8.2 15.2

2004 - 06 11.0 9.8 8.0 14.8

2005 - 07 9.4 9.4 6.8 12.8

2006 - 08 11.5 9.2 8.5 15.1

2007 - 09 11.4 9.3 8.5 15.0

2008 - 10 12.0 9.4 9.0 15.8

2009 - 11 12.0 9.5 8.9 15.6

2010 - 12 13.8 9.5 10.6 17.7

2011 - 13 11.6 9.8 8.7 15.2

2012 - 14 9.8 10.0 7.2 13.0

2013 - 15 8.4 10.1 6.0 11.5
Source: Public Health England

Suicide rate (persons)

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

3.2  Mental health 

24 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 188



3.3 Use of health services
We would expect the number of people needing GP appointments and hospital admissions in Peterborough to 
rise over time, both because the population of Peterborough is growing, and because more people are ageing 
and therefore more likely to need NHS services. But there are some local trends which go beyond what would be 
predicted from simple population growth and ageing. 

Diabetes 

Both nationally and locally, the increase in the percentage of people with diagnosed diabetes is greater than 
would be predicted through simple ageing. 

The graph shows that the percentage of people in Peterborough who have diagnosed diabetes has risen from 5.8% 
in 2010/11 to 6.5% in 2014/15. The actual number of people with diagnosed diabetes rose by about 1,700 over this 
period. The risk of developing diabetes is strongly associated with obesity.  

Figure 17: Recorded Diabetes, Percentage, Peterborough, 2010/11 – 2014/15

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% Lower CI 95% Upper CI

2010 - 11 5.8 5.5 5.7 5.9

2011 - 12 5.9 5.8 5.8 6.1

2012 - 13 6.2 6.0 6.1 6.3

2013 - 14 6.3 6.2 6.2 6.4

2014 - 15 6.5 6.4 6.3 6.6

Source: Information centre for health and social care

Recorded diabetes

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 25189



Emergency admissions to hospital   
Another trend seen in Peterborough through to the end of the 2015/16 financial year was a rise in emergency 
admissions to hospital. 

The rate rose by 8% between the years 2013/14 and 2015/16 (after allowing for population growth and ageing) and 
the actual number of emergency admissions rose by about 2,200 over this period.

Figure 18: Emergency Hospital Admissions, Directly age-standardised rate per 1,000  
Peterborough, 2011-12 / 2015-16

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics

D
A

S
R

 f
or

 e
m

er
ge

nc
y 

ho
sp

it
al

 a
dm

is
si

on
s

P
et

er
bo

ro
ug

h,
 p

er
 1

,0
0

0

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Year

2014-15 2015-16

105.2

107.6

104.4

108.6

112.5

116

114

112

110

108

106

104

102

100

98

96

3.3 Use of health services

26 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 190



3.4 Mortality
Life expectancy  

Overall trends in life expectancy in Peterborough have been positive over the twelve years to 2015, which is the 
latest benchmarked data available at this point. 

Male life expectancy increased by 3.3 years since 2001/03 and female life expectancy by 2.7 years. This is similar 
to national trends in life expectancy, which means that despite the improvements, life expectancy in Peterborough 
remains below the national average.

Figure 19: Life expectancy at birth, males,  
Peterborough, 2001-03 / 2013-15

Figure 20: Life expectancy at birth, females, 
Peterborough, 2001-03 / 2013-15

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% 
LowerCI

95% 
Upper CI

2001 - 03 75.3 76.2 74.7 75.8
2002 - 04 75.9 76.5 75.3 76.4
2003 - 05 76.3 76.8 75.7 76.8
2004 - 06 76.7 77.2 76.2 77.3
2005 - 07 76.5 77.5 75.9 77.0
2006 - 08 77.0 77.8 76.4 77.5
2007 - 09 77.2 78.1 76.7 77.7
2008 - 10 77.6 78.4 77.1 78.2
2009 - 11 77.6 78.8 77.0 78.1
2010 - 12 77.8 79.1 77.3 78.4
2011 - 13 78.0 79.3 77.5 78.5
2012 - 14 78.5 79.4 77.9 79.0
2013 - 15 78.6 79.5 78.1 79.1

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% 
LowerCI

95% 
Upper CI

2001 - 03 79.7 80.7 79.1 80.2
2002 - 04 80.3 80.9 79.8 80.9
2003 - 05 80.4 81.1 79.9 80.9
2004 - 06 80.8 81.5 80.2 81.3
2005 - 07 80.7 81.7 80.2 81.3
2006 - 08 81.2 81.9 80.7 81.7
2007 - 09 81.6 82.1 81.1 82.1
2008 - 10 82.1 82.3 81.6 82.6
2009 - 11 82.4 82.7 81.9 82.9
2010 - 12 82.3 82.9 81.8 82.8
2011 - 13 82.4 83.0 81.9 82.9
2012 - 14 82.3 83.1 81.8 82.8
2013 - 15 82.4 83.1 81.9 82.9

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Life expectancy at birth, females

Life expectancy at birth, males

2
0

0
1-0

3

2
0

0
2

-0
4

2
0

0
3

-0
5

2
0

0
4

-0
6

2
0

0
5

-0
7

2
0

0
6

-0
8

2
0

0
7-0

9

2
0

0
9

-11

2
0

10
-12

2
0

11-13

2
0

12
-14

2
0

13
-15

2
0

0
8

-10

2
0

0
1-0

3

2
0

0
2

-0
4

2
0

0
3

-0
5

2
0

0
4

-0
6

2
0

0
5

-0
7

2
0

0
6

-0
8

2
0

0
7-0

9

2
0

0
9

-11

2
0

10
-12

2
0

11-13

2
0

12
-14

2
0

13
-15

2
0

0
8

-10

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 27191



Cardiovascular disease    
It is notable that rates of death under the age of 75 from cardiovascular disease (heart disease and stroke) in 
Peterborough have decreased by 45% since 2001/03, although because there has been a similar fall nationally, 
Peterborough rates for males and females combined remain worse than the national average.

Figure 21: Under 75 Mortality Rate from all Cardiovascular Diseases (persons), Peterborough 
trend 2001-03 / 2013-15, directly age-standardised rate per 100,000

Recent trend

Year Peterborough England 95% LowerCI 95% Upper CI

2001 - 03 156.9 138.0 143.6 171.0

2002 - 04 142.2 129.5 129.6 155.7

2003 - 05 129.5 120.9 117.6 142.3

2004 - 06 122.3 112.3 110.8 134.7

2005 - 07 121.0 105.1 109.6 133.3

2006 - 08 117.3 99.0 106.2 129.4

2007 - 09 111.3 93.1 100.5 122.9

2008 - 10 106.0 88.6 95.5 117.2

2009 - 11 106.6 84.0 96.2 117.8

2010 - 12 103.3 80.8 93.2 114.3

2011 - 13 97.9 77.8 88.1 108.5

2012 - 14 89.6 75.7 80.4 99.6

2013 - 15 86.3 74.6 77.4 96.0
Source: Public Health England

Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular diseases

2
0

0
1-0

3

2
0

0
2

-0
4

2
0

0
3

-0
5

2
0

0
4

-0
6

2
0

0
5

-0
7

2
0

0
6

-0
8

2
0

0
7-0

9

2
0

0
9

-11

2
0

10
-12

2
0

11-13

2
0

12
-14

2
0

13
-15

2
0

0
8

-10

Peterborough

England

Similar

Better

Not Compared

Worse

3.4 Mortality

28 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 192



Summary of key findings  
In summary there are many positive aspects to this Annual Public Health Report - Peterborough shows an 
improving trend for some key health outcomes including infant deaths, suicides, and premature deaths from 
cardiovascular disease, and while life expectancy is still worse than the national average it is in the mid-range 
for local authorities with similar social and economic characteristics. 

But the purpose of the Report is also to identify issues which may have a negative impact on local health and 
wellbeing, and trends in of particular concern. Issues of concern highlighted by the data in this report include:

• A higher proportion of neighbourhoods in the lowest 10% nationally for the IMD (2015) Education Skills and 
Training domain. Whilst this is likely to reflect a complex range of factors, there is no doubt that poorer 
educational outcomes are closely associated with poorer health outcomes later in life.   

• Rising rates of recorded hospital admission for self-harm among young people, which is both a national and a 
local trend and needs further investigation. 

• A higher proportion of adults in Peterborough with an unhealthy weight than both the national average and 
similar local authorities, and a higher than average rate of people admitted to hospital with alcohol related 
health problems. 

• Differences between neighbourhoods within Peterborough in the social and economic determinants which affect 
health. These differences are associated with higher hospital admission rates and a higher risk of preventable 
deaths before age 75, and more work is needed to most effectively target preventive interventions.  

SUMMARY

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 29193



Appendix A 
Domains and indicators for the updated Index of Multiple Deprivation  IMD (2015) 

• Adults and children in Income Support families

• Adults and children in income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance families

• Adults and children in income-based Employment and Support Allowance 
families 

• Adults and children in Pension Credit (Guarantee) families

• Adults and children in Child Tax Credit and Working Tax credit families not 
already counted**

• Asylum seekers in England in receipt of subsistence support, 
accommodation support or both

Income 
Deprivation

22.5%

• Key Stage 2 attainment average points score 

• Key Stage 4 attainment average points score   

• Secondary school absence

• Staying on in education post 16

• Entry to higher education

• Adults with no or low qualifications aged 25-58/64**

• English language proficiency, aged 25-59/64++ 

Education, 
Skills and 
Training 

Deprivation 

13.5%

• Claimants of Jobseeker’s Allowance (both  
contribution-based and income-based), aged 18-59/64 

• Claimants of Employment and Support Allowance, aged 18-59/64

• Claimants of Incapacity Benefit, aged 18-59/64

• Claimants of Severe Disablement Allowance, aged 18-59/64

• Claimants of Carer’s Allowance, aged 18-59/64++

Employment 
Deprivation 

22.5%

Children and 
young people

Adult skills

30 | Annual Public Health Report 2017 194



Recorded crime rates for:

• Burglary

• Violence

• Theft

• Criminal damage

Crime

9.3%

• Years of potential life lost

• Comparative illness and disability ratio

• Acute morbidity

• Mood and anxiety disorders

Health 
Deprivation  

and Disability 

13.5%

Barriers to 
Housing and 

Services

9.3%

• Road distance to: GP, supermarket or  
convenience store Primary school, Post Office

• Household overcrowding

• Houses affordability**

• Homelessness

Geographical 
Barriers

Wider Barriers

Living 
Environment 
Deprivation

9.3%

• Housing in poor condition**

• Houses without central heating     

• Air quality

• Road traffic accidents

Indoors Living 
Environment

Outdoors Living 
Environment

++ New indicators  ** Modified indicators

(% illustrates the weight of each domain in the Index of Multiple Deprivation)

Annual Public Health Report 2017 | 31195



www.peterborough.gov.uk

196



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 8

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Dr. Liz Robin, Director of Public Health  
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Diane Lamb, Cabinet Member for Public Health 

Contact Officer(s): Katie Johnson, Specialty Registrar in Public Health 01223 699 266

PETERBOROUGH PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Public Health Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1) Delegates authority to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, in discussion with the Director of Public 
Health, for approval of a draft pharmaceutical needs assessment being published for public 
consultation. 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board in light of the statutory requirement 
for the Health and Wellbeing Board to complete a pharmaceutical needs assessment (PNA) every 
three years.   

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to:

(a) Provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with a summary of the statutory requirements 
for the Board to complete a PNA every three years, and current progress of the production 
of the Peterborough PNA 2018. 

(b) Recommend that the Board delegates authority to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, in 
discussion with the Director of Public Health, for approval of a draft PNA report being 
published for public consultation. 

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.3.2

To develop a shared understanding of the needs of the community through developing and 
keeping under review the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and to use this intelligence to refresh 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

197



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Background: 

4.1.1 Since 1 April 2015, every Health and Wellbeing Board in England has had a statutory 
responsibility to publish and keep up to date a statement of the needs for 
pharmaceutical services for the population in its area (the PNA).  In 2015, the 
Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board published a PNA which describes the 
pharmaceutical needs for the population of Peterborough. The full report can be found 
here: https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/pharmaceutical-needs-
assessment/. In order to meet the statutory requirements of publishing a revised PNA 
every three years, a revised PNA is due to be published in the spring of 2018. 

4.1.2 The PNA is used by NHS England when making decisions on applications to open new 
pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractor premises; or applications from current 
pharmaceutical providers to change their existing regulatory requirements.  Of note, 
decisions on whether to open new pharmacies are made by NHS England, not by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. As these decisions may be appealed and challenged via 
the courts, it is important that PNAs comply with regulations and that mechanisms are 
established to keep the PNA up to date.

4.1.3 The PNA also informs decisions by local commissioning bodies including local 
authorities (public health services from community pharmacies), NHS England and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups on which NHS funded services are provided locally and 
where pharmacies may be able to deliver commissioned services (such as Stop 
Smoking and Sexual Health Services).  

4.2 Process: 

4.2.1 Using learning from the development of PNAs in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire in 
previous years, a multi-agency steering group has been set up to oversee the 
production of the Peterborough PNA 2018. The group includes representation from 
Peterborough City Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group, Healthwatch, the Local 
Medical Committee (a corresponding member), the Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
and NHS England.

4.2.2 In order to accurately describe the pharmaceutical needs in Peterborough, information 
from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and public health sources is being 
used to describe pharmaceutical provision throughout the county and local health needs 
that may be addressed through pharmaceutical services. All pharmacies and dispensing 
GP practices in Peterborough have been asked to complete a questionnaire describing 
their service provision.

4.2.3 This information is currently being used to produce a draft PNA report which will be 
published for formal public consultation, a statutory requirement of the legislation. The 
legal team in Peterborough City Council has been engaged to review the report to 
ensure it is compliant with the regulations.

 
4.3 Next steps 

 4.3.1    The draft PNA report will be published for a formal 60 day public consultation from mid-
October to mid-December 2017. Stakeholders and members of the public will be able to 
complete a questionnaire, on paper or on-line, in order to give their views on whether 
they agree with the contents of the draft PNA and whether it addresses issues that they 
consider relevant to the provision of pharmaceutical services. 

 4.3.2     Information from the public consultation will be used to review and amend the draft PNA 
report, and the final report will be brought back to the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
March 2018 for final approval before publication. 

198

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/


5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The draft PNA report will be published for a formal 60 day public consultation from mid-October 
to mid-December 2017 (see section 4.3 for more details). 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The PNA will be used by NHS England when making decisions on applications to open new 
pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractor premises; or applications from current 
pharmaceutical providers to change their existing regulatory requirements. The PNA also 
informs decisions by local commissioning bodies on which NHS funded services are provided 
locally and where pharmacies may be able to deliver commissioned services (such as Stop 
Smoking and Sexual Health Services).  

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 It is recommended that the Board delegates authority to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, in 
discussion with the Director of Public Health, for approval of a draft PNA report being published 
for public consultation. This is so that the statutory public consultation can take place between 
October and December 2017, in order for the findings to be used to produce a final report for 
publication by March 2018. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 An alternative option would be for the draft report to be taken to the December 2017 Health and 
Wellbeing Board meeting. This would not leave enough time for a 60 day consultation and 
production of the final report before March 2018, which is when we are required to publish a 
revised PNA. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 None. 

Legal Implications

9.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory responsibility to publish and keep up to date a 
PNA for its area. The PNA is used by NHS England when making decisions on applications to 
open new pharmacies or make changes to their existing regulatory requirements. Any decisions 
made by NHS England based on the PNA may be appealed and challenged via the courts; it is 
therefore important that PNAs comply with regulations and that mechanisms are established to 
keep the PNA up to date.

The PNA is being produced by a multi-agency steering group on behalf of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, and the specific legislative requirements, as described in the NHS 
(Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013, in relation to 
the development of PNAs were duly considered and adhered to. The PNA report will be 
reviewed by the Peterborough City Council legal team to ensure it is compliant with the 
regulations.

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are no equalities implications. The PNA will describe the number and distribution of 

199



pharmaceutical service providers across Peterborough and identify any gaps. It will also consider 
the opening hours of services and access for people with disabilities. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1  NHS (Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 None. 

200

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made


HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 9

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Aidan Fallon, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Trust
Contact Officer(s): Aidan Fallon Tel. 07970 

195351

NEW GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSFORMATION 
PROGRAMME

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Trust Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note:

1. The proposed changes to STP leadership including the establishment of the STP Board; 
2. That Local authority colleagues are currently considering appropriate elected representation to 

sit on the STP Board; and 
3. That ToRs, the STP Governance Framework and other governance documentation can be 

made available to the Board

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board to brief the Board on the changes to 
the Sustainable Transformation Programmes

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to brief the Health and Wellbeing board on the review of 
Sustainability & Transformation Partnership (STP) leadership, including the proposed 
changes to governance arrangements - the latter to include the current arrangements, 
the proposed arrangements and key differences. 

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.3.3 

To keep under review the delivery of the designated public health functions and their contribution 
to improving health and wellbeing and tackling health inequalities. 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

201



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Attached within presentation at Appendix 1.

5. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

5.1 N/A

Legal Implications

5.2 N/A

Equalities Implications

5.3 N/A

6. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

6.1 N/A

7. APPENDICES

7.1 Appendix 1 - Presentation on the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme

202



Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Peterborough City Council Health & Wellbeing Board

11 September 2017

Sustainability & Transformation Partnership

203

aaq424_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



2

Context

This Health & Wellbeing Board requested a briefing on the review of Sustainability & 

Transformation Partnership (STP) leadership, including the proposed changes to governance

arrangements - the latter to include the current arrangements, the proposed arrangements and 

key differences.

The purpose of this presentation, to be delivered at the 11th September meeting, is to brief the 

Board regarding the above.

204



3

Key

Accountable to

Engages with Provide strategic, clinical or 

financial  input to

Seeks expert input from

Seeks endorsement for 

investment from

Current governance arrangements

Decision-making remains with 

each organisation until / unless 

authority delegated to HCE

205



Establishing an STP Board

• There is universal support from both the NHS partner Chairs and the Health & Care Executive (HCE) for the 

formation of an STP Board which will have Non-Executive Director (NED) membership from across the system as 

well as Local Authority elected representation

• Purpose is to strengthen accountability to and engagement with partner organisations and wider key stakeholders

Individual Boards and

CCG Governing Body x 7

Council Committees x 2
Regional Bipartite Health & Wellbeing Boards (x 2)

Health & Care Executive

Decision-making remains with each organisation until / unless authority 

delegated to HCE

STP BoardSTP Stakeholder Group

4

Proposed changes to governance arrangements

Proposed STP Board and Stakeholder group

206



Establishing an STP Board (Continued)
Membership:

• Chair: Independent Chair

• Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG): Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer

• Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Foundation Trust: Chair and Chief Exectuive

• North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust: Chair and Chief Executive

• Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust: Chair and Chief Executive

• Cambridgeshire Community Services NHS Trust: Chair and Chief Executive

• Papworth Foundation Trust: Chair and Chief Executive

• East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust: Chair and Chief Executive

• Local Authority Representative

• Executive Programme Director

• Care Advisory Group Chair

• Financial Performance & Planning Group Chair

• System Delivery Unit Secretariat

Arrangements:

• It is anticipated that individual partner Boards/Governing Body will ratify establishment of the Board in October 

2017.

• The first meeting of the Board will take place on 14th September in order to consider key documentation, including 

the Terms of Reference and revised STP Governance Framework, as well as clarify the respective responsibilities 

of the STP Board and the HCE.

• Meetings will then take place on a bimonthly basis.

• A process is underway to appoint an Independent Chair. The post holder is expected to be in post by the November 

meeting.
5

Proposed changes to governance arrangements

207



Establishing an STP Board (Continued)

Broadly, it is anticipated that the HCE will be operationally focused while the STP Board will be responsible for 

setting medium and long term STP strategy; as follows:

6

Area STP Board

Strategic decision making • Responsible for medium and long term STP strategy, including ensuring the system has in place a process for working 

towards Accountable Care

Operational delivery • Holds to account HCE for delivery of the STP, ensuring accountability and reporting arrangements are in place

Governance • Ensures adherence to collective governance arrangements

Risk management • Reviews/ addresses strategic programme risks

Engagement • Ensures there is a process in place to understand how the system manages the expectations of service users and the 

general public and members of the STP Stakeholder Group

Accountability • Receives brief update from the HCE regarding STP delivery. Chair attends Bipartite meetings.

Establishing an STP Stakeholder Group

• Detail to be considered by the STP Board, once established.

• Partner views being sought regarding membership and purpose

Proposed changes to governance arrangements

208



Proposed reconfiguration of Area Executive Partnerships and Local Health Partnerships

• The HCE and the Cambridgeshire Public Services Board has proposed that, in Cambridgeshire, Area Executive 

Partnerships will merge with Local Health Partnerships to form three Area Delivery ‘Living Well’ Partnerships 

(ADP) to ensure local delivery and re-design of health & living well services in local communities.

• Proposal being led by District Council colleagues and is currently being considered across the system.

• Arrangements in Peterborough to continue as currently configured.

7

Proposed changes to governance arrangements

209



STP Executive Leadership

• Tracy Dowling, the current Accountable Officer for the STP, will continue in the role for the medium term.

• Catherine Pollard has been appointed as Executive Programme Director and will replace Scott Haldane who will 

resume his full-time responsibilities as Finance Director at CPFT.

8

210



9

Conclusion

• The Board is asked to note:

• The proposed changes to STP leadership including the establishment of the STP Board; 

• That Local authority colleagues are currently considering appropriate elected representation to sit on the STP 

Board; and

• That ToRs, the STP Governance Framework and other governance documentation can be made available to 

the Board.

211



T
his page is intentionally left blank

212



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 10

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Dr Liz Robin 
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Diane Lamb, Cabinet Member for Public Health

Contact Officer(s): Ryan O’Neill, Advanced Public Health Analyst Tel: 01733 
207179

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT  CORE DATASET 2017

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Public Health Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. Note the content of the updated Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Core Dataset 
2017. 

2. Approve the publication of the Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Core Dataset 
2017 on the Peterborough City Council website. 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report has been submitted by the Director of Public Health. 

2.

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with the most recently 
updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Core Dataset, which is used across local 
organisations for service planning. 

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.3.2 

To develop a shared understanding of the needs of the community through developing and 
keeping under review the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and to use this intelligence to refresh 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

2.3 This report links to the following commitments in the Children in Care Pledge:
 help encourage you to be healthy 
 make sure you have health checks 
 make sure your Carer supports you to attend health checks 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

213



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) for Peterborough, as outlined within the Health & Social Care Act 2012. The 
JSNA is used to inform the Peterborough Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and other service 
strategies as appropriate. 

The JSNA Core Dataset is updated every year and includes: 
● analysis of key demographic and health statistics, including relative deprivation 

and socio-economic factors that contribute to healthcare outcomes
● Utilisation of service data, focusing on hospital and adult social care activity
● Brief summaries of themed JSNA products produced between 2015-2017, 

including:
- Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015
- Children & Young People JSNA 2015
- Cardiovascular Disease JSNA 2015
- Mental Health & Mental Illness in Adults of Working Age JSNA 2016
- Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 2016
- Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2016

The JSNA Core Datasets for Peterborough and for Cambridgeshire are separate reports, but this 
year are being brought into closer alignment, to enable organisations such as the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, which have responsibilities across both Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough to cross reference them more easily. 

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The basic dataset provides routine statistics which are often locally or nationally benchmarked. 
Most of the themed JSNAs, which are briefly summarised in the Core Dataset have involved 
consultation with relevant stakeholders.   

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The 2017 JSNA Core Dataset should be used to influence, inform and guide commissioning of 
health, wellbeing and social care services within Peterborough Local Authority and 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group and be used as a primary 
source of up to date epidemiological data for Peterborough.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 a) The composition and publication of JSNA is a statutory requirement for Health & Wellbeing 
Boards as outlined within the Health & Social Care Act 2012. 
b) The 2017 JSNA Core Dataset serves as a contemporaneous source of demographic, 
healthcare and service use data that should be used to influence, inform and guide 
commissioning of appropriate services by staff within Peterborough City Council and 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure that decisions are 
made based on the most contemporary data available.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The JSNA Core Dataset could be updated on a three yearly basis, in line with the three yearly 
refreshes of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This option would make the JSNA Core Dataset 
less useful to service managers and planners within the organisations concerned – as most of 
the data within it is updated at a national or local level, either annually or more frequently – so  it 
would rapidly become out of date without this annual refresh. 

214



9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 None 

Legal Implications

9.2 None 

Equalities Implications

9.3 The JSNA Core Dataset provides information on health inequalities in Peterborough. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 References and sources are provided within the JSNA Core Dataset report. 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Core Dataset 2017 

215



This page is intentionally left blank

216



Appendix 1

       

Peterborough Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment Core 

Dataset

August 2017

217



2

Contents

1. Introduction & Purpose ..............................................................................................................3

2. Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................4

3. Key Population & Health Statistics in Peterborough ..................................................................6

4. Geography & Demography .........................................................................................................7

5. Relative Deprivation & Wider Determinants of Health ............................................................14

6. Lifestyle, Risk Factors and Health and Wellbeing .....................................................................18

6.1 Smoking ..................................................................................................................................18

6.2 Alcohol ....................................................................................................................................24

6.3 Drug Use .................................................................................................................................26

6.4 Sexual Health ..........................................................................................................................27

6.5 Physical Activity ......................................................................................................................28

6.6 Transport and Health..............................................................................................................30

6.7 Diet and Healthy Weight ........................................................................................................32

7. Levels of Illness and Health and Social Care Services ...............................................................33

7.1 Long Term Conditions Prevalence ..........................................................................................33

7.2 Mental Health & Disability......................................................................................................34

7.3 NHS Hospital Services .............................................................................................................37

7.4 Adult Social Care.....................................................................................................................40

8. Overall Population Health & Causes of Mortality.....................................................................42

9. Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Summary Topic Review ...................47

9.1 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015 ...............................................................................47

9.2 Children & Young People JSNA 2015 ......................................................................................48

9.3 Cardiovascular Disease JSNA 2015 .........................................................................................48

9.4 Mental Health & Mental Illness in Adults of Working Age JSNA 2016 ...................................49

9.5 Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 2016 .................................................................................49

9.6 Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2017.......................................................................50

10. Sources of Further Information about the Health & Wellbeing of Peterborough’s 
Population ........................................................................................................................................51

218



3

1. Introduction & Purpose

This document summarises data that comprises the Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) Core Dataset 2017, as undertaken by Public Health Intelligence at Peterborough City Council 
in conjunction with other key stakeholders across the local healthcare and adult social care systems.

JSNA is the means by which Local Authorities (LAs) and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) assess 
and describe the future health, care and wellbeing needs of the local population and identify the 
strategic direction of service delivery to meet those needs. 

The aim of a JSNA is to:

 Provide analysis of data to show the health and wellbeing status of local communities
 Define where inequalities exist
 Provide information on local community views and evidence of effectiveness of existing 

interventions which will help to shape future plans for services
 Highlight key findings based on the information and evidence collected

JSNAs analyse the health needs of populations to inform and guide commissioning of health, well-
being and social care services within local authority areas. The JSNA process, as outlined in the 
diagram below, helps identify current and future health and wellbeing needs, leading to agreed 
commissioning priorities to improve overall healthcare outcomes and reduce health inequalities. 

Figure 1: The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Process 

Source: Peterborough City Council Public Health

This JSNA core dataset summarises key information relating to the population of Peterborough and 
the healthcare service needs and outcomes of its residents, including data relating to demographics, 
wider socio-economic determinants of health, disease/illness prevalence and associated risk factors 
and health and social care utilisation. This document forms a companion piece to the 2017 
Peterborough JSNA Summary document, which provides more detailed information on themed 
JSNAs commissioned by the Peterborough Health & Wellbeing Board since 2014, including:

 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015
 Children & Young People JSNA 2015
 Cardiovascular Disease JSNA 2015

219



4

 Mental Health & Mental Illness in Adults of Working Age JSNA 2016
 Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 2016
 Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2017

A summary of key findings from the projects is contained within section 9 of this report, beginning 
on page 47.

2. Executive Summary

Demography

 Peterborough is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK, with an ethnically diverse, relatively 
young population. Peterborough is also one of the more deprived areas in the East of England 
and this contributes to a number of adverse healthcare outcomes in the area. 

 Deprivation and healthcare outcomes vary substantially between different areas of 
Peterborough, with poor healthcare outcomes observed in Peterborough's urban, relatively 
deprived central areas and better outcomes seen in the rural, outer areas of the city.

 The population of Peterborough increased by 1.6%, from 193,530 to 196,640, between 2014 and 
2015, an increase of 3,110 residents. By 2036, the population is estimated to increase to 240,830 
residents, which would represent an increase of 24.4% from the 2014 population figure. Future 
population growth is expected to be highest in the new Great Haddon development and existing 
areas such as Hargate and Hempsted, Gunthorpe and Central

 The Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) population in Peterborough varies significantly between 
electoral wards, comprising 2.3% of the total population of Barnack but 58.2% of Central at the 
time of the 2011 census. Deprivation tends to be higher in areas of Peterborough with higher 
BME populations. Peterborough has experienced substantial migration from countries that 
joined the European Union as part of its 2004 enlargement, such as Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania & 
Poland - the 2015 school census shows that 35.1% of pupils in Peterborough speak a primary 
language other than English at home

Life Expectancy & Mortality

 Life expectancy at birth in Peterborough is 78.6 years for males and 82.4 years for females; both 
of these indicators are statistically significantly worse than the England averages of 80.3 years 
for males and 83.7 years for females. Healthy life expectancy is below that of England for both 
males (61.8 years compared to 63.4 years) and females (62.4 years compared to 65.5 years)

 Under 75 mortality rates in Peterborough are statistically significantly worse for both males and 
females. Circulatory diseases are estimated to contribute towards approximately 33.6% of the 
life expectancy gap between Peterborough and England for males and 53.9% for females. If 
Peterborough had the same mortality rates as England for circulatory diseases, local life 
expectancy would increase 0.45 years for males and 0.43 years for females

 Peterborough has statistically significantly higher rates of  mortality for both all ages and under 
75s only than neighbouring Cambridgeshire for all causes and a number of specific causes 
including circulatory diseases, cancer and respiratory diseases.

220



5

Mental Health

 Many of the recognised risk factors for poor mental health are found at a higher rate in 
Peterborough than in England, including higher rates of socio-economic deprivation, numbers of 
children in care, incidents of violent crime, the rate of homelessness and prevalence of 
substance abuse. Prevalence of conditions such as depression and anxiety as well as long-term 
mental health conditions have risen in recent years in Peterborough, in line with increases 
observed across England. However, suicide rates in Peterborough have fallen consistently over 
the most recent three year periods for which data is available, and are similar to the national 
average.

Lifestyle risk factors

 Smoking prevalence has fallen relatively consistently in Peterborough over the past few years 
and in 2016 is 17.6% compared to 15.5% in England, which is a statistically similar rate. However, 
Peterborough has statistically significantly high rates of smoking-attributable hospital admissions 
and it is estimated that between 2013 and 2015, over 4,000 years of life were lost among 
Peterborough residents as a result of mortality from smoking related illnesses

 Rates of alcohol-specific mortality in Peterborough are similar to those of England, but rates of 
admission to hospital as a result of alcohol-specific conditions are statistically significantly worse 
than England and among the worst among Peterborough's nearest socio-economic neighbours

 The percentage of children with an unhealthy weight has remained similar to the national 
average, but the percentage of adults with an unhealthy weight is significantly higher than the 
national average at 70.8% compared to 64.8%.

Utilisation of services

 The directly age-standardised rate of inpatient hospital admissions in Peterborough has fallen 
marginally in recent years and is now similar to that of neighbouring Cambridgeshire. However, 
emergency admission rates in Peterborough for all ages, under 75s only and over 75s only have 
been statistically significantly higher (worse) than Cambridgeshire for each of the five 
consecutive years 2011/12 - 2015/16. By contrast, elective admission rates in Peterborough for 
all ages, under 75s only and over 75s only are statistically significantly lower (better) than 
Cambridgeshire in 2015/16.

 Rates of A&E attendance have risen in each of the four consecutive years 2012/13 - 2015/16 and 
are statistically significantly higher (worse) than Cambridgeshire. Since the opening of 
Peterborough's Minor Illness & Injury Unit in 2013, attendances for minor injuries have 
increased substantially and Peterborough had a greater number of MIU attendances than 
Cambridgeshire in both 2014/15 and 2015/16 despite having a notably smaller overall 
population.

 Peterborough has a statistically significantly lower (better) rate of adults aged 18-64 and 65+ 
having their long-term support needs met by admission to residential and nursing care homes 
than the average of its CIPFA comparator group and England. The rate of delayed transfers of 
care attributable to adult social care is also statistically significantly better than Peterborough's 
CIPFA group and England. However, only 33.4% of Peterborough carers receive direct payments 
which is statistically significantly lower than Peterborough’s CIPFA group and England and has 
decreased from 2014/15

221



6

3. Key Population & Health Statistics in Peterborough

Figure 2: Key Population & Health Statistics in Peterborough

Peterborough East of England England

Indicator

So
ur

ce

Number % Number % Number %

CIPFA 
ranking (1= 

Best, 
16=Worst)

Children (under 16 years) 1 44,400 23% 1,174,000 19% 10,529,100 19% -

Working age (16-64 years) 1 124,200 63% 3,772,200 62% 34,856,100 63% -
Older people (age 65+) 1 28,400 14% 1,184,400 19% 9,882,800 18% -

Population 
estimates

 
 
 Total 1 197,100 100% 6,130,500 100% 55,268,100 100% -

Children (under 16 years) 2 49,200 10.8% - - - - -

Working age (16-64 years 2 139,100 12.0% - - - - -
Older people (age 65+) 2 31,200 9.9% - - - - -Po

pu
la

tio
n

Population 
forecasts                   
% change 
2014 to 

2021
 
 
 

Total 2 219,600 11.4% - - - - -

Male (years) 3 78.6 - 80.3 - 79.5 - 6Life 
Expectancy

 Female (years) 3 82.4 - 83.7 - 83.1 - 6

Male (years) 3 61.8 - 64.8 - 63.4 - 7

LE
 

Healthy Life 
Expectancy

 Female (years) 3 62.4 - 65.5 - 64.1 - 6

All (%) 4 - 17.6 - 14.4 - 15.5 8Smoking
 Routine and manual (%) 4 - 27.9 - 26.6 - 26.5 10

Children aged 4-5 years 
(%) 5 - 22.8 - 20.9 - 22.1 13

Children 10-11 years (%) 5 - 34.2 - 31.7 - 34.2 5

Excess 
weight         

(% 
overweight 
and obese) Adults (%) 6 - 70.8 - 65.6 - 64.8 14

Physical 
Activity Recommended level (%) 7 - 54.7 - 57.8 - 57.0 10

Hospital admissions - male 
(directly age-standardised 

rate per 100,000)
8 939 - 730 - 830 - 12

Alcohol
 Hospital admissions -

female (directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000)

8 491.0 - 483 - 483.0 - 9

Li
fe

st
yl

es

Teenage 
conceptions

Under 18 years (crude rate 
per 1,000) 9 28.3 - 18.8 - 20.8 - 14

Male  (directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000)
10 1,190.3 - 1068.6 - 1,138.0 - -All age all 

cause 
mortality

 
Female  (directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000)
10 890.8 - 797.5 - 838.1 - -

Male  (directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000)
10 457.8 - 365.7 - 410.5 - -M

or
ta

lit
y

Premature 
mortality                     
(under 75 

years)
 

Female  (directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000)
10 293.0 - 245.7 - 267.7 - -

222



7

Sources:

Source 
Number Source Source 

Number Source

1 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS 6 Adult excess weight statistics, 2013-15, Public health 
Outcomes Framework

2 2013 mid-year population forecasts, Research & 
Performance Team, Cambridgeshire County Council 7 Adult physical activity statistics, 2015, Public Health 

Outcomes Framework

3 Life expectancy indicators 2013-15, Public Health 
Outcomes Framework 8 Alcohol admissions statistics, 2015-16, Public Health 

Outcomes Framework

4 Smoking statistics (APS) 2016, Public Health Outcomes 
Framework 9 Teenage conceptions statistics, 2015, Public Health Outcomes 

Framework

5 Childhood excess weight statistics, 2015-16, Public Health 
Outcomes Framework 10 Mortality statistics, 2012-14, NHS Digital 

Peterborough has a higher percentage of residents aged under 16 years (23%) than the East of 
England (19%) and England (19%) and conversely a lower percentage of residents aged 65+ (14% 
compared to 19% in the East of England and 18% in England). The total population of the area is 
forecast to increase 11.4% between 2014 and 2021, reaching 219,600. 

Average life expectancy in Peterborough is statistically significantly low in comparison to England for 
both males and females. Healthy life expectancy - the average number of years a person would 
expect to live in good health is now statistically similar to both the East of England and England.  

Smoking rates in Peterborough are statistically similar to, those of England. 70.8% of Peterborough 
residents have excess weight which is statistically significantly higher than the national average of 
64.8%. 

It is of note that Peterborough is statistically significantly worse than England for directly age-
standardised rate of under 75 mortality (male and female), all age, all-cause mortality (females only), 
teenage conception rate and hospital admissions as a result of alcohol (males only); the East of 
England collectively is statistically significantly better than England for all of these indicators.

4. Geography & Demography

Figure 3: Peterborough Unitary Authority Electoral Ward Boundaries, 2016-Present

© Crown copyright and database rights, 2017, Ordnance Survey 1000023205

223



8

Peterborough is a Unitary Authority in the East of England which, as of 2016, is comprised of 22 
electoral wards (previously 24), as shown within the map above. Peterborough has a densely 
populated urban centre and some rural areas towards its outer boundaries; general health and 
healthcare outcomes vary significantly between different areas of Peterborough.

Peterborough was ranked by the 2017 Centre for Cities report ‘Cities Outlook 2017’ as the fourth-
fasted growing city in the UK, behind only Exeter, Coventry and Cambridge1, and has been one of the 
fastest growing cities in the UK for a number of years. 

Figure 4: Cambridgeshire Research Group Mid-year Population Estimates, Peterborough, 2011-
2015

185,600

187,980

190,490

193,530

196,640

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
180,000
182,000
184,000
186,000
188,000
190,000
192,000
194,000
196,000
198,000

Peterborough Mid-year Population Estimates 2011-2015

Source: Cambridgeshire Research Group

Cambridgeshire Research Group mid-year population estimates show a consistent year-on-year 
increase between 2011 and 2015, with an increase to 196,640 in 2015. 

Figure 5: 2014-15 Estimated Population Growth, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

Population
Area

2014 2015 % Change 14-15
Peterborough 193,530 196,640 1.6%

Cambridge City 130,250 132,130 1.4%
East Cambridgeshire 85,740 86,300 0.7%

Fenland 97,880 99,170 1.3%
Huntingdonshire 174,540 176,050 0.9%

South Cambridgeshire 152,350 154,660 1.5%
Cambridgeshire 640,760 648,310 1.2%

Peterborough & Cambridgeshire 834,290 844,950 1.3%
Source: Cambridgeshire Research Group

Data from the Cambridgeshire Research Group suggests that the population of Peterborough 
increased by 1.6%, from 193,530 to 196,640, between 2014 and 2015. The observed increase is 
3,110 residents. This represents a higher increase in population in percentage terms than 
neighbouring Cambridgeshire, where growth is estimated to be 1.2%. 

1 http://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Cities-Outlook-2017-Web.pdf

224



9

Figure 6: 2014-15 Estimated Population Growth, Peterborough Electoral Wards

Population
Electoral Ward

2014 2015 % Change 14-15 Rank of % Change 14-15
Barnack 3,020 3,090 2.3% 5
Bretton 9,780 9,830 0.5% 21
Central 11,010 11,300 2.6% 3

Dogsthorpe 10,000 10,060 0.6% 20
East 10,210 10,430 2.2% 6

Eye, Thorney and Newborough 8,810 8,870 0.7% 18
Fletton and Stanground 9,480 9,730 2.6% 2
Fletton and Woodston 10,450 10,620 1.6% 12

Glinton and Castor 6,490 6,530 0.6% 19
Gunthorpe 8,640 8,820 2.1% 8

Hampton Vale 6,360 6,510 2.4% 4
Hargate and Hempsted 6,130 6,260 2.1% 7

North 10,550 10,710 1.5% 14
Orton Longueville 11,190 11,350 1.4% 16
Orton Waterville 9,890 10,080 1.9% 9

Park 10,780 10,890 1.0% 17
Paston and Walton 10,920 11,110 1.7% 10

Ravensthorpe 11,080 11,270 1.7% 11
Stanground South 7,870 8,160 3.7% 1

Werrington 11,040 11,210 1.5% 13
West 6,080 6,170 1.5% 15

Wittering 3,770 3,660 -2.9% 22
Total 193,530 196,640 1.6% -

Source: Cambridgeshire Research Group

The table above shows estimated population growth between 2014 and 2015 for electoral wards 
within Peterborough. In percentage terms, population growth was highest in Stanground South, 
Fletton and Stanground and Central and lowest in Wittering, Bretton and Dogsthorpe, with Wittering 
the only area to see a reduction in observed population. 

Figure 7: Cambridgeshire Research Group Population Growth Estimates, 2016 – 2036, 
Peterborough by Age Band

Local 
Authority Year 0-4 5-14 15-24 25-44 45-64 65-74 75-84 Over 85 Total 16-64 18-64 

2016 15,700 27,520 22,700 57,670 45,950 15,560 9,130 3,900 198,130 123,880 119,160
2021 16,300 31,020 24,310 62,770 49,450 17,550 10,360 4,700 216,420 133,810 128,660
2026 17,100 32,120 26,900 65,370 52,450 18,750 13,050 5,800 231,520 141,510 135,340
2031 17,000 32,720 28,200 64,270 54,450 21,250 14,850 7,500 240,220 143,790 137,590

Peterborough 
– Observed 
Population 
Growth 2016-
36 2036 16,200 31,920 27,300 61,470 55,150 22,650 16,050 10,100 240,830 140,750 134,560
Peterborough 

- % Growth 
2016-2036

- 3.2% 16.0% 20.3% 6.6% 20.0% 45.6% 75.8% 159.0% 21.6% 13.6% 12.9%

Source: Cambridgeshire Research Group

Cambridgeshire Research Group population growth estimates suggest overall growth in 
Peterborough between 2016 and 2036 will be 12.9%, from 198,130 to 240,830 residents. Growth is 
anticipated to be highest among older age groups, with predicted increases of 159.0% in over 85s, 
75.8% in the 75-84 age group and 45.6% in residents 65-74.

225



10

Figure 8: Cambridgeshire Research Group Population Growth Estimates, 2016-36, Peterborough 
Electoral Wards

Electoral Ward 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036
Numerical 

Increase 2016-
36

% 
Increase 
2016-36

Rank of 
Numerical 
Increase 
2016-36

Rank of 
% 

Increase 
2016-36

Barnack 3,090 3,230 3,290 3,290 3,270 180 5.8% 16 14
Bretton 9,850 10,340 10,490 10,430 10,330 480 4.9% 14 15
Central 11,540 13,230 14,540 14,580 14,450 2,910 25.2% 4 3

Dogsthorpe 10,020 10,630 10,850 10,750 10,610 590 5.9% 12 13
East 10,570 11,660 11,930 12,170 12,740 2,170 20.5% 5 7

Eye, Thorney and 
Newborough 9,030 9,970 10,430 10,450 10,410 1,380 15.3% 9 9

Fletton and Stanground 9,980 10,740 11,360 11,440 11,480 1,500 15.0% 8 10
Fletton and Woodston 10,580 10,960 11,510 11,470 11,390 810 7.7% 11 12

Glinton and Castor 6,520 6,670 6,770 6,770 6,760 240 3.7% 15 16
Gunthorpe 9,010 10,430 13,310 16,200 16,160 7,150 79.4% 3 2

Hampton Vale 6,580 8,350 8,650 8,440 8,210 1,630 24.8% 7 4
Great Haddon 0 1,760 5,090 9,520 12,770 12,770 - 1 -

Hargate and Hempsted 6,580 11,000 13,990 16,330 15,800 9,220 140.1% 2 1
North 10,730 10,750 10,800 10,680 10,530 -200 -1.9% 19 19

Orton Longueville 11,300 11,200 11,090 10,940 10,760 -540 -4.8% 23 23
Orton Waterville 10,110 10,770 11,330 11,230 10,980 870 8.6% 10 11

Park 10,870 10,770 11,060 10,910 10,710 -160 -1.5% 18 18
Paston and Walton 11,060 10,970 10,890 10,720 10,540 -520 -4.7% 22 22

Ravensthorpe 11,210 11,130 11,760 11,720 11,320 110 1.0% 17 17
Stanground South 8,560 10,770 11,090 10,880 10,660 2,100 24.5% 6 5

Werrington 11,150 11,040 11,070 10,990 10,760 -390 -3.5% 21 21
West 6,140 6,100 6,070 6,020 5,940 -200 -3.3% 19 20

Wittering 3,640 3,960 4,180 4,330 4,230 590 16.2% 12 8

Total 198,120 216,430 231,55
0 240,260 240,810 42,690 21.5% - -

Source: Cambridgeshire Research Group

Population growth in Peterborough between 2016 and 2036 is expected to be highest in numerical 
terms in the Great Haddon development to the south of the area, which has yet to commence but is 
expected to have 12,770 residents by 2036. The population of Hargate and Hempsted is predicted to 
rise by 9,220 residents (140.1%) over this period and in Gunthorpe, the population is predicted to 
increase by 7,150 residents (79.4%). In percentage terms, excluding the Great Haddon development 
which is yet to commence, population increases are forecast to be highest in Hargate and Hempsted, 
Gunthorpe and Central.

The map below shows future planned major development sites within the newly-formed 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority and illustrates the above-referenced 
significant rise in dwelling stock in Peterborough over coming years, particularly in the Great Haddon 
area. The draft Local Plan for Peterborough also includes a housing target of 27,625 by 2036 (an 
increase of 35.9%), an additional 22,024 jobs within the same period and an increase in Gross Value 
Added of £6,452.7 million by 2031, an increase of 35.3%.

226



11

Figure 9: Major Development Sites – Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority

© Crown Copyright and database rights, 2017 Ordnance Survey 100023205

Figure 10: Components of Population Change in Peterborough, 2011-15

Source: Office for National Statistics mid-year components of change

Population change is driven by two main components: natural change (the balance of births and 
deaths) and net migration (the balance of the number of people leaving and arriving in an area). The 
figure above shows that natural change (a greater number of births than deaths) has been the 

227



12

primary component in population change in Peterborough for a number of years, although migration 
has increased substantially as a determinant in 2015, contributing at its highest level since around 
2008. 

Figure 11: Births & Deaths in Peterborough, 2009-2015

Births and deaths in Peterborough, 2009-2015 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Births 2,950 3,080 3,130 3,270 3,210 3,130 3,170

Deaths 1,430 1,380 1,420 1,480 1,450 1,350 1,560

Overall Natural Change 1,520 1,700 1,710 1,790 1,760 1,780 1,610

Source: Office for National Statistics

Office for National Statistics (ONS) data show that the number of births in Peterborough has been 
higher than the number of deaths in each year between 2009 and 2015, although the ‘overall 
natural change’ value – the difference between the number of recorded births and deaths in the 
local authority – is lower in 2015, at 1,610, than it has been in any year since 2009, due to a relative 
decrease in births and increase in deaths. 

Figure 12: Estimated Rate of non-UK Born Population, crude rate per 1,000 of Total Population, 
Peterborough, Cambridgeshire & Cambridgeshire Districts 2010-2014

Source: Office for National Statistics

The estimated crude rate of non-UK born population in Peterborough is second only to Cambridge 
City among areas within the table above in each of the years 2010 – 2014. 206 of every 1,000 
residents in Peterborough in 2014 were born outside of the UK, compared to an estimated 
110/1,000 in the East of England and 142/1,000 in England. 

228



13

Figure 13: Overseas National Insurance Number Registrations in Peterborough, 2010/11 – 2014/15 
(rounded to nearest 10)

National Insurance Number registrations in Peterborough, 2010/11 - 
2014/15 (Rounded to Nearest 10) 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total

European Union EU15 Member States (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, 
Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, 

Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, (group also includes United 
Kingdom))

370 390 500 590 770 2,620

European Union Accession Member States (Czech Republic, Estonia, 
Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia) 3,560 2,920 3,010 2,630 3,400 15,520

Other European 40 20 30 30 30 150
Africa 160 110 70 110 130 580

Asia & Middle East 680 510 360 360 360 2,270
The Americas 30 20 30 40 60 180

Australasia & Oceania 20 20 20 10 20 90
Other 10 10 0 10 10 40
Total 4,860 4,000 4,020 3,790 4,780 21,450

Source: Department for Work & Pensions

The greatest number of national insurance registrations in Peterborough between 2010/11 – 
2014/15 from overseas has been from ‘EU Accession Member States’ – primarily Eastern European 
countries that acceded to European Membership in 2004. Economic migration from these countries 
accounts for 15,520 or 21,450 overseas national insurance registrations over the period 2010/11 – 
2014/15 – 72.4% of the total. Migration from EU15 member states and areas of Asia and the Middle 
East account for 4,890 NINO registrations, 22.8% of the total. 

Peterborough has an ethnically diverse population which brings a richness of cultural experience and 
heritage to the area. The following table indicates the percentage of black and ethnic minority 
residents living in each area and shows some correlation between ethnicity and living in an area 
experiencing higher socio-economic deprivation. 

Figure 14: Percentage of Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) Residents & 2015 Index of Multiple 
Deprivation Scores, Peterborough Electoral Wards

Electoral Ward (Pre-Boundary Change) 2011 % BME (Census Data) IMD 2015

Northborough 2.3 10.1

Barnack 2.7 9.8

Glinton and Wittering 2.8 10.1

Newborough 4.7 17.2

Werrington South 4.9 10.6

Eye and Thorney 5.0 20.8

Stanground Central 6.9 24.0

Orton Waterville 7.2 17.9

Werrington North 7.4 17.4

Walton 8.2 25.9

Stanground East 8.3 25.4

Paston 9.6 36.9

Orton Longueville 10.1 40.5

Fletton and Woodston 11.5 23.5

Bretton North 12.4 39.0

Orton with Hampton 14.0 14.5

229



14

Electoral Ward (Pre-Boundary Change) 2011 % BME (Census Data) IMD 2015

Bretton South 14.8 27.7

Dogsthorpe 18.4 40.7

North 23.0 42.4

East 26.8 37.6

West 29.5 15.3

Ravensthorpe 30.8 42.2

Park 35.8 26.0

Central 58.2 45.8

Peterborough 17.5 27.7

England 14.6 21.8

Source: 2011 Census & 2015 Indices of Multiple Deprivation

Key:

Higher than Peterborough average

Lower than Peterborough average

5. Relative Deprivation & Wider Determinants of Health

Peterborough is one of the more socio-economically deprived areas in the East of England, with an 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 score of 27.7. The IMD assesses relative deprivation in 
relation to a number of ‘domains’, including  income (including income deprivation specifically 
affecting children and older people), employment, educations, skills and training, health and 
disability, crime, housing and services and the living environment. Higher scores represent higher 
levels of relative deprivation and Peterborough’s score of 27.7 is the highest within the East of 
England.

Figure 15: Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Scores 2015, Local Authorities within the East of 
England

Source: Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) within Public Health Outcomes Framework

230



15

Figure 16: Peterborough Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) by IMD 2015 Score with Electoral 
Ward Boundaries

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

The map above shows IMD scores for all Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs – small geographical 
populations of approximately 1,500 residents) in Peterborough and illustrates that deprivation varies 
substantially across the city. Areas towards the urban centre of Peterborough, primarily within 
electoral wards such as Central, North, Dogsthorpe and Ravensthorpe, are among the most deprived 
within the city, whereas rural, outer areas have less deprivation. 

Figure 17: Proportion of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in Peterborough within National 
Deciles by Individual Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 Sub-domains

Source: Peterborough Public Health Intelligence/Index of Multiple Deprivation, Department for Communities & Local Government 
(DCLG)

Peterborough has high percentages of LSOAs within the most deprived national deciles for a number 
of Index of Multiple Deprivation subdomains.

Sir Michael Marmot’s 2010 report ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives2’ suggests that improving population 
health requires focus on reducing inequalities across a number of areas, including educational 
attainment and employment/income. The report estimated that the annual cost of health 
inequalities in the UK is between £36 billion and £40 billion through lost taxes, welfare payments 

2 https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives

231



16

and costs to the NHS. A number of ‘Marmot Indicators’ have subsequently been adopted by Public 
Health England as measures of wider determinants that affect healthcare outcomes. Peterborough’s 
status with regards to some of these key indicators is noted below.

Figure 18: Percentage of pupils achieving a ‘good level of development’ at end of Early Years 
Foundation Stage in Peterborough by LSOA with 2016 – Present Electoral Ward Boundaries, 2016

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

Within the map above, light shading represents LSOAs with high percentages of children achieving a 
‘good level of development’ at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage., considered a key 
measure of early years development across a wide range of developmental areas. Children from 
poorer backgrounds are more at risk of poorer development and evidence shows that differences by 
social background emerge early in life.

Attainment for this indicator is generally higher in the rural, more affluent areas of Peterborough 
such as Barnack, Wittering, Glinton and Castor and is lower towards the centre of Peterborough, 
particularly in relatively deprived areas such as Ravensthorpe, North and Bretton.

Figure 19: Percentage of pupils achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs in Peterborough by LSOA with 2016 – 
Present Electoral Ward Boundaries, 2014/2015

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

232



17

As with early good levels of development at Early Years Foundation Stage, percentages of pupils 
achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs are highest in the rural, affluent areas of outer Peterborough, whereas 
GCSE attainment is lowest towards the centre of Peterborough.

Educational attainment is influenced by both the quality of education children receive and their 
family socio-economic circumstances and is a significant predictor of health, wellbeing and economic 
attainment in later life.

Figure 20: Peterborough LSOAs by Job Seeker’s Allowance Claimant Crude Rate per 10,000, 
November 2016

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017, Ordnance Survey 100023205

Correlation is noteworthy between low rates of GCSE attainment and high rates of claimants of job 
seeker’s allowance in many electorate wards, as shown within the above map. 

Figure 21: Peterborough Selected Wider Determinants of Health Indicators

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Value

England 
Value Peterborough Status

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 16=Worst)

Employment rate, 16-64 year olds, % 2015/16 75.2 73.9 Statistically similar to 
England 4

Unemployment rate, 16+, % 2015 5.3 5.1 Statistically similar to 
England 5

Economic inactivity rate, 16-64 year 
olds, % 2015/16 20.9 22.0 Statistically similar to 

England 6

Children in low income families (all 
dependent children under 20), % 2014 23.1 19.9 Statistically significantly 

worse than England 10

Children in low income families 
(under 16s), % 2014 23.1 20.1 Statistically significantly 

worse than England 8

Violent crime: rate of hospital 
admissions for violence, directly age-

standardised rate per 100,000

2013/14-
2015/16 70.3 44.8 Statistically significantly 

worse than England 14

Violent crime: rate of violent 
offences, crude rate per 1,000 2015/16 21.2 17.2

Higher than England 
(statistical significance 

not calculated)
9

Violent crime: rate of sexual 
offences, crude rate per 1,000 2015/16 2.0 1.7

Higher than England 
(statistical significance 

not calculated)
10

First time offenders , crude rate per 
100,000 2016 357.8 218.4

Higher than England 
(statistical significance 

not calculated)
16

First time entrants to the youth 
justice system, 10-17 years, crude 

rate per 100,000
2016 320.2 327.1 Statistically similar to 

England 9

233



18

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Value

England 
Value Peterborough Status

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 16=Worst)
Statutory homelessness: households 
in temporary accommodation, crude 

rate per 1,000
2015/16 2 3 Statistically significantly 

better than England 12

Statutory homelessness: eligible 
homeless people not in priority need, 

crude rate per 1,000
2015/16 2.4 0.9 Statistically significantly 

worse than England 13

Children providing unpaid care, 0-15 
year olds, % 2011 1.0 1.1 Statistically significantly 

better than England 2

Young people providing unpaid care, 
16-24 year olds, % 2011 5.2 4.8 Statistically significantly 

worse than England 10

Unpaid carers, % 2011 2.4 2.4 Statistically similar to 
England 6

Social isolation: adult social care 
users who have as much social 
contact as they would like, %

2015/16 41.8 45.4 Statistically similar to 
England 14

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’

It is important to note that as with many nationally benchmarked indicators, the data can be quite 
out of date. For example the data on unpaid care is from the 2011 census, and data on children living 
in poverty is from 2014. Other indicators are from 2015/16 or 2016 due to the time taken to collect 
and quality assure data from all local authority areas and then benchmark variation between 
authorities for statistical significance. However the data help to give a general picture of 
Peterborough’s comparative position on the determinants of health.  

6. Lifestyle, Risk Factors and Health and Wellbeing

A number of key lifestyle risk factors influence overall levels of health and healthcare outcomes. The 
analysis below focuses on smoking, alcohol, sexual health, physical activity and active travel, long 
term condition prevalence and mental health and disability within Peterborough.

6.1 Smoking

Figure 22: Smoking prevalence in adults – current smokers, Peterborough Trend, 2012 - 2016

Source: Local tobacco control profiles, Public Health England 

Smoking prevalence in adults has been falling relatively consistently both in Peterborough and 
nationally between 2012 and 2016 and Peterborough is currently statistically similar to England for 
numbers of adults who are current smokers. Applied to the estimated Peterborough population in 
2016 of 198,120, this represents an estimated 34,869 smokers within the area. The population of 

234



19

Peterborough is anticipated to increase to 240,810 by 2036, which, without further reduction in 
smoking prevalence, would equate to 42,383 smokers – an increase of 7,514.

Figure 23: Smoking prevalence in adults – current smokers, Peterborough & Nearest Socio-
Economic Neighbours- 2016

 Source: Local tobacco control profiles, Public Health England 

Peterborough has the 9th highest smoking prevalence within its Chartered Institute of Finance & 
Public Accountancy (CIPFA) group of nearest socio-economic neighbours (a total of sixteen local 
authorities including Peterborough) and is one of 8 local authorities within this group to have 
statistically similar prevalence to that of England.

Figure 24: Smoking prevalence in adults – current smokers who work in routine & manual 
occupations, Peterborough Trend, 2012 - 2016

Source: Local tobacco control profiles, Public Health England 

Smoking prevalence is higher among routine & manual workers than the overall population for both 
Peterborough and England. The Peterborough prevalence value of 27.9% for 2016 is statistically 
similar, to England.

235



20

Figure 25: Smoking prevalence in adults – current smokers who work in routine & manual 
occupations, Peterborough & Nearest Socio-Economic Neighbours 2016

Source: Local tobacco control profiles, Public Health England 

Peterborough is one of 11 local authorities within its group of nearest socio-economic neighbours to 
be statistically similar to England for smoking prevalence in routine and manual workers. 

Figure 26: Smoking attributable hospital admissions, Peterborough trend 2009/10 – 2015/16, 
directly age-standardised rate per 100,000

Source: Local Tobacco Control Profiles, Public Health England 

The directly age-standardised rate of smoking attributable hospital admissions in Peterborough has 
been statistically significantly worse than England for six consecutive years. This is likely to reflect 
historical smoking rates in the area as well as current trends. 

236



21

Figure 27: Potential years of life lost due to smoking related illness, Peterborough 2013-15, directly 
age-standardised rate per 100,000

Source: Local Tobacco Control Profiles, Public Health England 

Data show that the directly age-standardised rate of potential years of life lost due to smoking 
related illness in Peterborough for 2013-15 is 1,689 years, statistically significantly higher than the 
England rate of 1,399.

Figure 28: Hospital admissions for asthma, under 19 years, Peterborough trend 2011/12 – 
2015/16, crude rate per 100,000

Source: Local Tobacco Control Profiles, Public Health England 

It is well documented that tobacco smoke is a risk factor for developing asthma and exposure to 
second hand smoke can affect asthma sufferers. Peterborough has had statistically significantly 
higher crude rates of hospital admissions in under 19 year olds than England for asthma for each 
year within the above analysis, although this may reflect a number of factors in addition to smoking 
rates.

237



22

Figure 29: Emergency hospital admissions for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 
Peterborough trend 2010/11 – 2015/16, directly age-standardised rate per 100,000

Source: Local Tobacco Control Profiles, Public Health England 

The directly age-standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD) in Peterborough has been statistically significantly worse than England 
for two consecutive years, having been statistically similar in 2013/14 and statistically significantly 
better in 2011/12. Smoking is a strong causative factor for COPD in the longer term, but other 
factors are likely to affect year on year variation in admission rates. 

Figure 30: Smoking Prevalence (Residents Aged 15+), Greater Peterborough Local Commissioning 
Group General Practices, 2015/16

Practice 
Code Practice Name

Recorded 
Smokers 

(15+)

Practice 
Population 

(15+)

Prevalence 
(%)

Lower CI 
(%)

Upper CI 
(%)

Greater 
Peterborough 
Quintile (5 = 

Least 
Deprived, 1 = 

Most 
Deprived)

K83023 OUNDLE 1,014 9,122 11.1 10.5 11.8 5
D81618 AILSWORTH MEDICAL CENTRE 241 1,994 12.1 10.7 13.6 5
K83017 WANSFORD SURGERY 769 6,176 12.5 11.7 13.3 5
D81616 HODGSON MEDICAL CENTRE 533 3,683 14.5 13.4 15.6 5
D81615 THORPE ROAD SURGERY 711 4,873 14.6 13.6 15.6 4
D81630 HAMPTON HEALTH 1,003 6,333 15.8 15.0 16.8 5
D81605 HUNTLY GROVE PRACTICE 261 1,636 16.0 14.3 17.8 2
D81031 YAXLEY GROUP PRACTICE 2,150 12,533 17.2 16.5 17.8 5
D81022 THORNEY 1,183 6,546 18.1 17.2 19.0 4
D81039 JENNER HEALTH CENTRE 1,205 6,599 18.3 17.3 19.2 4
D81046 NEW QUEEN STREET SURGERY 2,633 14,391 18.3 17.7 18.9 4

Y00486 BOTOLPH BRIDGE 
COMMUNITY HEALTH 1,033 5,335 19.4 18.3 20.4 4

D81007 PARK MEDICAL CENTRE 1,459 7,261 20.1 19.2 21.0 2

D81645 THE GRANGE MEDICAL 
CENTRE 448 2,227 20.1 18.5 21.8 3

D81024 THOMAS WALKER 1,233 5,884 21.0 19.9 22.0 3
D81019 MINSTER MEDICAL PRACTICE 761 3,472 21.9 20.6 23.3 2
D81026 BOROUGHBURY 4,674 21,256 22.0 21.4 22.6 3
D81065 WELLAND MEDICAL PRACTICE 695 3,133 22.2 20.8 23.7 1
D81029 OLD FLETTON SURGERY 2,290 9,872 23.2 22.4 24.0 4

D81020 NENE VALLEY MEDICAL 
PRACTICE 2,311 9,951 23.2 22.4 24.1 2

D81023 PASTON HEALTH CENTRE 2,669 10,844 24.6 23.8 25.4 3
D81629 BUSHFIELD 1,099 4,362 25.2 23.9 26.5 2
D81053 BRETTON MEDICAL PRACTICE 2,548 9,446 27.0 26.1 27.9 1
D81063 WESTGATE 2,725 9,649 28.2 27.4 29.1 2

238



23

Practice 
Code Practice Name

Recorded 
Smokers 

(15+)

Practice 
Population 

(15+)

Prevalence 
(%)

Lower CI 
(%)

Upper CI 
(%)

Greater 
Peterborough 
Quintile (5 = 

Least 
Deprived, 1 = 

Most 
Deprived)

D81624 DOGSTHORPE MEDICAL 
CENTRE 1,029 3,547 29.0 27.5 30.5 1

D81073 WESTWOOD CLINIC 1,181 4,024 29.3 28.0 30.8 1
D81620 PARNWELL MEDICAL CENTRE 433 1,412 30.7 28.3 33.1 3
D81631 MILLFIELD MEDICAL CENTRE 2,943 8,917 33.0 32.0 34.0 1

D81625 THISTLEMOOR MEDICAL 
CENTRE 5,918 14,928 39.6 38.9 40.4 1

- PETERBOROUGH LCG 47,152 209,406 22.5 22.3 22.7 -
Source: Quality Outcomes Framework 2015/16

Overall smoking prevalence among patients registered with General Practices (GPs) within 
Peterborough Local Commissioning Group (LCG) is 22.5% in 2015/16. Of 29 GPs within the LCG, 15 
have a statistically significantly low prevalence value in comparison to Peterborough LCG and 9 have 
statistically significantly high prevalence. There is relatively strong correlation between high levels of 
smoking prevalence and high levels of socio-economic deprivation.

Figure 31: Smoking Prevalence (Residents Aged 15+), Greater Peterborough Local Commissioning 
Group Deprivation Quintiles, 2015/16

LCG Deprivation 
Quintile

Recorded smokers 
within quintile (15+)

Sum of practice 
populations within 

quintile(15+)
Prevalence (%) Lower CI (%) Upper CI (%)

Quintile 5 (Least 
Deprived) 5,710 39,841 14.3 14.0 14.7

Quintile 4 9,055 47,616 19.0 18.7 19.4
Quintile 3 9,457 41,623 22.7 22.3 23.1
Quintile 2 8,616 36,331 23.7 23.3 24.2

Quintile 1 (Most 
Deprived) 14,314 43,995 32.5 32.1 33.0

Peterborough LCG 47,152 209,406 22.5 22.3 22.7
Source: Quality Outcomes Framework 2015/16

Smoking prevalence in Peterborough varies substantially between deprivation quintiles. Prevalence 
is 14.3% in the least deprived quintile of Peterborough (comprising Oundle, Ailsworth Medical 
Centre, Wansford Surgery, Hodgson Medical Centre, Hampton Health and Yaxley Group Practice) 
and is 32.5% in the most deprived quintile (Welland Medical Practice, Bretton Medical Practice, 
Dogsthorpe Medical Centre, Westwood Clinic, Millfield Medical Centre and Thistlemoor Medical 
Centre).

239



24

6.2 Alcohol

Alcohol consumption is a contributing factor to hospital admissions and deaths from a wide range of 
conditions3 and data suggest that over 50% of violent crime involves alcohol4. Alcohol use can also 
increase anxiety and stress as well as contributing to adverse mental health, such as depression5.

Peterborough has some poor healthcare outcomes with regards to the consumption of and effects 
of alcohol in relation to healthcare. This is particularly noteworthy as Peterborough has a high 
percentage of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol (23.2%) compared to the East of England 
(11.2%) and England (15.5%); it is therefore a relatively smaller percentage of adults who do 
consume alcohol that contribute towards a number of indicators outlined below.

Figure 32: Percentage of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol, %, Peterborough, East of 
England & England, 2011-14

Source: Local Alcohol Profiles for England, Public Health England

Figure 33: Percentage of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol, %, National Deprivation 
Deciles, 2011-14

Source: Local Alcohol Profiles for England, Public Health England

3 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-
profiles/data#page/6/gid/1938133118/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/92774/age/168/sex/
4
4 http://www.alcoholpolicy.net/2015/02/53-of-violent-incidents-alcohol-related-british-crime-survey-
201314.html
5 https://www.drinkaware.co.uk/alcohol-facts/health-effects-of-alcohol/mental-health/alcohol-and-mental-
health/

240



25

Data show clear correlation between high levels of deprivation (such as those observed in the two 
areas of the East of England with the highest rates of alcohol abstention, Luton and Peterborough) 
and high percentages of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol. Percentages of adults who drink 
alcohol rises as deprivation falls, with the four least-deprived deciles in England all having 
statistically significantly lower percentages of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol.

Figure 34: Key Alcohol Indicators, Peterborough

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Value

England 
Value

Peterborough 
Status

Peterborough 
Trend

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 
11=Worst)

Alcohol-specific 
mortality, directly 

age-standardised rate 
per 100,000

2013-15 12.7 11.5 Statistically 
similar to England  7

Alcohol-related 
mortality, directly 

age-standardised rate 
per 100,000

2015 53.7 46.1 Statistically 
similar to England  9

Hospital admission 
episodes for alcohol-
specific conditions, all 

ages, directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000

2015-16 665 583

Statistically 
significantly 
worse than 

England

 9

Hospital admission 
episodes for alcohol-
specific conditions, 

under 18s only, 
directly age-

standardised rate per 
100,000

2013/14-
2015/16 45 37.4 Statistically 

similar to England  13

Hospital admission 
episodes for alcohol-

related conditions 
(narrow definition, all 

ages), directly age-
standardised rate per 

100,000

2015-16 708 647

Statistically 
significantly 
worse than 

England

 10

Hospital admission 
episodes for alcohol-

related conditions 
(broad definition, all 
ages), directly age-

standardised rate per 
100,000

2015-16 2299 2179

Statistically 
significantly 
worse than 

England

 8

Source: Local Alcohol Profiles for England, Public Health England

Key:

Statistical significance Trend
Statistically significantly better than England Increasing - getting better 

Statistically similar to England Decreasing - getting better 

Statistically significantly worse than England Increasing - getting worse 

No comparison available Decreasing - getting worse 

Although Peterborough has statistically similar directly age-standardised rates of mortality (alcohol-
specific and alcohol-related), rates of hospital admissions for alcohol-specific conditions are 
statistically significantly worse than England and among the worst observed within Peterborough’s 
CIPFA group of nearest socio-economic comparators. 

241



26

6.3 Drug Use

Figure 35: Drug Use - 15 Year Olds in Peterborough, What About YOUth Survey 2014/15

Indicator Time Period Peterborough 
Value

England 
Value

Peterborough 
Status

Peterborough 
Trend

Peterborough 
CSSNBT Ranking 

(1=Best, 
11=Worst)

Percentage of 15 
year olds who have 
ever tried cannabis

2014-15 10.9% 10.7%
Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

9

Percentage of 15 
year olds who have 
taken cannabis in 

the last month

2014-15 4.4% 4.6%
Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

6

Percentage of 15 
year olds who have 

taken drugs 
(excluding cannabis) 

in the last month

2014-15 0.6% 0.9%
Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

1

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Data show that the percentage of 15 year olds in Peterborough who have ever tried cannabis, and 
had taken cannabis or any other drug within the last month at the time they were surveyed are 
statistically similar to national averages. It is, however, of note that the Peterborough value of 0.6% 
for 15 year olds who have taken drugs (excluding cannabis) in the last month is the lowest within 
Peterborough’s assigned group of nearest Children’s Service Statistical Neighbour Benchmarking 
(CSSNBT) socio-economic neighbours.

Figure 36: Drug Related Deaths, Peterborough, Cambridgeshire Districts, Cambridgeshire, East of 
England & England, 2013-15

Area Number of Drug Related Deaths 
(2013-15) Crude Rate per 100,000 population

Peterborough 31 5.3

Cambridgeshire 60 3.2

Cambridge City 19 5.3

East Cambridgeshire * *

Fenland 13 4.5

Huntingdonshire 21 4.1

South Cambridgeshire 5 1.1

East  of England 605 3.4

England 6,232 3.9

Office for National Statistics Deaths related to drug poisoning in England and Wales 2001-2015

*Value redacted due to low numbers

The crude rate of drug related deaths in Peterborough for 2013-15 is 31, which equates to a crude 
rate of 5.3/100,000. This is higher than the average for Cambridgeshire (3.2/100,000), the East of 
England (3.4/100,000) and England (3.9/100,000).

242



27

6.4 Sexual Health

Figure 37: Key Sexual Health Indicators, Peterborough

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterboro
ugh Value

Englan
d Value Peterborough Status Peterborough 

Trend

Peterborough CIPFA 
Ranking (1=Best, 

11=Worst)
Chlamydia proportion 

aged 15-24 screened, % 2016 25 20.7 Statistically significantly 
better than England  2

Chlamydia detection rate, 
15-24 year olds, crude 

rate per 100,000
2016 2,862 1,882

Above national 
benchmark value of 

2,300/100,000
 2

New STI diagnoses 
excluding chlamydia, <25 

only, crude rate per 
100,000

2016 1,105 795 Statistically significantly 
worse than England  15

Late diagnosis of HIV, % 2013-
15 60.5 40.1

Above national 
benchmark value of 

50.0%
 12

Under 18 conception 
rate, crude rate per 1,000 2015 28.3 20.8 Statistically significantly 

worse than England  14

Under 25 repeat 
abortions, % 2016 26.5 26.7 Statistically similar to 

England  4

Source: Sexual & Reproductive Health Profiles 

Key:

Statistical significance Trend
Statistically significantly better than England Increasing - getting better 

Statistically similar to England Decreasing - getting better 

Statistically significantly worse than England Increasing - getting worse 

No comparison available Decreasing - getting worse 

25.0% of 15-24 year olds in Peterborough were screened for chlamydia in 2016, statistically 
significantly higher than the England value of 20.7%. Peterborough also has a crude chlamydia 
detection rate of 2,862/100,000, above the national benchmark goal of 2,300/100,000.

However, the crude rate of new STI diagnoses in Peterborough in 2016 was 1,105, statistically 
significantly higher than England (795/100,000). The percentage of HIV diagnoses defined as ‘late’ – 
with a CD4 count less than 350 cells per mm3 – is 60.5% in Peterborough, above the national 
benchmark value of 50.0%. 

Peterborough’s under 18 conception rate has been statistically significantly worse than England for 
each year since 2012 as noted within the trend graph below and 26.5% of under 25 abortions in 
Peterborough involved a woman who had had a previous abortion in any year.

243



28

Figure 38: Under 18 conceptions rate, Peterborough, crude rate per 1,000, 1998-2015

Source: Sexual & Reproductive Health Profiles, Public Health Outcomes Framework 

6.5 Physical Activity

Figure 39: Peterborough Physical Activity Profile – Key Indicators

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Value

England 
Value

Peterborou
gh Status

Peterborough 
Trend

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 
16=Worst)

Percentage of adults doing 150+ 
minutes of physical activity per 

week
2015 54.7% 57.0%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

 10

Percentage of adults achieving 
less than 30 minutes of physical 

activity per week
2015 34.3% 28.7%

Statistically 
significantly 
worse than 

England

 15

Percentage of adults doing 30-
149 minutes physical activity per 

week
2015 11.0% 14.3%

Statistically 
significantly 
worse than 

England

 16

Percentage of 15 year olds 
physically active for at least one 

hour per day, seven days per 
week

2014-
15 12.7% 13.9%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

10

Percentage of 15 year olds with a 
mean sedentary time in the last 

week of over 7 hours per day

2014-
15 71.3% 70.1%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

9

Percentage of adults who do any 
walking, at least five times per 

week

2014-
15 48.8% 50.6%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

6

Percentage of adults who do any 
walking, at least once per week

2014-
15 77.7% 80.6%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

6

Percentage of adults who do any 
cycling, at least three times per 

week

2014-
15 8.6% 4.4%

Statistically 
significantly 
better than 

England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

1

Percentage of adults who do any 
cycling, at least once per month

2014-
15 25.1% 14.7%

Statistically 
significantly 
better than 

England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

1

Utilisation of outdoor space for 
exercise/health reasons

Mar 15 
-Feb 16 17.8% 17.9%

Statistically 
similar to 
England

 9

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework Physical Activity Profiles

244



29

Key:

Statistical significance Trend
Statistically significantly better than England Increasing - getting better 

Statistically similar to England Decreasing - getting better 

Statistically significantly worse than England Increasing - getting worse 

No comparison available Decreasing - getting worse 

Peterborough has the highest percentage of adults who do any cycling three times a week or at least 
once a month of any area within its group of nearest socio-economic neighbours as assigned by the 
Charted Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA), with percentages for both indicators 
statistically significantly higher than England. However, there are a number of key physical activity 
indicators for which Peterborough performs relatively poorly in comparison to both England and its 
CIPFA comparator group.  Percentages of adults achieving less than 30 minutes of physical activity 
per week and 30-149 minutes of physical activity per week are both statistically significantly worse 
than England. Peterborough is ranked 15th of 16 within its CIPFA group for adults achieving less than 
30 minutes physical activity per week and 16th of 16 for adults doing 30-149 minutes of physical 
activity per week.

Raising physical activity levels is an important aspiration of Public Health, as physical inactivity is the 
fourth leading risk factor for death worldwide6. Physical inactivity contributes to an increased risk of 
diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer.7.

Figure 40: Percentage of adults achieving less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week, 
Peterborough, 2012 - 2015

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework Physical Activity Profiles

The percentage of adults achieving less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week in 
Peterborough rose from 28.9% to 34.3% between 2014 and 2015 and is now statistically significantly 
worse than England (28.7%) for the first time. 

6 World Health Organisation, Global Recommendations for Physical Health. 2010. Available at 
http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_recommendations/en/  
7 World Health Organisation, Global Health Risks. 2009. Available at 
http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/global_health_risks/en/

245



30

Figure 41: Percentage of adults achieving less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week, 
England, 2015, split by Ethnicity

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework Physical Activity Profiles

2015 data show that in England, percentages of adults undertaking less than 30 minutes of physical 
activity per week are higher in Black & Ethnic Minority (BME) groups than in the ‘white’ ethnicity 
group. 17.5% of the Peterborough population self-identified as being of BME ethnicity in the 2011 
census, statistically significantly higher than the England percentage of 14.6%.

6.6 Transport and Health

Active transport or travel is any means of moving from one place to another that involves being 
physically active. Walking or cycling are the main forms of active travel, although using public 
transport can also contribute to levels of physical activity, as people who take public transport are 
likely to walk further than car users – for example, by walking to and from bus stops. 

Active transport has an important role to play in improving health and wellbeing; there is a wealth of 
evidence that demonstrates that walking and cycling are effective ways of increasing and 
maintaining levels of physical activity as part of everyday life for the majority of the population, at 
little personal or environmental cost. Active travel is a viable alternative to the many short journeys 
that are still made by car.  It is noted by the Department of Health that the easiest way for most 
people to stay physically active is by incorporating physical activity, such as walking or cycling, in to 
their daily lives, particularly as part of commuting for work8. 

As an overall environment, Peterborough has some challenges in relation active transport. 
Peterborough was ranked by the Campaign for Better Transport’s 2014 ‘Car Dependency Scorecard 
2014’ (the most recent such analysis) as the most car-dependent city in the UK.

The crude rate of killed and seriously injured (KSI) casualties on roads and crude rate of children 
killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents in Peterborough were both statistically similar to 
England in 2013/15 and decreasing as shown in the figure. In 2013/15 Peterborough ranked 15th of 
16 among nearest CIPFA neighbours with regards to crude rate of KSI as shown below.

8 ‘Start active, stay active: a report on physical activity from the four home countries’, Chief Medical Officers 
(2011), Department of Health.

246



31

Figure 42: Killed and Seriously Injured (KSI) Casualties on Peterborough Roads, 2009-11 / 2013-15, 
Crude rate per 100,000

Source: Department for Transport

Figure 43: Killed and Seriously Injured (KSI) Casualties on England’s Roads, 2013-15, Crude rate per 
100,000

Source: Department for Transport

The Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Road Safety Partnership collates an annual statistical summary 
of road collision and casualty data to monitor performance against the three targets of the 
partnership group:

1. To reduce the number of people killed or seriously injured (KSI) in collisions by at least 40% 
by 2020

2. To reduce the number of children killed or seriously in collisions by at least 40% by 2020
3. To reduce the number of cyclists and pedestrians killed or seriously injured in collisions by at 

least 40% by 2020.

247



32

Figure 44: Casualties per 100 million Vehicle Km Travelled, 2015, Peterborough, Cambridgeshire & 
Great Britain

Area KSI Slight Total (may not sum due to 
rounding)

Peterborough 3.6 39.0 42.5
Cambridgeshire 3.7 20.4 24.1

Great Britain 4.7 31.9 36.5
Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Road Safety Partnership, Annual Statistics Summary 2015

Both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire have lower rates of KSI per 100 million vehicle Km travelled 
than Great Britain, although Peterborough has a markedly higher rate of ‘slight’ injuries than 
observed nationally which contributes towards a higher overall rate of 42.5/100 million Km travelled 
compared to 36.5/100 million Km travelled across all of Great Britain.

Figure 45: Observed Casualties by Local Authority, 2014, Observed Numbers & Crude Rates per 
100,000

Fatal Serious Slight Total
Local Authority

Number Rate Number Rate Number Rate Number Rate

Peterborough 4 2.1 68 35.1 587 303.0 659 340.1

Cambridgeshire 19Plea;se 3.0 236 36.9 1,462 228.5 1,717 268.4

Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Road Safety Partnership, Annual Statistics Summary 2015 & ONS Mid-Year Population 
Projections

6.7 Diet and Healthy Weight

Figure 46: Peterborough Diet & Healthy weight profile 

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborou
gh Value

England 
Value Peterborough Status Peterborough 

Trend

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 16=Worst)
Percentage of adults 
with excess weight

2013-
15 70.8% 64.8% Statistically significantly 

worse than England  14

Percentage of 
overweight/obese 

reception age children

2015-
16 22.8% 22.1% Statistically similar to 

England  13

Percentage of 
overweight/obese 
year 6 age children

2015-
16 34.2% 34.2% Statistically similar to 

England  5

Percentage of the 
population meeting 

the recommended '5 a 
day' on a 'usual day' 

(adults)

2015 48.0% 52.3% Statistically significantly 
worse than England  10

Average number of 
portions of fruit 
consumed daily 

(adults)

2015 2.4 2.5 Statistically similar to 
England  7

Average number of 
portions of vegetables 

consumed daily 
(adults)

2015 2.1 2.3 Statistically significantly 
worse than England  10

Percentage of the 
population meeting 

the recommended '5 a 
day' on a 'usual day' 

(15 year olds)

2014-
15 50.1% 52.4% Statistically similar to 

England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

7

248



33

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterborou
gh Value

England 
Value Peterborough Status Peterborough 

Trend

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 16=Worst)
Average number of 

portions of fruit 
consumed daily (15 

year olds)

2014-
15 2.6 2.4 Statistically significantly 

better than England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

1

Average number of 
portions of vegetables 

consumed daily (15 
year olds)

2014-
15 2.3 2.4 Statistically significantly 

worse than England

First data point, 
no trend 
available

8

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework Physical Activity Profiles

Key:

Statistical significance Trend
Statistically significantly better than England Increasing - getting better 

Statistically similar to England Decreasing - getting better 

Statistically significantly worse than England Increasing - getting worse 

No comparison available Decreasing - getting worse 

It is of note is that while rates of childhood overweight/obesity in Peterborough are similar to the 
national average, most recent data show increases in Peterborough in the percentage of 4/5 year 
olds and 10/11 year olds. For adults, the percentage with excess weight (include adults classified as 
obese) is statistically significantly worse than England at 70.8% compared to 64.8%, which is the 3rd 
highest of 16 local authorities within Peterborough's CIPFA comparator group.

Body mass index is a significant risk factor for a number of long term conditions – both those which 
lead to mortality such as diabetes, heart disease and cancer, and those which cause long term pain 
and disability such as musculoskeletal conditions. 

In Peterborough, a statistically significantly low percentage of adults consume the recommended ‘5 
portions of fruit and vegetables’ on an average day in comparison to England (48.0% compared to 
52.3%). 

7. Levels of Illness and Health and Social Care Services

7.1 Long Term Conditions Prevalence 

Figure 47: Disease & Risk Factor Prevalence – Long Term Conditions, Peterborough

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’

249



34

Compared with benchmark:

 

Peterborough has relatively low prevalence of a number of long term conditions, which is likely to be 
attributable to the relatively young population of the area, as prevalence figures are not adjusted for 
the age structure of the population Prevalence in Peterborough is below that of England for all 
conditions contained within the above analysis, but will likely increase with the predicted ageing of 
Peterborough’s population over coming years. 

7.2 Mental Health & Disability

Figure 48: Depression & Anxiety Prevalence (GP Patient Survey), 18+, %, Peterborough Trend 
2013/14 – 2015/16

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’

According to data from the GP patient survey, the prevalence of depression and anxiety in 
Peterborough is 14.3% for 2015/16, above that of England (12.7%) and rise more quickly than 
observed nationally.

Figure 49: Recorded Prevalence of Dementia, All Ages, %, Peterborough Trend 2009/10 – 2014/15

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’

Dementia tends to occur in older people and therefore Peterborough, which has a younger 
population than England, has had lower prevalence of dementia in each of the years within the 
figure above. Dementia prevalence has risen in England between 2009/10 – 2014/15 from 0.5% to 
0.7% and in Peterborough, from 0.3% to 0.6%. The QOF prevalence depends on the amount of 
recording by GPs as well as the actual prevalence of dementia. 

250



35

Figure 50: Recorded Prevalence of a Learning Disability, All Ages, % Peterborough Trend 2009/10 – 
2013/14

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’

The prevalence of patients with learning disabilities recorded on Peterborough GP disease registers 
has increased between 2009/10 – 2013/14 from 0.3% to 0.6%, whereas nationally it has risen from 
0.4% to 0.5% over the same period. The number of patients in Peterborough with a learning 
disability over this period has increased from 446 to 798, a rise of 79%. This is likely to reflect better 
recording by GPs rather than an actual increase of this magnitude. 

Figure 51: Suicide Rate, Persons, Peterborough, 2001/03 – 2013-15, Directly Age-Standardised 
Rate per 100,000

Source:  Public Health Outcomes Framework

The directly age-standardised suicide rate in Peterborough is currently 8.4/100,000, which is 
statistically similar to England. There were 42 suicides in Peterborough in 2013-15. The rate has 
fallen in three consecutive periods, having been statistically significantly worse than England as 
recently as 2010-12. 

251



36

Figure 52: Hospital Admissions as a Result of Self-Harm, Persons Aged 10-24, Peterborough, 
20011/12 – 2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Source:  Public Health Outcomes Framework

The directly age-standardised rate of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm in Peterborough 
among 10-24 year olds has been higher than the England average for five consecutive years and rose 
to 798.7/100,000 in 2015/16. Further analysis would be required to ascertain the extent to which 
this rate may be affected by differences in clinical coding between Peterborough and other areas of 
England. Peterborough’s rate for 2015/16 is the highest among its CIPFA group of nearest socio-
economic neighbours as illustrated below.

Figure 53: Hospital Admissions as a Result of Self-Harm, Persons Aged 10-24, Peterborough & 
Nearest Socio-Economic Neighbours, 2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Source:  Public Health Outcomes Framework

252



37

7.3 NHS Hospital Services

The below tables show directly age-standardised hospital admission rates for Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire. Data include all elective, emergency, maternity and other admissions (including well 
babies receiving usual care).

Figure 54: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – All Admissions, 2011/12 - 2015/16, Directly Age-
Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 45,884 273.3 46,693 275.2 46,491 271.8 47,487 274.0 48,166 272.4

Cambridgeshire 151,742 258.8 151,167 253.6 163,074 267.7 165,115 267.1 171,580 273.7

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 197,626 262.4 197,860 258.6 209,565 268.1 212,602 268.1 219,746 272.9

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics 

The directly age-standardised rate of inpatient hospital admissions in Peterborough for all ages was 
statistically significantly higher (worse) than the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire average in 
2011/12, 2012/13 and 2014/15. Within the table above, 2015/16 is the only year for which 
Peterborough has a lower directly age-standardised rate of inpatient hospital admissions than 
Cambridgeshire.

Figure 55: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – Under 75s Only, 2011/12 - 2015/16, Directly Age-
Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 37,607 234.0 38,041 233.6 37,812 230.2 38,249 229.9 38,635 227.0

Cambridgeshire 118,287 215.3 117,285 210.4 127,722 224.5 127,685 221.9 132,869 227.8

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 155,894 219.9 155,326 215.8 165,534 225.2 165,934 223.1 171,504 227.1

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics 

For under 75 inpatient hospital admissions, Peterborough has had a statistically significantly higher 
(worse) directly age-standardised rate than the average of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire for 
each year within the above table with the exception of 2015/16, for which the Peterborough rate is 
marginally below that of Cambridgeshire.

Figure 56: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – Over 75s Only, 2011/12 - 2015/16, Directly Age-
Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 8,277 671.0 8,652 696.0 8,679 692.5 9,238 719.6 9,531 730.9

Cambridgeshire 33,455 698.6 33,882 691.0 35,352 704.0 37,430 724.9 38,711 737.6

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 41,732 692.7 42,534 691.6 44,031 701.4 46,668 723.7 48,242 736.1

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics 

253



38

Peterborough’s directly age-standardised rate of inpatient hospital admissions among over 75s has 
been statistically similar to the average of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire in each year within the 
above analysis and is 730.9/1,000 in 2015/16.

Figure 57: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – All Admissions, Elective and Emergency, 2011/12 - 
2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 
Elective

23,515 147.7 23,760 147.5 24,209 149.0 24,289 147.0 23,884 141.3

Peterborough 
Emergency

18,042 105.2 18,664 107.6 18,323 104.4 19,250 108.6 20,271 112.5

Cambridgeshire 
Elective

89,850 156.1 87,874 150.3 92,147 155.0 90,724 149.9 93,557 152.3

Cambridgeshire 
Emergency

49,876 84.3 51,425 85.4 53,500 87.4 56,006 90.2 59,136 93.8

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Elective

113,365 154.6 111,634 149.8 116,356 153.8 115,013 149.4 117,441 150.2

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Emergency

67,918 89.0 70,089 90.3 71,823 91.2 75,256 94.3 79,407 97.9

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics 

It is of note that the directly age-standardised rate of emergency inpatient hospital admissions in 
Peterborough is statistically significantly higher than the average of Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire for each year within the above analysis and has risen to 112.5/100,000 in 2015/16. 
Conversely, the rate of elective admissions in Peterborough is statistically significantly lower than  
than the average of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire in 2011/12, 2013/14 and 2015/16. Higher 
rates of emergency admissions are often associated with socio-economic deprivation levels.  

Figure 58: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – Under 75s Only, Elective and Emergency, 2011/12 - 
2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 
Elective

19,532 130.6 19,692 129.9 20,091 131.1 19,962 127.8 19,674 123.1

Peterborough 
Emergency

13,854 81.8 14,165 82.3 13,825 79.4 14,413 82.4 15,037 84.1

Cambridgeshire 
Elective

71,711 133.7 70,295 129.1 73,551 133.1 71,805 127.9 73,877 129.6

Cambridgeshire 
Emergency

35,219 62.7 35,721 62.7 37,120 64.4 38,160 65.6 40,730 69.0

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Elective
91,243 133.3 89,987 129.4 93,642 132.7 91,767 128.0 93,551 128.4

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Emergency
49,073 67.2 49,886 67.2 50,945 67.9 52,573 69.4 55,767 72.5

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics 

Peterborough has a statistically significantly lower directly age-standardised rate of elective hospital 
admissions for under 75s in 2015/16 compared to the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire average. 
However, for emergency admissions, Peterborough has been statistically significantly higher  for 
each year within the table above.

254



39

Figure 59: Inpatient Hospital Admissions – Over 75s Only, Elective and Emergency, 2011/12 - 
2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR Admission 
Episodes DASR Admission 

Episodes DASR

Peterborough 
Elective

3,983 321.1 4,068 325.7 4,118 330.8 4,327 340.2 4,210 325.1

Peterborough 
Emergency

4,188 341.4 4,499 363.6 4,498 356.7 4,837 373.6 5,234 399.1

Cambridgeshire 
Elective

18,139 382.6 17,579 364.1 18,596 376.1 18,919 373.1 19,680 381.4

Cambridgeshire 
Emergency

14,657 302.4 15,704 314.9 16,380 320.4 17,846 339.0 18,406 344.3

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Elective
22,122 369.9 21,647 356.2 22,714 367.0 23,246 366.5 23,890 370.2

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 

Emergency
18,845 310.2 20,203 324.4 20,878 327.5 22,683 345.7 23,640 355.0

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics

For over 75s, Peterborough’s directly age-standardised rate of elective inpatient hospital admissions 
has been statistically significantly lower than the Peterborough and Cambridgeshire average for each 
of the five years between 2011/12 and 2015/16. Conversely, Peterborough has had a significantly 
higher rate of emergency admissions in the over 75 age group for each year within the same time 
period, 2011/12 – 2015/16. 

Figure 60: A&E Hospital Attendances – All Attendances, 2011/12 - 2015/16, Directly Age-
Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area

Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR

Peterborough 51,502 277.0 52,339 280.4 72,544 375.8 93,018 474.8 96,026 481.1

Cambridgeshire 160,122 256.4 162,352 257.4 166,881 262.6 183,545 285.3 190,214 292.2

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 211,624 260.8 214,691 262.2 239,425 288.8 276,563 329.3 286,240 336.2

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics

Peterborough has a relatively high level of A&E hospital attendances in comparison to 
Cambridgeshire, with statistically significantly higher directly age-standardised rates of attendance in 
each of the years within the table above. Peterborough’s rate has increased for four consecutive 
years and stands at 481.1/1,000 for 2015/16. Higher A&E attendances are often associated with 
areas of higher socio-economic deprivation. 

Figure 61: A&E Hospital Attendances – 24 Hour A&E Attendances Only, 2011/12 - 2015/16, Directly 
Age-Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area

Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR

Peterborough 49,896 268.4 50,708 271.9 52,120 274.4 52,120 274.4 55,992 288.8

Cambridgeshire 130,396 209.2 126,576 201.0 144,630 225.2 144,630 225.2 151,077 232.3

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 180,292 222.6 177,284 216.9 196,750 236.1 196,750 236.1 207,069 244.9

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics

255



40

The rate of attendance at 24 hour A&E is statistically significantly high (worse) compared to the 
average for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire for each of the five years 2011/12 – 2015/16.

Figure 62: A&E Hospital Attendances – Minor Injuries Unit Attendances Only, 2011/12 - 2015/16, 
Directly Age-Standardised Admission Rates per 1,000, Peterborough & Cambridgeshire

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Area

Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR Attendances DASR

Peterborough 1,421 7.6 1,396 7.4 21,684 106.4 40,697 199.3 39,805 191.2

Cambridgeshire 28,931 45.9 29,345 46.1 30,614 47.8 38,391 59.4 38,551 59.0

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire 30,352 37.1 30,741 37.2 52,298 61.8 79,088 92.4 78,356 90.4

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics

The Peterborough Minor Illness & Injury Unit opened in 2013, leading to a substantial rise in A&E 
attendances attributed as ‘minor injuries unit attendances’. Since the opening of this unit, a greater 
number of MIU attendances in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire have been in Peterborough, 
despite Cambridgeshire having a much higher overall population. The directly age-standardised rate 
of MIU attendances in Peterborough has been statistically significantly higher than Cambridgeshire 
for three consecutive years.

7.4 Adult Social Care 

Peterborough has a statistically significantly better  (lower) rate of adults aged 18-64 and 65+ having 
their long-term support needs met by admission to residential and nursing care homes than the 
average of its CIPFA comparator group and England. 

The rate of delayed transfers of care attributable to adult social care is also statistically significantly 
better than Peterborough's CIPFA group and England. However, only 33.4% of Peterborough carers 
receive direct payments which is statistically significantly lower than Peterborough’s CIPFA group 
and England and has decreased from 2014/15.

The table below provides a summary of key Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework indicators for 
2015-16.

Figure 63: Peterborough Key Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework Indicators

Comparator Group Averages
ASCOF INDICATORS 2015-16 Peterborough

CIPFA Unitary 
Authorities Regional

England Comparison Local 
trend

1A Social care-related quality 
of life score 19.1 19.1 19.3 19 19.1

In line 
England & 

CIPFA
Static

1B

The proportion of people 
who use services who have 
control over their daily life, 

percentage

76.5% 76.7% 79.0% 77.4% 76.6%
In line 

England & 
CIPFA



1C(1A)

The proportion of people 
who use services who 
receive self-directed 
support, percentage

98.6% 91.0% 89.5% 85.1% 86.9% Above CIPFA 
& England Static

1C(1B)
The proportion of carers 
who receive self-directed 

support, percentage
100.0% 85.2% 77.1% 89.2% 77.7% Above CIPFA 

& England Static

256



41

ASCOF INDICATORS 2015-16 Peterborough
Comparator Group Averages

England Comparison Local 
trendCIPFA Unitary 

Authorities Regional

1C(2A)

The proportion of people 
who use services who 

receive direct payments, 
percentage

25.4% 27.6% 27.6% 29.3% 28.1% Below CIPFA 
& England Static

1C(2B)
The proportion of carers 

who receive direct 
payments, percentage

33.4% 76.7% 59.9% 83.1% 67.4%
Significantly 
Below CIPFA 

& England


1E

The proportion of adults 
with a learning disability in 

paid employment, 
percentage

10.0% 6.0% 7.0% 7.1% 5.8% Above CIPFA 
& England 

1F

The proportion of adults in 
contact with secondary 

mental health services in 
paid employment, 

percentage

6.2% 6.1% 8.2% 5.1% 6.7%
In line 

England & 
CIPFA

Static

1G

The proportion of adults 
with a learning disability 

who live in their own 
home or with their family, 

percentage

84.2% 78.9% 76.4% 74.0% 75.4% Above CIPFA 
& England 

1H

The proportion of adults in 
contact with secondary 
mental health services 

living independently, with 
or without support, 

percentage

52.1% 51.6% 60.3% 44.1% 58.6% Below 
England 

1I(1)

The proportion of people 
who use services who 

reported that they had as 
much social contact as 

they would like, 
percentage

41.8% 46.3% 47.0% 44.8% 45.4%
Below 

England & 
CIPFA



2A(1)

Long-term support needs 
of younger adults (aged 
18-64) met by admission 
to residential and nursing 
care homes, per 100,000 

population

4.2 12.6 15.9 15.8 13.3
Significantly 
better CIPFA 

& England


2A(2)

Long-term support needs 
of older adults (aged 65 

and over) met by 
admission to residential 
and nursing care homes, 
per 100,000 population

394.4 660 665 570 628.2
Significantly 
better CIPFA 

& England


2B(1)

The proportion of older 
people (aged 65 and over) 
who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from 

hospital into 
reablement/rehabilitation 

services, percentage

83.3% 81.7% 83.9% 82.6% 82.7%
Above 

England & 
CIPFA



2B(2)

The proportion of older 
people (aged 65 and over) 

who received 
reablement/rehabilitation 

services after discharge 
from hospital, percentage

2.1% 2.5% 2.9% 2.6% 2.9%
Below 

England & 
CIPFA



2C(1) Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital, per 100,000 10.1 10.7 12.1 11.6 12.1

Below 
England & 

CIPFA


257



42

ASCOF INDICATORS 2015-16 Peterborough
Comparator Group Averages

England Comparison Local 
trendCIPFA Unitary 

Authorities Regional

2C(2)

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital that are 

attributable to adult social 
care, per 100,000 

population

0.7 3.2 4.3 3.5 4.7
Significantly 
better CIPFA 

& England


2D The outcome of short-term 
services: sequel to service 74.9 75.9 78.5 81.5 75.8

Below 
England & 

CIPFA


3A

Overall satisfaction of 
people who use services 

with their care and 
support

64.4 63.5 66.3 64.5 64.4 In line 
England 

3D(1)

The proportion of people 
who use services who find 
it easy to find information 
about support, percentage

72.8% 73.9% 75.6% 72.7% 73.5%
Below 

England & 
CIPFA



4A
The proportion of people 
who use services who feel 

safe, percentage
65.0% 68.1% 69.6% 68.7% 69.2%

Below 
England & 

CIPFA


4B

The proportion of people 
who use services who say 
that those services have 
made them feel safe and 

secure, percentage

88.3% 84.4% 87.4% 82.4% 85.4%
Above 

England & 
CIPFA



Source: Peterborough City Council Adult Social Care/Performance Team Analysis

Key:

Statistical significance Trend
Statistically significantly better than CIPFA & England Increasing - getting better 

Statistically similar to  CIPFA & England Decreasing - getting better 

Statistically significantly worse than CIPFA & England Increasing - getting worse 

No comparison available Decreasing - getting worse 

8. Overall Population Health & Causes of Mortality

Figure 64: Major Causes of Death, Persons, 2012-14, Peterborough & England

Major Causes of Death, Persons, 2012-14

England Peterborough

Source: NHS Digital Indicators

258



43

Peterborough has a larger percentage (37%) of deaths within the ‘other’ group – e.g. causes other 
than circulatory disease, cancer, pneumonia or accidents, than England (30%) and conversely slightly 
lower percentages of deaths from other main causes, with the exception of accidents (3% in 
Peterborough compared to 2% in England).

Figure 65: All-Cause Mortality, All Ages, Directly Age-Standardised Rates per 100,000, 
Peterborough & Cambridgeshire Trends, 2006-08 / 2014-16

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16
0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

Peterborough Cambridgeshire Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Source: Office for National Statistics Mortality Data

The directly age-standardised rate of all-age, all-cause mortality in Peterborough has fallen between 
2006-08 and 2014-16 from 1,173.0/100,000 to 1,031.3/100,000 but remains statistically significantly 
higher than that of neighbouring Cambridgeshire (904.5/100,000).

Figure 66: All-cause Mortality, Under 75s only, Directly Age-Standardised Rates per 100,000, 
Peterborough & Cambridgeshire Trends, 2006-08 / 2014-16

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

Peterborough Cambridgeshire Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Source: Office for National Statistics Mortality Data

259



44

Under 75 all-cause mortality in Peterborough has fallen between 2006-08 and 2014-16 from 
393.9/100,000 to 252.5/100,000. Over this same time period the Cambridgeshire rate fell from 
340.5/100,000 to 235.8/100,000.

Figure 67: Cause-Specific Mortality, Directly Age-Standardised Rates per 100,000, Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire, 2014-16

All Ages Under 75 Only
Area

All Causes Circulatory 
Diseases CHD Cancer Respiratory 

Diseases All Causes Circulatory 
Diseases CHD Cancer Respiratory 

Diseases
Peterborough 1,031.3 252.5 127.8 281.5 152.0 378.5 80.6 45.6 147.3 41.6

Cambridgeshire 872.5 231.4 95.2 252.1 108.5 283.7 62.7 31.0 120.8 24.2

Peterborough & 
Cambridgeshire

904.5 235.8 99.5 258.2 117.1 303.4 66.3 33.9 126.4 27.6

Source: Office for National Statistics Mortality Data

Data show that Peterborough has statistically significantly higher rates than the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough average for all of the conditions listed within the table above, with the exception of 
all-age circulatory diseases. Deaths from circulatory disease under age 75 remain higher than the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough average. 

Figure 68: Key Life Expectancy Indicators, Peterborough, 2013-15

Indicator Time 
Period

Peterboro
ugh Value

England 
Value Peterborough Status Peterborough 

Trend

Peterborough 
CIPFA Ranking 

(1=Best, 
16=Worst)

Healthy life expectancy 
at birth (Male), Years

2013-
15 61.8 63.4 Statistically similar to 

England  10

Healthy life expectancy 
at birth (Feale), Years

2013-
15 62.4 64.1 Statistically similar to 

England  6

Life expectancy at birth 
(Male), Years

2013-
15 78.6 79.5 Statistically significantly 

worse than England  6

Life expectancy at birth 
(Female), Years

2013-
15 82.4 83.1 Statistically significantly 

worse than England  6

Life expectancy at 65 
(Male), Years

2013-
15 18.5 18.7 Statistically similar to 

England  3

Life expectancy at 65 
(Female), Years

2013-
15 20.9 21.1 Statistically similar to 

England  4

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Although healthy life expectancy, life expectancy at birth and life expectancy at age 65 have shown 
long term improvement since 2001-for both males and females, life expectancy at birth for males 
and females continues to be statistically significantly below national averages. 

260



45

Figure 69: Life expectancy at birth, males, Peterborough, 2001-03 / 2013-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

Male life expectancy at birth in Peterborough has been statistically significantly worse than England 
for each pooled period between 2005-07 and 2013-15. 

Figure 70: Life expectancy at birth, females, Peterborough, 2001-03 / 2013-15

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

Female life expectancy at birth in Peterborough was statistically similar to that of England as recently 
as 2009-11 but has since ceased to increase at the same rate as that observed nationally. The 
current female life expectancy at birth in Peterborough is 82.4 years, the same value as 2009-11, 
whilst in England there has been an increase from 82.7 years to 83.1 years over the same time 
period.

Figure 71: Variation in Life Expectancy by National LSOA Deprivation Deciles, 2013-15

Healthy Life Expectancy at birth Life Expectancy at Birth
National Decile

Males Females Males Females
1 (Most deprived decile) 51.9 52.2 74.0 78.9

2 56.1 56.1 76.1 80.4
3 59.3 59.5 77.4 81.7
4 61.4 62.3 78.7 82.5
5 63.8 64.7 79.6 83.1
6 65.2 66.5 80.4 83.6
7 66.9 67.0 81.0 84.2
8 67.5 68.7 81.4 84.5
9 68.4 68.8 82.1 85.1

10 (Least deprived decile) 70.6 71.3 83.1 86.1
England 63.4 64.1 79.5 83.1

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

Although data are not available at local super output area (LSOA) level locally, , the table above 
shows the contrasting values in healthy life expectancy at birth and life expectancy at birth between 
the most and least deprived LSOAs in England. The four most deprived deciles in England – which, as 

261



46

a relatively deprived area, contained many LSOAs within Peterborough - all have statistically 
significantly lower healthy life expectancy and life expectancy at birth for both males and females 
than the national average.

Figure 72: Directly age-standardised percentage of the population reporting good or very good 
health by gender, Peterborough, 2011

Source: Census 2011/Public Health Intelligence

For males, females and persons, a statistically significantly low percentage of people in 
Peterborough reported having ‘good’ or ‘very good’ health in the 2011 census compared to national 
averages.

Figure 73: Directly age-standardised percentage of the population with a long-term illness which 
affects day-to-day activities a lot health by gender, Peterborough, 2011

Source: Census 2011/Public Health Intelligence

262



47

Data show that the percentage of males reporting having a long term illness that affects their day-to-
day activities a lot in Peterborough is similar to that of England, whereas for females and for all 
persons the percentage is statistically significantly high.

9. Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Summary Topic Review

Since 2014, the below JSNA projects have been commissioned and completed by the Peterborough 
Health & Wellbeing Board:

 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015
 Children & Young People JSNA 2015
 Cardiovascular Disease JSNA 2015
 Mental Health & Mental Illness in Adults of Working Age JSNA 2016
 Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 2016
 Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2017

Key findings from these projects are summarised below. It should be noted that the statistics quoted 
are from the time the themed JSNA was completed and therefore will generally not be the most 
recently available data.

9.1 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015

 Every Health & Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to publish a statement of the need for 
local pharmaceutical services in its area at least once every three years. The first such 
assessment in Peterborough was published in 2015 and will be updated in 2018.

 At the time of the 2015 PNA, Peterborough had 43 community pharmacies, equivalent to 24 
per 100,000 population – higher than both the national (22 per 100,000) and regional (20 
per 100,000) averages. Pharmaceutical provision for both essential and advanced services 
was therefore considered sufficient. 

 However, it was noted that locally commissioned services such as stop smoking appeared 
inadequate, evidenced by deteriorating quit rates, and relatively high smoking prevalence 
among both all adults and pregnant women specifically in comparison to national and 
regional averages. It was also noted also that no community pharmacies in Peterborough 
were commissioned to provide flu vaccination for over 65s and only 13 provided flu 
vaccination services for at risk groups and that no pharmacies provide sexual health services 
such as emergency hormonal contraception and chlamydia testing and treatment despite 
higher teenage pregnancy and low chlamydia detection rates compared to national and 
regional averages.

 Peterborough is one of the fastest-growing cities in the UK, with an ethnically diverse and 
relatively young population. As the population grows, community pharmacies have the 
potential to make a significant contribution to healthy ageing and the prevention, 
identification and management of diseases, through which demand on other healthcare 
services may be reduced. Due to the diversity of the local population, promotions may need 
to be targeted specifically to different groups to be of greatest benefit. 

 A number of pharmacies are located in areas of Peterborough that have relatively low life 
expectancy and relatively high levels of deprivation. These pharmacies can help promote 

263



48

healthier living, including through direct health promotion campaigns in conjunction with 
Public Health, as well as providing appropriate minor ailment treatment services. 

9.2 Children & Young People JSNA 2015

 Children and young people under the age of 20 made up 26.5% of the population of 
Peterborough in 2012, whereas the national average was 23.9%. 

 In 2013, 40.8% of school children were from a minority ethnic background, significantly 
higher than the national average of 26.7%. 

 The level of child poverty in Peterborough was worse than average, with 23.6% of children 
aged under 16 living in poverty compared to 20.6% in England. 

 A lower percentage of students in Peterborough achieved 5 or more A*-C GCSEs and also 
more young people are not in education, employment or training than England.

 The rate of under 18 conceptions in Peterborough was, and remains, statistically significantly 
higher than England and the highest in the East of England. 

 Rates of admission to hospital as a result of self-harm in young people were, and remain, 
statistically significantly worse in Peterborough compared to England. 

 Of 20 indicators relating to the mental health of children and young people for which a 
national benchmark is available, Peterborough was below benchmark for 15 (75%). 

9.3 Cardiovascular Disease JSNA 2015

 2011-13 data showed Peterborough to have statistically significantly higher mortality rates 
than England for mortality from causes considered preventable, under 75 mortality from all 
cardiovascular diseases and under 75 mortality from all cardiovascular diseases considered 
preventable.

 Circulatory diseases are estimated to contribute towards 33.6% of the life expectancy gap 
between Peterborough and England for males and 53.9% for females. If Peterborough had 
the same mortality rates as England for circulatory diseases, local life expectancy would 
increase 0.45 years for males and 0.43 years for females.

 The number of people registered with a General Practice in Peterborough with 
cardiovascular disease is expected to rise 12.6%, from 21,467 to 27,306, between 2015 and 
2031.

 Both the Borderline and Peterborough Local Commissioning Groups (now merged as Greater 
Peterborough Local Commissioning Group) had statistically significantly higher prevalence of 
diabetes and hypertension in 2013/14 compared to Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group, as well as higher percentages of adult smokers and obese adults.

 South Asian populations in the UK are known to have higher rates of premature coronary 
heart disease (CHD), therefore engagement with the substantial local South Asian 
populations in the area should be encouraged to improve related healthcare outcomes in 
Peterborough. Hospital admission and mortality data for circulatory diseases in 
Peterborough show a correlation between high rates of admission/mortality, relatively high 
levels of socio-economic deprivation and high percentages of Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) 
populations. 

264



49

 Peterborough offers NHS Health Checks to a significantly higher percentage of residents 
aged 40-74 than England, however the ‘conversion rate’ i.e. the number of those invited 
who attend was relatively low at the time of this JNSA at 47.9%.

9.4 Mental Health & Mental Illness in Adults of Working Age JSNA 2016

 Many of the recognised risk factors for poor mental health are found at a higher rate in 
Peterborough than in England, including higher rates of socio-economic deprivation, 
numbers of children in care, incidents of violent crime, the rate of homelessness and 
prevalence of substance misuse.

 28,000 adults in Peterborough were estimated to be living with a common mental health 
disorder (such as depression or anxiety disorders); this number is expected to rise 8.2%, to 
30,296, by 2030. 

 In 2014/15, over 11,000 referrals were made to secondary care (specialist) mental health 
services for adults within the Greater Peterborough Local Commissioning Group system

 Peterborough has lower levels of recorded depression than would be expected considering 
the aforementioned risk factors and prevalence data do not correlate with areas of 
deprivation. Further analysis would be required to ascertain whether this is as a result of 
under-recording and if therefore there is substantial unaddressed need within 
Peterborough. 

 Hospital admission rates for adult self-harm in 2013/14 were the highest in the East of 
England, 40% above the national average rate.

 Suicide rates in Peterborough have fallen from being higher than England to now lower than 
England, although the difference is not statistically similar. 

9.5 Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA 2016

 Peterborough has a highly diverse population in comparison to England; at the time of the 
2011 census, 29% of the Peterborough population self-identified with an ethnicity other 
than ‘White British’. Of these, ‘Asian or Asian British’ and ‘White Other’ were the most 
common responses, comprising 12% and 11% of the total respectively.

 The overall population of Peterborough increased by 17.7% between 2001 and 2011, with 
the greatest increases seen within the ‘White Other’ and ‘Black British or Black African’ 
category. 

 Estimates of net international migration between 2009 and 2014 show Peterborough to 
have a higher rate of net migration than any other area of Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough with the exception of Cambridge City. The non-UK born population in 
Peterborough is now estimated to be 206.3 residents per 1,000 total population. 

 The Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) population varies significantly across Peterborough, 
comprising only 2.3% of the total population of the Barnack electoral ward but 58.2% of the 
total population of the Central electoral ward. Deprivation tends to be higher in areas of 
Peterborough with higher BME populations.

 Peterborough has the second-highest percentage of residents who cannot speak English well 
or at all in the East of England (4.9%). Luton is the highest in the East of England (5.4%) and 

265



50

both areas are statistically significantly higher than the England percentage of 1.7%. Inability 
to speak English is associated with relatively poor socio-economic outcomes and deprivation 
tends to be higher in electoral wards with high percentages of residents who cannot speak 
English well or at all. 

 The 2015 School Census shows 35.1% of pupils in Peterborough speak a primary language 
other than English at home. GCSE attainment tends to be lower among pupils who do not 
primarily speak English at home. 

9.6 Older People’s Primary Prevention JSNA 2017

 For the first time in history, the fastest growth in the UK’s population is among the older age 
groups. Although Peterborough’s older population is currently smaller as a percentage of the 
overall population than that of England, anticipated changes will see the proportion of older 
people soon aligning with projections nationally. This provides an opportunity to work with 
residents to enact positive change as they age to ensure better overall healthcare outcomes 
and thus lower demand on healthcare services in future years.

 The impact on healthcare outcomes in Peterborough of adverse behaviours remains 
significant even where progress is seen in relation to prevalence data – e.g. Peterborough’s 
smoking prevalence is statistically similar to that of England, however the rate of smoking-
attributable hospital admissions in the area remains statistically significantly high. Hospital 
admissions for alcohol-related conditions (narrow definition, persons) also remain 
significantly higher than England. 

 Specifically targeted interventions may be required across differing ethnic groups to improve 
overall healthcare outcomes in Peterborough. For example, data show that percentages of 
residents who do not achieve 30 minutes or more of moderate-intensity exercise per week 
are significantly higher among BME groups than ‘white’ ethnicity residents. World Health 
Organisation data also show that mortality rates from cardiovascular disease are 
significantly higher than England in countries from which relatively high levels of economic 
migrants have arrived in Peterborough in recent years, such as Poland, Lithuania and 
Estonia. 

 Peterborough has been adjudged the most ‘car dependent city’ in the UK by the Campaign 
for Better Transport, due to the ease of travel by car within the area and relative lack of 
practical opportunities to walk/cycle. This presents a challenge from a public health 
perspective, as resultantly relatively few Peterborough residents are able to reach 
recommended levels of exercise through active travel as part of their ‘normal’ working day, 
thus putting additional emphasis on the need to improve active travel provision as well as 
other opportunities to exercise delivered via PCC and other stakeholders to maintain and 
improve population health.

 Only 11.9% of residents in Peterborough aged 55+ participate in sport/active recreation of at 
least moderate intensity for 30 minutes or more on a regular basis in Peterborough.

 A lower percentage of residents in Peterborough (48.0%) meet the recommended ‘5 a day’ 
fruit/vegetable consumption levels than in England (52.3%).

266



51

10. Sources of Further Information about the Health & Wellbeing of 
Peterborough’s Population

A wealth of additional reports and data relating to the health and wellbeing of residents of 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire is available via the below sources:

Peterborough City Council

 Peterborough Public Health Directorate home and resources 
page.

 Peterborough local health profile.
 Peterborough public health outcomes framework (PHOF). 
 Peterborough annual public health report.
 Peterborough joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) page.
 Health advice for Peterborough (healthy Peterborough).
 Peterborough health and wellbeing strategy.

Cambridgeshire County Council

 Cambridgeshire Insight home page.
 Cambridgeshire Insight demography page.
 Cambridgeshire Insight health page.
 Cambridgeshire Insight area health profiles.
 Cambridgeshire Insight CCG/NHS healthcare page.
 Cambridgeshire Insight public health outcomes 
framework (PHOF).
 Cambridgeshire annual public health report. 

 Cambridgeshire Insight joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) page.
 Cambridgeshire County Council Public Health Directorate home page.
 Cambridgeshire health and wellbeing strategy.
 Summary of key population health, policy and NHS resources weekly update bulletin

Public Health England population health intelligence resources

Many of these cover local authority and CCG (NHS) data.

 Public Health England home page.
 Public Health England Fingertips topic and area based health profiles.
 Public health England subject-based data and knowledge gateway. 

 Primary care data for England, CCGs and general 
practices.
 Topic based health intelligence networks (cancer; CVD; 
child and maternal health; mental health, dementia and 
neurology; end of life care).
 Public Health Outcomes Framework PHOF national site 
for national PHOF data and data for all local authorities.

 Small area population health data at Local Health.
 East of England Knowledge and Intelligence Service LKIS East home page.

267

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/local-health-profile/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/public-health-outcomes-framework/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/annual-public-health-report/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/JSNA/
http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/health-and-wellbeing-strategy/
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/populationanddemographics
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/areaprofiles
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/healthcare
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/phof
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/aphr
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/jsna
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20004/health_and_keeping_well/536/public_health
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/hwb
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/weeklyinfo
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/phe-data-and-analysis-tools
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice
http://www.ncin.org.uk/cancer_type_and_topic_specific_work/topic_specific_work/health_intelligence_networks
http://www.phoutcomes.info/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/#v=map11;l=en
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=175498
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/
http://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/health/
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data


52

 Public Health England collected resources archive (briefings, tools, models).

CCG (NHS) specific intelligence resources

Please note that many of the resource links above include CCG and NHS data.

 NHS England resources for CCGs home page. 
 NHS England commissioning intelligence model describes the 
steps in the commissioning cycle, provides example commissioning 
questions and potential data types and resources to answer them.
 NHS England CCG outcomes tools.
 NHS Right Care home page – Right Care looks at healthcare 
variation.
 NHS England Commissioning for Value suite of products and 
resources.
 NHS England primary care data web tool.
 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE): NICE 
home page, NICE pathways, NICE guidance; NICE standards and 
indicators and NICE evidence services.
 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG home page.

Other analytical and population health intelligence resources

 NHS Digital home page – collected data and information resources from the umbrella body for 
information services in health and social care. 

 NHS Digital’s Indicator Portal provides an online portal for NHS and other data in spreadsheet 
form, metadata (data about data) and some methodological information. 

 Office for National Statistics home page - the national producer of official statistics and the 
recognised national statistical institute of the UK.

 The King Fund – data and policy briefings from the King's Fund independent charity who work to 
improve health and care in England.

268

http://www.apho.org.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/resources/resources-for-ccgs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/2012/02/commissioning-intelligence-report/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/resources/resources-for-ccgs/ccg-out-tool/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/intel/cfv/
http://www.primarycare.nhs.uk/
https://www.nice.org.uk/
https://pathways.nice.org.uk/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance
https://www.nice.org.uk/standards-and-indicators
https://www.nice.org.uk/standards-and-indicators
https://www.evidence.nhs.uk/
http://www.cambridgeshireandpeterboroughccg.nhs.uk/
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/
https://indicators.hscic.gov.uk/webview/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/comm-int-model.pdf


HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 11

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
Contact Officer(s): Kathyrn Goose, Children and Maternity Project Manager Tel. 07983 

800182

LOCAL TRANSFORMATION PLAN

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG Deadline date

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. To note the refresh of the Local Transformation Plan for children and young people’s emotional 
and mental health which is due by 31 October 2017

2. Provide delegated sign off for the plan prior to publication deadline 31 October 2017 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board following consultation with the 
Executive Director People and Communities Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Councils.
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Board of the planned refresh of the Local 
Transformation Plan (LTP) for children and young people’s emotional and mental health, to 
enable the Board to provide delegated sign-off of the plan once the amendments have been 
made with wider stakeholders.

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.3.3

To keep under review the delivery of the designated public health functions and their contribution 
to improving health and wellbeing and tackling health inequalities.

2.3 There is specific initiatives to be undertaken through the LTP priorities which aims to improve and 
encourage children in care to be healthy and also reduce movement of placements. 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

269



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

4.2

4.3

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this paper is to inform the Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board of the 
planned refresh of the Local Transformation Plan (LTP) for children and young people’s 
emotional, mental health and wellbeing.  The LTP is required to be signed-off by Health and 
Wellbeing Boards; therefore this paper is to advise the Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board of the planned refresh and asked for delegated sign-off in time for the required publication 
date of 31 October 2017.

BACKGROUND

August 2015 NHS England launched a guidance document for local areas regarding the 
development of LTP for Children and Young people’s mental health and wellbeing.  The LTP is 
a plan which is locally developed and sets out the vision, areas for service transformation and 
investments to be made for children and young people’s emotional and mental health services 
based on local needs.  The LTP includes information of local need, challenges, areas in need of 
improvement and how developments will increase the number of young people accessing 
services and improve their outcomes and overall emotional and mental wellbeing. The LTP looks 
at services across a spectrum of services from universal through to the point a young person may 
require an inpatient facility.  The plan also details the investment to be made and key performance 
indicators from when the plan commenced in 2015/16 to 2020/21

           The first LTP for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough was developed with a range of 
stakeholders and published in October 2015 and detailed the first years initiatives.  A second 
refreshed plan was published in October 2016 and provided a more detailed plan for the five 
years of transformation up until 2020/21.  Both of these plans have been developed with a 
range of stakeholders and signed-off virtually by the Health and Wellbeing Boards of both 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.   

MAIN ISSUES

The LTP is currently undergoing a 3rd refresh and will be known as the LTP 17/18, as the 
timeframe it covers is 1 November 2017 to 31 October 2018.  There are a range of areas the plan 
covers including; improved access to information through Keep-your-head website, ongoing 
development of parenting support programmes for children with behavioural issues, pathway 
developments in specialist mental health services including ASD/ADHD, eating disorders and 
crisis services, a focus on developing the workforce to ensure we have skilled sustainable 
workforce to deliver a range of evidence based services.  The LTP details the needs of the 
population and engagement with children / young people, families and carers and how their views 
have helped shape the areas of developments and investments.

The LTP is currently being refreshed to ensure the information is accurate and developments are 
based on population needs including JSNA and public health information, feedback, learning from 
existing developments, align with local commissioning intentions and national drivers for change. 
This process has commenced and will take some time to have a final draft for comment, which 
will require a range of stakeholders to sign-off the plan including Health and Wellbeing Boards of 
both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, Director of Children’s Services, Local Safeguarding 
Boards, NHS specialist commissioning, parent/carers groups.

The LTP is not currently refreshed to the point of being able to be signed-off as work is required 
with a range of stakeholders to update the LTP and ensure it is fit for purpose and meets the 
needs of the local population.  Therefore this paper is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board 
of the LTP refresh and ask that there is a process for delegated sign-off of the LTP by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board during October to enable the LTP to be published by the required deadline 
of 31 October 2017.

270



5. CONSULTATION

5.1 Emotional health and wellbeing board chaired by the Executive Director People and 
Communities Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Councils Wendi Ogle-Welbourn 3 August 2017 
where it was agreed they would comment and agree the refresh LTP virtually.

5.2 Family Voice Peterborough 12 September 2017

Health and Wellbeing Board Cambridgeshire 27 September 2017

Local safeguarding children’s board – date to be confirmed

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The refreshed LTP will provide the detail of the third year priorities across Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire for services transformation and investment for children and young people’s 
emotional and mental health services 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 NHS England guidance requires all LTP’s to be agreed and signed-off by local Health and 
Wellbeing Boards

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The other option would be for the refreshed completed plan to be presented for sign-off at the 
September meeting.  However the NHS guidance of what areas need to be included within the 
refreshed LTP was released on 24 August and the plans require publishing 31 October 2017.  
Therefore the timeframes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meetings require for delegated sign-
off to be considered as has been undertaken in the two previous LTP submissions. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 The funding that is released each year to enable the LTP to be implemented successfully is 
mainly through NHS funding which is approved through CCG governance and financial 
processes.  Any Non- NHS funding which will assist the implementation of the plan will be 
reviewed and approved through other formally financial processes.

Legal Implications

9.2 None from Peterborough

Equalities Implications

9.3 The LTP has previously and will this year have an Equalities impact assessment completed to 
ensure it is equitable. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 Local Transformation Plans for Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing – 
Guidance and support for local areas

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-
guidance.pdf 

271

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf


Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Transformation Plan for children and young people’s 
emotional, mental health and wellbeing 16/17

http://www.cambridgeshireandpeterboroughccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are-and-what-
we-do/our-work-and-priorities/emotional-health-and-wellbeing-project/ 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 None.

272

http://www.cambridgeshireandpeterboroughccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-work-and-priorities/emotional-health-and-wellbeing-project/
http://www.cambridgeshireandpeterboroughccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-work-and-priorities/emotional-health-and-wellbeing-project/


HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 12

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn and Dr Liz Robin
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Wayne Fitzgerald

Contact Officer(s): Helen Gregg, Partnership Manager, Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire Councils

Tel. 863618

JOINT DEVELOPMENT SESSION PROPOSAL

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Executive Director People & Communities and 
Director of Public Health

Deadline date:

1. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board consider the joint development session 
proposal and agree, or otherwise, if the session should proceed.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the request of the Executive Director 
for People and Communities and the Director of Public Health.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for a joint development session with Peterborough 
and Cambridgeshire Health & Wellbeing Boards, to be held in January 2018.

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.8.2.2

To actively promote partnership working across health and social care in order to further improve 
health and wellbeing of residents.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Health and wellbeing boards (HWBs) are forums where key leaders from the health and care 
system work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce 
health inequalities. A significant number of HWBs are now beginning to play a genuine leadership 
role across local health and care systems. 

Peterborough Health & Wellbeing Board underwent a Local Government Association (LGA) peer 
review in 2014.  Since that time there have been no further workshops with members. It is felt 
that the board would benefit from a LGA led, joint Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Health & 
Wellbeing Board development session in January 2018.

273



The session will be aimed at seeking greater alignment of interest and approach across the two 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and how they can work together collaboratively on shared priorities.

The LGA believe that to make a real difference for the people they serve, health and wellbeing 
boards need to be agents of change. From recent research, the LGA believes the following are 
drivers and barriers to being an effective health and wellbeing board:

Drivers of and barriers to effective health and wellbeing boards

Committed leaders, both political and managerial

Collaborative plumbing, often reflecting a history of partnership working

Clarity of purpose, being clear about the primary task of the board

A geography that works, or has been made to work

The response to austerity, which can drive either collaboration or a retreat to silos

A focus on place, with local priorities that drive collaboration

A director of public health, who gets it

High quality support, and a flexible approach to the council committee thing

Churn in the system, within local government and health

Getting the basics right, to enable effective systems leadership

As part of the LGA’s development session package, their representative will assist the Boards to 
create a questionnaire which will be sent to members in advance of the development session.  
The questionnaire will ask members about the vision and role of their board, system leadership, 
partnership working and communication and engagement. 

The responses to the questionnaire will then be collated and form the basis of the development 
session. Members will look at strengths, weaknesses and challenges and then work together to 
produce an action plan to take forward the agreed issues and challenges.

If the Board agrees to the proposal, a scoping meeting with be held with the LGA to agree the 
focus areas for the joint development session, and a further report will be brought to the HWB 
meeting in December for approval.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The proposal was verbally discussed at the HWB / SPP Partnership Delivery Board on 7 August 
2017.  Members agreed this would be a useful exercise for HWB members. 

5.2 The Cambridgeshire Health & Wellbeing Board will be consulted for members approval to 
proceed.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The anticipated outcome is for members to agree to the proposal for a joint LGA led development 
session in January 2018, with Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Health & Wellbeing Boards.

274



7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 A joint development session will look at ways in which both boards can be strengthened to better 
enable local people to have improved health and reduced health inequalities by working together 
to tackle shared priorities.

Cambridgeshire Health & Wellbeing Board is due to commence work on the development of a 
new health and wellbeing strategy and would like to consult with Peterborough board members 
to discuss how the board’s current strategy was developed.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 Consideration was given to running a development session just for Peterborough City Council, 
but we felt members from both boards would benefit from a joint development session, especially 
those members that represent the county, ie the CCG and Healthwatch.

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 There are no financial implications.  The Local Government Association offer local authorities 
development sessions as part of their ongoing support.

Legal Implications

9.2 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“the 2012 Act”) makes it a requirement for the Council to 
establish a Health and Wellbeing Board (“HWB”). S.195 of the 2012 Act requires the HWB to 
encourage those who arrange for the provision of any health or social care services in their area 
to work in an integrated manner.

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are no equalities implications.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 N/A

11. APPENDICES

11.1 N/A

275



This page is intentionally left blank

276



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 13

11 SEPTEMBER  2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn and Dr Liz Robin
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Wayne Fitzgerald

Contact Officer(s): Helen Gregg, Partnership Manager, Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire Councils

Tel. 863618

QUARTERLY HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY PERFORMANCE REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Executive Director People & Communities and 
Director of Public Health

Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. consider the content of the performance progress report and raise any questions.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the request of the Executive Director 
for People and Communities and the Director of Public Health.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Board members with a summary of progress against 
the Future Plans identified for each of the focus areas outlined in the Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2019 (Appendix 3).

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference 
Numbers:

2.8.3.1 To develop a Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the city which informs and influences the 
commissioning plans of partner agencies

2.8.3.2 To develop a shared understanding of the needs of the community through developing 
and keeping under review the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and to use this intelligence to 
refresh the Health and Wellbeing Strategy

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

277



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 The Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 (Appendix 3) identified key focus areas. A 
performance report for each focus area is contained within Appendix 2. 

Key Headlines from the performance reports:

Children and Young People
● The Health visiting service is now commissioned through a section 75 agreement with 

the CPFT
● A new pathway has been developed for children with suspected ADHD/ASD
● The level of teenage pregnancies continues to reduce, reflecting the interventions and 

the co-ordinated approach that services across Peterborough have developed and 
provided

● The 0-19 service continues to develop with two workshops recently being held
● The Family Safeguarding Board has been established and the programme is developing
● A Joint Area Targeted Inspection was held in June involving 4 inspectorates (Ofsted, 

CQC, HMIP and HMIC). An action plan will be developed to respond to the findings of 
the inspection.

Health Behaviours and Lifestyles
● The number of admissions to hospital where the primary diagnosis are attributed to 

alcohol consumption has increased for males and has remained consistently higher than 
the England average since 2011/12. 

● Due to the successful DCLG funding for Alcohol Misuse, a co-ordinated approach across 
both Fenland and Peterborough will result in additional resource of specialist alcohol 
outreach workers, community connector worker and health lifestyle worker to address 
health harms, community tensions and issues surrounding street drinking in the migrant 
populations

● A Healthy Schools Programme Board has been established and will direct the 
development and delivery of the programme from September 2017

Long Term Conditions and Premature Mortality
● Peterborough's directly age-standardised rate of premature mortality for men due to CVD 

fell  in 2013-15 from statistically worse to statistically similar to England for the first time 
since 2004-06

● Health Check Action Plan has been developed and is being implemented across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

● The new Healthy Lifestyle Service will deliver health checks in a number of venues across 
the City

● £1.5 million fund has been secured to improve outcomes for people with diabetes across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

● The Healthy Lifestyle service are looking at how the new outreach service can better 
target the South Asian population

Mental Health for Adults of Working Age
● Numbers of male suicides continue to reduce, with the total number of suicides reducing 

in 2016. There have been no recorded suicides from car parks since the barriers were 
erected at Queensgate Shopping Centre

● Reduction in the number of Section 136 under the Mental Health Act have reduced in 
2016/17

● The number of adults in contact with mental health services in settled accommodation 
and employment have increased

● Housing and accommodation has been prioritised by Peterborough commissioners and 
work has been undertaken with providers to develop the market to increase both the 
range and choice of accommodation and the capacity available

● The Recovery Coach service continues to deliver strong outcomes
● The Mental Health Stakeholder Group has now become a countywide group and fulfils 

the partnership board function for mental health for both councils

278



Health and Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment
● The Sensory Partnership Board is now being developed and membership is being 

scoped.  Both the Physical Disability Board and the Sensory Partnership Board will report 
into the HWB

● The Local Offer is being amalgamated with the Families Information Service and is being 
developed and co-produced with Family Voice, the Youth Access Champions and health 
partners

● The Care and Support Directory for 2017/18 is currently being printed and will be 
distributed in August

Ageing Well
● Health checks delivered to the over 40s and the proportion of people who use services 

who say that those services made them feel safe and secure, remain above the England 
average

● The rate of falls is decreasing although still remains worse than the England average
● The Ageing Well Strategy Board have prioritised social isolation as this still remains worse 

than the England average
● A new countywide integrated commissioning board has been set up to agree 

opportunities for a common approach to commissioning

Protecting Health
● There has been an improvement in the uptake of pre-natal pertussis (whooping cough) 

vaccination in Peterborough
● The multi-agency sexual health delivery board is now established and will be working on 

the Sexual Health Needs Assessment priorities including the late diagnosis of HIV and 
lower rates of Chlamydia screening

● Local Authority public health representation has now been established on NHS England 
Screening Programme Boards

● There have been high levels of attendances and activity in the local sexual health 
services. An action plan to address sexual health outcomes in Peterborough is being 
taken forward through the countywide sexual health delivery group

Growth, Health and the Local Plan
● New Local Plan consultation scheduled to commence in November 2017 for a 6 week 

period
● A meeting took place between the directors of Public Health and Growth and 

Regeneration to discuss the profile of health and wellbeing in the new Local Plan

Health and Transport Planning
● Additional funding from the Department for Transport for Bikeability starts in September
● The number of people killed or seriously injured on Peterborough roads increased from 

66 in 2015 to 90 in 2016. Monitoring work is being undertaken to ascertain if there has 
been a national increase

● The Department for Transport is funding an integrated transport programme in 
Peterborough which will allow for a number of infrastructure improvements

● Responsibility for developing the local transport plan has moved to the Combined 
Authority. It is unclear where active travel sits within future priorities of the Combined 
Authority at this point

● The loss of Department for Transport funding has reduced investment in active travel for 
the Authority

Housing and Health
● There is a shortage of housing stock to accommodate homeless people, resulting in an 

increase of people being accommodated out of county.  A report will be presented to CMT 
at the end of August to discuss short, medium and long term options

● Progress has been made in establishing a vulnerable people’s housing group. Adrian 
Chapman will now chair the group across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire from 
September and the group will feed into the Communities Network Group.

279



● A maximum grant of £6,000 is available to carry out urgent work in people’s homes to 
facilitate discharge from hospital, interim beds, re-ablement or a care setting to ensure 
the property is warm and safe.

Geographical Health Inequalities
● £7.5 million capital funding has been secured for physical improvements to the Lincoln 

Road area of Peterborough, which will run over the next 2 years
● City College have delivered 32 English Language courses with JSNA embedded themes 

including health and education
● The CommUNITY Meet and Eat project has served over 1,000 meals – free health MOT’s 

have been offered at one of these events and Boots have attended promoting eye tests
● The overall housing shortage is a significant factor in detrimentally affecting people’s 

health and wellbeing.  The shortage has resulted in increased levels of overcrowding, 
poor housing standards and households in temporary accommodation

Health and Wellbeing of Diverse Communities
● PCC/CCC have successfully secured additional funding from the DCLG Controlling 

Migration Fund to include: Getting to Know You £282K, Alcohol Misuse £226K, 
Information Pack of Social Media Resources £94K.  The funding pots will be evaluated 
to evidence impact and outcomes that the funding has made.  A report can be presented 
to the HWB if required

Sustainable Transformation 5 Year Plan (including BCF)
● Please refer to the agenda item ‘Better Care Funds Sign Off’ paper
● There will continue to be a focus on building on the work undertaken to date covering the 

following priorities: Prevention and Early Intervention, Community Services, Enablers and 
High Impact Changes for Discharge

● The Local Authority is working with health partners to develop and agree a costed plan 
to support delivery of the 3.5% national DTOC target

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The progress reports were reviewed at the Health & Wellbeing and SPP Partnership Delivery 
Group on 7 August 2017. 

5.2 The Partnership Delivery Group will be focussing on available housing stock across the city and 
implications / impact of the new universal credit at the next meeting in November.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The Board is expected review the information contained within this report and respond / provide 
feedback accordingly. 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 To ensure members are kept regularly informed of progress and any barriers/challenges that may 
be preventing progress so that members may assist in unblocking these.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The Board must be kept informed of progress against the identified focus areas within the current 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

280



Legal Implications

9.2 There are no legal implications associated with this report.

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are no equality implications associated with this report.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 N/A

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix 1 Future Plans RAG Ratings and Risk Register
Appendix 2 Focus Areas Performance Reports
Appendix 3 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019

281



This page is intentionally left blank

282



Ref Description of risk, i.e. what is the threat or Raised on Date Impact (1-5)

1 Lack of embedding of Neglect strategies in 01 March 2017 3

2 Mobilisation of the new integrated healthy 01 March 2017 3

3 Ability to recruit skilled workforce in the local 01 March 2017 4

4 Lack of capacity in primary care to deliver AF 02 August 2017 4

5 Insufficient resource across the health and 01 March 2017 3

6 Complexities and time needed to meet the 01 March 2017 3

7 Managing demand from service users 01 March 2017 3

8 LDR investment will not be available for NHS 01 March 2017 3

9 BCF planning will not incorporate plans for 01 March 2017 3

10 Continued availability of funding for strategy 01 March 2017 2

11 H&WB amendments to the Local Plan not 01 March 2017 3

12 Significant objections to the H&WB policies in 01 March 2017 3

13 Lack of capacity to compile Transport and 01 March 2017 3

14 Reduction in active travel activities due to loss 02 August 2017 3

15 Once the funding for Supported Housing 01 March 2017 3

16 Shortage of housing stock - improve the join up 01 August 2017 4

17 Lack of agreement on how to use the proposed 01 March 2017 3

18 Limited take up of projects to tackle social 01 March 2017 3

19 Too great a focus on the Can Do area 01 March 2017 3

20 Communities will not engage with the services 01 March 2017 4

21 Public perception of significant investment 01 March 2017 4

22 Local 2017/18 BCF plan - planning guidance 01 March 2017 3

23 STP governance is currently being reviewed by 01 March 2017 3

24 LDR investment will not be available from NHS 01 March 2017 3

25 Impact of universal credit implementation in 01 August 2017 4

Growth, Health and the Local Plan

OTHER

Housing and Health

Geographical Health Inequalities

Health and Wellbeing of Diverse Communities

Sustainable Transformation 5 Year Plan (STP)

Health and Transport Planning

HWB Strategy Progress Risk Register - March 2017

Mental Health for Adults of Working Age

Ageing Well

Protecting Health

H&WB of People with Disability / Sensory Impairment

Children and Young People's Health

Health Behaviours and Lifestyles

Long Term Conditions and Premature Mortality

283



Probability (1-5) RAG Rating Action or Owner Status 

3 The LSCB monitors Lou Williams Open

2 Implementation is on track Liz Robin Open

3 Workforce Review taking place Cath Mitchell Open

2 Support to GPs through Cath Mitchell Open

3 Minimise inefficiencies and Wendi Ogle- Open

2 Progress the proposed Wendi Ogle- Open

3 Work with key stakeholders and Adrian Chapman Open

5 Adrian Chapman Open 

3 A multi agency strategic Adrian Chapman Open

4 Liz Robin Open

3 Simon Machen Open

2 Simon Machen Open

1 PH resources currently Simon Machen Open

4 Submit bids for further pots of Simon Machen Open

3 Government proposals are Adrian Chapman Open

2 Paper to be taken to CMT to Adrian Chapman Open

3 Adrian Chapman Open

3 Adrian Chapman Open

2 Adrian Chapman Open

2 Health messages being Adrian Chapman Open

3 Effective publicity campaign with Adrian Chapman Open

4 Will Patten Open

3 Will Patten Open

5 Will Patten Open

3 Report to be taken to CMT to Adrian Chapman Open

Growth, Health and the Local Plan

OTHER

Housing and Health

Geographical Health Inequalities

Health and Wellbeing of Diverse Communities

Sustainable Transformation 5 Year Plan (STP)

Health and Transport Planning

HWB Strategy Progress Risk Register - March 2017

Mental Health for Adults of Working Age

Ageing Well

Protecting Health

H&WB of People with Disability / Sensory Impairment

Children and Young People's Health

Health Behaviours and Lifestyles

Long Term Conditions and Premature Mortality

284



HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY – FUTURE PLANS RAG RATINGS

Colour code:
Green – complete
Amber – in progress and within timescales
Red - delayed

Develop a CAMH pathway that better meets need and manages demand so that pressures AMBER
Continuing a pilot approach where additional CPN capacity is aligned with schools to AMBER
Working with the PSCB to develop a more effective multi-agency response to neglect, AMBER

Renew the Child Poverty Strategy in 2016
GREEN

Develop a joint strategy to address high rates of teenage pregnancy AMBER

Jointly review the commissioning and delivery of services for C&YP with SEND, from age 0- AMBER

Consideration of the needs of single parent families in these workstreams AMBER

Commission an integrated healthy lifestyle service with the aim that people can access GREEN
Improve our communication with local residents on health issues and to develop local GREEN
Recognise the vital role schools play in supporting the health and wellbeing of children AMBER

Reduce the number of local people developing Type 2 Diabetes AMBER

Develop and implement a joint strategy to address CVD in Peterborough
AMBER

Explore a specific programme to work with South Asian communities to address higher AMBER
Explore options to reduce the risk of stroke within the local population by improved GREEN
A long term conditions needs assessment will be carried out which will cover the wider AMBER
Bring together findings from the Peterborough Mental Health JSNA (2015) and refresh the AMBER
A new recovery coach service to support people after discharge from secondary care and GREEN
An enhanced Primary Care Mental Health Service is planned to support people with GREEN
The new Mental Health Commissioning and Delivery Partnership Board which includes GREEN
Service user representation will also be invited to the Partnership Board GREEN

Implementation of strategy for supporting older people and adults with long term AMBER
Work with users of St George’s hydrotherapy pool to explore future options for AMBER
The HWB has commissioned an ‘Older People: Primary Prevention of Ill Health’ JSNA for AMBER
Develop a joint ‘Healthy Ageing and Prevention Agenda’ to ensure that preventative AMBER
Review and refresh the joint dementia strategy for Peterborough AMBER

A specific programme of work, in collaboration with older residents, will explore the main AMBER
Recognise that some older people prefer face to face communication rather than digital, AMBER
Develop a TB commissioning plan for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough AMBER

Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of screening including improved AMBER
Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of immunisation including improved AMBER
Develop a Peterborough Joint Sexual Health Strategy, covering a range of issues GREEN

The health of residents is being specifically considered in the new Local Plan, AMBER
Public Health outcomes and/or objectives will be added to the Plan AMBER

Public Health advice will be embedded into the City Council’s Growth and Regeneration GREEN
Collect further JSNA information on transport and health for Peterborough, using locally AMBER
Permanently embed public health advice in to the City Council’s Growth and Regeneration GREEN
Responsibility for developing local transport plans moves to the combined authority Amber
Peterborough City Council is working in partnership with registered providers to provide GREEN
A Vulnerable People’s Housing Sub-Group has been established, which will review how AMBER
The Peterborough Market Position Statement has identified a significant shortfall of GREEN
A task and finish group including housing managers and hospital managers is reviewing GREEN
The NHS CCG has a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities and to carry out health GREEN
City Council proposals for selective licensing of private sector housing in parts of the city GREEN
There is potential to target preventive public health initiatives and services so that they 

focus more on areas of the city with the greatest health and wellbeing needs

AMBER

The benefits of tailoring preventive programmes, working with South Asian communities AMBER
Outcome measures for health and wellbeing of diverse communities/migrants will be AMBER
Greater alignment of BCF Activity with the STP and local authority transformation plan AMBER

Greater alignment of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire BCF Plans 
AMBER

A single commissioning board for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire
AMBER

Direction of 

Travel

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE'S HEALTH

HEALTH BEHAVIOURS 

AND LIFESTYLES

GEOGRAPHICAL 

HEALTH INEQUALITIES

DIVERSE 

COMMUNITIES

STP

HOUSING AND HEALTH

HEALTH AND 

TRANSPORT 

PLANNING

Future Plan RAG Rating

GROWTH, HEALTH, 

LOCAL PLAN

PROTECTING HEALTH

Focus Area

LONG TERM 

CONDITIONS AND 

PREMATURE 

MORTALITY

MENTAL HEALTH FOR 

ADULTS OF WORKING 

AGE

PEOPLE WITH 

DISABILITY / SENSORY 

AGEING WELL

285



286



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S HEALTH 

LEAD: LOU WILLIAMS 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 Managing the transition of commissioning arrangements for health visiting from NHS England to the Local Authority; 

 Developing a healthy child programme that ensures that emerging needs for support are identified early and are acted upon effectively in partnership 
with children and families; 

 Reviewing the Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMH) offer across the area, including overseeing action related to reducing waiting list for specialist 

CAMH services and remodelling support for children and young people with emotional health and wellbeing needs to make the best use of additional 
funding from Central Government. 
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

The Health Visiting service is now commissioned through a section 75 agreement with CPFT. 

 

Outcomes framework, service specification and key performance indicators for the Healthy Child 

Programme have been developed and embedded. Monthly performance monitoring meeting are held 

with the provider, CPFT. 

 

A new pathway has been developed for children with suspected ADHD/ASD. Parents now attend 

evidence-based parenting programmes prior to referral to specialist CAMH services. This has reduced 

the number of referrals and a more complete assessment is available for the CAMH team to allow 

better triage and management.  

 

Recently a procurement process has been completed for the provision of emotional wellbeing services 
and mental health promotion services jointly with CCC and C&P CCG and additional investment has 
gone into this. The new service should be in place on 1st January 2018.    
 
 
 

287

aaq424_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2

aaq424_6
Typewritten Text



Teenage Pregnancy 
The level of Teenage Pregnancy is usually described through the rate of pregnancies per 1000 females 
aged 15-17 years, known as the under 18-conception rate. There was a 51% decrease in the under 18s 
Teenage Pregnancy rate in England between 1998 and 2015. This was also reflected in Peterborough, 
with the rate dropping from just below 60 (57.7) per 1000 to 28.3 per 1000. In numbers, this means a 
drop from 185 to 95 pregnancies. However, the important fact is that Peterborough’s rate has always 
remained statistically significantly higher than the national figure. There are wards in Peterborough 
where there is a concentration of teenage pregnancies.  
 
Table 1: Under 18 Conception Rates in Peterborough and England 1998-2015 

 
 
In terms of the number of pregnancies that end in abortion England has seen a small increase but 
generally it has remained around the 50% rate. In Peterborough figure has always remained below the 
national figure but has a more mixed picture with fluctuations. 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  Managing the transition of commissioning arrangements for health visiting from NHS England to the 

Local Authority: 

 The health visiting service was transferred to Peterborough City Council in October 2015, and 
has since been part of the commissioning arrangements with Peterborough City Council. The 
health visiting service is now embedded within the commissioning arrangements in 
Peterborough City Council, with regular reviews of service delivery. 

 

288



Developing a healthy child programme that ensures that emerging needs for support are identified 

early and are acted upon effectively in partnership with children and families: 

 The Joint Commissioning Unit have been overseeing transformation plans in relation to 
developing a service for 0 - 19s ( the healthy child programme). The transformation will see the 
services commissioned by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Peterborough City Council, brought together to deliver an 
integrated 0 - 19 provision. A number of work streams have achieved the following: 

o Existing contracts within the scope of the transformation plans, including values and 
end dates have been identified. End dates have been aligned where possible. 

o For some of the services in scope, service delivery has been aligned across 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire, to offer a consistent, transparent and integrated 
model. For example, a full review of the Family Nurse Partnership has been completed, 
as well as a review of the Speech and Language Therapy service. There are plans to 
undertake a similar transformation with  Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy, as 
well as developing a “school core offer” across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire  

o Workshops have been held with a wide range of stakeholders to look at the model of 
delivery for an integrated 0 - 19 service 

o A high level specification has been drawn up, outlining the requirements of the 0 - 19 
service 

o Options for the future delivery of the services is being considered by the Joint 
Commissioning Unit 

 
Reviewing the Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMH) offer across the area, including overseeing 

action related to reducing waiting list for specialist CAMH services and remodelling support for children 

and young people with emotional health and wellbeing needs to make the best use of additional 

funding from Central Government: 

 The Emotional Health and Wellbeing Board has overseen the development of a number of 
services, that support the emotional health and well- being needs of children and young people 
in Cambridgeshire. 

 www.keep-your-head.com – A new young people’s mental health website for young people, 

parents/carers, teachers and other professionals. It is a central point for good quality 

289

http://www.keep-your-head.com/


information on keeping well, self-help and support services. The website covers a range of 

issues including stress, bullying, self-harm and what to do in a mental health crisis. 

  www.kooth.com – This is a free online counselling service providing information and support 

for people aged between 11 and 24 years. Young people can book counselling as regular 

structured sessions with an assigned counsellor, or use the ‘drop in service’ online and have a 

text based conversation with a trained counsellor. The service is available 12noon-10pm 

Monday-Friday and 6pm-10pm on weekends, 365 days a year. To find out more about Kooth 

visit www.kooth.com. 

 Shelf-Help – This scheme provides recommended expert endorsed books about mental health 

for 13-18 year-olds through libraries. The books provide high-quality information, support and 

advice on a wide-range of mental health issues. Topics include anxiety, depression, eating 

disorders, self-harm, bullying and exams. Collections are available through Cambridgeshire 

and Peterborough Libraries’ book list: www.reading-well.org.uk/books/books-on-

prescription/young-people-s-mental-health 

 Mental Health Crisis Support –  access mental health crisis support by dialling 111 and 

selecting option 2. The service is available to anyone, of any age, currently living in 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough in mental health crisis. Individuals may call themselves or 

others can call on behalf of someone in crisis. For more information please visit: 

http://www.cpft.nhs.uk/about-us/mental-health-crisis.htm. 

 Evidence Based Parenting Programmes - evidence based parenting programmes are available 

to parents of children where there are behaviour issues and where there is a suspected 

neurodevelopmental issues. Access to evidence based parenting programmes have been 

developed to provide parents with strategies to manage behaviours.  

 Emotional Health and Wellbeing workers are in the process of being appointed who will work 

with GPs, schools and other community services to support practitioners working with young 

people and families with emotional health and wellbeing needs 

 The procurement of a new Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Service has progressed, 

with a new across county service to be delivered from 1 January 2018. 

290

http://www.kooth.com/
http://www.kooth.com/
http://www.reading-well.org.uk/books/books-on-prescription/young-people-s-mental-health
http://www.reading-well.org.uk/books/books-on-prescription/young-people-s-mental-health
http://www.cpft.nhs.uk/about-us/mental-health-crisis.htm


 Drop-in service Here:Now has been piloted in Peterborough and Huntingdon for young people 

to access a range of support for a number of issues such as: emotional, mental health issues, 

housing,  locality teams.  This has proved to be an effective approach and the pilots have been 

extended.  

Teenage Pregnancy 
The decrease in Peterborough’s teenage conception numbers reflects the interventions and the 
coordinated approach that services across Peterborough have developed and provided over this 
period. These include services that focus upon prevention and providing support to young parents 
during and after the birth of the child. 
 
The Teenage Pregnancy Support Team that developed over several years and includes professionals 
working in schools and education/training, sexual health and contraception services and other health 
services ( termination of pregnancy, maternity, school nursing, health visiting), , social care 
(Safeguarding, Looked After Children, Disabilities), youth services, Youth Offending Services, Pupil 
Referral Units. Each of these services may offer particular interventions or identify a need and refer the 
person on through well-established pathways to a professional who can provide the appropriate 
support.  
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Two workshops have been held to inform the 0-19 integrated service for Children, Young People and 
Families. This will include services provided through the Children’s Centres, Healthy Child Programme 
(Health Visitors, Family Nurse Partnership, School Nursing) and the CCG (Therapies, CAMH, Community 
Paediatrics). This work is being undertaken through the Children’s Joint Commissioning Unit with plans 
for a fully integrated service by April 2019. 
 
Teenage Pregnancy 
The critical element is that the different services work as a virtual team and refer young people through 
established pathways to the appropriate services. For example in terms of prevention opportunities 
during the antenatal and post birth periods when young people are in contact with services they 
receive a referral to the Schools Integration Officer to ensure they are able support to maintain their 
education/training.  
 

291



Emotional, mental health and wellbeing of children and young people  work is overseen by a steering 
group that represents a range of partnerships; local authority, health, voluntary sector, parents, police.  
This partnership approach runs throughout all the developments in this workstream and the 
partnership extends wider to include both local and national input into the national accelerator 
program for i-Thrive.  
 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Develop a CAMH pathway that better meets need and manages demand so that pressures on specialist services are minimised 

 Continuing a pilot approach where additional CPN capacity is aligned with schools to enable better support to be offered to C&YP with emerging 
emotional and mental health difficulties 

 Working with the PSCB to develop a more effective multi-agency response to neglect, focused particularly on addressing early indications of 
neglectful parenting and offering support to prevent patterns becoming established 

 Renew the Child Poverty Strategy in 2016 

 Develop a joint strategy to address high rates of teenage pregnancy 

 Jointly review the commissioning and delivery of services for C&YP with SEND, from age 0-25 

 Consideration of the needs of single parent families in these workstreams 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 

The Family Safeguarding Board has been established and the programme is developing. 
 
Multi-agency Neglect Strategy was launched in October 2016. This included specific tools to help 
practitioners working with families where neglect is a feature (the quality of care tool) at any level in 
the system. This tool helps practitioners to focus on the key underlying issues and includes a distance 
measured tool. As neglect is an area where improvements can be followed by repeated areas of 
difficulty, the distance measured tool helps to identify families where the difficulties are more 
entrenched.  
 
A multi-agency audit of the impact of the strategy completed in April 2017, identified that the tool was 
not yet embedded. A review of the performance and impact measures also identified that these 
needed to be revised if they were to indicate the impact of the strategy.  
 
These findings were confirmed by the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) that was undertaken in 
May/June across the local partnership.  

292



 
The Childrens Safeguarding Board is leading on developing action plans to address the issues identified 
by the audit and inspection.  
 
Jointly review the commissioning and delivery of services for C&YP with SEND, from age 0-25 - a needs 
analysis has been completed by Public Health. A similar needs analysis for Cambridgeshire is being 
undertaken with a view to develop a 10 year SEND strategy across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
 
Child Poverty Strategy – this is monitored regularly by the HWB/SPP Programme Delivery Group.  
Please refer to the August 2017 performance report for progress information. 
 
Teenage Pregnancy Strategy 
There has been a considerable improvement in the teenage pregnancy rate in Peterborough but it has 
remained persistently and statistically significantly higher than the national figure. The fall however in 
the rate does reflect the effective services and systems that were established in Peterborough since 
1998. If the teenage pregnancy rate is to continue to improve and become comparable to national 
figures it will be important to sustain what is known to be effective and address the gaps through 
developing new approaches along with targeting the most vulnerable groups. 
 
The new Strategy will address the need for continued improvement in teenage pregnancy rates. This is 
being taken forward by the newly formed Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sexual Health Delivery 
Board. This Board follows the establishment in May 2017 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Public Health Joint Commissioning Unit.  
 
There is a Local Transformation Plan that is refreshed each October which sets out the achievements 
made in the previous year and outlines the areas for focus going forward.  This is currently being 
refreshed and will provide any overview of the milestones achieved and challenges that remain in 
improving emotional and mental health services for young people. 
 

Risks Neglect is a difficult area to identify and to work with effectively. Some indications show that 
practitioners are struggling to embrace use of the tools and this issue will require systems leadership 
across the partnership to ensure that the benefits for long term outcomes through its use for children 
are understood. 

293



 
Changes in the organisational landscape have destabilised the “virtual” team. Maintaining a committed 
partnership approach to delivering services is key to delivering the Strategy. 
 

Key considerations Neglect: Next key milestone is development of the action plan in response to the JTAI. 
 

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicator 
Ref 

Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status 
Current Time 

Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 
Peterborough Current 

(Indicator Value) 

England 
Current 
Value 

Agreed Target 

1.1a 

CAMH - Number of Children & Young People 

commencing treatment in NHS-funded community 

services 

- 

Indicator will be available as 

of end of Q3 2016/17 (part 

of NHS 5 Year Forward View) 

- - - - 
- 

1.1b 

CAMH - Proportion of Children & Young People with an 

eating disorder receiving treatment within 4 weeks 

(routine) and 1 week (urgent)  

- 

Indicator will be available as 

of end of Q3 2016/17 (part 

of NHS 5 Year Forward View) 

- - - - 
- 

1.1c 
CAMH - Proportion of Children & Young People showing 

reliable improvement in outcomes following treatment 
- 

Indicator will be available in 

2018/19 (part of NHS 5 Year 

Forward View) 

- - - - 
- 

1.1d 

CAMH - Total bed days in CAMHS tier 4 per CYP 

population/total CYP in adult in-patient wards/paediatric 

wards 

- 

Indicator will be available as 

of end of Q3 2016/17 (part 

of NHS 5 Year Forward View) 

- - - - 
- 

1.2 Prevalence of obesity - reception year (proportion, %) 
Decreasing - getter 

better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 259 9.3% 9.3% Match or exceed average 

of CIPFA neighbours 

1.3 Prevalence of obesity - year 6 (proportion, %) 
Increasing - getting 

worse 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 460 19.8% 19.8% 

Reduction of 1.6% per 
year, to reach 13.3% by 

2018/19 

1.4 
Number of young people Not in Education, Employment 

or Training (NEET) (Proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getter 

better 

Peterborough higher (worse) 

than England. Statistical 

significance unavailable 

2016 - 5.0% 4.2% Reduction to 3.5% by 
January 2019 

294



1.5 

Successful implementation of a multi-agency neglect 

strategy resulting in increased early intervention to 

prevent such patterns becoming entrenched 

- 

Strategy launched by 

Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board 13/09/2016 

- - - - 

Jo Procter (Head of Service 
for Adult & Children's 

Safeguarding Boards) to 
provide periodic audit data 

to measure success of 
implementation 

1.6 Under 18 conceptions (crude rate per 1,000) 
Decreasing - getter 

better 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2015 95 28.3 20.8 Reduce by at least same 

rate as England 

1.7 Under 16 conceptions (crude rate per 1,000) 
Decreasing - getter 

better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015 8 2.4 3.7 

Reduce rate by 1.3 per 
year to match previous 

Peterborough best 
(4.7/1,000) 

  

295



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017  

SUBJECT: HEALTH BEHAVIOURS AND LIFESTYLES 

LEAD: LIZ ROBIN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 Develop a joint ‘Prevention Strategy’ to ensure that supporting people to improve and maintain their own health is a key part of managing demand on 
local NHS services 

 Commissioning a joint Drug and Alcohol Service through the Clinical Commissioning Group and Peterborough City Council, which reaches into the 
Hospital. 

 Improve support for local employers to promote healthy workplaces through a new contract with ‘Business in the Community’  
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

A Health System Prevention Strategy has been produced in recognition of the impact of preventable ill 
health has locally. Work includes primary prevention activity undertaken by the Council such as the 
NHS health programme that is being extended through the new healthy lifestyle service that will deliver 
a further 600 health checks in 2017/18.  
 
Admissions to hospital where the primary diagnosis is attributed to alcohol consumption has increased 
and remains higher than the England average. Among females the rate has 2015/16 has remained 
similar to the England average. However, the rate among males has remained consistently higher than 
the England average since 2011/12. 
 
The Healthy Workplace programme is currently supporting 20 local employers who are accessing 
training, the health networks and health champion development opportunities. The programme is also 
facilitating healthy lifestyle support in workplaces that includes outreach health checks. 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  A focus on cardiovascular disease as part of the prevention work being undertaken has led to 
developing plans to reduce variation and increase outcomes in atrial fibrillation that will support the 
aim of managing demand on local NHS services, while the development of the new integrated healthy 
lifestyle service will further support this aim.  
 

296



The partnership has been successful in its migrant funding bid (DCLG) and has been granted funding to 
address the impact of alcohol misuse in the migrant population, which is recognised to be higher within 
this cohort.  A coordinated approach across both Fenland and Peterborough will result in additional 
resource in the way of specialist alcohol outreach workers, Community Connector worker and Healthy 
lifestyle Worker to address health harms, community tensions, and issues surrounding street drinking 
in the migrant populations.  The work streams will involve targeted work within the migrant population 
including alcohol awareness programmes, developing specialist harm reduction/information resources, 
strengthening social media response, upskilling professionals to deliver alcohol brief interventions who 
work with the migrant communities, increasing engagement with complex street drinkers.    
 
The Healthy Workplace programme has been transferred from Business in the Community to Living 
Sport. Support for local employers is unaffected by the transfer and the programme is continuing to 
provide training - such as mental health awareness, develop health networks among local employers 
and support health champions in the workplace.   
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

The workplace programme is a joint commission across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough that 
supports the wider networking of local employers. The programme is also closely aligned with both 
healthy lifestyle services across the area to ensure employers have full access to support services.  

 

  

297



 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Commission an integrated healthy lifestyle service with the aim that people can access one service for help and support with stopping smoking, 
healthy eating, physical activity, weight management and mental wellbeing, linked with services for people with mental and physical health, 
disability and ageing issues 

 Improve our communication with local residents on health issues and to develop local campaigns and access to health information sources in a 
range of settings, which can be trusted to provide reliable advice on healthy lifestyles 

 Recognise the vital role schools play in supporting the health and wellbeing of children and young people through a Healthy Schools Peterborough 
programme 

 Reduce the number of local people developing Type 2 Diabetes 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 
 

The integrated healthy lifestyle service has been commissioned by Peterborough City Council in 
partnership with the Clinical Commissioning Group and began delivery on 01 April 2017. The service is 
delivering clinics from the majority of GP practices and a range of community settings across 
Peterborough. Services are being provided on a one to one basis and through group interventions to 
help local people address health risks such as smoking, inactivity and excess weight.   
 
The Healthy Peterborough campaign programme has been established with monthly campaigns 
delivered on specific health issues, aligned to associated national campaigns to maximise exposure.  
 
The Healthy Schools Peterborough programme was established during the 2016/17 academic year and 
has engaged primary, secondary and special schools. An accreditation process covering Bronze, Silver 
and Gold awards for schools has been developed with 13 schools successfully completing the Bronze 
accreditation to date. Healthy Schools Peterborough Programme Board has been established and will 
direct the development and delivery of the programme from September 2017. 
 
The Healthier You: NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme service has been established across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough to support people at risk of developing Type 2 diabetes. The local 
programme is being delivered by ICS Health and Wellbeing who have established referral processes to 
the programme from GPs, nurses and NHS Health Check professionals. 

 

298



Risks The weight management element of the integrated healthy lifestyle service has been identified as a risk 
as dietetic staff did not transfer as scheduled. A recruitment process has now been completed by the 
provider and new staff appointed to mitigate the risk.  

Key considerations  

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.  

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status 
Current Time 

Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed Target 

2.1 
Smoking Prevalence - All 

(proportion, %) 
Decreasing - getter better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2016 - 17.6% 2.1 Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England 

2.2 
Smoking Prevalence - Routine & 

Manual Occupations (proportion, %) 
Increasing - getting worse 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2016 - 27.9% 2.2 Match or exceed England 

performance 

2.3 
Excess weight in adults (proportion, 

%) 
Increasing - getting worse 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2013-15 - 70.8% 2.3 Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England 

2.4a 
Physically active adults (proportion, 

%) 
Increasing - getter better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015 - 54.7% 2.4a Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England 

2.4b 
Physically inactive adults 

(proportion, %) 
Increasing - getting worse 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2015 - 34.3% 2.4b Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England 

2.5 

The numbers of attendances to 

sport and physical activities 

provided by Vivacity (observed 

numbers) 

Increasing - getter better 
5.7% increase between 

15/16 and 16/17 
2015-16 1,388,710 - 2.5 Increase of year-on-year 

number 

2.6 

Admission episodes for alcohol-

related conditions  - Persons 

(directly standardised rate per 

100,000) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2015-16 1,245 708 2.6 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% 

per year 

2.7 

Admission episodes for alcohol-

related conditions  - Males (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2015-16 800 939 2.7 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% 

per year 

299



2.8 

Admission episodes for alcohol-

related conditions  - Females 

(directly standardised rate per 

100,000) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 445 491 2.8 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% 

per year 

2.9 
The annual incidence of newly 

diagnosed type 2 diabetes (observed 
numbers) 

- 
Awaiting provision from 

CCG 
 - - - - 

TBC - Awaiting data from 
CCG 

  

300



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: LONG TERM CONDITIONS AND PREMATURE MORTALITY 

LEAD: CATH MITCHELL 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The Health & Wellbeing Board commissioned a detailed CVD JSNA for Peterborough, which is now completed 

 The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group ‘Tackling Health Inequalities in Coronary Heart Disease Programme Board’ has worked closely with City Council’s 
public health services to improve uptake of CVD ‘health checks’ for 40-74 year olds and to promote smoking cessation services for people at risk of heart 
and respiratory disease 

 Respiratory Business Case being implemented to increase identification of Patients with COPD, increase patient activation and create Self-Management 
Plans to support patients to remain independent and maximise their outcomes. 

 National Diabetes Treatment and Care Programme National Bid approved by NHSE in three out of four areas we bid for, we are now moving to 
implementation stage and Diabetes prevention programme is being rolled out across GP practices.   
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

Peterborough's directly age-standardised rate of premature mortality due to CVD fell  in 2013-15 from 
statistically worse to statistically similar to England for the first time since 2004-06.  Premature 
mortality from CVD for Women is still significantly higher than the England average.   
Peterborough in 2016/17 financial year delivered 5232 NHS health checks compared to a plan of 6,056 
(86% delivery) 
 
To date 74 Practices have referred patients onto the Diabetes Prevention Programme, and we are 
currently at 68.5% of our overall referral trajectory set by NHSE. We are working closely with a CVD 
Specialist Nurse to help raise awareness and understanding of the programme with Practices. 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  In April 2017 the CVD strategy group, made up of representatives from local authority, CCG, health 
providers, patient forums, undertook a review of NHS Health checks with a specific focus on 

1) Improving consistency in the delivery of NHS health check and recording of data. 
2) Developing more systematic, effective processes for inviting eligible patients and targeting high 

risk patients (where we achieve increasingly low uptake). 
3) Improving patient experience, input and choice of location for Health Check 

301



4) Improving communication & raising awareness about NHS Health checks among local residents  
This has led to the development of a Health Check action plan which is now being implemented across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
A new healthy lifestyle service commenced in Peterborough in April 2017 which includes a new 
outreach service which will deliver health checks in new venues e.g. workplaces, events and engage 
high risk groups which we traditionally have struggled to engage with and target.     
 
Respiratory 
In April 2017 the Health Care Executive approved the Community Respiratory business case for 
implementation and also agreed STP funding.   
 

 We are currently in the process of recruiting to the additional nurse posts with a nominal 
starting date within November.   

 The Community & primary COPD clinics will be trialled in the Peterborough and Wisbech areas 
initially with a CCG wide role out to follow.  

 Practices will be supported to install software (GRASP COPD) that will aid in the identification 
and management of patients with COPD.   

 Four BLF Love Your Lungs campaign lung screening events to be held in September/October 
three of which will be within the Greater Peterborough area. In addition to the BLF the lung 
screening events are supported by the CCG, CPFT, Healthy Peterborough and NWAFT (HHCT 
resp. team).   

 Eight patient workshops around self management and exacerbation control to follow in from 
the lung screening events; these will be held over the following eighteen months. 

 
Diabetes  
£1.5m national funds secured to improve outcomes for people with Diabetes in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough in three areas: 

 Increasing attendance at Structured Education,  

 Improving achievement of the NICE recommended treatment targets (HbA1c, Blood Pressure 
and Cholesterol)  

 Paediatric Treatment Target HbA1c in Peterborough,  

 Implementation of a Multidisciplinary Foot Care Team across North West Anglia NHS 
Foundation Trust.  

302



 
Additional posts are currently being recruited to, and the first interviews are taking place w/c 31st July 
2017.  
 
We are working with Diabetes UK to set up Patient Engagement Events in each of the four localities 
(Cambridge, Fens, Hunts and Peterborough) to enable people to feedback their views on current 
diabetes services and future plans.   
 
We are working closely with local clinicians in Primary, Secondary and Community Care to develop local 
plans for improving outcomes for people with diabetes, and ensuring this aligns to the RightCare 
pathway that was published recently https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-
content/uploads/sites/40/2017/06/rightcare-pathway-diabetes.pdf 
 
We have been proactively contacting Practices in areas of high prevalence of type 2 diabetes 
(particularly Peterborough and Fenland), to increase referrals to the Diabetes Prevention Programme  
and we are now contacting Practices where there have not been referrals to date, to answer queries 
and understand how we can best support this process.   

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

The business case focused on preventing strokes through improved treatment and identification of 
Atrial Fibrillation has been jointly funded by the System Transformation Partnership, Peterborough City 
Better Care Fund, Public Health and NHS England recognising the broad impact of stroke on individuals, 
health and the social care system. 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG are working in Partnership with Cambridgeshire County Council 
and Peterborough City Council to implement the local NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme. This is 
provided by Independent Clinical Services (ICS).  
 

  

303

https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2017/06/rightcare-pathway-diabetes.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2017/06/rightcare-pathway-diabetes.pdf


 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  

 Develop and implement a joint strategy to address CVD in Peterborough 

 Explore a specific programme to work with South Asian communities to address higher rates of diabetes and coronary heart disease  

 Explore options to reduce the risk of stroke within the local population by improved identification of atrial fibrillation  

 A long term conditions needs assessment will be carried out which will cover the wider range of long term conditions including cancer and 
musculoskeletal disorders 

 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 

CVD Strategy 
The CVD strategy group has been meeting bi-monthly since January.  The group has undertaken a deep 
dive into NHS Health Checks and is currently focusing on the planning and implementation of the 
Stroke prevention business case.   
Programme to work with the South Asian Communities 
The new Healthy Peterborough lifestyle service run by Solution for Health commenced in April and has 
been located in the Central area of Peterborough which has the largest south Asian population.  This is 
driving considerable activity through the service.  Scoping work is currently being undertaken with the 
service to investigate how the new outreach service can better target the South Asian population.  
 
AF business case  
Funding for a business case focused preventing strokes through improved treatment and identification 
of AF was approved by the STP in June.  The project is currently in implementation mode with plans to 
go live September.  The project is on schedule and will work with 33 GP practices through a quality 
improvement approach across Peterborough and Wisbech in order to:       
1)  Initiate treatment (blood thinners) to prevent stroke in 350 patients with known AF who are not 
currently receiving treatment. 
2)  Identify 600 additional people over next five years with undiagnosed AF who could be given 
preventative treatment (through pulse checks in flu clinics).  
3) Prevent 100 AF related strokes over the next five years. 
This work will lead to Strokes being prevented  
Long term conditions needs assessment 
Some discreet pieces of work are being undertaken by public health for the musculoskeletal disorders 
STP group, further discussions are ongoing about future needs assessment.    

304



Risks  Ability to recruit skilled workforce in the local area to support Diabetes and COPD work 
programmes. 

 Capacity in primary care to deliver AF programme  

 Capacity to programme manage and deliver CVD Strategy. 

Key considerations Key considerations include how we recruit workforce and shift capacity into the community as well as 
supporting primary care to deliver preventative interventions such as the AF project and NHS Health 
Checks.  
 

 

Performance Indicators: 

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status 
Current Time 

Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value) 
England Value Agreed Target 

3.1 

Under 75 mortality rate from 

all cardiovascular diseases - 

Persons (directly standardised 

rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Statistically significantly worse than 

England 
2013-15 349 86.3 74.6 Reduction in DSR of 0.5% per 

year 

3.2 

Under 75 mortality rate from 

all cardiovascular diseases - 

Males (directly standardised 

rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better Statistically similar to England 2013-15 230 116.6 104.7 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% per 
year 

3.3 

Under 75 mortality rate from 

all cardiovascular diseases - 

Females (directly standardised 

rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Statistically significantly worse than 

England 
2013-15 119 57.7 46.2 

Continue recent trend of 
reduction in DSR of 

2.45/100,000 per year 

3.4 

Inequalities between electoral 

wards in emergency CVD 

hospital admissions (disparity 

in directly standardised rate 

per 100,000) 

Increasing - getting worse 

Disparity between most deprived 

20% and least deprived 80% has 

increased between 2013/14 and 

2014/15 

2014-15 N/A 305.8 N/A 

Reduction in DSR of most 
deprived 20% of 

Peterborough electoral 
wards of 2% per year 

3.5 
Recorded Diabetes 

(proportion, %) 
Increasing - getting worse Statistically similar to England 2014-15 9,740 6.5% 6.4% Match or exceed England 

trend 

305



3.6a 

The rate of hospital admissions 

for stroke (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Rate has reduced, national 

benchmark unavailable 
2014-15 369 250.7 N/A Reduction in DSR of 1% per 

year 

3.6b 

The rate of hospital admissions 

for heart failure (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Rate has reduced, national 

benchmark unavailable 
2014-15 335 235.2 N/A Reduction in DSR of 1% per 

year 

3.7 

Outcomes for a wider range of 

long term conditions will be 

defined following completion 

of the long term conditions 

needs assessment 

- 

To be decided upon completion of 

relevant Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 
- 

  

306



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: 02.08.17.17 

SUBJECT: MENTAL HEALTH FOR ADULTS OF WORKING AGE 

LEAD: WENDI OGLE-WELBOURN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The Joint Suicide Prevention Strategy and implementation plan for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough is being delivered 

 The local ‘Crisis Care Concordat’ implementation plan aimed at reducing the incidence of mental health crisis and the use of Section 136 of the 
Mental Health Act is being delivered within the agreed time frames.  Improvements include a new mental health crisis care telephone helpline 
through the 111 service (option 2), that connects with a community First Response Service (FRS). A community place of safety or 'sanctuary' has 
been set up to offer support to people in mental health crisis. This service has been nominated for a Positive Practice Award.  

 Implementation of the Joint Peterborough Mental Health Commissioning Strategy includes redesign of the mental health accommodation 
pathway, increased choice of housing options, a placement model of employment support, stronger links between commissioners and clear focus 
on the right support, the first time, at the right place, by the right people 
 

Current Activities: Performance narrative and 
statistics. (Please refer to relevant 
performance measures of success).  

1. Suicide Prevention 
Metrics: Suicide Rates: Persons/Males/Females: Standardised rate per 100,000 population 
Performance: 2013-1015 three year average 'rolling' data: All persons: 8.4% Decreasing, getting better 
and better than the England value (10.1%) 
Males: 11.5% Decreasing, getting better; better than the England value (15.8%) 
Females: Data redacted due to low numbers (not statistically significant) (New data not yet available – 
therefore no change)  
An annual suicide audit has been carried out for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire since 2014. Early 
indications suggest that the total number of suicides in Peterborough reduced duriing 2016. 
 
2. Crisis Prevention 
Metric: Rates of use of Section 136 under the Mental Health Act  
Performance: Instances of use of Section 136 under the Mental Health Act in Peterborough decreased 
during 2016/17 and continue to reduce. Figures are currently being audited. The final outturn 2016/17 
and in-year figures  will be included in the next report.  

307



3. Mental Health Housing and Accommodation 
Metric: Adults in contact with mental health services in settled accommodation 
Performance: Increasing (80% at April 2017) – getting better and statistically better than England 
(58.5%) (31% previously reported; this is likely to be an under reporting of the actual values)  
 
4. Employment  
Metric: Adults in contact with mh services in employment 
Performance: 10.5% at April 2017):  Increasing – getting better although and statistically better than 
England (8.8%) (4.6% previously reported; this is likely to be an under reporting of the actual values) 
 
5. Stronger Links Between Commissioners 
Performance: Performance is improving in 5 out of the 6 areas with meaningful measures 
Metrics: Improvement in performance against the prioritised metrics;   
 
6. The Right Support, the First Time, at the Right Place, by the Right People 
Performance: Performance is improving in respect of the items for which there is full and robust data In 
the future it will be possible to track progress as anomalies in the approach to data collection have now 
been addressed. Metrics: Improvement in performance against the prioritised metrics  
 

Current Activities: narrative update on  
workstreams 

1. Suicide Prevention 
i) The Suicide Prevention Strategy is being refreshed with completion and sign off schedule for the 
Autumn of 2017.  
ii) The strategy will be underpinned by a ‘Zero Suicide ambition’ for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire. 
Work to progress this initiated on 21.02.17 continues.  
iii)  A bid for £70k investment to the STP to support delivery of the Suicide Prevention Strategy has 
been successful. The proposal is to expand the workforce employed to deliver the Suicide Prevention 
Strategy in order to deliver suicide prevention training to GPs and to implement a support service for 
people who have been bereaved or affected by suicide.  
iv) The STOP suicide project, which includes suicide prevention training, anti-stigma work, awareness 
raising and a website of resources is continuing to be commissioned from MIND. 
v) Barriers have been erected on the Queensgate shopping Centre car parks. There have been no 
recorded suicides since the barrier work was implemented. 
 

308



2. Crisis Prevention 
i) Excellent progress is being made with implementation of the Crisis Concordat Action Plan with 
progress being to or ahead of time on most of the 17 priorities.  
ii) The focus of activity is ensuring that the new requirements arising from the Police and Crime Act will 
be met across the health and care system. Action to address potential gaps was initiated late in June 
2017. The Board will be alerted to any areas of concern in the next report. This will allow the Board to 
consider areas that may need more focussed and senior attention to resolve.  
 
3. Mental Health Housing and Accommodation 
i) It is likely that the figures previously reported were inaccurate with performance being under 
reported. The next report will start to show the ongoing trend in performance.  
ii) Housing and accommodation has been prioritised by Peterborough commissioners. Mental health is 
included within the work being undertaken. Significant work is being undertaken with providers to 
develop the market to increase both the range and choice of accommodation and the capacity 
available. This includes increasing capacity in the accommodation available for people stepping down 
from forensic/secure services.  
 
4. Employment  
i) It is likely that the figures previously reported were inaccurate with performance being under 
reported. The next report will start to show the ongoing trend in performance.  
ii) Improvement of employment outcomes has been prioritised by PCC, CCC and the CCG which are 
working increasingly collaboratively.   
iii) Work to develop an effective pathway to employment for people with mental health problems was 
initiated on 29.06.17 through a multi-agency workshop. PCC, CCC, CPFT, DWP CCG, service users and a 
number of mental health voluntary sector organizations were represented. Work is underway to 
finalise the vision and identify priorities for improvement. An action plan will be completed during the 
summer for discussion at the follow up workshop on 18.09.17 at which the key components of a multi-
agency strategy and action/implementation plan will be agreed.  
iv) Individual Placement Support (IPS) is specified as one of the key components of an effective 
employment pathway in the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health. Work with the CCG is underway 
to understand and include the role of IPS as appropriate in the employment pathway.  
v) The service currently commissioned for Peterborough residents from Richmond Fellowship is not 
delivering against the targets and specification. It is therefore being decommissioned. A decision 

309



regarding what is needed in Peterborough to support people into employment will be made through 
the work initiated in June to develop an effective Cambridgeshire and Peterborough employment 
pathway. Action will be taken to identify and address any gaps identified in the Peterborough pathway.  
 
5. Stronger Links Between Commissioners 
i) Work to establish a Mental Health Joint Commissioning Unit continues. A decision about the most 
effective governance, structure and arrangements will be made at the 23.08.17 Joint Commissioning 
Group meeting with a recommendation to be made to the October Joint Commissioning Board and the 
CCG CEC.  
ii) The STP MH Strategy Group has continued to meet bi-monthly.   
 
6. The Right Support, the First Time, at the Right Place, by the Right People 
i) The enhanced primary care mental health pathway to be delivered through the PRISM service has 
been revised in order to ensure that the Care Act responsibilities of CPFT, including as required in of 
social care through the Section 75 Partnership Agreement, are discharged.  
iii) The focus of both commissioners and providers on improving both crisis care - including prevention 
and suicide prevention is continuing. (See 2 above).   
 

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Bring together findings from the Peterborough Mental Health JSNA (2015) and refresh the Mental Health Commissioning Strategy in 2016, to 
tailor implementation plans to address unmet mental health need 

 A new recovery coach service to support people after discharge from secondary care and during transitions by connecting between third sector, 
local authority and mental health services 

 An enhanced Primary Care Mental Health Service is planned to support people with greater needs upon discharge from secondary care.  This will 
operate through community based teams 

 The new Mental Health Commissioning and Delivery Partnership Board which includes representatives of carers and the voluntary sector, will 
ensure that the needs of carers are considered in joint planning of services 

 Service user representation will also be invited to the Partnership Board 
 

310



Future Plans: Progress 
against key milestones 

Milestone 1: Bring together findings from the Peterborough Mental Health JSNA (2015) and refresh the Mental Health 
Commissioning Strategy in 2016, to tailor implementation plans to address unmet mental health need 
 
i)  The HWB can now be assured that Engagement on the MH Strategy is robust and complete. The work requested by the 
CCC HWB to ensure that there is clarity about the outcomes/impact of the strategy is also complete. The process of final 
sign off of the strategy by both HWBs is being confirmed.    
 
Milestone 2: A new recovery coach service to support people after discharge from secondary care and during transitions 
by connecting between third sector, local authority and mental health services 
i) The Recovery Coach service continues to deliver strong outcomes. Council and CCG commissioners are considering ways 
to build on the impact they have had within the mental health commissioning strategy going forwards.  
 
Milestone 3: An enhanced Primary Care Mental Health Service is planned to support people with greater needs upon 
discharge from secondary care.  This will operate through community based teams.  
See 6 ii) above.  
 
Milestone 4: The new Mental Health Commissioning and Delivery Partnership Board which includes representatives of 
carers and the voluntary sector, will ensure that the needs of carers are considered in joint planning of services 
i) Improvement in the identification of carers of people with mental needs is a key priority 2017/18. This is being addressed 
directly with CPFT and with The Carers Trusts as well as being addressed within the joint Council and CCG review of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Carers Strategy.   
ii) Work to improve outcomes and experience of carers in contact with CPFT is continuing and will be captured in the new 
Carers Schedule within the revised Mental Health Section 75 Partnership Agreement to be implemented from 01.04.18.   
iii) Council and CCG commissioners meet jointly with Rethink Carers Support and Healthwatch on a quarterly basis to discuss 
concerns with mental health care and services.  
iv) The Peterborough and Cambridgeshire MH Stakeholder Group meets quarterly to provide a forum for engagement with 
the wider mental health stakeholder group, including carers.    
 
Milestone 5: Service user representation will also be invited to the Partnership Board 
i) The Peterborough MH Stakeholder Group has been extended to include Cambridgeshire with the first joint meeting being 
held on met on 14.06.17. 02.02.17. This group fulfils the Partnership Board function for mental health for both Councils. The 
SUN Network which is commissioned to ensure effective mental health service user representation is a member, 
representing service users.  

311



Risks i) That there is insufficient resource, despite efficiencies being achieved by addressing duplication and improving joint 
working and synergies, across the health and social care system to support all the developments identified as being required 
to improve access to services and outcomes by the various workstreams. Mitigation: to minimise inefficiencies e.g. 
duplication and overly complicated processes and pathways;  to improve promotion/prevention and early intervention 
including effective information, advice and signposting; to minimise duplication and maximise integration/seamlessness of 
pathways and services commissioned by the Councils and CCG – through the Mental Health Joint Commissioning Unit.  
ii) That the complexities and time needed to meet the internal governance requirements of each organization slows 
progress and significantly slows delivery of the potential benefits of working collaboratively.  Mitigation: Establish joint 
commissioning for mental health care.   

Key considerations i) The work to identify and interrogate opportunities to work jointly across the whole system requires support from the 
senior managers and others within the key organizations involved to maximise the benefit of the opportunities.   
ii) Reporting and governance within the 3 organizations can be time consuming and slow progress. Exploration of models to 
establish joint commissioning for mental health will help to address this.  

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.   

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicator Ref Indicator 
Peterborough 

Trend 
Current Status Current Time Period 

Peterborough Current 
(#) 

Peterborough Current (Indicator Value) 
England 

Value 
Agreed 
Target 

4.1 

Hospital admissions caused by 

unintentional and deliberate injuries 

in young people (15-24 years, crude 

rate per 10,000) 

Increasing - getting 

worse 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2015-16 431 189.5 134.1 

- 

4.2 
Rates of use of section 136 under 

the mental health act 
- 

Instances of S136 use in 

Peterborough have 

fallen but this is partly 

attributable to closing 

of Cavell Centre. 

Constabulary suggest 

target should be based 

around avoiding use of 

police stations as place 

of safety 

2015-16 20 - - 
- 

312



4.3 
Suicide Rate - Persons (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter 

better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2013-15 42 8.4 10.1 

- 

4.4 
Suicide Rate - Males (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter 

better 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2013-15 29 11.5 15.8 

- 

4.5 
Suicide Rate - Females (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000) 
- 

Data redacted due to 

low numbers 
2013-15 - - - 

- 

4.6 
Hospital readmission rates for 

mental health problems 
- 

Awaiting provision from 

CPFT 
- - - - 

- 

4.7a 
Adults in contact with mental health 

services in settled accommodation 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2012-13 410 30.7% 58.5% 

- 

4.7b 
Adults in contact with mental health 

services in employment 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Statistically significantly 

worse than England 
2012-13 65 4.8% 8.8% 

- 

4.8 

Carers for people with mental health 

problems receiving services advice 

or information 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Remains below England 

(statistical significance 

not calculated 

2013-14 5 2.9% 19.5% 
- 

  

313



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITY AND/OR SENSORY IMPAIRMENT 

LEAD: CHARLOTTE BLACK 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The Council and CCG have agreed a strategy for supporting older people and adults with long term conditions within the BCF plan, working 
together to support people with disabilities through data sharing, 7 day working, person centred system, information / communication / advice, 
ageing healthily and prevention 

 The Learning Disability Partnership maintains an overview of needs and services for people with a learning disability in Peterborough 

 A Vulnerable People’s Housing Sub-Group has been established, which will review how local housing needs for vulnerable people, including 
people with disabilities, should be addressed 

 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

 
Performance reporting requirements to be set. 
 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  The first meeting of the Physical Disability Board took place May 2017 and developed the Terms of 
Reference and the Forward Plan for the next 12 months.  
 
The Sensory Partnership Board is now being developed and membership scoped. Both Boards will 
report into the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
Considerable work is being undertaken on the development of the Local Offer which is a website and 
database of information for children and young people up to the age of 25 who have special 
educational needs and/or disabilities.    
 
The Local Offer is being amalgamated with the Families Information Service and is being developed and 
co-produced with Family Voice, the Youth Access Champions and partners from health. 
  

314



The results of the 2016/17 Carers Survey are currently being analysed and an action plan 
devised.  Work is being undertaken with Carers Trust Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, including 
sending a regular magazine to all carers. 
  
The Care and Support Directory for 2017/18 is currently being printed and will be distributed in August 
2017. 
 
During February the 2016/17 Adult Social Care User Experience Survey was posted out. A total of 1557 
surveys were posted out to service users with a further 1070 letters sent to non-responders with a 
second copy of the survey included.  In total a response rate of 51% was achieved, very high for a postal 
survey. This year the survey contained a targeted question about the reasons that people don’t feel 
safe.  The same question was included by other local authorities in the Eastern region to be able to 
benchmark results.  The results will be used to inform safety strategies including the integrated Falls 
Prevention programme. People said that the things that concerned them most were: 
 

 Falling over inside the house (192 people) 
 Falling over outside (156 people) 
 Uneven, dangerous pavements (145 people) 

 
These were also the top three results for other local authorities who included this question in their 
surveys. 
 
The Vulnerable Persons Housing Sub Group - the group continues to be on hold while the leadership of 
the PHP is being determined. A meeting was scheduled between Simon Machen (the out going chair) 
and Claire Higgins the in coming chair) for 26th June and handover of this role was part of the agenda.  
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Working with Family Voice, Youth Access Champions and partners from health to amalgamate the Local 
Offer with the Families Information Service. 
 
Working with the service user group at the Alzheimer's Society to develop a brochure for people with 
dementia and their carers. 
 

 

315



HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Implementation of strategy for supporting older people and adults with long term conditions 

 Work with users of St George’s hydrotherapy pool to explore future options for sustainability 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 
 

 

Risks  
 

Key considerations  
 

  

Performance Indicators: 

 
Indicat
or Ref 

Indicator 
Peterborough 

Trend 
Current Status Current Time Period 

Peterborough 
Current (#) 

Peterborough Current 
(Indicator Value) 

England Value Agreed Target 

5.1a 
Adults with learning disabilities in 

employment (proportion, %) 

Increasing - getter 

better 
Statistically similar to England 2013-14 55 8.4% 6.7% Match or exceed England 

performance 

5.1b 

ASCOF - Percentage of adults known to 

Adult Social Care in employment (to 

increase) (proportion, %) 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Statistically significantly worse than 

England 
2012-13 65 4.8% 8.8% Match or exceed England 

performance 

5.2a 
Adults with learning disabilities in 

settled accommodation (proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting 

worse 
Statistically similar to England 2013-14 475 72.5% 74.9% 

Improve by 0.5% per year 

5.2b 

Adults in contact with mental health 

services in settled accommodation 

(proportion, %) 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Statistically significantly worse than 

England 
2012-13 410 30.7% 58.5% Improve at greater rate than 

national average 

316



5.3 

ASCOF - Permanent residential 

admissions of adults to residential care 

(to decrease) (65+, proportion, %) 

Increasing - getting 

worse 
Statistically similar to England 2013-14 20 17.3% 14.4% 

1% decrease per year 

5.4 
Numbers of adults in receipt of assistive 

technology 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Green RAG status to reflect consistent 

increase in recipients 
Feb-17 

5,131 (predicted 

end of year) 
- - 

Year-on-year increase 

5.5a 

Adult Social Care service user survey 

quality of life measure - carer-reported 

quality of life 

Decreasing - getting 

worse 
Statistically similar to England 2014-15 - 7.3 7.9 

Improve each year 

5.5b 

Adult Social Care service user survey 

quality of life measure - social care-

related quality of life 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Statistical significance not calculated - 

Peterborough value has fallen between 

2012-13 and 2013-14 and is now below 

that of England 

2015-16 - 19.1% 19.1% 
Year-on-year increase 

5.6 

Number of adults with social care needs 

receiving short term services to 

increase independence 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Green RAG status to reflect consistent 

increase in recipients 
Feb-17 

1,498 (Predicted 

end of year) 
- - 

Year-on-year increase 

5.7 
Number of adults with social care needs 

requesting support, advice or guidance 

Increasing - getter 

better 

Rate per 100,000 is 490.8, currently 

below target rate of 658/100,000 
Sep-16 - 490.8 - 

658.0/100,000 

  

317



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: AGEING WELL 

LEAD: CHARLOTTE BLACK 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 A service model has been developed by local NHS commissioners and community service providers, local Councils and voluntary organisations to 
enable people to age well and to live the life they want to lead by: 

o Providing high quality, responsive care and support 
o Integrated working across health, social care and third sector services in Peterborough to ensure that care is joined-up around the needs 

of individuals within local communities, and avoidable admissions to hospital and care can be prevented 
o This is supported by jointly agreed plans for the BCF 

 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

Indicators currently showing green:  

 Health checks: the total number of health checks delivered to over 40s remains significantly 
above the England average.  

 Feeling safe: The proportion of people who use services who say that those services have made 
them feel safe and secure is statistically significantly better than England.  

 
Indicators currently showing red:  

 Falls: The rate of injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over is still statistically significantly 
worse than England. However, there is a positive trend over time with the rate of falls 
decreasing. This issue is being addressed by the CCG-wide falls prevention programme.  

 Feeling safe: The proportion of people who use services who feel safe is statistically 
significantly worse than England. However, there is a positive trend over time with the 
proportion of people feeling safe increasing. It is important to note that the proportion of 
people who use services who say that the services have made them feel safe and secure is still 
significantly better than England.  

318



  Social isolation: the proportion of carers who have as much social contact as they would like is 
significantly worse than England. This has been identified as a priority area by the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Ageing Well Strategy Board (see below for further details).  

Narrative update on  workstreams   Dementia: The Older People Mental Health Delivery Board is bringing together agencies across 
the health and social care system to develop an integrated plan to improve outcomes for 
people living with dementia across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. A multi-agency strategy 
that reflects local need and responds with current evidence-based practice to inform future 
provision and support is being developed. The strategy uses the following Well Pathway for 
Dementia domains: (i) Preventing Well (ii) Diagnosing Well (iii) Supporting Well (iv) Living Well 
(v) Dying Well. A system-wide dementia business case is currently going through STP approval 
processes; it seeks investment for a Dementia Nurse Consultant leadership post, development 
of the Dementia Intensive Support Services (DIST), education and training, carer support and 
end of life preparation.  

 

 Falls prevention: Implementation of the CCG-wide falls prevention business case has now 
commenced. The aim of the project is to implement a comprehensive, standardised and 
integrated falls prevention pathway across the CCG area of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
This will include:  
- Increased provision and improved quality of evidence-based targeted interventions e.g. 

strength and balance classes, future development of fracture liaison services.  
- Proactive identification of those at risk of falls.  
- Comprehensive multifactorial assessment offered to those at risk of falling with 

appropriate intervention plan to address risk identified.  
- Strengthened system-wide integration and co-ordination.  
Implementation is being overseen by a small, multi-agency group with strategic oversight from 
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Falls Preventions Working Groups and the Ageing Well 
Strategy Board.  

 

 Social isolation: Social isolation has been determined a priority by the Ageing Well Strategy 
Board, alongside other priorities including falls prevention and dementia. This reflects the need 
described in the ‘red’ performance indicator and feedback from stakeholders, including at the 
Ageing Well Prioritisation Event which took place in May 2017. The Campaign to End Loneliness 
has received funding to work intensively in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough with the aim of 

319



reducing loneliness in older people. The first stages of the work will be a mapping and 
consultation exercise to establish agreed solutions locally.  
 

 Integrated Commissioning and the Better Care Fund (BCF): A new Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Integrated Commissioning Board has been set up to agree opportunities for a 
common approach to commissioning, develop strategies, deliver sustainable transformation 
and provide oversight of the BCF plans and pooled budgets.  Due to delays in the publication of 
the national guidance, the 2017/18 plans for the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Better Care 
Funds are currently being drafted.  
 

 Older People: Primary Prevention of Ill Health JSNA: the JSNA has been completed and signed 
off by the Health and Wellbeing Board. Work will now commence to communicate the findings 
of the JSNA and implement recommendations.  

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

 The dementia strategy is being co-produced by the multi-agency Older People Mental Health 
Delivery Board, with representation from adult services, public health, health service 
commissioners and providers, and the voluntary sector.  

 The falls prevention pathway has been co-produced and is being implemented by colleagues from 
public health, CPFT and the CCG. Funding has been secured from both public health and the STP.  

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 The HWB has commissioned an ‘Older People: Primary Prevention of Ill Health’ JSNA for Peterborough, which is due for completion during 2016 

 Develop a joint ‘Healthy Ageing and Prevention Agenda’ to ensure that preventative action is integrated and responsible to best support people to 
age well, live independently and contribute to their communities for as long as possible, including isolation and loneliness 

 Review and refresh the joint dementia strategy for Peterborough 

 A specific programme of work, in collaboration with older residents, will explore the main health and care issues faced by this group to inform 
future commissioning of services across the system and how stronger communities can empower people to self-manage with minimal support 

 Recognise that some older people prefer face to face communication rather than digital, through community hubs which are part of the Council’s 
wider strategy for communicating with the public 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 

 Milestone 1: Falls Prevention 

320



 
 
 

Implementation of the business case is underway using learning from a pilot in St. Ives, which 
completed recently (see above for further details). 
 
Milestone 2: Mental Health and Dementia  
Joint dementia strategy is under development and business case for investment from the STP is going 
through the approval process (see above for further details).  
 
Milestone 3: Continence and UTIs 
Further development of gaps and priorities is being undertake.  
 
Milestone 4: Community VCS  

Risks As below 
 

Key considerations  
Previous considerations:  

 STP governance is currently being reviewed by SDU for greater clarify on board roles and 
alignment with BCF governance.  

 LDR investment will not be available from NHS Digital until April 2017.  

 Better Care Fund planning for 2017/18 will need to incorporate plans for achieving health and 
social care integration by 2020 and future initiatives, e.g. devolution, will need to be factored 
into those plans.  

 

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.  

 

  

321



Performance Indicators:  

 

Indicator 
Ref 

Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status 
Current Time 

Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current 

(Indicator 
Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed Target 

6.1a 

Injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over 

(Persons, Directly Standardised rate per 

100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Statistically significantly worse 

than England 
2015-16 663 2,348 2,169 Match or exceed 

England performance 

6.1b 
Numbers of over 40s taking up NHS health 

check offers 
Increasing - getter better 

Total of health checks 

delivered remains significantly 

above England average 

2016/17 Q3 1,362 2.7% 2.0% Match or exceed 
England performance 

6.1c 

Report on take up of any preventative service 

commissioned directly as part of STP in the 

future 

- TBC - - - - 
- 

6.2 
Reducing avoidable emergency admissions 

(BCF), (crude rate per 100,000) 
Decreasing - getter better Statistically similar to England Mar-13 328 176.0 178.9 Match or exceed 

England performance 

6.3a 
The proportion of people who use services 

who feel safe (proportion, %) 
Increasing - getter better 

Statistically significantly worse 

than England 
2015-16 1,514 65.0% 69.2% 

Exceed England 
performance in order to 

reach statistical 
similarity 

6.3b 

The proportion of people who use services 

who say that those services have made them 

feel safe and secure (proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting worse 
Statistically significantly better 

than England 
2015-16 2,059 88.0% 85.4% Match or exceed 

England performance 

6.4 

Using an Outcomes Framework - covering 

several key priority areas for older people in 

relation to their NHS care and the Social Care 

Outcomes Framework 

- 

Will be expanded as part of on-

going work with Clinical 

Commissioning Group on 

Sustainability & 

Transformation (STP) Plans 

- - - - 
- 

6.5 

Social Isolation: % of adults carers who have as 

much social contact as they would like 

(proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting worse 
Statistically significantly worse 

than England 
2014-15 - 29.7% 38.5% Match or exceed 

England performance 

6.6 
Carer-reported quality of life score for people 

caring for someone with dementia 
- 

Indicator provided for the first 

time in 2014-15. Peterborough 

has a lower score than England 

2014-15 - 6.7% 7.7% Match or exceed 
England performance 

322



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: PROTECTING HEALTH 

LEAD: DR LIZ ROBIN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  

 

● Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG has convened a joint TB commissioning group, to develop a plan to commission accessible and responsive 

services.  The first task has been to develop a plan for implementation of Latent TB (LTBI) screening in line with the national TB strategy and a 

successful bid for pilot funding was submitted to Public Health England 

● The Health Protection Steering Group, which involves the City Council, local NHS and Public Health England, has oversight of immunisation and 

screening uptake, task and finish groups to look at uptake issues for immunisation and screening have completed reports and implementation 

groups are due to take forward the recommendations 

● A multi-agency sexual health strategy group is due to commence work shortly, convened by Peterborough City Council, to look at a range of 

sexual health issues, not just communicable diseases 

 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 

include updates on local indicators / trends, 

key outcomes achieved and updates on those 

national indicators currently showing red) 

● The LTBI (latent TB) screening pilot is now active and in the period from May 2016 to January 
2017, a total of 325 people were screened, with 38 screen positive and 7 borderline positive 
results.  

● Work on late diagnosis of HIV and lower rates of Chlamydia screening were both flagged as 
priorities in the Peterborough Sexual Health Needs Assessment, and work on this is being taken 
forward by the multi-agency delivery board (see below).   

   

Narrative update on  workstreams  ● In May the Health protection steering group received reports on progress of the task groups set 
up to improve screening and implementation uptake in Peterborough. There has been an 
improvement in uptake of pre-natal pertussis (whooping cough) vaccination and Peterborough 
hospital are now offering the vaccination to women within the antenatal clinic.  

 

323



Examples of partnership working (services, 

projects, co-production/design etc) 

 

 

 

● The multi-agency Sexual Health delivery board is now established, working across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. It will take forward the priorities identified from the 
Peterborough Sexual Health Needs Assessment.    

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  

● Develop a TB commissioning plan for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

● Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of screening including improved communication with communities and individuals 

● Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of immunisation including improved communication with communities and individuals 

● Develop a Peterborough Joint Sexual Health Strategy, covering a range of issues 

 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 

and local indicators/trends 

 

 

 

 

 A detailed local Cambridgeshire and Peterborough TB profile has been prepared by PH England 
and reviewed by C&P Health Protection Steering Group. There are improvements in the 
proportion of drug sensitive TB cases completing treatment.  

 Joint action plan on immunisation uptake is being taken forward through the multi-agency 
immunisations sub-group of the HPSG 

 Local Authority public health representation has now been established on NHS England 
Screening Programme Boards, which will support implementation of the action plans to 
increase screening uptake.  

 An action plan to address sexual health outcomes in Peterborough is being taken forward 
through the C&P sexual health delivery group, based on the Peterborough sexual health needs 
assessment.  

Risks  High levels of attendances and activity in local sexual health services 

Key considerations All key health protection outcomes require a high level of collaborative working across the local 

authority, NHS England, Public Health England and the Clinical Commissioning Group. This is brokered 

324



through the Health Protection Steering Group, TB Network, multi-agency immunisation and screening 

groups/programme boards and the C&P Sexual Health Delivery Board.  

 

Performance Indicators: 

 
Indicator 

Ref 
Indicator 

Peterborough 
Trend 

Current Status Current Time Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 
Peterborough Current 

(Indicator Value) 
England 

Value 
Agreed Target 

7.1 
Percentage of eligible people 

screened for latent TB infection 
- Awaiting provision from CCG  -  - -   - 

- 

7.2 

Percentage of eligible newborn 

babies given BCG vaccination 

(aim 90%+) 

- Awaiting provision from NHSE  - -   - -  
- 

7.3 

Proportion of drug sensitive TB 

cases who had completed a full 

course of treatment by 12 

months (proportion, %) 

Increasing - getter 

better 
Statistically similar to England 2014 35 85.4% 84.4% 

Match or exceed England performance 

7.4 
Evidence of increasing uptake 

of screening and immunisation 
- 

Peterborough currently amber or 

green for 8/10 chosen indicators 

 

2015-16 8/10 - - 

• Achieve 95% performance for years 2016/17, 
2017/18 and 2018/19 where this is already 
being achieved or close to being achieved 

(Dtap/IPV/Hib (1 year old and 2 years old), MMR 
for one dose (5 years old) 

• Improve MMR for two doses (5 years old) to 
national benchmark goal of 90% by 2018/19 

• For all other indicators, maintain 90% 
performance for years 2016/17 and 2017/18 and 

improve to 95% for 2018/19 

7.5 
HIV late diagnosis (proportion, 

%) 

Increasing - getting 

worse 

Remains above benchmark goal 

of 50.0% 
2013-15 23 60.5% 40.3% Return to 25% to 50% (PHOF Amber 'Rag') by 

2017-19 

7.6a 
Chlamydia- proportion aged 15-

24 screened (proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting 

worse 

Statistically significantly worse 

than England 
2015 4,203 18.5% 22.5% Increase to at least previous best of 24.7% 

(requires increase of 2.05% per year) 

7.6b 
Increase in chlamydia detection 

rate (proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting 

worse 

Remains above benchmark goal 

of 2,300/100,000 
2015 569 2,499 1,887 Benchmark goal already reached - maintain and 

improve by 1% per year 

 

325



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: GROWTH, HEALTH AND THE LOCAL PLAN 

LEAD: SIMON MACHEN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The Environmental Capital Action Plan describes the following actions: 
o Secure funding to increase the number of Green Flag awards to 6  
o Nene Park Trust will continually raise the quality of its facilities and improve the participation and engagement of visitors  
o Seek funding to carry out a feasibility study into local, sustainable food production  
o Achieve Fairtrade city status  
o Develop planning guidance to support local food  

 The health of residents is being specifically considered in the new Local Plan, consideration will be given to the access needs of vulnerable and 
marginalised groups 

 Public Health outcomes and/or objectives will be added to the Plan 

 Public Health advice will be embedded into the City Council’s Growth and Regeneration Directorate, through a post which will work with local land 
use and transport planners to consider the impact of land use planning on health 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

A new Environment Action Plan was adopted in April 2017. There are now two action plans – one for 
council and one that is citywide. The last annual report on the old action plan is due to be published 
shortly. Performance for current activities is as follows:  

 Secure funding to increase the number of Green Flag awards to 6 – there are currently 5. Ferry 
Meadows decided not to re-apply for green flag status but to focus on similar accreditation 
more suitable for country parks 

 Nene Park Trust will continually raise the quality of its facilities and improve the participation 
and engagement of visitors - . Indicators are performing well with a significantly higher than 
expected number of visits to the park. Satisfaction dipped slightly in quarter two due to the 
introduction of parking charges but recovered slightly in quarter three and as such has been 
rated green overall 

326



 Seek funding to carry out a feasibility study into local, sustainable food production – not 
achieved but continuing to seek suitable sources of external funding in order to deliver this 
target.  

 Achieve Fairtrade city status – not yet achieved. This action has been carried over to the new 
city wide action plan 

 Develop planning guidance to support local food – this has now been superseded by the 
emerging Local Plan. This Plan has been assessed against the 10 themes of the Environmental 
Capital Action plan. The emerging Local Plan’s objective ‘to promote the conservation and wise 
use of productive land’ contributes to delivering the theme of Local and Sustainable Food. 

Narrative update on  workstreams  Local Plan 
Following on from the consultation of the further Draft version of the emerging Local Plan (which took 
place 16/12/16 – 09/02/17) a review of the comments received has been undertaken, including the 
submission from public health, and the Plan is currently in the process of being updated, taking into 
account the comments made, in preparation for the final consultation on the Proposed Submission 
version. 
The current draft now includes:  

 some changes to health policy (LP7) – including more detailed requirements relating to Health 
Impact Assessments for larger residential schemes and guidance will be made available on 
preparing a HIA for smaller residential schemes. 

 While the emerging Plan does not include a requirement for dwellings to be built to the 
optional National Space Standards, a requirement will be incuded in the Proposed Submission 
version that ensures that new dwellings have adequate amenities as part of the planning 
requirement.  

 The Proposed Submission version will include updated open space standards which set how 
much open space is required and the threshold for onsite provision. 

 All policies in the Plan will be assessed against sustainability criteria which is based on the 
council’s Environment action plan themes. 

Consultation on the Proposed Submission version of the emerging Local Plan is due to commence in 
Nov 2017 for a six week period. This version of the plan will then be submitted to central government 
who will appoint an independent planning Inspector to carry out a public examination into the 
document.  It is anticipated that the new Plan will be adopted by end of 2018. 
 

327



Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Public Health are now embedded within Growth and Regeneration and have established good links 
with the various teams within the Directorate including Housing and Strategic Planning.  
As well as Providing feedback on the Local Plan consultation, a strategic meeting involving the Director 
of Public Health and the Director of Growth and Regeneration took place in April to discuss the profile 
of health and wellbeing within the emerging Local Plan, and liaison between officers is ongoing as the 
Plan continues to develop. 
 

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  

 Strategic planning to undertake training with Development Management officers on Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and develop guidance for 
planners and developers on optimising health and wellbeing for smaller residential schemes. 

 Strategic planning to attend a Developers Forum meeting to brief them on the Health policy. 

 Public Health to look at available data around fast food outlets in Peterborough and consider options around possible guidance on their future 
location  

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 
 

Milestone 1: Strategic planners are in discussion with development planners about the use of HIA as 
part of the new local plan.  Public Health will be reviewing best practice, learning and identifying 
resources from elsewhere to support HIA training and the development of simple/ pragmatic resources 
to support planners and developers optimise health for smaller residential schemes.   
Milestone 2: Meeting to be scheduled with housing development forum before the release of the final 
plan. 
Milestone 3: A review of local data on fast food premises and related health conditions in 
Peterborough and national evidence on what can be done will begin in September.   

Risks Suggestions/comments put forward by Public Health in response to the consultation on the Further 
Draft version of the Local Plan  are not incorporated/ incorporated in full in the Proposed Submission 
version of the Plan 
 
At the stage of the examination of the Local Plan, objections to the Health policy (or any of the health 
and wellbeing cross cutting themes within other policies) could result in directions for amendments to 
the Plan that are outside the control of the authority 
 
Lack of understanding or buy in from officers and/or developers may mean that the Health policy is not 
fully implemented once adopted. 

328



Key considerations In order to maximise opportunities for health through planning and development it will be essential to 
engage officers in the development of HIA approach.  Thereby ensuring proposals are deliverable (given 
resources) and will lead to change.  

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.  

 

 Performance Indicators: 

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status Current Time Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed Target 

8.1 
Excess weight in 4-5 year 

olds (% of all pupils) 
Increasing - getting worse 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 632 22.8% 22.1% 

Match England trend 
(Peterborough already below 

England value) 

8.2 
Excess weight in 10-11 

year olds (% of all pupils) 
Increasing - getting worse 

Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 794 34.2% 34.2% 

Match England trend 
(Peterborough already below 

England value) 

8.3 

The percentage of the 

population exposed to 

road, rail and air transport 

noise of 65dB(A) or more 

during the day time 

(proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getter better 

Statistical significance 

not calculated - 

Peterborough 

percentage is now below 

England 

2011 5,020 2.7% 5.2% Retain indicator within dataset 
but without target 

8.4 

The percentage of the 

population exposed to 

road, rail and air transport 

noise of 65dB(A) or more 

during the night time 

(proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getter better 

Statistical significance 

not calculated - 

Peterborough 

percentage is now below 

England 

2011 8,190 4.5% 12.8% Retain indicator within dataset 
but without target 

8.5 

Utilisation of outdoor 

space for exercise/health 

reasons (proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting worse 
Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 - 17.8% 17.9% Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England 

  

329



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: HEALTH AND TRANSPORT PLANNING 

LEAD: SIMON MACHEN / ADRIAN CHAPMAN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The City Council’s Travelchoice initiative encourages people to walk, cycle, use public transport and car share, as well as the uptake of low 
emission vehicles 

 Increase the number of pupils receiving Bikeability training from 951 to 1,300 annually 

 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Road Safety Partnership (CPRSP) works with a number of organisations to look at the causes of road 
accidents, understands current data and intelligence regarding the County’s roads and develop multi-agency solutions to help prevent future 
accidents and reduce collisions 

 Addenbrooke’s Regional Trauma Network is a key partner in the CPRSP, and through various data sources to allow the serious accident data to be 
broken down into more detail to gain a clear understanding on the impact of severe collisions to the NHS and longer term social care and other 
partners 

 The fourth Local Transport Plan (2016-2020) emphasises the role transport can play in the health of Peterborough residents 
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

The Council recently gained Three and half years of Dept for Transport funding for Bikeability. The new 
funding starts in September when the current funding ceases and the council has recently undertaken a 
procurement exercise. 
 
The Council’s two Environment Action Plans, for the city and the local authority have been adopted and 
will provide future targets on active travel including. 

• Increasing the number active business travel plans to 97 and school travel plans to 43.  
• Increasing the number of people who walk and who cycle at least three times per week by 1% 

annually.  
• Increasing the percentage of people satisfied with cycle routes and facilities in the city from 

58% to 62%.  
• Seek to improve sustainable transport connections across the Greater Peterborough area. 

 

330



The number of people Killed and Seriously Injured on Peterborough Roads increased from 66 in 2015 to 
90 in 2016.   Currently awaiting the Department for Transport to publish casualty data for 2016 to see 
how Peterborough compares nationally and if all authorities have seen an increase and if this relates to 
the new police reporting system CRASH or if nationally casualties are increasing. 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  Bike-It, a Sustrans initiative funded by the Council, run a number of projects and engagement activities 
to encourage predominantly primary school pupils to walk and cycle 
 
The Co-Operative Intelligent Transport Systems project is supporting a wayfinding project in the city 
centre, in partnership with the RNIB, to develop solutions for blind and partially sighted people to make 
it easier to walk and navigate the city centre 
 
The Department for Transport, through an annual fund of about £1.4m is funding an Integrated 
transport programme in Peterborough. This includes a series of walking, cycling, public transport 
infrastructure improvements such as new bus stops, footway/cycleway upgrades as well as the 
installation of new electric vehicles charging posts both in council owned car parks and also match 
funding organisations who want to install them on their own private car parks.  
 
The transport team have consulted on business, school, retail, residential planning applications to 
ensure they have robust travel plans and walking and cycling infrastructure provision 
 
The Combined Authority will be developing a new Local Transport Plan (over the next two years) for 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough which will replace Peterborough’s fourth Local Transport Plan (2016-
2020).   
 
The Council was unsuccessful in it’s application for Dept for Transport sustainable travel funding. The 
Council had previously been successful. In 2016/17 this equated to £500k of revenue funding. 
 
A multi-agency delivery group meets bi-monthly to deliver the partnerships action plan.  A 
communications group has also been established to deliver and develop road safety publicity 
campaigns.      
 

331



The data and intelligence group meets and produces casualty profiles for the delivery group to ensure 
activities/campaigns are evidence based and targeted. 
 
The TRIP (Targeting Road Injury Prevention) project will look in detail at crashes that cause severe 
injury and death, in particular examining the types of drivers that are involved in these crashes. This 
innovative project brings together partners from the local authority, emergency services and 
Cambridge University Hospitals to explore whether prevention strategies targeted at groups of drivers 
similar to those considered culpable for crashes, rather than targeting groups who are likely to be 
injured, have an impact on road safety. 
  
The TRIP project is split into two work packages: 
  

 WP1 (started April 2017) – A detailed epidemiological analysis of collisions to explore whether 

prevention strategies targeted at high risk profiles, in contrast to road user profiles derived 

solely from road crash and casualty data (as recorded by STATS19), have an impact on casualty 

reduction. 

 WP2 (expected to start October 2017) – The development of a framework for the delivery of 

research-led practice in road safety. 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Public Health have agreed to fund Bike-It programme until the end of 2017 due to a shortfall in funding 
as the programme delivers common goals.  
Public health are supporting transport team in some of their bids for active travel funding by providing 
supporting evidence on the health impact of inactivity.  
 
Drive IQ is a new digital programme aimed at post 16 students covering various road safety messages 
relevant for pre/new drivers on an online platform.  Funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner a 
bespoke package has been developed for the partnership and will be available free of charge to all 
students across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
 
Various activities have been delivered by the partnership aimed at reducing motorcycle casualties over 
the last 3 months including Bikesafe courses, publicity campaigns and attending various events such as 
the MCN show at Peterborough Showground. 
 

332



A Young Driver Event was held at Huntingdon Racecourse, 28th and 29th June.  Exhibitions covered 
everything pre/young drivers would need to know from safety messages to choosing a driving 
instructor.  The event also had an area dedicated to sustainable travel. 
 
Various publicity campaigns delivered in partnership including Drink/Drug Driving, Motorcycling, 
seatbelts and vulnerable road users. 
 
Activities offered to Primary Schools in Peterborough include the Junior Travel Ambassador, Theatre in 
Education, pedestrian and scooter training.  Activities have been designed to cover both sustainable 
and road safety messages. 
 
Secondary Schools in Peterborough are offered the chance to take part in a year 7 programme, road 
safety theatre in education programme and young driver events. 
 

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Collect further JSNA information on transport and health for Peterborough, using locally developed methodologies 

 Permanently embed public health advice in to the City Council’s Growth and Regeneration Directorate, through a post which will work with local 
land use and transport planners to consider the impact of transport planning on health and health inequalities 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 
 
 

The public health team are currently producing active travel and air quality profiles for Peterborough.  
These will be completed by September and will be used to input into the new combined authority Local 
Transport Plan.  It will also act as an evidence resource to support bids made by the Peterborough 
transport team. 
 
A member of the public health team is now permanently embedded in the City Council’s Growth and 
Regeneration Directorate. 
 
A new Public Health Consultant has been recruited across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire with 
responsibility for planning, transport and health inequalities.  The post will also be embedded one day a 

333



week in the combined authority with the aim of maximising opportunities to improve health from 
combined authority decision and investments (this includes transport infrastructure).  
 
Highways England are looking at dualling the A47 between Wansford and Sutton and are in discussions 
with us and other stakeholders about provisions for non motorised users. 
 
Government has produced a strategy which aims to increase walking and cycling. Government want 
local authorities to develop walking and cycling infrastructure plans and to support this they are offering 
free consultancy days. The Council has walking and cycling plans but has submitted an expression of 
interest to see if these can be enhanced further as well as staff training on current best practices.  

 
The new draft Local Plan is currently being produced and part of that will state what sustainable travel 
measures are needed with future developments. 
 
Currently waiting for the Department for Transport to publish casualty data for 2016 to gain a clear 
understanding to see if the nationally casualties are increasing, or if the increase is down to the police 
new reporting system CRASH. 
 

Risks The loss of funding from the Dept for Transport sustainable travel funding means there is a shortfall in 
funding of £500k (compared to 2016/17).  This will curtail activities around supporting/enabling active 
travel.  
 
Responsibility for developing the local transport plan has moved to the Combined Authority, the 
recently completed Peterborough transport plan, strongly supported active and sustainable travel.  It is 
unclear where active travel fits within future priorities of the combined authority at this point.  
 
The partnership is currently experiencing problems with casualty data and the new CRASH system.   
This is currently being investigate and solutions being developed. Currently a risk as 6 months into 2017 
and only have verified casualty data for January 2017. 
 

Key considerations The loss of DFT funding has reduced investment in active travel for the authority and the change in 
responsibility for the Local Transport Plan means there is uncertainty over active and sustainable travel 
moving forward.   
 

334



 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicat
or Ref 

Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status Current Time Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed Target 

9.1 
The number of businesses with 

travel plans 
- 

48 business in Peterborough 

have travel plans 
2016 48 - - 

Increase from 48 to 
60 businesses in 
line with existing 

PCC target 

9.2 

To further develop a robust 

monitoring network to enable 

in depth transport model data 

to be measured 

- In progress         

Workstream is on-
going, updates to 

be provided 
periodically 

9.3 Measures of air quality - 
Peterborough currently has 1 

Air Quality Assessment Area 
2015 1 - - 

Maintain or reduce 
Peterborough's 
number of Air 

Quality 
Management Areas 

(currently = 1 
AQMA) 

9.4 

The numbers of adults and 

children killed or seriously 

injured in road traffic accidents 

(crude rate per 100,000) 

Decreasing - getter better Statistically similar to England 2013-15 229 40.1 38.5 

Reduce disparity 
between 

Peterborough and 
England 

  

335



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: HOUSING AND HEALTH 

LEAD: ADRIAN CHAPMAN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 Housing related support funds support to a variety of providers and settings to ensure their clients are supported into move on accommodation, 
can maintain tenancies and therefore prevent them from becoming homeless 

 The Peterborough Older Persons Accommodation Strategy identified that over 90% of people wished to remain at home to be supported to do 
through the provision of aids and adaptations and a demand for extra care accommodation.  To date 262 additional units of extra care 
accommodation have been provided in partnership with registered providers.  A further scheme of 54 dwellings is under construction 

 Care and Repair provides a handyperson (HP) scheme to help aged and vulnerable people with small scale works.  The minor aids and adaptations 
installations the HP assist hospital discharge and enable health services to be delivered in people’s homes.  The agency provides advice and has a 
network of contacts for onward referral and works with other voluntary sector groups on winter warmth initiatives 

 The City Council’s Cabinet has approved introducing selective licensing in 5 areas of the city covering privately rented properties. This would help 
raise the standard of private rented accommodation and therefore improve the health and wellbeing of those residents. Since its launch in 
December 2016 over 6,000 applications for a licence have been received. 
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

 1,077 aids & adaptations were completed in 2016/2017 and so far this year 400 have been 

completed.  258 Disabled Facility Grant funded adaptations were completed in 2016/2017.  57 

Disabled Facility Grant funded adaptations have been completed so far this year. 

 3,427 handyperson requests were completed in 2016/2017 and so far this year 906 have been 

completed.  Handyperson requests often identify other issues within the property which can be 

addressed by other available assistance and funding streams 

 470 referrals have been referred to the Local Energy Advice Programme (LEAP) funded through 

the Warm Homes Discount.  Energy advice, energy & tariff switching, simple energy efficiency 

measures, income maximisation, debt advice and onward referrals for further a assistance is 

available to fuel poor households and households at risk of falling into fuel poverty.  This 

programme will continue throughout 2017/2018. 

 

336



Narrative update on  workstreams  8 Housing Related Support providers are currently funded, which includes support in accommodation 

settings, drop in support and some specialist floating support.  Overall numbers of Homelessness 

Prevention as a direct result of this support are slightly up on same period last year (173 Q1 2016/17 vs 

185 Q1 2017/18) 

 

The Cross Keys Homes Extra Care scheme of 54 units which was due for completion at the end of July is 

now expected to handover on 14th August and a phased handover to CKH’s Housing Related Support 

team will then commence. At least 15 units within the scheme are already reserved and plans for an 

open day at the end of the month is expected to generate significant interest in the scheme. 

 

Two bids have been submitted for the recently announced £150 million Warm Homes Fund – one to 

look at extending gas connections and provide first time central heating linked to vulnerable customers 

accessing the LEAP scheme.  The other bid looks to extend the funding for heating and insulation 

measures for residence facing delayed discharge due to inefficient or lack of heating in the home. 

 
We continue to work with Housing providers and Health Investment Organisation's to ensure we get 
the right accommodation to meet the needs of each person, including bespoke requirements. 
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Partnering with AgilityEco on the LEAP project. 

 

  

337



 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 Peterborough City Council is working in partnership with registered providers to provide new supported housing schemes including 
accommodation for people with learning disabilities and mental health disorders to enable them to live independently with a live-in carer where 
necessary or floating support 

 A Vulnerable People’s Housing Sub-Group has been established, which will review how local housing needs for vulnerable people, including 
people with disabilities, should be addressed 

 The Peterborough Market Position Statement has identified a significant shortfall of nursing and residential care accommodation and it will be a 
priority to increase this provision for the ageing population 

 A task and finish group including housing managers and hospital managers is reviewing complex cases causing hospital discharge delays, and how 
use of disabled facility grants could address this 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 

Milestone 1 - Adult Social Care achieved the development of 22 units since April 2017 slightly below 
our initial target. We would expect to achieve a further 16 units by early 2018. 
 
Milestone 2 The Vulnerable Persons Housing Sub Group - the group continues to be on hold while the 
leadership of the PHP is being determined. A meeting was scheduled between Simon Machen (the out 
going chair) and Claire Higgins the in coming chair) for 26th June and handover of this role was part of 
the agenda.  
 

Milestone 4 - Discretionary DFGs have been introduced to support health priorities.  Pathways are 
being developed with the DTOC Teams at the City Hospital and the Transfer of Care Team where 
discharge is being delayed due to housing inaccessibility or poor condition.  This discretionary grant 
(max £6,000) can be used to carry out urgent work in people’s homes to facilitate discharge from 
hospital, interim beds, re-ablement or a care setting ensuring the property is warm and safe.  Further 
identified work can be carried out at the property at a later date under DFG or Repairs Assistance 
funding.  
We have been working in partnership with the NHS on developing our Housing and Accommodation 
Strategy to support our most complex and challenging clients to be discharged from inappropriate 
inpatient services. Providing the right accommodation and support for these clients forms part of our 
commitment to the NHS England transforming care programme for people with a learning disability". 

338



 

Risks  
 

Key considerations  
 

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.  

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicator 
Ref 

Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status Current Time Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterborough 
Current 

(Indicator Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed Target 

10.1 

Excess winter deaths 

index (3 years, all 

ages, Persons, Ratio) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically similar to 

England 
Aug 2012 - Jul 2015 268 19.6 19.6 Match or exceed England 

performance 

10.2 

Excess winter deaths 

index (3 years, all ages 

Males, Ratio) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically similar to 

England 
Aug 2012 - Jul 2015 81 11.8 16.6 Match or exceed England 

performance 

10.3 

Excess winter deaths 

index (3 years, all ages 

Females, Ratio) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Statistically similar to 

England 
Aug 2012 - Jul 2015 187 27.3 22.4 Match or exceed England 

performance 

10.4 

Reduction in 

unintentional injuries 

in the home in under 

15 year olds 

Decreasing - getter better 
Statistically similar to 

England 
2015-16 464 113.5 104.2 

Match or exceed England 
performance to improve to 

statistically similar to 
England 

10.5 

Reduction in delayed 

discharges from 

hospital related to 

housing issues 

(observed numbers) 

Decreasing - getter better 
Has reduced, statistical 

significance unavailable 
2015-16 694 - - Reduction in observed 

numbers 

  

339



HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: GEOGRAPHICAL HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

LEAD: ADRIAN CHAPMAN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The City Council has a focus on economic development and regeneration in the city, together with improving educational attainment.  In the long 
term these measures should improve both socio-economic circumstances and health 

 City Council childrens centres work closely with health visitors and are located to ensure focus on the areas of the city with the highest levels of 
need.  Early child development, which childrens centres help to support, is important for future health and wellbeing 

 The City Council has identified the ‘Can Do’ Area around Lincoln Road, which includes parts of Central ward, Park ward and North ward.  The ‘Can 
Do’ Board focusses on supporting environmental and service improvements for the area and includes senior staff from the City Council 
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

The Community Serve programme targets the three areas where the levels of emergency admissions 
and smoking prevalence are at their highest.  
 
Community hubs have been created in all three areas, and dedicated community co-ordinators are 
working on the ground to target services to the right people. Communities are able to access 
information and advice about public services, as well as to seek support to, for example, stop smoking. 
Training is also provided from the hubs to encourage and enable residents to access more formal 
learning, develop social enterprise or take up employment. 
 
The successful Controlling Migration Fund bids will target information about appropriate use of public 
services to non-UK nationals – see separate highlight report. 
 

Narrative update on  workstreams  CAN Do Regeneration Programme:  £7.5m capital funding has been secured for physical 
improvements to the Lincoln Road area which will focus on: 

 Improvements to the public realm (working closely with the local traders and residents) 

 Improvements to existing parks and open spaces 

340



 Development of new/improved community facilities, particularly on disused land on the 
junction of Lincoln Road and Alma Road 

 
To ensure this investment helps address the significant health and wellbeing inequalities in the area an 
evidence review led by the Public Health team was commissioned and is attached for information. This 
review will be used alongside public and councillor consultation to direct the spend as appropriately as 
possible. 
 
The regeneration programme will run over 2 years commencing September 2017 and will build upon 
the outcomes of consultation workshops with community representatives and health professionals 
hosted by Public Health. 
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 
 
 

Community Connectors from the council and Community Co-ordinators from the Community Serve 
programme are working together on a range of targeted interventions aimed at changing the 
behaviours and understanding amongst the most prolific groups wo are inappropriately accessing A&E, 
and who are prone to tobacco and alcohol misuse. 
 
Partnership - City College Peterborough (CCP) working with Public Health to support the delivery of 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes for migrant communities. 

 32 English Language courses delivered with JSNA embedded themes including health and 
education. 

  The courses engaged a total of 215 learners across 13 venues including Gladstone Park; 
Allama Iqbal Centre; Ukim Masjid Khadijan and Islamic Centre; Jigsaw Centre, Central Library; 
Husaini Islamic Centre; Herlington Centre and a number of Primary Schools.   

 100% learners have improved their knowledge and understanding of the information on 
services provided 

CCP are currently following up learners for information on impact relating to subsequent 
changes in behaviour as a result of an improved understanding and also what they have gone 
on to do / are going on to do after the course. 

341



The CommUNITY Meet & Eat project supports Peterborough and its wide-ranging and diverse City 
communities in support healthy eating, help reduce social isolation, whilst supporting integration and 
community cohesion. To date we have served over a 1000 meals across Peterborough Communities at 
CCPs main campus and out centres.  
 
At these events, partner organisations have had the opportunity to attend and to date health have 
attended one offering free Health MoT’s, the National Literacy trust have attended one event giving 
away free childrens books and Boots have attended one promoting the importance of eye tests. 
 

 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 The NHS CCG has a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities and to carry out health inequalities impact assessments of any significant services 
changes 

 City Council proposals for selective licensing of private sector housing in parts of the city could impact on geographical health inequalities in the 
longer term 

 There is potential to target preventive public health initiatives and services so that they focus more on areas of the city with the greatest health 
and wellbeing needs 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 

Can Do regeneration programme – see above. 
 
Selective Licensing is delivering some tangible positive outcomes with levels of compliance increasing. 
The team are focussing on assessing licence applications and routing out landlords who are seeking to 
evade the schemes. The council is aware of significant improvements being made to housing 
standards, and to the ways in which some tenants are being treated. 
 
The overall housing shortage is a significant factor in detrimentally affecting people’s health and 
wellbeing however, and the council has seen a c.30% increase citywide in private sector landlords 
serving notice on their tenants. 
 

Risks Housing shortage resulting in increased levels of overcrowding, poor housing standards and 
households being accommodated in temporary accommodation. 

342



 

Key considerations  

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicato
r Ref 

Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status 
Current Time 

Period 
Peterborough 

Current (#) 

Peterboroug
h Current 
(Indicator 

Value) 

England 
Value 

Agreed 
Target 

11.1a 

Increase in levels of education and 

economic attainment in electoral 

wards with highest levels of 

deprivation (GCSE attainment) 

- 

In 2014/15, Attainment of 5+ A*-C GCSEs in most 

deprived 20% of Peterborough wards is 34.6% (least 

deprived 80% = 51.8%). 

2014-15 223 34.6% 57.3% 
- 

11.1b 

Increase in levels of education and 

economic attainment in electoral 

wards with highest levels of 

deprivation (Benefits Claimants) 

- 

In May 2016, the rate of benefit claimants in the 

most deprived 5 wards of Peterborough is 

173.3/1,000 (other 80% of wards in Peterborough = 

113.3/1,000)   

May-16 5,350 173.3 111.2 
- 

11.2 

Increase in life expectancy in 

wards with highest levels of 

deprivation 

Increasing - getter better 

Life expectancy has increased at higher rate for most 

deprived 20% than least deprived 80% in each of 

past 5 pooled periods 

2011-15 - 79.5 - 
- 

11.3 

Reduction in emergency hospital 

admissions from wards with the 

highest levels of deprivation 

(Central, Dogsthorpe, North, 

Orton Longueville, Ravensthorpe) 

(directly standardised rates per 

100,000) 

Increasing - getting worse 
Rate per 100,000 has increased from 2013-14 to 

2014-15 
2014-15 4,727 11,235 - 

- 

11.4 

Smoking cessation rates in wards 

with highest levels of deprivation 

(proportion, %) 

Decreasing - getting worse 

4 week quit percentage fell between 2014-15 and 

2015-16 from 38.0% to 34.5%. Suggested target = 

40.0% 

2015-16 229 34.5 - 
- 

11.5 
Health checks completion in wards 

with highest levels of deprivation 

Disproportionately high level 

of health checks delivered to 

most deprived 20% 

In 2015/16, 38.1% of health checks were delivered to 

residents registered with practices within the most 

deprived 20% of practices 

2015-16 1,961 38.1% - 
- 

 

 

343



 

Page 58 of 70 
 

Rapid Evidence Review 

1 Summary 
Following discussions with local elected members on proposed capital projects in the Lincoln 

and Alma road area, public health agreed to undertake a rapid evidence review to 

understand the relative impact on the public’s health of:  

1) Constructing a health and wellbeing community building on the Alma road site 

(capital funding only) with existing services or voluntary/community services funding 

ongoing costs.  

2) Undertaking public realm environmental improvements e.g. trees, planters, improved 
appearance of the area round Lincoln Road etc and the creation of additional green 
space. 

A search of the literature was unable to identify high quality evidence on the relative impact 

of the above options.  The rapid review instead focused on the following questions. 

1. What is the impact of constructing a new health and wellbeing facility on the health 

and wellbeing of people?  

2. What is the impact of public realm improvements on health and wellbeing of people? 

3. What is the impact of urban green space on the health and wellbeing of people?  

Impact of a new health and wellbeing community centre on public health  

The best available evidence on the impact of health and wellbeing centres came from an 
evaluation of the national ‘Healthy Living Centres’ (HLC) programme.  The aim of the HLF 
programme was to create new community spaces and buildings to support neighbourhood-
based, community-led approaches to health improvement; providing services and support in 
communities experiencing disadvantage and health inequalities.   
The evaluation found that Healthy Living Centres had the potential to improve health 
amongst some of the most deprived sections of the community, however the physical 
infrastructure was only one aspect of the offer.  The success of the centres were contingent 
on strong links with the community, shared priorities and using the centre as a catalyst for 
change.  Given that the current proposal covers the capital cost of the build only, the 
engagement and buy in from the community would be extremely important.   

 

Public Realm  

The limited evidence suggests that improvements to public realm and street furniture may be 

associated with positive health and wellbeing outcomes for people.  Improvement may be 

due to increased feelings of safety, ownership and belonging, more walking and cycling and 

reduced isolation.  The symbolic effects of the changes may be more significant than 

functional effects, and thus a change of neighbourhood identity is an important mechanism 

in social changes. 

Urban green space 

There is growing evidence that access to urban green space is associated with improved 

mental health and reduced heart disease and diabetes.  Unusually, the beneficial effect of 

urban green space may be strongest among people from lower socioeconomic and BME 

groups.  The beneficial impact of urban green space on health is likely to be mediated by the 

potential activities which are undertaken in the space; rather than from simply having green 

space.    Factors such as quality of facilities, the condition of the space, accessibility and 

perceived safety have been shown to impact on the use of green space.  

 

344



 

Page 59 of 70 
 

Conclusion 

Overall the evidence suggests that each of the options may be associated with improved 

health and wellbeing outcomes, with evidence for the link between urban green space and 

health and wellbeing the strongest.  However, the potential impact is mediated by how well 

the interventions meet the needs of the local community.  In the case of the health and 

wellbeing centre and urban green space, any intervention would need to be developed in 

partnership with the local community; ensuring they meet the community’s needs.   Without 

an accompanying social/community programme the interventions are unlikely to maximise 

health and wellbeing opportunities.  

2 Background 
Following discussions on the proposed capital projects in Lincoln and Alma road with local 

elected members, public health agreed to undertake a rapid evidence review to understand 

the relative impact on the public’s health of:  

(a) Constructing a health and wellbeing community centre on the Alma road site – as a 
capital investment there would be no additional revenue funding and existing 
services or voluntary/community services would need to move in and fund ongoing 
costs.  

(b) Undertaking public realm environmental improvements e.g. trees, planters, improved 
appearance of the area round Lincoln Road etc and the creation of additional green 
space. 

3 Approach 
A search of the literature identified limited high quality evidence on the relative impact of the 

above options.  This is not surprising as concepts such as health and wellbeing/community 

centres, public realm, and green space are broad concepts and are difficult to evaluate using 

high quality methods such as randomised control trials.  Further these interventions are 

embedded in a community context which are extremely complex.  The limited evidence 

means we cannot compare the relative impact of health and wellbeing of one option against 

another e.g., building a health and wellbeing community centre vs creating additional green 

space.  However, we can describe the relationship of each of the above options with health 

and wellbeing and the factors which may strengthen or weaken these relationships.  

The rapid review there focused on the following questions. 

1. What is the impact of constructing a new health/ health and wellbeing facility on the 

health of the population?  

2. What is the impact of public realm improvements on health and wellbeing of people? 

3. What is the impact of urban green space on the health and wellbeing of people?  

 

 

 

 

345



 

Page 60 of 70 
 

4 Findings 

4.1 Place and space as determinants of health and wellbeing 
The place in which we live and their environmental and socioeconomic context have an 

important influence on our decisions and behaviours and ultimately our health and wellbeing.  

The built environment includes several material determinants of health, including housing, 

neighbourhood conditions and transport routes, all of which shape the social, economic and 

environmental conditions for which good health is dependent. Within urban areas, the 

integration of built and natural features can help to create environments which are unique 

and interesting enough for people to lead varied and healthy lives. The varying influences on 

health and wellbeing are depicted in Figure below. 

 
 
Source: Barton H, Grant M. A health map for the local human habitat. Journal of the Royal Society 
for the Promotion of Public Health 2006;126(6):252-261. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

346



 

Page 61 of 70 
 

4.2 Potential impact of a health and wellbeing community centre on the 

public’s health  
 
A search of the literature focusing on the potential impact of a new health centre, health 
building, health and wellbeing centre on the public’s health identified limited information.   
 
The best available evidence comes from an evaluation of the national ‘Healthy Living 
Centres’ (HLC) programme1 which was initiated in the 1990s, funded by the National Lottery.  
The aim of the HLF programme was to create new community spaces and buildings to 
support neighbourhood-based, community-led approaches to health improvement; providing 
services and support in communities experiencing disadvantage and health inequalities. 
 
An evaluation of the ‘Healthy Living Centre’ programme found that   

 HLC increased engagement with some of the most deprived sections of their local 
community, including those with the poorest levels of health.  

 The health and wellbeing of those who regularly attended activities (particularly on at 
least a weekly basis) did not deteriorate in the same way as that of those who 
attended less regularly, and they were also more likely to take up, and sustain, 
healthier lifestyles.  

 HLCs were effective in identifying and addressing unmet needs within their target 
communities, either by developing new services themselves, or by helping their 
partners to do so. They have also often been effective in improving coordination and 
cooperation between existing services, or providing a link between these and the 
local community.  

 
The evaluation identified a number of characteristics which may be important in achieving 
the above benefits.  These included:  
 

1) A strong link between the interests and aspirations of the community and the health 
centre resource (It is not just the facilities that are improved but that the resources 
are ones that local people themselves have identified as requiring improvement and 
these have changed as local people or users have wanted them improved). 

2) Creation of a social environment that was acceptable for groups of people who may 
have faced social exclusion in their own localities.  

3) Individual health activities embedded in a broad programme, providing social 
opportunities as well as addressing particular local interests.  

4) Building partnerships with other local agencies and outreach to bring in groups not 
initially taking part. 

 

4.2.1 Summary  
The above finding suggest that Healthy Living Centres may have the potential to improve 
health amongst some of the most deprived sections of the community, however the building 
is only one aspect of the offer.  Information on key characteristics indicate that success is 
contingent on strong links with the community, shared priorities and using the centre as a 
catalyst to build partnership and place health in a broader social context.  Given that the 
proposal covers the capital cost of the build only, the engagement and buy in of the 
community will be extremely important.   
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 http://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/hi/er_eval_hlc_final_report.pdf 

347



 

Page 62 of 70 
 

4.3 Public Realm  
Public realm is commonly defined as any space that is free and open to everyone and may 

include spaces between and within buildings that is publicly accessible, including streets, 

squares, forecourts, parks and open spaces. 

Public realm interventions cover a broad range of activities, from landscaping an existing 

park or public garden to cleaning up undesired graffiti and street rubbish, or erecting statues 

and improving pedestrian access2.  Potential outcomes of improved public realm include 

greater feelings of safety, ownership and belonging, more walking and cycling and reduced 

social isolation (see example logic model below)  

Logic model3 outlining potential links between public realm improvement and health 

wellbeing outcomes 

 

 

The literature search identified three sources of evidence:  

 NICE evidence review on physical activity and environment,  

 a review examining the impact of neighbourhood physical environment on early child 

health,  

 experimental study looking at the impact transforming streets into urban parks.  

 

                                                           
2 http://www.whatworksgrowth.org/public/files/Policy_Reviews/14-11-20-Public-Realm-Briefing.pdf 
3 https://assets.marshalls.co.uk/dam-svc/AssetStore/Well-Being-Leaflet-6446.pdf 

348



 

Page 63 of 70 
 

The NICE evidence review4 on physical activity and the environment found that; 

 Changing the urban structure at the street level can lead to increased levels of 

pedestrian activity in the short-term and increased levels of children out in the areas 

in the long-term. 

 outcomes such as perception of safety, and fear of crime and perception of 
attractiveness, pollution (air and noise) can be favourably changed as a result of 
street-level urban change interventions.  

A review of the evidence on the influence of neighbourhood physical environment on early 
child health and development5 found.  

 The presence of child relevant neighborhood spaces and services were positively 
associated with early child development of physical health and wellbeing and social 
competence.  

 Parents׳ perceptions of neighborhood safety were positively associated with 
children׳s social–emotional development and general health.  

A study examining the impact of transforming three sections of residential streets6 into street 
parks (provisions of street furniture like benches, planting of trees and flower beds, 
installation of play equipment, and prohibition of traffic and parked vehicles) found that:  

 Supportive acts of neighboring, neighbor annoyance, and children's play showed an 
overall increase in the intervention streets, interpreted as a sign of increased 
involvement in the neighborhood.  

The study suggested that the symbolic effects of the changes may be more significant than 

functional effects, and thus that a change of neighborhood identity is an important 

mechanism in social changes. 

 

4.3.1 Summary 
The limited evidence suggests that improvements to public realm and street furniture may be 

associated with positive health and wellbeing outcomes for people.  Improvement may be 

due to increased feelings of safety, ownership and belonging, more walking and cycling and 

reduced isolation.  The symbolic effects of the changes may be more significant than 

functional effects, and thus a change of neighborhood identity is an important mechanism in 

social changes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
4 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph8/resources/physical-activity-and-the-environment-55460874949 
5 The influence of the neighborhood physical environment on early child health and development: A review 
and call for research 
6 Effects of street parks on social interactions among neighbors: A place perspective 

349



 

Page 64 of 70 
 

4.4 Urban green space 
In 2016 the World Health Organisation published a review7 of the available evidence 
on the beneficial effects of urban green spaces on health.   
 
The majority of the evidence informing the review was based on observational 
studies e.g. surveys which means we cannot say definitively that if we improve/ 
increase amount of green space this will lead to improved health.   
 
Health benefits of urban green space identified by the review included: 

 Improved mental health and cognitive function – probably the strongest effect 

 Reduced cardiovascular morbidity 

 Reduced prevalence of type 2 diabetes 

 Reduced mortality 
 
The review also found that health benefits of urban green space differed in specific 
population groups with those in the most deprived groups disproportionately 
benefiting from access to urban green space 
 

Population group Benefits 

Children and 
adolescents 

A significant proportion of vigorous physical activity in 
childhood takes place in urban parks. 

Older adults Social isolation is an issue among older people.  Urban 
green spaces appears to promote social ties and a 
sense of community. 

Deprived 
subpopulations and 
minority groups 

There is accumulating evidence showing that the health 
benefits linked with access to green space may be 
strongest among the less advantaged socioeconomic 
groups, including minority ethnic groups. 

 
The review identified a number of potential mechanisms linking access to urban 

green space and improved health and well‐being.  Table below outlines some of the 
potential mechanisms. 

 
  

                                                           
7 http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-

evidence.pdf?ua=1 

 

Improved relaxation and restoration 

Improved social capital  

Improved functioning of the immune system 

Enhanced physical activity, improved fitness and reduced obesity 

Anthropogenic noise buffering and production of natural sounds 

Reduced exposure to air pollution 

Reduction of the urban heat island effect 

Enhanced pro‐environmental behaviour 

Optimized exposure to sunlight and improved sleep 

350

http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf?ua=1
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf?ua=1


 

Page 65 of 70 
 

 
Health and wellbeing outcomes are more likely to be directly associated with the 
activities that are undertaken in the urban green space, ie, based on its function. In 
other words, it is likely that the health benefits accrued are a result of use of urban 
green spaces and not just from their presence. 
 

Determinants of use of public green spaces 

 Availability  

 Some suggestion that size matters, with greater benefits associated with 
larger green spaces. 

 Accessibility - distance from home (optimal distance has been said to be 
less than 0.5 km or 5 minutes’ walking time).  

 Ease of accessibility - such as the presence of cycle paths and minimal 
obstruction (eg, no need to cross busy roads).  

 Qualities and characteristics  

 Perceptions of environmental hygiene, security, and safety  
 

 
 

Source: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4556255/ 
 

4.4.1 Summary  

 
There is a growing evidence that access to urban green space is associated with improved 

mental health and reduced heart disease and diabetes.  Unusually, the beneficial effect of 

urban green space may be strongest among people from lower socioeconomic and BME 

groups.  The beneficial impact of urban green space on health is likely to be mediated by the 

potential activities which are undertaken in the green space; rather than from simply having 

green space.    Factors such as available facilities, the condition of the space, accessibility 

and perceived safety all impact on the use of green space.  

 

351

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4556255/


 

Page 66 of 70 
 

 

5 Summary 
The rapid evidence review found that:  

 

Impact of a new health and wellbeing community centre on public health  

The best available evidence on the impact of health and wellbeing centres came from an 
evaluation of the national ‘Healthy Living Centres’ (HLC) programme.  The aim of the HLF 
programme was to create new community spaces and buildings to support neighbourhood-
based, community-led approaches to health improvement; providing services and support in 
communities experiencing disadvantage and health inequalities.   
The evaluation found that Healthy Living Centres had the potential to improve health 
amongst some of the most deprived sections of the community, however the physical 
infrastructure was only one aspect of the offer.  The success of the centres were contingent 
on strong links with the community, shared priorities and using the centre as a catalyst for 
change.  Given that the current proposal covers the capital cost of the build only, the 
engagement and buy in from the community, and the resources to provide the relevant 
services/activities at the centre, would be extremely important.   

 

Public Realm  

The limited evidence suggests that improvements to public realm and street furniture may be 

associated with positive health and wellbeing outcomes for people.  Improvement may be 

due to increased feelings of safety, ownership and belonging, more walking and cycling and 

reduced isolation.  The symbolic effects of the changes may be more significant than 

functional effects, and thus a change of neighbourhood identity is an important mechanism 

in social changes. 

Urban green space 

There is growing evidence that access to urban green space is associated with improved 

mental health and reduced heart disease and diabetes.  Unusually, the beneficial effect of 

urban green space may be strongest among people from lower socioeconomic and BME 

groups.  The beneficial impact of urban green space on health is likely to be mediated by the 

potential activities which are undertaken in the space; rather than from simply having green 

space.    Factors such as quality of facilities, the condition of the space, accessibility and 

perceived safety have been shown to impact on the use of green space.  

 

Conclusion 

Overall the evidence suggests that each of the options may be associated with improved 

health and wellbeing outcomes, with evidence for the link between urban green space and 

health and wellbeing the strongest.  However, the potential impact is mediated by how well 

the interventions meet the needs of the local community.  In the case of the health and 

wellbeing centre and urban green space, any intervention would need to be developed in 

partnership with the local community; ensuring they meet the community’s needs.   Without 

an accompanying social/community programme the interventions are unlikely to maximise 

health and wellbeing opportunities.  

 

352



 

Page 67 of 70 
 

HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD  

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

DATE: AUGUST 2017 

SUBJECT: HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF DIVERSE COMMUNITIES 

LEAD: ADRIAN CHAPMAN 

 

HWB STRATEGY 2016/19: CURRENT ACTIVITIES:  
 

 The HWB has commissioned a JSNA on the health and wellbeing needs of migrants 

 Eastern European ‘community connectors’ employed by the City Council are working closely with the local NHS on issues such as promotion of 
screening and immunisations 
 

Performance narrative and statistics  (please 
include updates on local indicators / trends, 
key outcomes achieved and updates on those 
national indicators currently showing red) 

KPIs and baselines to be set. 

Narrative update on  workstreams  Peterborough and Cambridgeshire councils have been successful in a number of bids to DCLG’s 
Controlling Migration Fund.  Three projects have been funded to date, these are: 
 

 Getting to Know You £282k 

 Alcohol Misuse £226k 

 Information Pack of Social Media Resources £94k 
 
The projects help to address many of the issues identified in the JSNA for Diverse Ethnic Communities.  
Funded is expected to be received in August and delivery to commence asap afterwards. 
 
Getting to Know You will see increased ESOL provision within Peterborough over the next 2 years.  The 
project is led by City College and will involve both GLADCA and PARCA in community based delivery.  
ESOL classes will be thematically based and will focus on participants gaining confidence in accessing 
and using a range of public services. 
 

353



 

Page 68 of 70 
 

Tackling Alcohol Misuse is being led by Public Health and delivered in both Wisbech and Peterborough.  
This will see additional outreach and engagement to migrant communities to help tackle street drinking 
and support migrants to access treatment services. 
 
Information Pack of Social Media is also being led by Public Health and will see a range of videos 
created in a variety of languages explaining how to access and use public and other services e.g. 
education, housing, health, employment etc.    
 
A fourth project to fund Citizens’ Advice Peterborough to deliver targeted IAG from community 
locations and Boroughbury Medical Centre has also just been announced. 
 
Community engagement support  
A forum involving members of public and health professionals as well as other partner agencies was 
organised to facilitate community feedback from the protected characteristic groups about 
Peterborough's Sexual Health Provisions. Over 30 members attended and a report has been shared 
with Public Health for follow up actions.  
Community Connectors are working with Public Health to link up with EU heritage communities about 
children's oral health as well as advising about community participation in the Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment which is due to start in August.  
In addition, assistance has also been provided to assist Public Health in the preparation of survey 
questionnaires about health issues faced by different communities, and advising on linking up the 
South Asian community. Further support to encourage community participation in the health survey is 
to be continued.  
Practical and proactive delivery continues via the Community Serve programme from the Gladstone 
Park hub, including access to training and IAG. 
 

Examples of partnership working (services, 
projects, co-production/design etc) 
 

Controlling Migration Fund bids – further bids to be submitted. 

 

 

 

354



 

Page 69 of 70 
 

HWB STRATEGY  2016/19: FUTURE PLANS  
  

 The benefits of tailoring preventive programmes, working with South Asian communities to prevent diabetes and CVD, are increasingly recognised 
nationally.  The CCG and the City Council will work together to assess the feasibility of local schemes 
 

Future Plans: Progress against key milestones 
and local indicators/trends 
 
 
 
 

NHS Health Checks (mini MOT) will be rolled out to target the S Asian population at a younger age in 
order to assess risk for CVD including diabetes and heart disease, and to provide lifestyle advice. This 
will be done through Connecting4health using the mosques as a venue for the ‘mini MOT’ 
 
 A South Asian health and wellbeing survey is being implemented, which will assess the local need as 
well as access to services. The survey aims to assess health and wellbeing risks and concerns and will be 
used to help tailor and design appropriate services including preventative programmes. The survey is 
expected to be completed by the end of December 2017 with results early in the new year. 

Risks  
The main risk for both the health check programme and the health and wellbeing survey is ability to 
engage with the S Asian population to ensure a good return (for the survey). There is also the risk that 
the reach for both these programmes is not comprehensive – ability to engage women or traditionally 
hard to reach communities. Engagement is important for the survey as we would require a good return 
in order for the responses to be representative of the needs of the community.  
 
 
 

Key considerations  
 
 
 
 

Note: an overarching report against the outcome metrics in the HWB Strategy will be prepared annually, co-ordinated by the Public Health 

Intelligence team.  

 

 

 

355



 

Page 70 of 70 
 

 

 

Performance Indicators: 

 

Indicator Ref Indicator Trend Current Status Current Time Period Peterborough Current (#) Peterborough Current (Indicator Value) England Value 
Agreed 
Target 

12.1 

We will work with 

local health 

services to 

improve data 

collection on 

ethnicity, both 

generally and to 

assess the success 

of targeted 

interventions 

- 

To follow via 

Peterborough 

City Council policy 

team in 

collaboration with 

Public Health 

Intelligence 

 -  - -   - 12.1 

12.2 

Outcome 

measures for 

health and 

wellbeing of 

migrants will be 

developed 

following 

completion of the 

JSNA 

- 

To follow via 

Peterborough 

City Council policy 

team in 

collaboration with 

Public Health 

Intelligence 

 - -   - -  12.2 

 

 

356



Appendix 2a
HEALTH & WELLBEING AND SPP PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD
PERFORMANCE REPORT
DATE: AUGUST 2017
SUBJECT: SUSTAINABLE TRANSFORMATION 5 YEAR PLAN (INCLUDING BCF)
LEAD: WILL PATTEN (AUTHOR: CAROLINE TOWNSEND)

KEY PRIORITIES
 Health system transformation planning
 Customer experience strategy

Performance narrative and 
statistics  (please include 
updates on local indicators / 
trends, key outcomes achieved 
and updates on those national 
indicators currently showing red)

The following table summarises full year performance for 2016/17 against Better Care Fund metrics at the end of Q4; on a green (met target), 
amber (improved performance but didn’t meet target) red (no Improvement) basis:

Metric 2016/17 
Actual 

Performa
nce

2016/17 
Planned 
Target

Summary

Non-elective admissions to hospital 0.05% net 
reduction 
(19,229)

2.1% net 
reduction 
(18,834)

Increases in non-elective admissions were seen in Q1 and Q2, as a result of many 
increasing pressures on the system, including a rapidly growing population. Q3 and Q4 
experienced a reduction in non-elective admissions, but progress at year end 
underperformed against target.

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) from 
hospital

7,174 3.5% 
occupied 
bed days 
(3,366)

Despite a slight downward trend in DTOCs in Q1 and Q2, a steep increase was 
experienced in Q3. The roll out of Discharge to Assess in Q4 had a positive impact 
towards the latter part of the year, however final year performance underperformed 
against target. Overall, DTOCs were still higher than levels seen in 2015/16. 

Admissions to long-term residential and nursing 
homes

125 128 The residential admissions 2016/17 target reflected the need to maintain the significant 
reduction achieved in 2015/16. Residential admissions for older people continued to be 
low in number due to the range of alternatives on offer.   

Effectiveness of re-ablement services 77% 82.8% Performance was strong in Q1 and Q2, but a dip in performance was experienced in 
Q3 and Q4. This was impacted by reduced performance due to capacity issues in the 
care market and winter pressures. Higher numbers were discharged to reablement 
services from hospital during the year and the service was expanded to meet a higher 
range of need.  This also impacted slightly on the 91 day outcomes.

Injuries due to falls in 65+ year olds 563 515 During the course of 2016/17 there has been a consistent downward trend in injuries 
due to falls. The planned threshold target for 2016/17 was ambitious based on previous 
year’s performance. Despite a 2016/17 significant decrease of 21.6% against 2015/16 
baseline, the full year target was not fully met.

Maintained patient satisfaction with NHS 
services (Friends and Family Test)

97% 93% We exceeded the target for this metric, running consistently over the set target of 93%.

Narrative update on  work-
streams 

The approach to integration over 2017-19 is being finalised as part of our local Better Care Fund plans, which are due for submission on 11th 
September 2017. There will be a continued focus on building on the work undertaken to date, with the following areas identified as continued 

357



priorities:
Prevention and Early Intervention: including a county wide falls prevention programme, further work to ensure a comprehensive approach 
to equipment and assistive technology, and development of joint VCS commissioning opportunities.

Community Services (MDT Working): including wider roll out and embedding of case management, to include data sharing to support risk 
stratification and pro-active identification of service users. Development of integrated hospital discharge and admission pathways and 
enhancement of intermediate care and reablement provision.

Enablers: continued development of consistent, accurate and reliable information and advice to support the concept of ‘no wrong front door’.

High Impact Changes for Discharge: A new national BCF condition, requires the local system to implement the high impact change (HIC) model 
for managing transfers of care. The HIC areas are: early discharge planning; systems to monitor patient flow; MDT/multi-agency discharge teams; 
home first / discharge to assess; 7 day services; trusted assessor; focus on choice; and enhancing care in care homes. An initial system wide self-
assessment has been completed against the high impact changes and existing system plans. Further review and agreement for areas of priority are 
being finalised.

The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) is a new introduction to BCF plans this financial year and is considered to be part of the ongoing BCF 
programme. The monies are paid direct to the Local Authority from the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and the following 
national conditions apply:

 Monies must be pooled into the Better Care Fund (BCF) Section 75 budget between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 

 Monies must only be used for the following purposes:
o Meeting Adult Social Care (ASC) needs,
o Reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more people to be discharged from hospital when ready; and 
o Ensuring the local social care provider market is supported.

In line with the national conditions, discussions are taking place with the CCG to reach agreement on the use of the IBCF funds. The areas being 
discussed for 2017/18 are outlined below, but these are subject to final agreement and approval. 

Initiative 2017/18 Amount
(£000)

Repayment to corporate against previous investment 
in transformation

£350

358



Investment in housing options for vulnerable people £2,000

Commitment to joint fund with the STP Falls 
Prevention & Atrial Fibrillation

£150

Costed plan to support delivery of the 3.5% national 
DTOC target

£1,000

Local Government Financial Settlement monies – 
protection of Adult Social Care

£354

TOTAL £3,924

The Local Authority is working with health partners to develop and agree a costed plan to support delivery of the 3.5% national DTOC target. This 
builds on the gaps identified as part of the High Impact Changes self-assessments and further workshops are planned late July to agree the system 
priorities. Initial short term priorities are being considered in relation to discharge to assess, continuing healthcare pathways, choice policy and trusted 
assessor models. Investment requirements are also being reviewed to support winter planning initiatives.

Examples of partnership working 
(services, projects, co-
production/design etc)

The following principles have been agreed by both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing Boards, as well as the Joint Integrated 
Commissioning Board (ICB):

 Greater alignment across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
 A single commissioning board (the ICB)
 Greater alignment with the STP and local authority transformation plans
 Using the BCF to ‘get the basics right’ and coordinate our approach, focusing on a smaller number of system-wide changes

Officers from the CCG, CCC, PCC and South Cambridgeshire District Council met to discuss the Better Care Fund approach for 2017-19. The 
Integrated Commissioning Board is overseeing the development of the local plans.

359



FUTURE PLANS 
 

Future Plans: Progress against 
key milestones and local 
indicators/trends

BCF Planning 2017/18
The ‘Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework’ and BCF planning guidance has been published. There is a one stage submission 
process this year with the submission (approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board) due on the 11th September 2017. Draft DTOC metrics 
were submitted to NHS England on the 21st July, which included a breakdown of targets for health and social care related delays. Q1 
submission to the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in relation to the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was also 
submitted on the 21st July.

Alignment with STP
Ongoing review of the STP governance structure to ensure integration projects continue to be aligned and appropriate representation across 
the system is involved at both design and implementation phases of projects, whilst maintaining traction to progress local priorities. 

Risks  NHS Digital national funding is less than expected and Local Digital Roadmap projects will need to be prioritised accordingly.
 DTOC targets for the system are ambitious to meet 3.5% national target by September 2017.
 iBCF Spring Budget funding is non-recurrent, gradually decreasing over the next 3 years. 

Key considerations  STP governance is being finalised by the SDU for greater clarity on board roles and alignment with BCF governance.
 High Impact Change plans will build on existing system plans to ensure an integrated approach, which will be led by the STP Urgent and 

Emergency Care Delivery Board.
 Better Care Fund planning for 2017/18 will need to incorporate plans for achieving health and social care integration by 2020 and future 

initiatives, e.g. devolution, will need to be factored into those plans.

360



Better Care Fund 
Programme

Prevention and 
Early Intervention

Assistive 
Technology & 

Equipment

VCS Joint 
Commissioning

Ageing Well

Falls Prevention

Atrial Fibrillation

Community 
Services (MDT 

Working)

MDT Case 
Management

Integrated hospital 
admission and 

discharge pathways

Home Services 
Delivery Model

Patient Based 
Information Sharing

Enablers

Information, 
Communications 

and Advice

High Impact 
Changes for 
Discharge

Appendix 1 – Better Care Fund Work-streams

361



T
his page is intentionally left blank

362



1

 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board

2016 - 19 Strategy

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group

363

aaq424_7
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3 

aaq424_8
Typewritten Text



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS:
Section Title

1 Introduction 3

HEALTH NEEDS ANALYSIS

1.1 Peterborough JSNA Findings on a page 4-5

1.2

Forecasting Future Needs For Health And Care In Peterborough
•	 Maternity Services
•	 Primary Care
•	 Hospital (Secondary) Care

6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING THROUGH THE LIFECOURSE

2.1 Children and Young Peoples Health 7

2.2 Health Behaviours and Lifestyles  8

2.3 Long Term Conditions and Premature Mortality – Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)  9

2.4 Mental Health For Adults Of Working Age 11

2.5 Health And Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment 12

2.6 Ageing Well  13

2.7 Protecting Health – Communicable Diseases  15

CREATING A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

3.1 Growth, Health and the Local Plan  16

3.2 Health and Transport Planning 17

3.3 Housing and Health  18

TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES

4.1 Geographical Health Inequalities 20

4.2 Health and Wellbeing of Diverse Communities 21

WORKING TOGETHER EFFECTIVELY

5.1 Partnership Boards 22

5.2 Commissioning Principles 22

5.3 Key Programmes  23

5.4 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Health System Transformation Programme   23

5.5 Peterborough City Council Customer Experience Programme 24

5.6 A vision for Health and Wellbeing 2016/19 26

364



3

1. INTRODUCTION 
Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory partnership across Peterborough City Council, local NHS 
commissioners and Peterborough HealthWatch. Producing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy to meet the 
health needs of local residents is one of the Board’s main duties. 

Information about health and wellbeing statistics and needs in Peterborough is available in the Annual  
Public Health Report and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Assessment:  
www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health. This Strategy outlines the joint plans of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address these needs and health challenges.  

Between February and April 2016, we engaged with stakeholders and the public in a three month public 
consultation on the Strategy. Overall, people fed back that the Strategy was welcome and focussed on the right 
priorities. There were some priorities which people felt had been missed and needed to be added, and some 
people wanted to see implementation plans for the Strategy and details of how progress would be monitored. 

We’re	grateful	for	the	effort	which	people	made	to	respond	to	the	consultation	and	the	suggestions	which	were	
provided. Key points from the consultation have been included in each chapter of the Strategy, so that they can 
be taken account of when the Strategy is implemented. Implementation plans and monitoring of progress will be 
brought back to the Health and Wellbeing Board regularly for review. 

3

TABLE OF CONTENTS:
Section Title

1 Introduction 3

HEALTH NEEDS ANALYSIS

1.1 Peterborough JSNA Findings on a page 4-5

1.2

Forecasting Future Needs For Health And Care In Peterborough
•	 Maternity Services
•	 Primary Care
•	 Hospital (Secondary) Care

6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING THROUGH THE LIFECOURSE

2.1 Children and Young Peoples Health 7

2.2 Health Behaviours and Lifestyles  8

2.3 Long Term Conditions and Premature Mortality – Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)  9

2.4 Mental Health For Adults Of Working Age 11

2.5 Health And Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment 12

2.6 Ageing Well  13

2.7 Protecting Health – Communicable Diseases  15

CREATING A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

3.1 Growth, Health and the Local Plan  16

3.2 Health and Transport Planning 17

3.3 Housing and Health  18

TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES

4.1 Geographical Health Inequalities 20

4.2 Health and Wellbeing of Diverse Communities 21

WORKING TOGETHER EFFECTIVELY

5.1 Partnership Boards 22

5.2 Commissioning Principles 22

5.3 Key Programmes  23

5.4 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Health System Transformation Programme   23

5.5 Peterborough City Council Customer Experience Programme 24

5.6 A vision for Health and Wellbeing 2016/19 26

365



4

JSNA

LOWER
than average

71%
29%

Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

is the UK’s 3rd fastest
growing city with a relatively young,

ethnically diverse population

of our residents are white british

are from an ethnic minority group

Peterborough has a lower average 
life expectancy and ‘healthy life 
expectancy’ than England. 

On average in Peterborough a man can expect to live
in good health to the age of 61 years with a 
total lifespan of 79 years.
A woman can expect to live in good health to 
the age of 60 with a total lifespan of 82 years.

A few other KEY facts

1 in 5 4-5 year olds are 
overweight or obese 
and 7 in 10 adults.

32% higher
than England

Our rate of UNDER 18 pregnancy is

THE FINDINGS

Peterborough has a higher proportion of 
residents living in deprivation than England.
Levels of deprivation are highest in the Central, North and 
Ravensthorpe electoral wards.

Of 150 local authorities in England, 
where rank 1 is ‘best’ and rank 150 

‘worst’ Peterborough is ranked:

106th for premature mortality (death rate 
under age 75) from heart disease and stroke)

98th for premature mortality from lung disease

94th for premature mortality from cancer

PETERBOROUGH

Wards by IMD score 2015
40 to 45.8 (5)
25.95 to 39.9 (5)
20.5 to 25.94 (5)
14.5 to 20.4 (5)
9.7 to 14.4 (4)

* Please note that a darker colour is used to indicate a higher level of deprivation

Coronary Heart Disease Mortality,  SMR, under 75's
165 to 225 (5)
123 to 164 (5)
100.3 to 122.9 (4)
81 to 100.2 (5)
54 to 80 (5)

** Please note that a lighter colour is used to indicate a lower rate of coronary heart disease
** Standardised mortality ratio (SMR) = A ratio of above 100 means more observed deaths have occurred than would be expected in the ward compared to national average, 
a ratio of below 100 means fewer observed deaths have occurred than would be expected in the ward compared to the national average.

** Please note that a lighter colour is used to indicate a lower rate of coronary heart disease

Significant inequalites

Map 1

Map 2

There are health inequalities in Peterborough linked to social and economic factors. Maps of Peterborough show that 
areas with more social and economic deprivation (darker areas on Map 1) also have higher premature mortality from heart 
disease (darker areas on map 2).  

Coronary Heart Disease Mortality,  SMR, under 75's
165 to 225 (5)
123 to 164 (5)
100.3 to 122.9 (4)
81 to 100.2 (5)
54 to 80 (5)

** Please note that a lighter colour is used to indicate a lower rate of coronary heart disease
** Standardised mortality ratio (SMR) = A ratio of above 100 means more observed deaths have occurred than would be expected in the ward compared to national average, 
a ratio of below 100 means fewer observed deaths have occurred than would be expected in the ward compared to the national average.

* Please note that 
a darker colour is 
used to indicate 
a higher level of 
deprivation

Wards by IMD score 2015
40 to 45.8 (5)
25.95 to 39.9 (5)
20.5 to 25.94 (5)
14.5 to 20.4 (5)
9.7 to 14.4 (4)

* Please note that a darker colour is used to indicate a higher level of deprivation

4 366



5

JSNA

LOWER
than average

71%
29%

Peterborough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

is the UK’s 3rd fastest
growing city with a relatively young,

ethnically diverse population

of our residents are white british

are from an ethnic minority group

Peterborough has a lower average 
life expectancy and ‘healthy life 
expectancy’ than England. 

On average in Peterborough a man can expect to live
in good health to the age of 61 years with a 
total lifespan of 79 years.
A woman can expect to live in good health to 
the age of 60 with a total lifespan of 82 years.

A few other KEY facts

1 in 5 4-5 year olds are 
overweight or obese 
and 7 in 10 adults.

32% higher
than England

Our rate of UNDER 18 pregnancy is

THE FINDINGS

Peterborough has a higher proportion of 
residents living in deprivation than England.
Levels of deprivation are highest in the Central, North and 
Ravensthorpe electoral wards.

Of 150 local authorities in England, 
where rank 1 is ‘best’ and rank 150 

‘worst’ Peterborough is ranked:

106th for premature mortality (death rate 
under age 75) from heart disease and stroke)

98th for premature mortality from lung disease

94th for premature mortality from cancer

PETERBOROUGH

5367



6

1.2 FORECASTING FUTURE NEEDS FOR HEALTH AND CARE  
 IN PETERBOROUGH 

·	 The total resident population of 
Peterborough was 189,300 in 2013 
and is forecast to rise by 19% to 
2023, reaching a total of 224,800. 

·	 The population aged 65 and over 
is forecast to rise by 28% by 2023. 
The number of people aged 90 or 
over will almost double in this time. 

·	 The number of children and young 
people aged 18 and under is 
forecast to rise by 23% to 2023. 

MATERNITY SERVICES 

There were 3,200 births to women living in Peterborough in 2013. This is forecast to rise to 3,440 in 2023. 

PRIMARY CARE 

There are 29 GP practices in Greater Peterborough Local NHS Commissioning Groups (LCGs), which cover 
the Peterborough City Council area and also some neighbouring GP practices in Cambridgeshire and 
Northamptonshire. Together these serve a registered population of 257,000 people. GP practice list size (the 
number of patients registered with one GP practice) varies from 2,000 to 25,800, with an average list size of 
8,900. If GP practice populations increase in line with expected population growth, average list size will rise 
to 10,600 in 2023 (an increase of 19%). 

HOSPITAL (SECONDARY) CARE 

Annual hospital care attendances and admissions for people registered with Greater Peterborough LCGs is 
shown in the table below. Most but not all of these attendances and admissions are at Peterborough and 
Stamford Hospitals Foundation Trust (PSHFT). Demand for hospital services is forecast to rise by about 20% 
over	the	next	five	years.	This	takes	into	account	the	effect	of	population	change	and	rising	obesity.	Types	
of hospital services used more by older people show the greatest increase, in line with the rapid rise in the 
older population. 

FORECAST INCREASES IN HOSPITAL USE BY GREATER PETERBOROUGH PATIENTS 
2013/14-2018/19  

A&E  
attendances

Outpatients Elective  
Admissions

Non-elective 
Admissions

Procedures

2013/14 57,774 307,347 28,558 22,982 33,757
2018/19 68,484 361,750 34,094 27,542 40,501
% Change 18.5% 17.7% 19.4% 19.8% 20.0%

2013

20,000 20,00015,000 15,00010,000 10,0005000

AG
E

90+

85-89

80-84

75-79

70-74

65-69

60-64

55-59

50-54

45-49

40-44

35-39

30-34

25-29

20-24

15-19

10-14

5-9

0-4

50000

2023

Peterborough population pyramid (2013-2023)

368



7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING THROUGH THE LIFECOURSE

2.1 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S HEALTH 

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA 
Peterborough children and young people are more likely to live in areas where there are high levels of 
deprivation than England or East of England averages. Areas of Peterborough with the highest levels of 
deprivation, which are concentrated in the central and eastern areas, are also those where birth rates are 
highest. Overall around 22% of children and young people aged 0-16 are living in poverty.

Peterborough is a young, fast growing and increasingly diverse City. Population forecasts indicate that 
numbers of children and young people in the 5-15 age group will increase by around 30% between 2013 
and 2021. Increasing population diversity brings considerable cultural richness, but also leads to some 
challenges in ensuring that families from newly arrived communities are aware of and are able to access 
prevention and early help services that can support them and prevent any additional needs from coming 
more serious. 

Other key priority areas include:
·	 High rates of teenage conceptions in the City; 

·	 Children aged 4-5 who are obese;

·	 High levels of teeth decay;

·	 Relatively fewer young people achieving well in education compared with England and regional 
averages, although this position is improving;

·	 High levels of hospital admissions among 10-24 year olds for self-harm.

Issues such as obesity and tooth decay may be associated with neglect, and there are indications from 
referrals into Children’s Services and other softer measures that relatively high numbers of children and 
young people are impacted by neglect. 

CURRENT JOINT WORK: 
The Joint Commissioning Unit has been established to bring together commissioning activities across 
Peterborough and Cambridge in relation to children’s health and wellbeing. Current priorities include:

·	 Managing the transition of commissioning arrangements for health visiting from NHS England to the 
Local Authority;

·	 Developing	a	healthy	child	programme	that	ensures	that	emerging	needs	for	support	are	identified	early	
and	are	acted	upon	effectively	in	partnership	with	children	and	families;

·	 Reviewing	the	Child	and	Adolescent	Mental	Health	(CAMH)	offer	across	the	area,	including	overseeing	
action related to reducing waiting list for specialist CAMH services and remodelling support for children 
and young people with emotional health and wellbeing needs to make the best use of additional funding 
from Central Government.

The Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board includes local authority, local health commissioning 
and provider bodies, key partners such as social landlords, education services and voluntary organisations 
and is working to address a number of areas of needs. Priorities for the board are:

·	 Child Health, including emotional health and wellbeing, and children and young people who have special 
educational needs and disabilities;

·	 Children and young people in care performance group;

·	 Primary school age children: behaviour and emotional wellbeing;

369



8

·	 Education and Skills post 16;

·	 Vulnerable adults as Parents;

·	 Developing approaches to addressing neglectful parenting.

FUTURE PLANS:
Key priority future plans include:

·	 Developing a child and adolescent mental health (CAMH) pathway that better meets need and manages 
demand so that pressures on specialist services are minimised;

·	 Continuing a pilot approach where additional community psychiatric nurse (CPN) capacity is aligned with 
schools	to	enable	better	support	to	be	offered	to	children	and	young	people	with	emerging	emotional	
and	mental	health	difficulties;

·	 Working	with	the	Peterborough	Safeguarding	Children	Board	to	develop	a	more	effective	multi-agency	
response to neglect, focused particularly on addressing early indications of neglectful parenting and 
offering	support	to	prevent	patterns	becoming	established;

·	 We will also renew the Child Poverty Strategy in 2016.

·	 Developing a joint strategy to address high rates of teenage pregnancy 

·	 We will jointly review the commissioning and delivery of services for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities, from age 0-25.  

·	 We will include consideration of the needs of single parent families in these workstreams  

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
Key indications of success include:

·	 Bringing waiting times for assessment and treatment for specialist CAMH services in line with national targets;

·	 Reducing childhood obesity

·	 Continued good performance in relation to young people Not in Education, Employment or Training [NEET];

·	 Successful implementation of a multi-agency neglect strategy resulting in increased early intervention to 
prevent such patterns becoming entrenched. 

·	 Reductions in the rate of teenage pregnancies

2.2 HEALTH BEHAVIOURS AND LIFESTYLES 
Our	lifestyles	influence	the	way	our	health	develops	over	our	lifetime.	Local	research	in	East	Anglia	has	
shown	that	people	with	four	key	‘healthy’	behaviours	–	not	smoking,	taking	regular	exercise,	eating	five	fruit	
and vegetables a day and drinking alcohol within recommended limits, stay healthy for longer and live on 
average 14 years more than people with none of these behaviours.  

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
In Peterborough: 

·	 Smoking	rates	are	similar	to	the	national	average	–	about	one	in	five	adults	smoke.

·	 Two in three adults are overweight or obese.

·	 Fewer people than average are physically active.

·	 Hospital admissions directly resulting from alcohol consumption are higher than average. 

370



9

Key health inequalities:

·	 Smoking is more common among routine and manual workers - about one in three adults’ smoke.

·	 Hospital admissions for alcohol are higher in some parts of the City than others.

CURRENT JOINT WORK 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is aware of the need to ensure that people in Peterborough can access 
clear	information	about	what	a	healthy	lifestyle	means	and	how	to	achieve	it.	Some	people	will	also	benefit	
from services, which specialise in helping people to stop smoking, manage their weight, or their alcohol 
consumption. To support local people to have healthy lifestyles the Health and Wellbeing Board is working 
together to:

·	 Develop a joint ‘Prevention Strategy’ to ensure that supporting people to improve and maintain their own 
health is a key part of managing demand on local NHS services. 

·	 Commission a Joint Drug and Alcohol Service through the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Peterborough City Council, which reaches into the Hospital. More information is available on  
www.saferpeterborough.org.uk

·	 Improve support for local employers to promote healthy workplaces through a new contract with 
‘Business in the Community’.

FUTURE PLANS 
·	 We plan to commission an integrated healthy lifestyle service – with the aim that people can access 

one service for help and support with stopping smoking, healthy eating, physical activity, weight 
management and mental wellbeing. We will ensure that this links with services for people with mental 
and physical health, disability and ageing issues. 

·	 We plan to improve our communication with local residents on health issues and to develop local 
campaigns and access to health information sources in a range of settings, which can be trusted to 
provide reliable advice on healthy lifestyles.  

·	 We would like to recognise the vital role schools play in supporting the health and wellbeing of children 
and young people through a Healthy Schools Peterborough programme. 

·	 We would like to reduce the number of local people developing Type 2 Diabetes.

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We will aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes: 

·	 The percentage of adults in Peterborough who smoke.

·	 The percentage of children and adults in Peterborough who are overweight or obese.

·	 The percentage of adults in Peterborough who are active.

·	 The numbers of attendances to sport and physical activities provided by Vivacity

·	 The percentage of adults in Peterborough admitted to hospital for alcohol-related conditions. 

·	 The annual incidence of newly diagnosed Type 2 diabetes. 

2.3 LONG TERM CONDITIONS AND PREMATURE MORTALITY 
Since the early twentieth century there have been great improvements in life expectancy and in medical 
treatments. There are now many people who manage one or more long-term health conditions such as 

371



10

diabetes or heart disease as part of their lives. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) describes a range of conditions 
including	coronary	heart	disease	and	stroke.	CVD	takes	many	years	to	develop,	is	influenced	by	a	number	
of factors, including lifestyle and health behaviours, and is more common among people living in relative 
deprivation. Having diabetes is associated with an increased risk of CVD. The Health and Wellbeing Board 
prioritised addressing CVD in 2014.  

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA 
In Peterborough:

·	 Premature deaths (age under 75) from CVD and from respiratory disease are higher than the national 
average.

·	 Premature deaths from cancer are similar to the national average 

·	 Preventable deaths from CVD are higher than average.

·	 About	one	in	sixteen	adults	suffers	from	diabetes.

KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
·	 Emergency hospital admissions and premature deaths from coronary heart disease are higher in electoral 

wards in the City which have higher levels of deprivation.

·	 Diabetes and coronary heart disease rates are known from national research to be more common in 
South Asian communities. 

CURRENT JOINT WORK 
·	 The Health and Wellbeing Board commissioned a detailed CVD JSNA for Peterborough, which is now 

completed. https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/JSNA/ 

·	 The local NHS Clinical Commissioning Group ‘Tackling Health Inequalities in Coronary Heart Disease 
Programme Board’ has worked closely with City Council’s public health services to improve uptake of 
CVD ‘health checks’ for 40-74 year olds and to promote smoking cessation services for people at risk of 
heart and respiratory disease.

FUTURE PLANS 
·	 The Health and Wellbeing Board has set up a Cardiovascular Steering Group, and this will develop and 

implement a joint strategy to address cardiovascular disease in Peterborough. 

·	 The	potential	for	a	specific	programme	to	work	with	South	Asian	communities	to	address	higher	rates	of	
diabetes and coronary heart disease is being explored. 

·	 Options are being explored to reduce the risk of stroke within the local population by improved 
identification	of	atrial	fibrillation	(an	irregular	heart	rate	which	can	lead	to	formation	of	blood	clots	and	
cause a stroke).

·	 A long term conditions needs assessment will be carried out which will cover a wider range of long 
term conditions including cancer and musculo-skeletal disorders. The needs assessment will focus on 
issues of pain, mental health, disability and activities of daily living associated with long term conditions, 
multi-morbidity (the problems experienced by people with more than one long term condition), the 
potential contribution of lifestyle and behaviour change services to slowing the progression of long term 
conditions, and local service plans for end of life care.

372



11

HOW WILL WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS? 
We will aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes:

·	 Premature death rates from CVD (under age 75).

·	 Inequalities between electoral wards in emergency CVD hospital admissions.

·	 The upward trend in the prevalence of diabetes.

·	 The rate of hospital admissions for stroke and heart failure.

·	 Outcomes	for	a	wider	range	of	long	term	conditions	will	be	defined	following	completion	of	the	Long	
Term Conditions needs assessment. 

2.4  MENTAL HEALTH FOR ADULTS OF WORKING AGE 
Mental ill health is the largest cause of disability in the UK, representing 23% of the burden of illness. People 
with severe mental illness die on average 20 years earlier than the general population. Peterborough has its 
own challenges with mental illness, particularly around prevention and management of mental health crisis 
and support to those with severe mental illness and their carers.

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
There is need to reduce mental health crisis, self-harm and suicide. In Peterborough:

·	 Hospital admission rates for self-harm are 40% above expected.

·	 Suicide rates were consistently higher than England rates until a drop was seen in 2012/14

·	 Referral rates to Crisis Resolution Home Treatment services for mental health problems are higher than 
Cambridgeshire. 

·	 Use of police powers to take a person in mental health crisis to a place of safety (section 136) occurred 
at a much higher rate in Peterborough population than in Cambridgeshire. 

Demand for mental health acute care occurs at a higher rate than all other areas in Cambridgeshire and 
mental health hospital admission rates are also higher.  

Enablement – Data indicates that the proportion of people in Peterborough with severe mental illness who 
live independently or are in employment were consistently below the England rates, although there has been 
recent improvement. 

Data indicates that carers of people with mental health disorders in the Peterborough community have 
unmet needs for services, information and advice.

CURRENT JOINT WORK
The Joint Suicide Prevention Strategy and implementation plan for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough is 
being delivered. This includes the award winning ‘Stop Suicide’ campaign, which raises awareness and 
offers	training	in	suicide	prevention	and	provides	resources	for	self-help.	

A local ‘Crisis Care Concordat implementation plan aims to prevent mental health crisis in community 
settings and reduce the use of section 136 of the Mental Health Act. A new crisis care telephone helpline 
and a community place of safety are proposed for the coming year.

Implementation of the Joint Peterborough Mental Health Commissioning strategy includes redesign of 

373



12

the mental health accommodation pathway, increased choice of housing options, a placement model of 
employment	support,	stronger	links	between	commissioners	and	clear	focus	on	the	right	support,	the	first	
time, at the right place, by the right people. 

FUTURE PLANS
·	 Bring	together	findings	from	the	Peterborough	Mental	Health	JSNA	(2015)	and	refresh	the	Mental	Health	

Commissioning strategy in 2016 to tailor implementation plans to address unmet mental health need, 
including	post	traumatic	stress	disorder,	which	can	affect	ex-military	personnel.	

·	 A new recovery coach service to support people after discharge from secondary care and during 
transitions by connecting between third sector, local authority and mental health services 

·	 An enhanced Primary Care Mental Health Service is planned to support people with greater needs upon 
discharge from secondary care. This will operate through community based teams.

·	 The new Mental Health Commissioning and Delivery Partnership Board which includes representatives 
of carers and the voluntary sector, will ensure that the needs of carers are considered in joint planning of 
services. 

·	 Service user representation will also be invited to the Partnership Board. 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We aim to achieve improvements in: 

·	 Hospital admissions for self-harm. 

·	 Rates of use of section 136 under the mental health act

·	 Suicide rate 

·	 Hospital readmission rates for mental health problems 

·	 Enablement of those with severe mental illness, with more people in employment and independent living

·	 Carers for people with mental health problems receiving  services advice or information

2.5 HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF PEOPLE WITH 
 DISABILITY AND/OR SENSORY IMPAIRMENT

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
The population of Adults in Peterborough living with a learning disability is forecast to rise by 10% between 
2014 and 2030 from 2865 people to 3152 (source Department of Health Information Centre). In particular:  

·	 Growth in in number of residents with severe Learning Disabilities is from 174 to 193 (11%)

·	 Growth in number of residents with autistic spectrum disorders  is from 1179 to 1320 (12%)

The number of people with moderate or serious physical disabilities is forecast to rise by 14% between 2014 
and 2030 from 11,208 to 12,743

In particular

·	 Forecast growth in those requiring assistance with personal care is from 5155 to 5904 (15%) 

·	 Forecast growth in residents with serious visual impairment is from 76 to 84 (11%) 

·	 Forecast growth in residents with moderate to profound hearing impairment is from 4178 to 4895 (17%) 

374



13

CURRENT JOINT WORK AND FUTURE PLANS: 
·	 The Council and Clinical Commissioning Group have agreed a strategy for supporting older people and 

adults with long term conditions within the Better Care Fund plan, working together to support  people 
with	disabilities	through	the	following	five	key	workstreams:

·	 Data	Sharing	–	enabling	effective	sharing	of	care	and	support	information	between	health	and	social	
care professionals with access controlled by the person with disabilities.

·	 Seven Day Working – expansion of health and social care service provision to be accessible and 
responsive at evenings and weekends.

·	 Person Centred System – multi-disciplinary teams linked to the communities in which people live.

·	 Information, Communication and Advice- enhanced information and advice to support people to 
access the support they might need.

·	 Ageing Healthily and Prevention – help for all to stay healthy and self-manage long term conditions 
wherever possible.

·	 The Learning Disability Partnership maintains an overview of needs and services for people with a 
learning disability in Peterborough.  

·	 A Vulnerable People’s Housing Sub-Group has been established, which will review how local housing 
needs for vulnerable people, including people with disabilities, should be addressed. 

·	 We will work with users of St Georges hydrotherapy pool to explore future options for sustainability. 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes:

National measures: Adult social care outcomes framework (ASCOF)  

·	 Percentage of adults known to ASC in employment  - to increase

·	 ASCOF Percentage of adults known to ASC in settled accommodation – to increase

·	 ASCOF permanent residential admissions of adults to residential care – to decrease

Local measures 

·	 Numbers of adults in receipt of assistive technology

·	 ASC Service user survey quality of life measure – improvement for clients aged under 65 with both 
learning disability and physical disability  

·	 Numbers of adults with disabilities receiving short term services to increase independence 

·	 Number of adults with disabilities receiving information advice and guidance

2.6 AGEING WELL 
Ageing is not just about being older or living for longer - it’s about ensuring that people have quality of 
life that adds value and purpose and through which they can continue to contribute to their families, 
communities and the wider economy as they grow older. Ageing can however bring challenges, such as 
frailty and dependence which need not be an inevitable part of ageing. There is much that individuals can 
do to maintain their own health and wellbeing as they age. Public services, the third sector, the commercial 
sector and local government can ensure Peterborough is a good place to grow older.   

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
·	 Numbers of people over the age of 65 within Peterborough are expected to grow substantially over the 

375



14

next few years, by about 28% between 2013 and 2023.

·	 More people over 65 years have multiple long-term health conditions (LTCs) requiring treatment, and 
about 50% of people with multiple LTCs experience limitation of their day to day activities.

·	 Rates of hospital admission and need for social care packages of care  increase with age.

·	 There are currently approximately 1,660 people living with dementia in Peterborough – this is projected 
to rise to 2,660 by 2030.

KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

·	 There are a higher proportion of older people aged 65+ in rural areas of Peterborough. 

·	 In more deprived areas, people develop multiple long-term health conditions at a  younger age.

CURRENT JOINT WORK 

The health and wellbeing challenges facing older people have been prioritised locally across health and 
care systems. A service model has been developed by local NHS commissioners and community service 
providers, local Councils and voluntary organisations to enable people to age well and to live the life they 
want to lead by:

·	 Providing high-quality, responsive care and support

·	 Integrated working across health, social care and third sector services in Peterborough to ensure that 
care is joined-up around the needs of individuals within local communities, and avoidable admissions to 
hospital and care can be prevented. 

·	 This is supported by jointly agreed plans for the Better Care Fund. 

FUTURE PLANS 

·	 The Health and Wellbeing Board has commissioned an “Older People: Primary Prevention of ill health” 
JSNA for Peterborough  which is due for completion during 2016.

·	 Developing a joint  “Healthy Ageing and Prevention Agenda” to ensure that preventative action is 
integrated and responsive to best support people to age well, live independently and contribute to their 
communities for as long as possible. This will include workstreams on isolation and loneliness. 

·	 Review and refresh the joint dementia strategy for Peterborough

·	 To	understand	the	challenges	faced	by	local	older	populations,	a	specific	programme	of	work	in	
collaboration with older residents, will explore the main health and care issues faced by this group to 
inform future commissioning of services across the system and how stronger communities can empower 
people to self-manage with minimal support.

·	 We recognise that some older people prefer face to face communication rather than digital – for example 
through community hubs which are part of the Council’s wider strategy for communicating with the 
public.

376



15

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We will aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes: 

·	 Increased access and uptake of preventative services to promote and ensure ageing well

·	 Reduced rates of admissions to hospital and social care due to conditions that could have been 
managed in the community

·	 Customer survey to establish if Older people  feel safer and supported in their communities

·	 Using an Outcomes Framework – covering several key priority areas for older people in relation to their 
NHS care, and the Social Care outcomes framework

2.7 PROTECTING HEALTH 

NEEDS IDENTIFIED THROUGH THE ANNUAL HEALTH PROTECTION REPORT
·	 Rates of Tuberculosis (TB) in Peterborough are well above the national average – there are  implications 

from	the	new	national	strategy	and	the	opportunity	to	offer	screening	for	latent	TB	infection	to	new	
migrants from high prevalence communities

·	 There is relatively poor uptake of adult bowel and cervical cancer screening programmes

·	 The uptake of childhood immunisation programmes is generally lower in the inner city and areas of 
higher socio-economic deprivation

·	 Chlamydia screening is focussed on young people aged 15 – 24, with a high diagnosis rate in 
Peterborough despite low screening uptake suggesting that some young people who are infected may 
be missing out on screening

·	 There is reported late diagnosis of HIV for some men leading to poorer outcomes. 

KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES
·	 TB is recognised as being associated with deprivation and overcrowding

·	 There is some evidence that screening uptake is lower among some more deprived and marginalised 
populations and some new migrant groups

·	 The picture around immunisation uptake is complex but there is evidence that certain populations have 
difficulty	accessing	services	for	immunisation

CURRENT JOINT WORK
·	 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG has convened a joint TB commissioning group, to develop a 

plan	to	commission	accessible	and	responsive	services.		The	first	task	has	been	to	develop	a	plan	
for implementation of Latent TB Infection (LTBI) screening in line with the national TB strategy and a 
successful bid for pilot funding was submitted to Public Health England.  

·	 The Health Protection Steering Group, which involves the City Council, local NHS and Public Health 
England, has oversight of immunisation and screening uptake. Task & Finish Groups to look at uptake 
issues for immunisation and screening have completed reports and implementation groups are due to 
take forward their recommendations.

·	 A multi-agency sexual health strategy group is due to commence work shortly, convened by 
Peterborough City Council – this will look at a range of sexual health issues, not just communicable 
diseases.

377



16

FUTURE PLANS
·	 Develop a TB Commissioning plan for Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

·	 Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of screening including improved communication with 
communities and individuals 

·	 Develop a joint strategy to address poor uptake of immunisation including improved communication with 
communities and individuals. 

·	 Develop a Peterborough Joint Sexual Health Strategy, covering a range of issues 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS?
We aim to achieve improvements in:

·	 Percentage of eligible people screened for latent TB infection 

·	 Percentage of eligible newborn babies given BCG vaccination (aim 90%+)

·	 Increase in rate of completion of TB treatment 

·	 Evidence of increasing uptake of screening and immunisation

·	 Reduction in late diagnosis of HIV

·	 Increased uptake of chlamydia screening 

CREATING A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

3.1 GROWTH, HEALTH AND THE LOCAL PLAN 
The	Planning	System	for	the	built	environment	affects	health	in	many	ways	-		through	securing	good	
housing construction, transport infrastructure, improving air quality and noisy environments, remediating 
contaminated land, providing open space and play space, enhancing biodiversity, providing opportunities for 
local	food	growing,	reducing	flood	risk,	provision	of	local	employment	and	many	more.		The	adopted	Core	
Strategy for Peterborough sets the requirement for an additional 25,500 new homes and 20,000 new jobs by 
2026. The new Local Plan will extend the plan period to 2036. 

There is a clear correlation between health and where we live. A number of published studies have provided 
evidence	that	our	local	environments	can	have	a	positive	effect	on	individual	health	and	wellbeing.	On	the	
other hand, many aspects of the built environment can deter people from being physically active, which 
is important for health. Consideration of ‘social infrastructure’, encouraging communities in new housing 
developments to develop supportive social networks, has a positive impact on wellbeing.

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
In Peterborough:

·	 The percentage of physically active adults is lower than the England average

·	 The Peterborough Open Space Study Update Final Report (October 2011) indicates which areas of 
Peterborough are better or less well served in terms of open space.

KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
·	 Lack of access to open and green spaces can be bad for people’s physical and mental health. Residents 

in areas of deprivation which have access to green space have lower rates of premature death than 
residents of deprived areas with less access to green space.  The Peterborough Open Space Study 
Update Final Report (October 2011) indicates which areas of Peterborough are better or less well served 
in terms of open space.

378



17

CURRENT JOINT WORK
·	 The Environment Capital Action Plan describes the following actions:

·	 Secure funding to increase the number of Green Flag awards to 6. 

·	 Nene Park Trust will continually raise the quality of its facilities and improve the participation and 
engagement of visitors.

·	 Seek funding to carry out a feasibility study into local, sustainable food production.

·	 Achieve Fairtrade city status.

·	 Develop planning guidance to support local food.

FUTURE PLANS
·	 The	health	of	residents	is	being	specifically	considered	in	the	new	Local	Plan,	consideration	will	be	given	

to the access needs of vulnerable and marginalised groups.

·	 Public Health outcomes and/or objectives will be added to the Plan

·	 Public health advice will be embedded into the City Council Growth and Regeneration directorate, 
through a post which will work with local land use and transport planners to consider the impact of land 
use planning on health.

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes:

·	 The	Local	Plan	potentially	affects	a	wide	range	of	health	outcomes.	Some	outcomes	likely	to	be	
influenced	by	the	built	environment	and	land	use	planning	are:

·	 The percentage of physically active and inactive adults 

·	 Excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds, and Adults

·	 The percentage of the population exposed to road, rail and air transport noise of 65dB(A) or more, during 
the daytime

·	 Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons

3.2 HEALTH AND TRANSPORT PLANNING 
Transport	is	a	complex	system	affected	by	infrastructure,	individual	characteristics	and	behaviours	and	
can have a broad impact on health.  Components that could be linked to health outcomes include issues 
such as air and noise pollution, road design, impact on physical activity, road injuries and deaths, and 
access to health services.  This illustrates the diverse nature of the policy areas that are related to transport 
and	may	have	a	direct	or	indirect	impact	on	health.		Travel	offers	an	important	opportunity	to	help	people	
become	more	physically	active.	Motor	vehicle	traffic	accidents	are	a	major	cause	of	preventable	deaths	and	
morbidity, particularly in younger age groups.

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
In Peterborough:

·	 The	number	of	children	killed	or	seriously	injured	in	road	traffic	accidents	is	not	significantly	different	to	
the England Average.

·	 The	number	of	adults	killed	or	seriously	injured	on	road	is	not	significantly	different	to	the	England	Average.

·	 Travel	offers	an	important	opportunity	to	help	people	become	more	physically	active.	However,	inactive	
modes of transport have increasingly dominated in recent years.

379



18

KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
·	 The	effects	of	road	traffic	disproportionately	impact	on	socially	excluded	areas	and	individuals	through	

pedestrian	accidents,	air	pollution,	noise	and	the	effect	on	local	communities	of	busy	roads	cutting	
through residential areas. 

·	 Areas with higher levels of deprivation tend to have lower levels of general physical activity

·	 Cycling	proficiency	is	also	linked	to	where	people	live,	with	those	in	more	deprived	neighbourhoods	less	
likely to report being able to cycle.

CURRENT JOINT WORK
The City Council’s Travelchoice initiative encourages people to walk, cycle, use public transport, and car 
share, as well as the uptake of low emission vehicles.

·	 Increasing the number of pupils receiving Bikeability training from 951 to 1300 annually.

·	 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Road Safety Partnership (CPRSP) works with a number of 
organisations to look at the causes of road accidents, understand current data and intelligence regarding 
the county’s roads and develop multi-agency’s solutions to help prevent future accidents and reduce 
collisions.  

·	 Addenbrooke’s Regional Trauma Network is a key partner in the CPRSP, and through various data 
sources allow the serious accident data to be broken down into more detail to gain a clear understanding 
of the impact of severe collisions to the NHS and longer term social care and other partners.

·	 The Fourth Local Transport Plan (2016-2020) emphasises the role transport can play in health of 
Peterborough residents

FUTURE PLANS
·	 Collect further joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) information on transport and health for 

Peterborough, using locally developed methodologies. 

·	 Permanently embed public health advice into the City Council Growth and Regeneration directorate, 
through a post which will work with local land use and transport planners to consider the impact of 
transport planning on health and health inequalities.

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
We aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes

·	 The	numbers	of	adults	and	children	killed	or	seriously	injured	in	road	traffic	accidents.

·	 The number of businesses with travel plans

·	 %	of	adults	who	meet	the	Chief	Medical	Officer	guidelines	on	physical	activity	(active	people	survey)

·	 To further develop a robust monitoring network to enable in depth transport modal data to be collected.

·	 Measures of air quality 

3.3 HOUSING AND HEALTH  
The National Housing Federation states that poor housing conditions increase the risk of severe ill-health 
or	disability	by	up	to	25%	during	childhood	and	early	adulthood.		Housing	conditions	that	adversely	affect	
health, include; indoor dampness; pollutants associated with respiratory problems; features that lead to 
physical injury. Household overcrowding is associated with an increased risk in the spread of infection, 

380



19

and indoor cold is associated with excess winter deaths and cardiovascular problems. The combination of 
factors	associated	with	poor	housing	and	economic	stresses	has	been	identified	as	having	an	adverse	effect	
on mental health.  

Homelessness is associated with adverse health, education and social outcomes, particularly for 
children. Statutory homeless households contain some of the most vulnerable and needy members of our 
communities.

The	Welfare	Reform	Act	2012	introduced	a	range	of	benefit	changes	which	are	likely	to	result	in	a	loss	of	
income for some claimants and could result in an increase in homelessness if people are unable to meet 
their housing costs. There are also national requirements to reduce social rented housing.

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA AND KEY HEALTH INEQUALITIES: 
In Peterborough:

·	 The rate of family homelessness is worse than the England average. 

·	 The 3 year rate of excess winter deaths (which may be related to winter infections, cold homes, and 
becoming cold outside the home) remained similar to the England average in Peterborough in 2010 
-2013.

·	 It is estimated that poor housing conditions are responsible for over 651 harmful events requiring 
medical treatment every year in Peterborough. The estimated cost to the local NHS of treating these is 
£2.2M annually. . 

CURRENT JOINT WORK:
·	 Housing Related Support (formerly Supporting People) funds support to a variety of providers and 

settings to ensure their clients are supported into move on accommodation, can maintain tenancies, and 
therefore prevent them from becoming homeless.

·	 The	Peterborough	Older	Persons	Accommodation	Strategy	identified	that	over	90%	of	people	wished	to	
remain at home and be supported to do so through the provision of aids and adaptations, and a demand for 
Extra Care Accommodation. To date, 262 additional units of Extra Care accommodation have been provided 
in partnership with Registered Providers.  A further scheme of 54 dwellings is under construction.

·	 Care and Repair provides a handyperson (HP) scheme to help aged and vulnerable people with small scale 
works. The minor aids and adaptations installations and the HP assist hospital discharge and enable health 
services to be delivered in people’s homes. The Agency provides advice and has a network of contacts for 
onward referral and works  with other voluntary sector groups on winter warmth initiatives. 

·	 City Council Cabinet has approved  introducing selective licensing in 5 areas of the city covering 6205 
privately rented properties. This would help raise the standard of private rented accommodation and 
therefore improve the health and well- being of those residents. The proposal is currently (May 2015) 
awaiting Secretary of State response.

FUTURE PLANS
·	 Peterborough City Council is working in partnership with Registered Providers to provide new supported 

housing schemes including accommodation for people with learning disabilities and mental health 
disorder	to	enable	them	to	live	independently	with	a	live-in	carer	where	necessary	or	floating	support.

·	 A Vulnerable People’s Housing Sub-Group has been established, which will review how local housing 
needs for vulnerable people, including people with disabilities, should be addressed. 

381



20

·	 The	Peterborough	Market	Position	Statement	has	identified	a	significant	shortfall	of	nursing	and	residential	
care accommodation and it will be a priority to increase this provision for the aging population.

·	 A	task	and	finish	group	including	Housing	managers	and	Hospital	managers	is	reviewing	complex	cases	
causing hospital discharge delays, and how use of disabled facility grants could address this. 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
·	 Decrease in the ratio of excess winter deaths to average non-winter deaths

·	 Reduction in unintentional injuries in the home in the under 15 year olds

·	 Reduction in delayed discharge from hospital related to housing issues. . 

TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES

4.1 GEOGRAPHICAL HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA:  
·	 This link between more adverse socio-economic circumstances (deprivation) and poorer health is well known.  

·	 The	five	most	deprived	electoral	wards	in	Peterborough	(pre-2016)	were	Dogsthorpe,	North,	Paston,	
Central and Ravensthorpe. Within these wards, deaths rates from all causes under the age of 75 and 
rates	of	admission	to	hospital	were	significantly	high.	

·	 Other	parts	of	Peterborough	also	have	residents	living	in	difficult	socio-economic	circumstances	–	for	
example	Bretton	North,	Orton	Longueville	and	Park	wards	(pre-2016)	are	not	included	in	the	five	‘most	
deprived’ but have a higher percentage of children in poverty, lower achievement at GCSE and a higher 
percentage	of	the	working	age	population	claiming	out	of	work	benefit	than	the	Peterborough	average.		

CURRENT JOINT WORK
·	 The City Council has a focus on economic development and regeneration in the City, together with 

improving educational attainment. In the long term these measures should improve both socio-economic 
circumstances and health.

·	 City Council Children’s Centres work closely with health visitors, and are located to ensure focus on the 
areas of the City with the highest levels of need. Early child development, which Children’s Centres help 
to support is important for future healthand wellbeing. 

·	 The	City	Council	has	identified	the	‘Can	Do’	Area	around	Lincoln	Road,	which	includes	parts	of	Central	
Ward, Park ward and North ward. The ‘Can Do’ Board focusses on supporting environmental and service 
improvements	for	the	area	and	includes	senior	staff	from	the	City	Council.	

FUTURE PLANS
·	 The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities and to carry 

out	health	inequalities	impact	assessments	of	any	significant	services	changes.	

·	 City Council proposals for selective licensing of private sector housing in parts of the City (outlined in the 
previous section) could impact on geographical health inequalities in the longer term. 

·	 There is potential to target preventive public health initiatives and services so that they focus more on 
areas of the City with the greatest health and wellbeing needs.  

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

382



21

We aim to achieve improvements in the following outcomes:

·	 Increase in levels of education and economic attainment in electoral wards with highest levels of deprivation.

·	 Increase in life expectancy in wards with highest levels of deprivation.

·	 Reduction in emergency hospital admissions from wards with the highest levels of deprivation. 

·	 Smoking cessation rates in wards with highest levels of deprivation 

·	 Health checks completion in wards with highest levels of deprivation 

4.2 HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF DIVERSE COMMUNITIES 

NEEDS IDENTIFIED IN THE JSNA: 
Diverse Communities 

·	 Peterborough	has	an	ethnically	diverse	population;	70.9%	of	residents	self-identified	as	White	English/
Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British compared to 86.0% in England as a whole. A higher proportion of 
our population than average are of South Asian and Eastern European descent.

·	 Black & Ethnic Minority populations are highest in the Central ward (58.2%), Park (35.8%) and 
Ravensthorpe (30.8%). 

·	 World Health Organization research concludes that 

·	 the risk of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes is higher in South Asian population groups

·	 alcohol	consumption	is	rising	in	many	Eastern	European	countries,	contributing	to	a	significant	
decline in life expectancy among men of Eastern European descent

·	 rates of tuberculosis are also known to be higher in some African, South Asian and  Eastern 
European countries than in England. 

CURRENT JOINT WORK
·	 The Health and Wellbeing Board has commissioned a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) on the 

health and wellbeing needs of migrants. 

·	 Eastern European ‘community connectors’ employed by the City Council are working closely with the 
local NHS on issues such as promotion of screening and immunisations 

FUTURE PLANS
·	 The	benefits	of	tailored	preventive	programmes,	working	with	South	Asian	communities	to	prevent	

diabetes and cardiovascular disease, are increasingly recognised nationally. The CCG and City Council 
will work together to assess the feasibility of local schemes. 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
Measuring success is more challenging for health and wellbeing issues in diverse communities, as recording 
of ethnicity by health services is not always complete. This makes it hard to rely on routinely collected data. 
Population mobility and change can also make measuring progress more challenging.   

·	 We will work with local health services to improve data collection on ethnicity, both generally and to 
assess the success of targeted interventions. 

·	 Outcome measures for health and wellbeing of migrants will be developed following completion of 
the JSNA. 

383



22

WORKING TOGETHER EFFECTIVELY

5.1 PARTNERSHIP BOARDS 
The Peterborough Health and Well Being Board is supported by a number of Boards and Groups that are key 
to delivering the outcomes of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

The Boards are as follows:

·	 Housing Partnership

·	 Children and Families Joint Commissioning board

·	 Older People’s Stakeholder Group

·	 Carers Board

·	 Learning Disability Partnership

·	 Adult Joint Commissioning Board

·	 Mental Health Stakeholder Group

·	 Sexual Health Stakeholder Group

·	 Substance Misuse Stakeholder Group

·	 Greater Peterborough  Executive Partnership Board

·	 Public Health Board

·	 Skills Partnership Board

These	Boards	include	officers	from	the	Local	Authority,	Clinical	Commissioning	Group,	GP’s	and	other	health	
officers,	Housing,	Education,	Police,	Voluntary	Sector,	Prison	and	parents,	carers	and	service	users.		The	
Boards	define	outcomes	for	delivery	by	focussed	Task	Groups,	and	these	outcomes	are	core	to	delivery	
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. A Community Serve Board is also in development to support 
delivery in and by communities. 

To avoid duplication and give opportunities to join up work when appropriate, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board agreed to the development of a Health and Wellbeing Partnership Delivery Board. This comprises the 
Chairs of all the above Boards and the joint chair of the City’s Skills Board. It’s role is to take an overview of 
the work going on and ensure it is co-ordinated.  This Delivery Board also reports to the Safer Peterborough 
Partnership Board (which has an important impact on health and wellbeing through its work on community 
safety and cohesion) and links to the Adult and Children Safeguarding Boards.

The terms of reference (including membership) of the Partnership Boards which feed into the Health and 
Wellbeing Board will be published on the City Council’s website. Relevant work by the Partnership Boards on 
delivering the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be fed back to the Health and Wellbeing Board, which 
meets in public.

5.2 COMMISSIONING PRINCIPLES 
Commissioning is about supporting the development of a thriving, strong and diverse social and health care 
market	that	is	flexible	and	responsive	to	everyone	in	Peterborough,	not	just	those	eligible	for	direct	Council	
or Health support - We want to stimulate the development of new services, and promote competition and 
collaboration so people have a varied care and support market to purchase from. To achieve this, we will 
work to ensure all the services we commission are:

1. Affordable	and	sustainable;

2. Evidence based;

384



23

3. Locally shaped;

4. Improving quality and the patient experience;

5. Address Health Inequalities

6. Appropriate in scale; and

7. Reflect	the	user’s	voice.

5.3 KEY PROGRAMMES 
The following pages describe two key programmes to meet the future needs of growing populations, within  
available resources:

·	 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Health System Transformation Programme 

·	 The Peterborough City Council Customer Experience Programme 

The Health System Transformation Programme, Customer Experience Programme and other relevant health 
and social care programmes such as the Better Care Fund Plan, are being brought together in Peterborough 
under a joint governance and management system overseen by the Greater Peterborough Executive 
Partnership Board, which reports through to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

5.4 CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH HEALTH  
 SYSTEM TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME  

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), which plans, organises and buys 
most NHS-funded healthcare, is working together with the providers of local hospital and community 
healthcare to plan for local health and care needs. They have joined together under the Health System 
Transformation	Programme	to	look	at	shaping	a	sustainable	health	system	fit	for	the	future.		Peterborough	
City Council and Cambridgeshire County Council are also part of the programme, as are local Healthwatch 
organisations.	The	work	of	the	programme	also	fits	in	with	NHS	England’s	Five	Year	Forward	View.		The	Five	
Year Forward View recognises that the world has changed and health services need to evolve to meet the 
challenges NHS health services face. 

SYSTEM STRATEGIC AIMS AND GOALS
The	Cambridgeshire	and	Peterborough	health	system	has	agreed	to	a	set	of	strategic	aims	for	the	next	five	
years.  These strategic aims are set out in the diagram below which shows how the strategic aims relate, 
with people at the centre of all we do. 

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough System Transformation Programme is looking at all hospital-based, 
GP and community healthcare services in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  It is particularly focussing on 
the following areas of care:

·	 Children’s and maternity services

People at the centre
of all that we do  

Empowering people 
to stay healthy

Developing a sustainable 
health & social care system

Improving quality,
improving outcomes

385



24

·	 Mental health services

·	 Care delivered through GP surgeries

·	 Planned care (both in hospital and in the community)

·	 Emergency and urgent care.

It’s also taking into account proposals to maintain planned improvements for older people’s (over 65s) 
healthcare, following termination of the Integrated Older People’s and Adult Community Services contract 
with Uniting Care Partnership.  Prevention is key to the programme with everyone having a role in helping to 
reduce demand on our health services. 

If we do not plan to change our health system, we are likely to see:

·	 funding shortfalls, possibly leading to unplanned service changes over which we have little control

·	 decreased quality of care and poorer health outcomes for people

·	 a continued rise in the need for health care

·	 some General Practices going out of business

·	 hospitals continuing to experience a rise in emergency admissions

·	 hospitals	finding	it	harder	to	undertake	planned	work	(such	as	scheduled	operations)

·	 a	decrease	in	quality	and	access	performance	standards	in	hospitals,	and	an	increase	in	financial	deficits

·	 an increase in pressure on all parts of the health system and an already stretched workforce.

The Health System Transformation Programme has taken a range of opportunities to engage with the wider 
public	and	feedback	will	inform	and	be	reflected	within	the	development	of	ideas	for	change	across	the	
system.

5.5 PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL CUSTOMER  
 EXPERIENCE PROGRAMME 

The Customer Experience programme will develop and improve the ways in which customers access or are 
provided with public services, ensuring those that need help the most are able to reach the most appropriate 
services	quickly	and	first	time.	This	approach	will	enable	services	to	meet	the	needs	of	those	affected	by	
health, social and economic inequalities across Peterborough, and will build resilience and capacity in 
communities to sustain improvements. The programme targets a reduction in costs, an increase in revenue 
and the management of current and future demand.  The programme is divided into seven themes:

i.	 Front	Door	–	redefining	the	method	of	accessing	and	contacting	the	council,	ensuring	those	that	can	will	
be able help themselves and those with more complex needs reach the right services quickly  

ii. Investment in Communities – ensuring we invest appropriately in community, voluntary or faith services 
and capacity as an alternative to public sector services

iii. Operating Models – designing new service delivery arrangements between council services and with 
partners

iv.	 New	Ways	of	Working	–	enabling	staff	to	work	flexibly	and	in	an	agile	way,	making	full	use	of	digital	
technologies

v. Revenue – strengthening the council’s commercially-minded approach, Increasing the amount of 
profitable	revenue

386



25

vi.	 Building	Optimisation	–	making	the	best	use	of	public	buildings	and	office	space

vii.	 Digital	Technology	–	investing	in	new	technologies	to	improve	ways	of	working	and	to	enhance	the	offer	
to customers

The council wants its customers to:

·	 Ask once – we will only ask the customer for any information needed once

·	 Be self-directed – we will maximise any opportunity for the customer to self-serve

·	 Be in control – we will ensure services are customer-led and take account of the customer’s views

·	 Be protected – we will identify and act upon any safeguarding concerns

·	 Be	confident	the	information	we	hold	about	them	is	consistent	across	the	organisation

·	 Be able to make full use of universal information and provision as the norm through interactive use of 
technology, blended with ‘expert’ assistance

·	 Have	their	queries	resolved	at	the	first	point	of	contact	wherever	possible

·	 Be able to access council services or information in the most appropriate settings – there will be no 
wrong front door.

If we get these things right then it will be better for customers as they will receive a better and more 
accessible	service,	whilst	at	the	same	time	enabling	us	to	manage	demand	more	effectively	and	sustainably.	

CURRENT JOINT WORK

The Customer Experience programme is enabling a sharp focus on developing greater integration between 
the council and health partners. For example:

·	 the Operating Models theme is scoping an integrated health and social care operational delivery model 
which could see social workers co-located with health professionals

·	 the Operating Models theme is developing a new delivery model to bring together reablement and 
preventative health and social care services into a trading vehicle

·	 the Front Door theme is exploring a single, integrated front door model for council and health services

·	 the Investment in Communities theme is determining what health and social care preventative projects 
could be commissioned to help manage demand

·	 the Digital Technology strand is piloting new assistive technologies that could help reduce demand on 
the health and social care system

FUTURE PLANS

·	 The Customer Experience programme is still at the early stages of delivery, but has well established 
principles including the desire to deliver integration across health and social care services wherever 
possible and appropriate. We will ensure that health colleagues across the system are fully engaged in 
the programme.

387



26

5.6 A VISION FOR HEALTH AND WELLBEING IN 2016/19 
To conclude, the context for the 2016/19 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is: 

·	 Significant	budget	reductions

·	 Growing population and demand for services

To meet these challenges, Health, Local Authority and other partners in the Health and Wellbeing Board will 
work in a new way - focusing on outcomes not organisations. We will get done what needs to be done by 
who is best to do it, and use evidence based sources and best practice to ensure what we deliver has the 
best chance of success.  Success is now seen as collective.

PLACING PEOPLE AT THE HEART OF A SYSTEM WHICH MAKES SENSE TO THEM 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will achieve its aims by:

A focus on prevention

·	 making Peterborough a healthy environment in which to live

·	 supporting all people and communities to maintain their own health and independence. 

Driving delivery of:

·	 The right services 

·	 To the right people, families and communities 

·	 By the right people

·	 At the right time

·	 In the right place

·	 At the right cost 

Monitoring outcomes which matter to all local residents, families and communities

388



27389



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group

www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health

390



Updated on:  30 AUGUST 2017

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
AGENDA PLAN 2017/2018

MEETING DATE ITEM CONTACT OFFICER 
Monday 12 June 2017  Annual Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report

 Adult Social Care Better Care Fund (BCF) Update 
 Increased 7 Day GP Access
 Motor Neurone Disease Charter – Focus Group Update
 Older People’s Primary Prevention – Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment
 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability and  

Transformation Plan (STP) Update

For information:

Dr Robin / Ryan O’Neill
Will Patten
Mustafa Malik
Cathy Mitchell
Dr Liz Robin / Dr Angelique Mavrodaris 

Aidan Fallon /  Scott Haldane 
(scott.haldane@cpft.nhs.uk)

Monday 11 September 
2017 

 Better Care Fund sign off
 North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust Update on 

the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough 
and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation merger.

 Public Health Annual Report
 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
 New governance arrangements Sustainable Transformation 

Programme
 JSNA Core Data Set
 Developmental Session paper
 Local Transformation Plan

For Information:
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update

Will Patten/Caroline Townsend
Stephen Graves

Dr Liz Robin
Dr Robin/Katie Johnson
Aiden Fallon/Scott Haldane

Ryan O’Neil
Helen Gregg
Kathyrn Goose, CCG

Helen Gregg

Monday 4 December 
2017

 Adults and Children’s Local Safeguarding Board Annual Reports 
2016/17

 Healthwatch – Priorities, Ways of working across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

 Poverty Strategy

Jo Proctor

Val Morris

Adrian Chapman

391

mailto:scott.haldane@cpft.nhs.uk


Updated on:  30 AUGUST 2017

MEETING DATE ITEM CONTACT OFFICER 
 Vertical Integration project
 Community Network/Combined Authority/Devolution 2
 Transport JSNA data set
 Health and Wellbeing Implications for Homeless people in 

Peterborough linked to DCLG Bid

For Information:
Better Care Fund Update
Sustainable Transformation Programme Update
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update

Cathy Mitchell

Adrian Chapman

Will Patten
Aiden Fallon
Helen Gregg

Monday 19 March 
2018

 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
 Diverse Ethnic Communities JSNA supplement
 Annual Health Protection Plan
 Updates on PHCU, MOU, Childrens, etc

For Information:
Better Care Fund Update
Sustainable Transformation Programme Update
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update

Dr Robin

Dr Robin

Will Patten
Aiden Fallon
Helen Gregg

392


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 June 2017
	5 Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) 2017-19 Plan Approval
	Appendix 1 - BCF S75 Annual Report 16-17
	Appendix 2 - BCF 17-19 Plan Overview
	Appendix 3 - BCF2017-19 Submission Narrative
	Appendix 4 - Better Care Fund
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg1
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg2
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg3
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg4
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg5
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg6
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg7
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg8
	Appendix 4 - BCF pg9

	Appendix 5 - BCF 2017-19 Submission Appendices

	6 Update on the Hinchingbrooke Healthcare NHS Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Merger
	7 Peterborough Annual Public Health Report 2017
	Appendix 1 - Annual Public Health Report

	8 Peterborough Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
	9 New Governance Arrangements and Sustainable Transformation Programme
	Item 9 - Appendix 1

	10 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Core Dataset 2017
	Appendix 1 JSNA Core Dataset Final 2017

	11 Local Transformation Plan
	12 Joint Development Session Proposal
	13 Quarterly Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance update
	Appendix 1 - Quarterly report update
	Appendix 1 - Quarterly update
	Appendix 1 - Quarterly update pg2
	Appendix 1 - Quarterly update pg3

	Appendix 2 - Quarterly report Final Set of performance reports
	Appendix 2a - Quarterly report Sustainable Transformation 5 Year Plan
	Appendix 3 - Quarterly report PCC Health  Wellbeing Strategy

	14 Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Programme



